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Assembly Proceedings

AGENDA

Wednesday - June 20, 2018
12:00 pm Synod Council Lunch

1:00 pm Synod Council
Thursday - June 21, 2018
9:00 am Delegate Check-in Open - Delta Hotel

11:00 am First Time Delegate Assembly Orientation
Vice-Chairperson - Laurie Knott
Location: Delta Hotel (Halton Room)

12:00 pm Lunch (on your own)

SESSION ONE
1:30 pm Opening Service of Holy Communion / Opening of Assembly
2:30 pm Break
2:45 pm Registration Report
Establishment of Quorum
Introduction of Special Guests

Requests to Grant Privilege of Vote and/or Voice
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Notice of Consent Agenda Items
e Report of Synod Council - Iltems not requiring action
e Report of the Statistician
e Necrology Report
e Report of the Archivist
e Report of the Auditor
e Reports of the Standing Committees
e Adoption of Minutes of 2016 Assembly
e Appointment of Assembly Committees
e Reports of the Ministry Area Deans

Adoption of Agenda
3:15 pm Report of the Bishop

3:45 pm Report of Synod Council

¢ Notice of Items Requiring Action
e Notice of Proposed Amendments to Eastern Synod
Constitution

4:00 pm Special Order

Report of the Treasurer

e 2016 - 2017 Financial Review
e 2018 - 2021 Budget Overview

4:30 pm Report of Nominating Committee

Synod Council

Nominations from the floor

First Ballot - Election of Officers

Introduction - Election of Delegates to ELCIC National
Convention

5:00 pm Closing Prayer and Adjournment For Supper (on your own)

The Rev. Rosalyn Kantlah”nta' Elm
Parish of Six Nations and Her Majesty's Royal Chapel of the
Mohawks, Anglican Church of Canada
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6:30 pm

7:00 pm

7:15 pm

7:30 pm

9:15 pm

SESSION TWO

Special Order

The Rev. Susan C. Johnson
National Bishop, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Report of Canadian Lutheran World Relief
Rev. Dr. Karin Achtelstetter

Executive Director, CLWR

Report of the Committee on Elections

e Second Ballot - Election of Officers
e First Ballot - Election of Delegates to ELCIC National
Convention

...to be neighbour |

Welcome Reception for Delegates and Visitors
Location: Delta Hotel

Friday - June 22, 2018

7:30 am
8:00 am

8:30 am
9:00 am

9:30 am
10:15 am

10:30 am
10:45 am

11:45 am

ELFEC Breakfast
Delegate Check-in Open - Delta Hotel

SESSION THREE

Worship
Report of the Committee on Elections

e Third Ballot - Election of Officers (if required)

e First Ballot - Synod Council

e Second Ballot - Election of Delegates to ELCIC National
Convention (if required)

Report of Synod Council (Continued)
Partner Greetings

The Rev. Conrad Plummer
President, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Guyana

Break
Open Mic Sharing:

New Mission Initiatives/Congregations at a Crossroad
Report of the Committee on Reference and Counsel
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12:00 pm

1:30 pm
1:45 pm

2:00 pm

3:15 pm
3:30 pm

4:15 pm

5:00 pm

6:30 pm

Closing Prayer and Adjournment For Lunch (on your own)
Lutheran Planned Giving Luncheon (by invitation)
GSI Lunch and Learn Session (by pre-registration)

SESSION FOUR
Opening Prayer

Report of the Committee on Elections
e Second Ballot - Synod Council

Report of the Committee on Reference and Counsel

Break

Our Synod Neighbourhood
Vice-Chairperson - Laurie Knott

Report of Synod Council (Continued)

Note: All non-germane motions must be in the hands of the
Secretary at this time.

Closing Prayer and Adjournment For Dinner (on your own)

SESSION FIVE

...to be neighbour Ii

Saturday - June 23, 2018

8:30 am

10:30 am
10:45 am

10:50 am
11:20 am
12:00 pm

SESSION SIX

...to be neighbour Il

Break
Report of the Committee on Elections
e Third Ballot - Synod Council (if required)

Report of the Committee on Reference and Counsel
Report of the WLS Board of Governors

Closing Prayer and Adjournment for Lunch (on your own)
GSI Lunch and Learn Session (by pre-registration)
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1:30 pm

2:00 pm
2:30 pm
3:00 pm

3:30 pm
3:45 pm

4:00 pm

4:30 pm
6:30 pm

SESSION SEVEN

Report of Synod Council (Continued)
2018 - 2021 Budget

Report of the Committee on Reference and Counsel

Break

Presentation of Rostered Ministers received into the Synod
since July 1, 2016

Reflections from the Youth Assembly

Reflections from our Companion Synod
The Rev. Conrad Plummer
President, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Guyana

Open Mic Sharing:
What will we take home from this Assembly?
Adjournment of Convention Business

Eastern Synod Leadership Banquet - Delta Hotel

6:30 pm - Gathering
7:00 pm - Dinner

Sunday - June 24, 2018

10:00 a.m.

Closing Service with Holy Communion / Installation of Synod
Council, Deans and Ministry Directors
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Assembly Proceedings

EASTERN SYNOD
of the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Glossary of Terms and Acronyms

ACC - The Anglican Church in Canada

Agenda

The listing of proceedings for Assembly. It is adopted as one of the first orders of business of
Assembly. Once the agenda has been approved, it may only be revised with the consent of the
assembly, either by adopting a motion from the floor, or agreeing to a recommendation from
Reference and Counsel or the Chair.

Bishop

The leader and counsellor to congregations, rostered ministers and Ministry Areas of the
Eastern Synod. Our current Bishop is Rev. Dr. Michael Pryse. The Bishop also presides over the
business of the Assembly, and the Synod Council between Assemblies.

Bourinot’s Rules of Order

A distinctly Canadian rule of order used in the House of Commons. The ELCIC has chosen to
use this set of rules for our guide. The Synod Assembly relies on Bourinot for a simple, basic
framework on which to structure our deliberations. See House Rules for a brief summary of
the main thrust of Bourinot.

BR - Bulletin of Reports

The compilation of committee and Ministry Area reports, statistics, financial reports and the
reports of the Officers of Synod and the Bishop which is provided to each delegate and
registered visitor to the Assembly for perusal, information and action.

CCC - Canadian Council of Churches

An organization that is made up of Christian denominations in Canada for co-operation in
matters of common interest, including the annual Week of Prayer for Christian Unity. The
ELCIC is a member of the CCC.

CCOM - Candidacy Committee

CECF - Church Extension Capital Fund
An ELCIC administered fund that provides financial resources via the synods to support mission
and outreach initiatives on their territory.

CLAY - Canadian Lutheran Anglican Youth

Every two years, the ELCIC and the Anglican Church of Canada host a national gathering of
youth and their leaders.
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CLWR - Canadian Lutheran World Relief
The agency that assists both the ELCIC and the Lutheran Church-Canada (LCC) in our joint
relief and development work around the world.

COGS - Council of General Synod
This is the executive body of General Synod (in the Anglican Church of Canada). Between
sessions of General Synod, COGS administers the affairs of the ACC.

Consent Agenda

An Assembly procedural process whereby the Assembly delegates consent to accepting the
printed reports of certain designated Synodical personnel and committees without discussion
or debate. Once adopted, the delegates can bring an item from the Consent Agenda to the
floor for discussion only if ten or more delegates present a signed request to the chair. The
request would be forwarded to Reference and Counsel.

Dean

A Rostered Minister appointed by the Bishop to provide administrative, pastoral and missional
leadership in one of the synod's Ministry Areas and in partnership with an Area Leadership
Team.

ELCA - Evangelical Lutheran Church in America
Our sister church in the United States of America. Synods and the national church (ELCIC)
work co-operatively with the ELCA from time-to-time.

ELCG - Evangelical Lutheran Church in Guyana
Our international Companion Synod.

ELCIC - Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

The national denomination to which the Eastern Synod belongs. The office is located in
Winnipeg, Manitoba. The National Bishop is Rev. Dr. Susan Johnson. There are four other
Synods in the ELCIC - British Columbia (BC), Alberta & the Territories (ABT), Saskatchewan
(SK) and Manitoba-Northwestern Ontario (MNO).

ELCJHL - Evangelical Lutheran Church in Jordan and the Holy Land

A companionship agreement was signed between the Eastern Synod and the ELCJHL in 2013.
The purpose of our partnership is: to strengthen Christian unity, and deepen the communion
between the two churches; to strengthen the identity of the local church as part of the
universal Church; and to promote the mission of our churches in their respective societies.

ELFEC - Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada

The Foundation’s mission is threefold: 1) encouraging generous giving; 2) prudently investing
money entrusted to the Foundation; and 3) granting money to charities that respond
creatively and effectively to God’s call to Ministry.

ES - Eastern Synod

The geographical area under the jurisdiction and pastoral care of the Synodical Bishop. The
Eastern Synod is one of five Synods that make up the ELCIC in Canada. It covers the province
of Ontario, east of 86 degrees longitude (just west of Sault Ste. Marie) and the provinces of
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Quebec, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia. There are currently 185 congregations and close to
300 rostered ministers.

ESC - Eastern Synod Council
ES-S - Eastern Synod Staff

ES-YAYA - Eastern Synod Youth and Young Adults Ministry Committee
The mandate for this committee is to promote and help develop youth and young adult
ministries within the Eastern Synod.

House Rules
A set of rules that governs the proceedings of the Assembly - see Appendix A.

JALC - Joint Anglican-Lutheran Commission

A body of Lutherans and Anglicans, clergy and laity, which oversees the various aspects of the
implementation of full communion between the ELCIC and the ACC (Anglican Church in
Canada).

KAIROS

An ecumenical partnership that works to promote international human rights, global economic
justice, ecological justice, Canadian social development, Aboriginal and indigenous rights,
global partnerships and education.

LCC - Lutheran Church-Canada

Another denominational grouping of Lutherans in Canada with whom the Eastern Synod and
the ELCIC occasionally work co-operatively, especially in Canadian Lutheran World Relief
(CLWR) and certain chaplaincies.

LPG - Lutheran Planned Giving

Directed by Jeff Pym, this ELFEC program assists the church, congregations and individuals
make wise and generous decisions about the use of their assets. Pivotal to this work is
encouraging and assisting individuals to make planned gifts to the church.

LWF - Lutheran World Federation
The international organizations of Lutheran national churches to which the ELCIC belongs. The
headquarters are in Geneva, Switzerland.

Ministry Area

A geographic grouping of congregations within the Synod. There are seventeen Ministry Areas
in the Eastern Synod: Atlantic, Central Toronto, Georgian , GTA East, GTA West, Huronia,
Grand River, Montreal, Niagara, Nith Valley, Northern, Ottawa, Ottawa Valley, Seaway,
Thames, The Bay, Two Rivers.

Motion

A formal proposal brought forward to the Assembly for its consideration. Motions require a
mover and seconder and are decided by a vote after a period of debate. Motions come from
congregations and de legates through the Committee of Reference and Counsel. There are

1-8



Assembly Proceedings

various types of motions that may be brought before the Assembly for consideration. (see
Synod Speak folder on each table).

MSC
Moved, seconded, carried (as it relates to a motion).

NCC - National Church Council

The body responsible for overseeing the work of the ELCIC between Conventions. It is made up
of representatives of the five Synods, both rostered ministers and lay, as well as the five
Synod Bishops and the presiding Bishop.

Synod Assembly/Synod Convention

This is the gathering of lay and rostered delegates who meet in Assembly every two years to
make decisions on matters of policy, finance and management of the Synod. It is also
responsible for the election of the Officers of Synod and Synod Council. Between Assemblies,
the Synod Council is responsible for the work of the Synod. The constitution of our church
refers to this gathering as the Synod Convention but we have used the term Synod Assembly as
a way of broadening our perception of what it means to gather in this way as a Synodical
community.

Synod Assembly Committees
These groups of individuals function throughout the convention to assist the work of the
assembly. The committees are: Nominations, Elections, Reference and Counsel, and Minutes.

Synod Council

This group of 12 people, together with the Officers of Synod, provides leadership to the Synod
between Assemblies. There is an even number of rostered members and laypersons elected to
serve for three-year terms.

The Eastern Synod Lutheran - TESL
This is the Eastern Synod’s “newsletter.”

WLS - Waterloo Lutheran Seminary

One of the two seminaries operated by the ELCIC. This Eastern Synod institution was founded
in 1911 and offers opportunities for individuals to pursue academic and theological training in
preparation for a wide variety of services in the church and society.
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Appendix A - House Rules -A set of rules that governs the proceedings of the Assembly

Agenda

Speaking to
a Motion

Amendments

Subsidiary
motions

1.

Q1

10.

1.

12.

Special Orders shall have precedence over other matters on the
agenda.

Once the agenda has been approved, items designated as consent
agenda items can only be brought to the floor upon recommendation of
the Committee for Reference and Counsel, as requested by ten (10) or
more delegates.

No motion or amendment shall be considered as be fore the Synod
(except such as pr oposed by Synod Council or a committee) unless
seconded and submitted in writing to the chairperson.

An address from the Bishop shall be in order at any time.

When any delegate is about to speak, the delegate shall rise and
address the chair.

Delegates placing a motion before the Assembly shall do so prior to
speaking. A motion may not be made at the conclusion of a speech or a
series of rationales or “whereas.”

No delegate, save the mover of a motion or amendment, shall speak
more than once on the same question. The mover may begin and/or
end speaking to the motion.

When a delegate is speaking, no other delegate shall interrupt except
to raise a point of order.

The chair shall decide all questions of order without debate. Ruling of
the chair can, however, be over-ruled by a majority vote of the
Assembly.

Any delegate may request, at any period of the debate, that the motion
under discussion be read for his/her information.

No more than one amendment to a proposed amendment to a motion
shall be in order. However, a substitute for the whole matter may be
proposed and received, provided it deals with the subject at hand. Both
the substitute and the main motion may be amended to the second
degree. The Assembly then chooses which shall stand as the choice for
final action.

An amendment to an amendment can be presented. If defeated, then
other amendments to the original amendment may be made until one is
accepted, or all defeated. At such time the original amendment shall
be put to vote.

When a question is under consideration, no other motion shall be
received except to adjourn the Synod, to move the previous question,
to table, to postpone to a certain time, to postpone indefinitely, to
refer, to consider (clause-by-clause), to amend, to divide, or
substitute. Motions, for any of these purposes, shall have precedence in
the order here named.

1-10



Assembly Proceedings

Voting

Suspending
Rules

14.

15.

16.

17.

Motions to postpone or table, whether to aspe cified time or
indefinitely, shall be admissible according to the following
understanding:

(@) A motion to postpone indefinitely may have two purposes:
i. to cancel a motion without a determinative vote;

ii. to take a “straw” poll to determine the strength of support
for the motion;

(b) A motion to table without reference to a recall time may cancel a
motion;

(c) Motions to postpone or table are debatable.

When any question is about to be put to vote, delegates shall continue
in their seats, and shall not retire until such motion is disposed of.

Motions of the previous question, when adopted, effectively end debate
on a question, placing the matter pending before the Assembly. When a
motion of the previous question is lost, debate on the matter before
the Assembly may resume immediately. A motion of the previous
question is debatable and carried by a simple majority.

These Rules of Order may be suspended by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of
the delegates present and voting.
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Reports of Assembly Committees

Section 2 - Reports of Assembly Committees

Report of the Nominations Committee

Committee Roster

Rev. Katherine Altenburg, Cathy Calvin, Rev. Christian Ceconi, Rev. Joel Crouse,

Rev. Martin Giebel, Rev. Wendell Grahlman, Rev. Stephen Hoffard, Rev. Pamela Kormano,

Rev. JoAnne Lam, Rev. Jeff Laustsen, Debbie-Lou Ludolph, Rev. David Malina,

Rev. Dr Kimberlynn McNabb, Rev. Thomas Mertz, Rev. Brad Mittleholtz, Rev. Christie Morrow-Wolfe,
Rev. Suzanne Nevile, Rev. Nadine Nicholds, Rev. John Polacok, Rev. Dr Michael Pryse,

Jeff Pym, Rev. Paul Roellchen-Pfohl, Rev. Laura Sauder, Rev. James Slack, Rev. Stephen Weber

Nominations for Synod Council

Lay Persons (Three to be elected) Term 2018 - 2021

Ben Bestvater
Selina Broadshaw
Trudi Inglis

Carol Meindl
Judy von Wahl
David Wilk

Rostered Persons (Six to be elected) Term 2018 - 2021

Rev. Anne Anderson
Rev. Janaki Bandara
Rev. Dwight Biggs
Rev. Norine Gullons
Rev. Catherine House
Rev. David Malina
Rev. Joanna Miller
Rev. Elina Salonen
Rev. Adam Snook
Rev. Sylvia Swiatoschik
Rev. Bruce Thompson
Rev. Rob Wiesner
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Biographical Data for Nominees to Eastern Synod Council

Lay Persons (Three to be elected) Term 2018 - 2021

Ben Bestvater Ministry Area  Central Toronto
. Lutherlyn Camp - Coordinator

. Edgewood Camp - Staff

. ELCIC Youth & Young Adult (YAYA) Committee - Member

. Easter Seals Camp Shawinigan - Programmer

Selina Broadshaw Ministry Area  Central Toronto
: Information unavailable at time of publishing.
Trudi Inglis Ministry Area  Atlantic

. Zion Evangelical Lutheran Church Council - Member (2 terms)

. Zion Evangelical Lutheran Church Sunday School - Teacher

. Bluenose Academy Breakfast Program - Volunteer (now Head)

. Lunenburg & District Music Festival - Corresponding Secretary

Carol Meindl Ministry Area  Montreal
. Church Council - Chair, Treasurer, Secretary

. Montreal Area Ministry - Secretary

. Christian Jewish Dialogue of Montreal - Secretary

. Quebec Anglophone Heritage Network - Secretary

Judy von Wahl Ministry Area  Atlantic

. All Saints - Vice-Chairperson & Former Chairperson

. First Lutheran Community Parish - Former Vice-Chairperson

. Greenfield Fire Department Ladies Auxiliary - Former Secretary
. Greenfield School Society - Former Chairperson

David Wilk Ministry Area  Two Rivers
Eastern Synod Council - Member (Current)

Christ, Waterloo - Church BBQ Committee

Christ, Waterloo - Assisting Minister

Christ, Waterloo - Church Council
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Rostered (Six to be elected) Term 2018 - 2021

Rev.

Rev.

Rev.

Rev.

Rev.

Rev.

Rev.

Anne Anderson Ministry Area Two Rivers

Edgewood Camp & Conference Centre - Board Member (2007-2012)

Waterloo Lutheran Seminary - Board Member (2012-2014)

WLU Multi-Faith Resource Team - Member

Muskoka Woods Leadership Studio - Transformational Leadership Workshop Leader

Janaki Bandara Ministry Area Grand River

Biennium Reconciliation Task Force (Synodical)

House of Friendship Board of Directors (Addictions Committee) - Member (2012-2015)
Primate’s Commission of Anglican Church of Canada - Justice & Reconciliation & Doctrine
of Discovery - National Rep, ELCIC

Contract Confirmation Camp (spans a humber of ministry areas) - Meeting Leader

Dr. Dwight Biggs Ministry Area Georgian

Eastern Synod Council - Member (2014 - present)

ELCIC End of Life Task Force (2015 - present)

Faith, Port Elgin - Pastor (2003-2015)

Spiritual Care Leader, RVH Health Centre, Barrie (2017 - present)

Norine Gullons Ministry Area Ottawa Valley

Eastern Synod Council - Member (present)

Canadian Council of Churches Commission on Justice and Peace - ELCIC Rep
Public Policy & Public Service Ministries Working Group - Previous Member
Ten Days for Global Justice (now KAIROS) - Former ELCIC Board Chair

Catherine House Ministry Area Georgian

Walkerton Ministerial - Current Chair

Brockton & Area Refugee Team - Current Core Group Member
Atlantic Ministry Conference Council/Area Team - Past Member
Luther Hostel East - Past Planning Team Member

David Malina Ministry Area Two Rivers

Two Rivers Ministry Area - Dean (2017 - present)

Eastern Synod Council - Member (Current)

Waterloo Lutheran Seminary Board - Member (2002 - present)

Summer Camp Chaplain (Edgewood - 2008 - 2012) (Mush-a-Mush - 1998)

Joanna Miller Ministry Area Nith Valley

Racial Justice Working Group

Nith Valley Ministry Area Reformation Planning Committee
Contract Confirmation Camp Co-Director/Team Member
Contextual Ministry Placement Supervisor
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Rev. Elina Salonen Ministry Area Ottawa
. Two Rivers Ministry Area - Dean

. London Conference - Dean

. FaithLife Council - Member

. Centre Wellington Refugee Network

Rev. Adam Snook Ministry Area Atlantic
. VON Board of Directors

. Anglican/Lutheran Vital & Healthy Parish Team

. Camp Lutherlyn & Mush-a-Mush Board of Directors

. KAIROS - Atlantic Strategy Team

Rev. Sylvia Swiatoschik Ministry Area Thames

. Member of Leamington Ministerial Association
. Member of Erie Shores Health Care Spiritual Care Committee

Rev. Bruce Thompson Ministry Area Ottawa Valley
. Interim Ministry

. Lutherlyn Camp and Conference Centre

. Dementia Society Board of Directors

. Gloryland Chorus - Director (Founder)

Rev. Rob Wiesner Ministry Area Seaway

. Eastern Synod Council/Legal & Constitutions Committee - Member (2016-Present)
. Interfaith Quinte - Co-Chair (2009 - Present)

. Quinte Interfaith Refugee Sponsorship Committee - Member (2015-2017)

. Interfaith Grand River (2005-2009)
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Report of the Reference and Counsel Committee

Committee Roster

Rev. Anne Anderson, Bruce Cook, Charlotte Corwin,

Rev. Tuula Van Gasbeek, Rev. Dr. Mark Harris, Rev. Douglas Reble (Advisory),
Tim Schaner, Rev. Adam Snook (Chairperson), Julia Wirth

Reports will be distributed at Assembly.

The following resolution was submitted according to Eastern Synod Bylaws Part V Section 7
(re: congregations petitioning the synod).

From St. Luke’s, Kitchener

Motion
1.

Motion for Revitalizing the Training of Congregational Leaders of the Eastern Synod in
Necessary Ministries

That the Leadership Team of participating Eastern Synod Ministry Areas appoint two
Retired Clergy and/or gifted Laypersons, designate them “Teaching Elders” (T.E’s),
and require them to attend the regular meetings of the Leadership Team in order to
be made aware of congregational needs in the areas of Evangelism, Stewardship, and
other needs to advance congregational ministries.

. That these T.E.’s, under the guidance of the Area Leadership Team, and the Synodical

Program Directors and being supplied with available resource materials in the various
congregational ministries develop processes, messages and activities to meet to
congregational priority needs in our current context, for approval by their Area
Leadership Team and the Synod Staff.

. That each Area T.E., after approval of a particular program, arrange dates for

workshops in her/his area, to be attended by congregational members who have
declared an interest and commitment to serve their congregation in that particular
ministry. The T.E. may if necessary be requested to attend follow-up meetings to
further encourage implementation.

Synod staff, Ministry Directors, Deans and Pastors under call to these congregations
shall evaluate the congregation’s implementation for internal and external results at
six months intervals.

Bishop Dr. Pryse is requested to provide funding for travel only at the rate of
$0.15/km to compensate for fuel purchase. There shall be no salary or stipend paid to
the Teaching Elders.

Rationale

We, the members of our congregation, have come to realize that we are lacking in the skills,
deficient in the spirit and in commitment, as Disciples of Christ, in the witness functions of the
gospel, the task of being committed stewards of God’s generous gifts to his faithful people, the
needs of our congregation’s organization and the service function to our community.

We believe that God commissions us to “Go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in
the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, and teaching them to honour
everything | have commanded you.” (Matthew 28:19)
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We wish to serve God in this place by growing in ministry and respond to the One who says:
“The harvest is plentiful but the workers are few. Ask the Lord of the harvest therefore to send
workers into the harvest field.” (Matthew 9:38)

At the same time we are aware of the large contingent of our retired pastors and capable and
gifted laypeople who have the knowledge and skills to teach and guide us in the activities of
Evangelism and Stewardship.

We also recognize that the re-organisation of the Synod into Ministry Areas affords an easy and
affordable opportunity for learning and acquiring these necessary skills.
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Report of Minutes Committee

Committee Roster
Rev. Wendell Grahlman (Advisory), Rev. Richard Kwiatkowski,
Judy Lindeman (Chairperson), Lawrence Lupton, Rev. Sylvia Swiatoschick

Report to be distributed at Assembly.
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Report of the Elections Committee

Committee Roster

Rev. Hans Borch, Rev. Riitta Hepomaki (Advisory),

Peggy Read, Rev. Laura Sauder, Iris Schweiger (Chairperson),
Rev. Heather Spencer-Stoltz, Randy Zimmerling

Report to be distributed at Assembly.
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Election of Delegates to the 2019 ELCIC National Convention

Lay Nominees (Twenty-four to be elected)

Biographical forms on pages following

Name

Gail Bennie
Nancy Cook
Johanna Coombs
Denise Dennis
Susan Dupuis
Edward Evans
Carol Fairbrother
Karen Field
Dorothy Frook
Brenda Grebinski
Jan Hansen

Brian Janzen

E. Joanne Klein
Laurie Knott

Jim Krats

Uli Kuebler
Miriam Lapp
Janelle Lightbourne
Lawrence Lupton
Fred Nolting
Marilyn Raaflaub
Peggy Read

Ron Roeder
Susan Seifert
Ingrid Sladeczek
Andrew Slonetsky
Gigi Todd

Judy von Wahl
Richard Walsh
Mark Wettlaufer
Randy Zimmerling

Ministry Area

The Bay

Nith Valley
GTA East

GTA East
Ottawa Valley
Huronia
Ottawa
Atlantic
Georgian

Nith Valley
Grand River
Grand River
Georgian
Grand River
Northern

Two Rivers
Ottawa
Thames
Ottawa Valley
Seaway
Northern

The Bay
Grand River
Georgian
Montreal
Central Toronto
The Bay
Atlantic

Two Rivers
Central Toronto
Ottawa Valley
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29 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA

FASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE ~ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Fastern Synod

s b B Lt o S

Nommee Name- :
Gall: Benme

?esxtlon Nommated for- O Rﬁst'e'red- i

(Musthe between 16 and:25 a5 of July 1,2019)

o Eastem Synod Cnngregatmnal Members

_:Congregation Province:  ON

) "gh_t’;ngl‘hte-gm béinj_g a-détegate to

Retirad Administrative Assistant. | was raised in the Lutheran Church and have been actively involved at congregational,
ministry, synodical and nationat levels for the past 3+ decades at varicus levels and interacting with different groups. Currently
Chair of Council, Women's Group Leader, member of The Bay Area Ministry, Coordinator of Good Food Box Program, lector
and assisting minister. Past Property Chair & Vice Chair of Council, faught Sunday School, former member and chair of
Synadical Youth Ministry Committee, member of Hamilton-Niagara Conference Council, lay delegate at former National &
Synedical Assemblies, Volunteer Coordinator for Lutheran National Youth Gathering held in Hamilion.

itwithinthebox)

“Please indicate vour conicerns andhopes for

The church is experiencing many changes as we see Sunday attendance decrease, churches having trouble financially and
how we can best actively be proclaimers of the Gospel. Our increasing emphasis on Outreach both locally and abread is
inspiring. The recognition of the 500th Anniversary of Reformation throughout Canada and the world gives me hope that
Luther's vision of one church is a possibility by accentuating our similarities not our differences. This is an exciting time for the
Church and I am leoking forward to the future. ‘

_Whyareyou interested in being a delegate thinthe boxJ. .

i feel it is important for the laity to have a vocal and achve part in the church. The person needs to be able o hstan to what alt
are saying and be able 1o aclively participate impartially. | feel that | am equipped to do this. A delegate needs to be able to
inok "outside the box™ and discern what is best for ail.

2-10




Reports of Assembly Committees

2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
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Eastern Synod EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAFHICAL INFORMATION

e T st i emen SPvert nlorent

I am an elementary school teacher, and have been a church musician for over 30 years, | have been an active member of our
Women of Faith group, Worship Committee, and am a member of a Truth and Reconciliation task force that works io build
relationships with our Indigenous family, and build an underststanding of the TRC Calls to Action,

want our ELCIC to continue being an active example of God's love, both in Canada and arcund the world. | have been
inspired by the leadership of our Bishop and National Church Council, and | am very proud of the work our National Church
does o support churches across Canada and throughout the world. My prayer Is that we can continue fo be faithful stewards of
the talents and finances with which we have been blessed. | want us fo continue our work around the world, including our
support of the work being done by CLWR, the World Council of Churches, the ELCJHL, to name a few. And our partnership
with our brothers and sisters in the Anglican church has been such a blessing, and | would hope and pray that it continues to
grow.

=

 Why are youinte) eing a'delegat ' -
| grew up in a famiiy that was very interested in and aware ne by our National Church, and that interest has
stayed with me as an adult. | have attended several different Nationat Assemblies in different roles- as a volunteer, delegate,
and visitor. | was in Ottawa for our first joint convention with the Anglican Church of Canada, and that experience sparked my
desire to become actively involved in learning about the TRC and working towards reconciliation with our indigenous brothers
and sisters. | have watched as initiatives such as the Reformation Challenge have izken hold and inspired us as a church to
chaflenge ourselves to set our sights high and have faith that God will help us achieve them. | look forward to being a delegate
at Assembily, and helping to discern the direction in which we are being led.
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICALLUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA

FASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE ~ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Eastern Synod

e Bocmpnit s e 5 S

‘Nominee Naiie:

* YA Johanna Coomb:
n Nominatedfor: O Roster

‘Eastern Synog Congregational Membership

During the first three years of my retirement (from full-time teaching), | have enjoyed spending many volurteer hours at the
church. | have served as lay worship assistant and been a member of many committees, including church council and the
Peterborough Churches Covenant Commission (Jan 2016 - Oct 2017). | continue to; participate in regular biblefworship studies,
prepare food for school nutritional snack programs, lead and assist in Kid's club and PA Day activities, as welt as helping at
fundraising activities which support local cutreach programs. Participation in planning meetings for activities of the GTA East
churches has been an enriching experience as well. | particularly enjoyed the Lay Retreat in Niagara Falls this past April.

“Please indicate your concerns and | the ful CIC. [ Text ustfitwithinthebox.} .~ -

| believe the ELCIC is facing many of the barriers that all established churches are facing in this day and age, in our secuiar
western world. It is hard to spread the good news when it seems the number of people listening is getting smaller. Whether we
ike: it or not, we must move forward in this digital world. It appears to me that we are willing and open to doing this, but that
seems to be as far as it goes. 1 hope that the ELCIC pursues more options to spread our fove and knowledge through digitat
and perhaps TV/audio programs. if they exist, | do not know of them, which means there are many others who do not know of
them eitner. The joint service in Sweden in 2017 gives me lots of hope that our church {the ELCIC) will continue to be a
raforming church in the world, without losing sight of Jesus' message.

P

souinterested in b delegat: s

Attending the National Convention in Winnipeg tast surmmer afforded me the opportunity lo see the governance of our church in
action. The joint service on Saturday was the highlight of the whole convention for me. Thank you for the opportunity to attend.
I would love to attend Convention again in 2019 as our litle Congregation really appreciates hearing about the business of the
Nationai church and will give me questions to ask while | am there. As a defegate Fwill find the answers they want, and bring
news and information back to them.
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCHIN CANADA

EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAFHICAL INFORMATION

| have long experienca on church counclls, lsadership roles in the congregation, and regional warking groups, contributing to
operational soundnass and service Integrity. My training as a mediator makes me a good listener as well as being able to
navigats through difficult or complicated conversations. My education and experience as & literature and language instructor
means | am a sfrong communicator, both orally and in writing.

h, including {but not

| have been sncouraged by the willingness of ELCIC to grapple with the challenges facing the larger chuie

fimited o) detlining worship attendance and fewer ordinands. The pace of change is concerning, as 15 the question of the role
the church candwill have in the future. It is my hope that understanding ecumenical frends will help direct inftiatives and inform

decisions that will help maintain and build the church.

R e b R

it is my hope that my various skills will help me, as a delegate, to contribute fo the challenging and necessary Wo(k of the
FLCIC, 1 would welcoma this opportunity to support the work in progress, the work 1o be planned, and the possibilities that can
resuit from the Naticnal Convention,
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCHIN CANADA

EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Fastern Syﬁﬂd

TP b LR g

| worked in the insurance mdustry for over 35 years Thts mclucied saies service, superwsmg and data analys:s | have been an
active member of Zion my entire life. | have taught Sunday School, spent 9 years as a youth leader, been a member of church
council, served as chairpersen of the Worship and Music commitiee and am now the chairperson of church council. tam a
mother of 3 children and most of that time as a single mother. 1also have 2 elderly parents that require my care.

o mist frwithinthe box) .

I see our agmg membersh;p aﬂd fe younger m ers remai nmg in the church. How can we keap those that we have and
attract new members to grow our congregations? How do we balance giving our seniors the worship experience they want with
the more modern forms of worship? With declining memberships we know that many of our smaller congregations will be
making the difficult decisicon to amalgamate with another, leaving their current places of worship behind. How do we support
them through this process? How do we help our existing congregations to remain financially viable and at the same time
encourage greater support of the mission work required outside of our church building walls? | hope to see greater growth and
stability in our congregations, learning how to adjust to the constant changes we are faced with.

Whyare youinierested i Imthebox ) i

: fele
| feel it is imporiant that the congregatlon understands the concems and goals of the arger che;rch so that we can ahgn some of
our congregational goals in the same direction, As chairperson of church councit this will be important as we move forward in
the next few years. | want fo be sure to stay current with any updates or changes that may occur so we at Zion can adopt and
follow the ELCIC misgion.
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EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

nglican-Lutheral catise they were fniendiier than the church | was a part of! | grew up not
knowing the Lord, an alcholic and drug addict | came to know the Lord in 1983 and was saved off the streets. My first
experience with organized church was with the Pentecostals. 1 studied and became an ordained rinister but when we moved to
Orillia, my family and 1 didn't feel called to remain Pentecostal. St David is our family's faith home and I've learned alot about
what being Lutheran means. Now, F'm interested in experiencing the ELCIC on a larger scale.

we are mission focused because our hearts Speak to the various experiences we share when we gather. it there 15
a place for a sinner such as | - and we welcome averyone ... is the ELCIC the same? Will the ELCIC be around to continue the
work we share in ministry to the wider world? My hope for the future of the ELCIC is to remain relevant in not just proclaiming
the good news of Christ - but living it out in our various communities across Canada.

1 0% Deing ! CLRIG 0 avia. 1o 3 TRipREH U
love Jesus. While my Pentecostal background is so vastly different from Lutheran, | have discovered grace! I've learned so
much about God's Word through different viewpoints ... and my heart is open o continually leaming and allowing God to keep
shaping and molding me. I'd like to experience the ELCIC in it's grandest gathering!
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM -
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCHIN CANADA

Eq Sf@(ﬂ S‘fﬂ 0 d EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

R e R

Nominee Name: -

_hera. c}f Grleans . L
Congregatmn Province: : ON :

-~

':reiate fo' bemg A deiegate to.

--Educatlan BSC‘ M lerary Scserzce MBA; Work Expenence Lnbranan / Pol;cy Anaiyst Chau’ of loc:ai Union — My educat
union and work experience have entailed research, reading, analysis of information (factual & policy related) and writing.
Delegates to conferences are asked to read/study documentation, do some analysis based on what they have read or who they
have spoken to and {o vote appropriately.

-l am currently Chalr Congregational Council and have been involved in leadership roles in the church threughout my adult life
-} have attended several ELCIC National Conventions and was a member of the Local Arrangements Commitiee, Ottawa, 2013

-Please indicate your con VG Text must it within the box.). :
--AS iIn many congregations, the future for the ELCIC is in partnershms | find the current model of cooperation with the Ang!scan
Church to be fundamental fo success and survival in Canada. Are there other potential partners with whom we can cooperate

to have the best stewardship of resources?

—| applaud the work that is being done on an international level and would like to see more of that trickle down fo the
congregations

~While the pews in many churches may be emptying, there is still & mission field out in the community. ELCIC could assist
congregations in identifying mission opportunities, providing seed funding, as well as developing training resources in how to
spread the Gospel while serving in the community
‘Why:are you interéste

- believe that | have skills and apptitudes relevant to thrwi%zg és a delegate ‘
- believe in sharing my time, experience, knowledge and skills
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A frmpelcsp i

Nominee Name: K& e A/ Fit © /(‘{

Position Nominated for: 0 Rostered & Lay Q Youth {Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019}

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: S ‘{‘ ’23 {4 / L [,{+f} Sy )’V?
Congregation Qty B‘r” ’ C{ Qe ‘1._[’-? v Congregation Provinee: M ﬂ&g’/}b

Please describe yonr education, ;'v\é)rk, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention, {Text must fit within the box.)

Q%WHW Cenls: a@m%
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA

5 a Sl_f ern 3‘:5”_ o d EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Nominee Name: /s';,)ﬁ”'f“é' fkv f:‘rﬁa k

Position Nominated for: O Ras/;ered @ Lay O Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 ag of july 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: ’7; b L E Vg gJ it / L,; 4 7}},@ e ¥
Congregation City: \i\)g / /éeiﬁf‘b " D v / ! Congregation Province: 127 )

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Conventiun {Text must fit within the box.}

W # Fpeiotenal Flerrie «
M&f o Fhstenlese e /A
wa ISy VN N 7 VeSS

| Fo £Ses Lo QJJMMWJW
- acere LI &Mﬁ o3 3/

_QVM - prey Zg ¥
o]

M{WW «w/ /&M{, /‘f & M&cf AL e PP
.f»m{/f[!.& d/ffﬂﬁ b éf/f—"r-‘f-—t:/w hézj'/ WJ df:fé.c:b{_; C ) |
/ 5 9’47 é?.w::, , ’7’( AT bn o el Nigo reid B0ty pigmdesriey ol i “éﬁﬁiﬁa

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. {Text must fit wrthm the box.} 4

A pme ity ALAGT Lbetl plopliseiss 18’%#%2«1; i o gD

Aaiie Lepe THAE t )l Al Ll g A At mé?if L M»&f 57
M’?ﬁdumma/ Az /54,4?0 LA uﬁ«b‘?’lf‘//@‘z‘ﬂw s aliri_:. A IR

/m fﬂwﬁfé/ w.,&ﬂ e L bttt e ALl ,&wf LAy A

w(:’/z/v(., WJ %{ u/{/ ,{,& B i / MW,«M ot / a

Why are you interested in being a de}egate" {Text must j‘ it wwhm the box.)

J - m i Tincalict an T Ao fwry 0 et LA iy Pl i

;:Z i g b hosdo G cal Flbo et @*W "4 !

A L el s j”*—fy—’ ETlr M&ﬂ/WM e pes fiﬂmmu ‘
,Ziff s M 2 A Leidig i CBicne R y [ TR /yzfui(,éf@ W
(bt iyral A LB -
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renda Grebtnski

Natmnal Conventmn f Text must f 7t W;thm The box)

Retired from the Banking industry afier 17 years

Member of Church Councll {2014 - present)

Attend Nith Valley Ministry Area Meetings

Supporter of Camp Edgewood and Camp Lutheryn, attending Church Retreats and Family Church Camps for over 20 years
Attend Lay Retreats in Niagara Falls.

Taught Sunday School at St Stephen's Church, Kitchener for 5 years :

Kitchener Cub Scout Leader for over 15 years, received the "Religion in Life" Award
‘Pléase indicate your concerns and hopes for the futivde of ELCIC, [ Text must Atwithin the box.}.. 21

Concerned about decreased resources - paople are so busy and there are so many opportunities to tithe their finances to other
worthwhile organizations

Dedlining Youth Membership and aging congregations

Wouild like to see retationships built with our ecumenical and community partners.

‘Why areyou interested in being a delepate? (Text mustfit within thebox, ). 2000 0o

| tove the Church! Attending Synod and National Assemblies help me feel connecled to the wider church at work in the world
| Hie 1o see everylhing on a broader spectrum - the "Church in and of the Worid."
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Eastern Synod

f v Femnggtersd e st RS

' “Congregation Pro

6 éé.ﬂz;a_tz.ﬁi‘ig}htwréla;éitb'b’gi‘:‘:ﬁg;_a,délég |

| am a teacher by profession, currently working as a vice-principal, and have been a Lutheran all my life. In my work life and my
church life, my goal is to have people feel included, that there is a place for them. | have done many things in my church
including being a Sunday school teacher and superintendent, church musician (singing, playing guitar and bass), assisting
minister, usher, chair of the worship and music feam, and have been a member of a call committee, mutual ministry commitiee,
and church council. My focus in all of these roles has been to provide a variety of ways of gathering and worshiping so that we
can serve a vibrant community made up of people with different needs.

Ritureof ELEIE, [Text must it within the bk,

I am concerned that we may get stuck in a scarcity mentality, which can cause us to hoid tightly to the things that we have (m
fear of losing them), rather than embracing the wonder of the abundant possibilities that face us. This is an amazing time to be
part of the church. We are being challenged to think of new ways of developing our refationship with God, and of supporting
others. This is the time to think big thoughts, and to listen to and support the thoughts of others. We are stronger when we work
together. We need to recognize that what we currently do is meeting the needs of many people, and that must be maintained.
We also need {0 ook at who is missing from our midst, or who is with us and locking for something more than what we currently
offer. We need to ask ourselves what fills us with awe and passion, and then walk in that direction.

ithin the Box.J..

My pastor recentiy asked why | teach rather ihan focusmg on music. | answered that makmg music is teachmg, in that it al OWS
me fo encourage people 1o think, to connect with each other, and to show a corner of their best self. Our church has so much
potential to bring out the best in us, and in thase who are not currently connected with us. | was at the last convention and | saw
moments when the larger church was dreaming of the wonders of what we can becorne. | want to encourage that. My
experience organizing a team of educators towards a common goat give me skifts to support that. | am not interested in going to
any convention to passively listen and clap. My voice will be heard. i | am going anywhere, it is fo get something done, to
learn, t¢ encourage, to share experiences, and to bring ideas back with me. Joel and Acts talk about the spirit prompting us o
dream dreams, and | know we can act out those dreams together.
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Eostern Synod

N m} ee Name:
omin QN - Brign.Janzen B . )
Pusitio‘n’meinated for: C} Rostered ‘ Lay . Yout}l {Must bz batween 16 &nd 25 35 of fuly 1, 2019}

Easi:ern S}mﬁd Cnngregamona§ Memi;ershxp Aii ga nts ‘ ﬁthe;an Aﬂghgan Chufeh

Cﬂngregamen Exty ~Gueiph - ﬂﬂngregam)n Province: ON

Please desmbe your edueation, work charch of‘ Exfe experwnﬁe that mxght reiata o being a delegate to

Natienal Convention, {Text must it within the box}

Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Music Education (Honours), Bachelor of Education Speciaf%%t type A Music, E8L qualifications. 32
years working in the schno! music edusation system. Member of Bethany Mennonite Church to 1979 __of St Paul's Evangelical
Lutheran Church {presently Al Saints Lutheran Anglican Church) to the present. Member of Church Council and Chairperson
numarous years. Worked with church youth at camp in past and actively invelved in church music initiatives. Have altended a3
delegate to both Eastern Synad Assembiies and Mational Joint Assenmbly 2013, Councit Chalr and member of initial transition
team during mulli year successful amalgamation of 81 Paul's Lutheran and 5t David and 5t Patrick's Anglican Church Gusiph.
£

_Please indicate your concerns and hopes for thefmiéji‘-é?Of'ELﬁltZ.i(Te;ét,musfjﬁi within the box.}

Untit more recent years, | have been concermed with the ELCIC's seemingly Jack of insight or what is mors likaly, is difficulty in
"wining the ship” to adapt to today's demographics and the realities of chiurch today. We, the ELCIC, must dare to dream
differently. We cannot keep using the same models and trying to adapt them to our world, our changing dem&g;‘aph!cs foday.
Daring to dream differently does not necessar;ky involve more risk but does require bravery and tenacity. | don't believe it
involves mores resources Grape but rathar using those rasources in perhaps what some may say are unigue and
unconventional ways from our past. Under Bishop Susan's leadership, this shift has begun but the sheer geographical span of
our church in Canada and shall we say "feet in the concrete” syndrome has found it challenging to ksep up with this new

roateacmancd.oballanon

Whyare voivinierested in beinga deiegate"’ {Textmist f Ewighinthe box.)

"} am the ving, ye are the branches” Graps branches must be constantly pruned and trained to produce fruit. | would ke to be
part of this challange of dreaming differently, pruning the ways of our past and encouraging new growth. The ways of our past
syitad us well in our situation befors but we must see things differantly today. | am daunted with this as a personal challenge
bt feel the national church has the personnel resources acroess our Synod's fo both shift our thinking and continue our outward

global minisiry.

4
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Eastern Synod

g Farge. sarr Db ey

| have a Bachelor of Fine Aris (Musm) from Concordia University in Montreal as well as a Bachelor of Education from the
University of Toronto graduating in 1892, During my 30 years as an elementary educator my extra-curricular contributions
centered around music, drama and the environment. Throughout my teaching career | continued to take extension courses,

My husband and | farm outside of Elmwood in Bruce County where we operate a beef feediot. | have been & member of 5t
John's in Eimwood for 25 years. Much of this tme | have been a member the Christian Education Committee and for the past
five years | have been the chasr | have helped to organize four "Messy Church” days and have directed our choir, | have served

on ‘me h ‘ i and ) y to ather u:ieas to make our worship mo: meanlrz ful. _
.y o) nd-Ho “Textmust it within the e

| believe we as a church naed to iomk for new ways to respond to our communities, country and a world in need.
As the rural population declines, small communiies are changing. Lack of services, the aging population and poverty are facts
of life in less populated areas. St. Johr's budlding became the "Rescurce Centre” one day a week when the library building was
condermned in Elmwood. Children's programs, Wi-fi for those without at home and volunteer tutoring take place weekly. This is
one example how of a church can enrich the lives of those in the community. | see our church as a vehicle to support those,
who through circumstances beyond their control cannot fully participate in all that our societly has to offer. Whether it is mental
iliness, poverty, or societal prejudice, we can take the opportunity to be a part of the breaking down of barriers in our world.

Eiustibwithin the box).

Both the worship and communing w&%h other peopie of Faith at the Eastern Synod assemblies has been spmtual 3% noursshmg to
me. | have found the resolutions passed at the Synod Conventions to be wise and thoughtful. The opportunities to gain a better
understanding of our indigenous peoples have inspired me to learn more of Reconciiation and current issues affecting our
native peoples.

In summery, 1am interested in exploring with other delegates, what should be the important things of our church; the
wilingness to take a stand on human rights issues, the need to give direction to our governments on future laws concerning the
environment, and the ways we can promote peace in our world.

| wouid be happy to take these important messages back to our local congregations.
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Mominee Name: .
° Laurie Knot

Position Nominated for: Rostered @ Lay @ Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of july 1, 2019}

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: g Peter's '

Congregation City:  Kjtchener Congregation Province:

Please describe your education, work, chureh or life expenence that might refate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.)

Vice-chairperson, Eastern Synod Councit (efected 2016, two year term ending 2018)

Member, Redeemer, London {2001 - 2018) Pesitions held included: Co-chair, Church Council, Chair, Endowment Committee,
Mission Committee, Liaison Syrian family sponsorshipipartnership with Trinity, London & St. Andrew Anglican, London, Joint
Ministry Committee with St. Ansgar, London

Eastern Synod Candidacy Committee (2008 - 2016, Chair 2013 - 2016)

Transferred membership to St. Peter's, Kitchener, March, 2018 (relocated to Waterloo) Grew up at St. Peter's.

Retired Banker, Honours Business (1881) Wilfrid Laurier University 5

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. (Text must fit within the box.)

I have three hopes which address my concerns: 1. that we will make the difficult decisions 1o leave behing that which distracts
us; 2. that we will be willing fo take bold steps forward to explore new ways of doing ministry; and, 3. that when we stumble
along the way {and we will'), we will always be gracious and loving with each other.

Why are you intérested in being a delegate? {Text must fit within the box.)

| attended the 2017 conveniion as a visitor. 1 was inspired by the prasentations and being part of the wider church experience
but missed being able 1o engage in the discussions, participating in the elections, etc.
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Nomines Name: Jimmy Krats
Position Nominated o @ Rostered Lay C} Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 asof fuly 3, éaw)

Basters Synod Congregational Member#kip: New Hope Lutheran Church
Congregation City:  Sudbury Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that mightrelate lo being a delegnte {0
National Convention. {Text must fit within the box.)

[am currenily a membar of e Synod's Misgion Commides, member of the Northermn Area Mirsstry Team and the chairperson of
the New Hope Lutheran Church council.  volunteer at our weekly food bank and Cafe that we have on Wadnesdays &l our
church office. In the past | have besn a member of the Synod council and have been a delegate to a number of assemblies.
Last year | was on the organizing commitiee lor the 500 anniversary commemaration of Reformation held in Sudbury. This
avent was call 500 NORTH and was a mulli denomination event with about 100 registerad quasts. Bishop Michae! Pryse was
on of 3 Bishops who were present and participaled in our vening praver service. The event covered where reformation has
bmught us and whare we are headed as it refaled to reconcitiation with First Nations.

| am also the past prasicent of Finlandia Village a seniors villags for 400 long lenm care, assisted living and apartments.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. {Text must fit within the box.]

TWond 1Ke 10 566 The FLLIC Continus 10 Work on bemg & WalEsiming ohurch TR TS Would help [0 ensure we ContmuE as E]
church for everyone to attend. | would also like fo see more effort put into doing for cutreach work. | have personally found the
volunteering at Ihe food bank and Cate held at our church has been a very positive activity. My ime on the Misgion Committes
has re-enforced this idea. We nead to find a way to 18t people know about all the outreach events going on i our
congregations. Opening eyes 10 what can be done rarely requires us 10 re-invent an idea we just nead to share and grow.

Why are you interested in bemg? @ deieg}a:@ Fext must fit within the box. J‘
PrRTirreTeSIEn T e AT ThOTTT T Naver alivays Foune T Vel Y Denetictal i (EVEE RGO I LU ol (410 1 O R
| want 10 be able Io contribute 16 the conversation and bring back ideas 1o my home congregation from the National Convention,

Being present is always more informative than reading about it second hand.
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Nominee Name: 01 Kuebler
Position Nominated for: O Rostered @ iay - O Youth {Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of july 1, 2019)

oo
Yoo

{

<

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: St John' s Lutheran Church

Congregation City:  Waterloo Congregation Pravince: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.)
I grew up it Southern Germany. After receiving & degree in civil engineering | emigrated to Canada in 1973. { worked in the
engineering consuiting field and concrete utility product manufacturing untit my retirement in 2015, My entire life | have been
invalved in various aspects of church life, Presently | serve on church council, the board of St John's Seniors’ Gitizens Home,
the examination committe for the Eastern Synod and the board of Govemors of the Waterioo Lutheran Seminary.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC, (Text must fit within the box,]

| am concemed in the decline of Christianity and in particular our ELCIC. | am hopeful that new ideas and ecumenical co-
operation between various faith communities will bring renewai to the church and the relevancy it camies in society.

I am exited to be part of a team that is exploring new ways fo deal with declining memberships by combining resources and
people ino a larger, more versatile group to take on the challenges facing us today.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? [Text must fit within the box.)
1 am Inlerested in fistening, contribuling ideas and 1o help shape the future of the ELTIC, the Eastern Synoc}my home
congregation, and the Waterloo Lutheran Seminary.
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AR ST Alirer

Nominee Name:  f\nt ) | Lo

Position Nominated for: O Rostered @f Lay O Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of fuly 1, 2013}

Eastern Syned Congregational Membership: f;\f;” i g Adeoyg

Congrega?jon City: év 1‘,;-%* SO Congregation Province: (3P

Please deseribe your edutation, work, church or life experience that might relaty to heing 5 delégate to

National Convention, {Text must At within the box,} _ } |
Fam 2 life-Jong Lutheran and an active member of St, Peter's far almost 16 s;ears', Over this time, | have
played leadership roles through the senior cholr, feading Bible studies and educations! attivities such-as
fitm nights, and in helping St Pater’s become an accredited Stewariiship of Creation songragation. For

the past 2 years § have also been a congregational mernber of the Otbaws Lutherafi Refugee Sponsorship
Committae.

Please indicate your goncerps and hepes for the future of ELCIC, (Texz must At within the bax.]

thope the ELCIC will be a stronger voice and movement for. public justice, both in Canada and
internationally, notably by advocating for refugees and action to address climate change, by expanding
awareness of and commitment to Stewardship of Creation, and by promoting greater afforts by both

. church and civic leaders in support of reconciliation and right relations with Indigenous peoples,

Whyaze vou interested in belng a deleware? [Texe must £t within the box, }
¥ f S VL

fwould like to learn how | ean deepen my invalvermnent in my home congregation and in the wider ELTIC,
Pwant to meet fellow Lutherans from across Canada and learn from thair experiences. | want to tearn
how 1 can better serve God and my neighbours, wherever they may be.
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MNamines Name: - .
(POTHREENAME panelle thti’:mume

Position Nominated fors G Rasim ui ’ L’i} Q Yeuﬂlmuat fied bebwmn 1t aind 25 i of fuly 1, 2019%

fastern §yrmd Congr e{.&.xtmnai Membersh}p _'Tﬂﬂliy Luihergn Chmch

Congregatibn mt}* LOHdﬁ}”t {Zungx egation vamce ON
Please desoribe your edzxcatmn, work, a':]xtzrch o hfe ex;w!’;emce theat m:ght re]atc fo being a delegate to
National Convention, TTexishust fiz wlthin e box}

Since September 2014 1 bava served as the Studsnt Ministry Worker at Trinity Lutheran Church, E‘s&& mie i5 10 suppr

posl-secondary students in our.congregation and our city, helping them o develop their spiritual lives In a community setting

witiie i school, | serve as the Lutheran ohagiain a3 an extension of this robs, My membership at Trinity and work in student
ministry deapenedt my calt to vecationsl roinistry in ELCIC, In Septembar 2018, Twill bagin the Master of Divisity program with
plann ko serve FLCID a8 an ordained riinister.

| Please indicate vour concernsand hovestor the futnre of ELCIC flextmustfit wighinthe box] = |
i appresials that FLCIC is very aware of issuss surrounding rasisin and white privilege not only in our couniry but also in our
songregatons. | hope that we will continee e have donversations (o address these ssues and fake s1aps o make our

L organization mot diverse. With Canada baing such a multiethnic country, 118 my hapz, that aur ELCIC congregationg will be a
reflection of that diversity. | am hopelol that ihe work that we have begunte creals inclusive, wel coming cemmunites for
immigrants and minonties will be expanded upon. | am also hopeful thal we will smbracs new axpressions of worshio that
vaflsct the diversity of our congregafions.

“Why are you interested in'being o delegate? [7aer tust it withiy the box] .

i betiave s will be an overall upiifting exparience of encouraging ouf leaders and neiping o shave the Riture of our work. am
i rspecially interested in hearing firsthand updates on our national vigien priorties especially healthy church and compassiorate
Hustice. | ruly wont to be & part of moving this work forward.

2-27



Reports of Assembly Committees

ZHYNATIONAL CONVENTIONNOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCHIN CANADA

EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE ~ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Eas?em Synod

Tty

Retlired engineer with over 37 years experience in science and tachriology R&D, power plant engineering and projsct
management,

Over 20 years experience on Chﬂrch Councll; 15 as Council Chair.

Over 20 years experience on Finance Cﬂmmmee‘ maost as Chair.

Served on Stewardship, Human Resources (Personneal) and Call Commitises.

Congregation Constitution and Bylaw, Risk Management, and overall Policy advisor.

Attendeci 3 Easiem $yned Assemblies over past 30 years and 3 Nanona; Church Convenhons in past 8 years

| Pledse inoicale your concerns and hopes for e fut 1
Concers: The ELCIC is in a state of transition as # adjusts to changing demographics and financial realities. We are not alone

- othermainline Protestant churches are also facing the same pressures. Qur challenge is o remain relevant in the evolving
culture of the 21st century, vet at the same time uphold the traditions of our faith,

Hopes: The ELCIC has shown leadership through the use of partnerships to maintain and strengthen its mission. We need to
continue at the national level to further broaden this approach for our mission work both nationally and internationally.

“Why are you intélestedin being d 'delegate? (Text mist fEWIthinthe Dox. ).

Having continuity of same delegates between conventions is important o provide background 1o f»rst fime da!egates pius
ensuring that the work of the church continues. The Study Guide on Medical Assistance in Dying has raised some good
discussion and | would fike to participate in the convention discussion when the response from the National Church Gouncif is
presented.

Altending a National Convention is an uplifting event through the epportunities to hear first hand on the great works our church
does. Interactions with other delegates from across Canada always brings suggestions for new ideas for programs, and
solutions {o challenges that we all face,
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Eastern Synod

ot g, S D

{ have been an active and invoivecﬁ member of the congregaﬂon for the past 50 plus years I have atiendeé 3 prewcus Natmnal
Conventions, including the joint convention with the Anglican Church in Ottawa. In my past employment experience (prior to
refirement} I had to set an example for my apprentices and teach them by example. | have done this with my family and with my
chureh family. | see going to the convention as a way o learn what is going on in the church, and to set the example to others in

my own congregation.

‘Please iidicate {[Fext st fEwithin the:box )= i :
My concern is for the declining attendance in the church, therefore my hope for the future of the ELCIC is that people wi Ii reallse
that they need God and that they will return to the church,

.Why.areyou

Hind it mterestmg to mee members of the church from different parts of the coantry, et g Ves me a ime to have d;scussmns
with them and 1o compare church experiences with them. We are all one church but we all have different ideas, and different
ways thal we reach cut in the communities that we live in. Mesting with others gives us a time to learn what other congregations
do, and gives us an opportunity to learn and grow from each other. | also enjoy the worship experience of the conference. When
we all worship together it renews my faith in God and renews my faith in the greater church.
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Eastern Synod

Nomi N : -
ominee hame MARIEN  RAMELAUS

Position Nominated for: Rostered @Lay G Youth (Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Syned Congregational Membership: S DAULS  MAGK ETA W?"\!& O TaRIC
Congre'gation City: AR ETAwA ;k} Congregation Province: ﬁj&}’l’

Please describe your education, werk, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. {Text must fit within the box.} :

Vam A AEACHER Wifn A DEGREE 1 NAGVE STUMES ARD AARACHIRG SPLaiALIST il
IPECIAL EDUCACION AND FAMILY =TURIES, | HAYE, 04T REQRED Toom 15 dBAs
OF nWoRRING Wit ¥IRS0 NAQoD COMMUNTTIES 1 ONARID- .
MY Foadn A SPIROTY R L Ge0WAr WAVE AW ALS REEN Anl | MPORrANT TART
OF MY LIWRE. | MAVE FACEHT SUNDIAY Scund LINRS. REEN A PARA OF wWolgns '
GRAPS ARNITHERVED 1N VARG POSICIONS ONMICHURCH ROARD,

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. (Text must fit within the box.)

AME WORLD SEEMS -0 BE MOWG SO QUICKLY , BOT OUR SPIRMOAL nives ARE
NOC ALWAYS ZONSIDERED 00 WE Dol Kow WHERE T EMS 1070 miad)
OF AHE CHANGES ARCD U%. €140 1S ALSO A BROWKE AL BV LYING
DREAR T ZASION ARAT NEEDS A0 L Al INTEGRAL PART OF CONRRE AT o0 AL
ARD AUE GREAER. CHORCHS REEDS D FosTER A CARING SPIiR<UAL
FAMID . HOW DO WE DOCEIS 1w ~(hads wWorin cULTuer ¢

Why are vou interested in being a delegate? {Text must fit within the hox.}

A WHERESAED 1 LEARNING ABGOY OUR CHUBCH O PERAGOY BEdond
OUR CONG REGRTWOMAL LENEL, | WODLD ALSO BEMJOY SHARILN G Feuiowsrve
WA - CHERS 10 -THE ELCIC. | FEEL 14 1S IMPORYALT ABAT THE CiolC
HAVE Ave NP3 or LAY DELEBATS A0 HELP FORM ACTIONS ALAT ARE
NOT DICLUSINEL T ROSTERED RASLETS.
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Nominee Name:
Peggy Read ‘
Position Nominated for; @ Rostered @ Lay O Youth {Must be between 16 and 25 as of July §, 2019}

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership:  Holy Cross

Congregation City:  Burlington Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to‘being a defegate to
National Conpvention, {Text must fit within the box,} i

- served several tarms on Holy Cross Church Council and Worship & Music Commitles in the past 30+ years, several as chair

- currently serving 4th year as Chair of ES Mission Commitiee )
- worked for 20+ years in a family-run bakery, interacting with neighbours and others in my community
- serve as Lay Assistant and cholr member at weekly worship

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC, (Text must fit within the box |

The ELCIC has been on a journey of self-examination of sorts for the past 4+ years, regarding our mission in our
neighbourhoods. Through workshops, seminars, mush discussion and searching, and significant grants from CECF and other
sources, the Synods have been enabled to try mission projects with creativity and energy. My hope is that the journey witt
continue with the mementum which has gathered, and that we can continug 1o be the church in the context of 2018 and

orward,

Why are vou interested in being a delegate? [Text must fit within the box.}

i always come home from the Assembly energized and recharged for the work of my congregation.
The daily sessions and speakers are always thought-provoking, and the discussions which follow are a greal way o leam about

what i3 happening in the rest of the country.
it is a chance to focus completely on the work and fife of the ELCIC as it works in Canada and the world.
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s et suti B 1 G

Nomines Napes o o s
lominiee NOME: o pssiier

@ugﬂae Betyioen 16and 25 ds b Taly 1;2019)-

opational Memibe

_Kitchener - ation Province;::  ON
:National Convention: (et imuse fit) ‘thebox)

| was & Graduate from Conestoga College with a degree for Consiruction Technology. My first employment was with Don Riehl
Construetion and after 6 yesrs was Incorporated into the company arid changed thé name to Nith Valley Construction and was
partowner and Giperated this company for the next 37 years. | was Baptized and Confirmed al Mt Zion Lutheran Church,
Waterioo and got married at 5t Matthews in 1975 and joined in 1881, | have served on various commitiees and have been the
chair of the property committee for the last 22 years. | have served on the church Board from 1880 to 1995 and rejoined in 2008
and still remain on the Board. From 2011 till 2017 | served as President. I'm currently involved with the Vision committee on the
retavelopment of our church.property

ng_'ké:délggs;ttéttq, e

Pleaseindicate your conternsand:hopes reo
My main concern is the declining membership and hearing of churehes closing and how the ELCIC can confinue with its
rmission for othiers if this continues. My hopes for ELCIC is o change this pattern to build 2 more secure future so'they can
continue with thair mission for others and be a bridge building 2 national network for Lutheran Congregations.

Guice Of ELCIC, (Toxt must AEWithin the bov) ..

“Why are you interésted inbeing a'delepate? (Texpmustfewithinthebox) o0 o o o e L
My interest is to jearn more about the ELGIC and hear of their plans or how they plan to move forward to secure a future for
Lutherans. To hear other issues facing various congragations across Canada. How the Natfonal Cenvention functions when

involving members from across the Canada.
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Xt must fiewithy Yo

| provide leadership at 5t. Matthew's Hanaver, serving on church council & varieus committees, as well as coordinating
numercus events and activities. | am on the Georgien Bay Area Leadership Team. In the past | have served on both the
Canadian Mission Committes and Synod Council,

I have an Honours Bachelor of Social Work and am currently the Manager of Community & Employment Services at the YMCA
of Owen Sound Grey Bruce where we provide services for the unemployed, those who are homeless or at risk of becoming
homeless and offer alt ive justi

on

My hope for the future of the EECIC is that we continue 1o lake steps to be a welcoming church. Cartainly we are on the path
but we have further to go. Every person has a story. Hearing those stories and having the courage to respond will afiow us to
be fully present in our communkties. My vision is for our churches to be messy and a lite bit difty because that means that
things are happening there, maeting the needs not only of our members but of those who are most vulnerable in our
communities.

Wh youinterestedin Cate? (lext must it within ‘
I'am keenly interested in the future of our church. | have attended both Synodical Assemblies and Nationat Conventions in the
past. If | were selected as a deiegate | would ses my role, not anly to learn about the issues, parficipate in the discussions (and

enjoy the awesome worship experiencesil), but to then come back to my congregation and the Georgian Bay Area and share
what | have learnad.
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Nominee Name: .
Dr. inarid E. Sladeczek
Position Nominated for: O Rostered @ Lay O Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership:  Saint John's Lutheran Church

Congregation City:  Montreal Congregation Province: Qc

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.)

I joined the Lutheran Church in 1996 and have been an active member in Saint John's tutheran Church since 1986 {with a
pericd in-between where | was a member at Saint Ansgar Lutheran Chureh). Since 19986, | have served my congregation as a
member of Council taking on roles that have increased in responsibility, culminating, this past year, in my role as Chairperson of
the Council at Saint John's Lutheran Church. | am also Vice-Chair of the Lutheran Anglican Refugee Alliance of Mantreal. My
profession as a Professor at McGill University in School/Applied Child Psychology and a Psychologist has given me the skills to
assist and serve in positions within Saint John's that require particular sensitivity to psychological and personality issues
amongst congregational members, ministries, and, at times, between churches and organizations.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. {Text must fit within the box,}

My hope for the future of the ELCIC, simply speaking, is to enhance the lives of those we serve including families and children
(particularly families in poverty, those experiencing hardships, and children who have or are experiencing poor living conditions,
trauma, breakdown of families, or special needs) and that we do so, not only in Canada, and our particular purview, but
continue to contribute to local, national, and international calls fo aid humanity that crosses boundaries and intersects with the
diverse pillars of society and enhances human development and wel-being.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? (Text must [it within the box,)

Although as an academic | have the privilege of interacting with scholars locatly, nationally, and, at times, internationally; having
been to the Eastern Synod Assembly in 2016 was a rare experience, as every talk, every interaction was infused with
spirituality, and the themes of the Assembly permeated our discussions. | was incredibly impressed with the ‘messenging'
system, wherein, within minutes, a question | had posed to Bishop Johnhson was answered. | am interested in pursuing studies
for the diaconate, and, | believe that being able ic take patt in the Nationaf Convention of the ELCIC would provide: {a)
continuity in gaining more in-depth knowladge of the priorities and action plans of the ELCIC; {b) provide a comparison between
the Eastern Synod and the National ELCIC; and {c} an opportunity for me 1o potentially contribute on a substantive level to
committees or efforts that | may currently not be aware of; or to those that | am {e.g., assisting refugee families),
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“Nominee Name
DRQS rered

f_::v_‘nzil.i_\'f!;&niﬁenéh

i Have onty been a Lutheran for 8 years (Anghican jor 40) and bang delight In what T have see
member of the Centrad Toronte Ministry Ares Leadership Team for 4 years, | have an overview of many of the successes and
challenges of the churches in this ministry area and have helped 1o develop ares-wide co-cperation and leasning opporiunities.
! was an organizer of the Reformation 500 Commemoration at St James Gathedral. | wift have attended the Eastern Synod
Convention in 2018, In my own congregation 1 warked for the past 6 years on our Church Councl (5 yrs 23 chalry. During my
terwire, | led application for the instatiation of solar panets (FIT), building modilications for accessibility {EAF) and enhanced
iacilitios for seniors engagament (New Horizons!. 1 was an ELCIC representative af the Anglican Church of Canada’s Human
raflicking Reference Group mestings In 2017,
irdsncerns andhopes

| believe that the ELGIC is very well positioned 1o adapt and meet the challenges that e ahead. With a foundation built on
honest schalarship, commitment to continuous reformation and deep hisiorical roots, | have been very impressed with the
journey of this part of Chist's church. While we are chailenged by faling membership, faw young members and slosing
congregations, we do possess a message that people need, Pve seenthe fransformative power of people of all ages feeling
unconditionally loved. We nead 1o continually explors new ways 16 spread this liberating message 1o a world despsrate for
meaning, purpose and belonging.

fe bie church. As a

{in being.a delegate? (Text muse fitwithinthebox) 0

Nl are you intere

I teel that my role on the Central Toronto Ministry Area Leadership Teamn wouid bensiit rom having more engagement with the
targer church. As well, | think that # will be an opportunity to shars some of our expariencas in the Toronto arez as we iy 1o
mave forward 3¢ a falth community, | also try to bring the perapective of the larger church 1o my own cangrgation.
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Eggs%e 5 ?d
Nominee Name:

Gigi Todd :
Position Nominated for: C) Rostered @ Lay @ Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019}

Eastern Synod Congregaticnal Membership:  Faith Lutheran

Congregation City:  Brantford Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.}

Cellege Diploma for Dentaf Assistant and Dental Hygiene; also attained Adult Learner's Teacher's Certificate for teaching ata
private dental hygiene school; | am a Registered Dental Hygienist {for almost 32 years) and currently manage the dental
hygiene department at place of employment (large private dental practice in Paris, ON). | was born Lutheran and feel fortunate
te have been raised in Faith - served in various ways throughout my adult life in church, assist during worship as lector or
Assistant Minister, sunday school teacher and serve on committees, task force or council (currently serving 6 year councii term
and Congregational Councit Chair.. Understands principals of governance. Also provinciai Board of Diractor member
{profession).

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the futare of ELCIC. {Text must jit within the bax.)

Thope that the ELCIC will continue fo provide service and witness to the Glory of God at a targer ievel than that of the local
congregation and demonstrate both national and global influence. 1 am concerned about declining membership at local fevels
and the direct impact that will have on larger church. | recently updated my will now that my children are adults and revised a
benefactor provision for church designation to my local congregation, first, with a secondary provision for the ELCIC directly if
rmy lacal congregation is can no longer sustain existence [keep in mind that our congregation will make a concerted effort in the
year({s) {o comel.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? (Text must fit within the box.)

Fam very interested 1o experience the work of the church-at-large and utilize my leadership skills where they may be
needed. | attended the Synod Assembly in 2016 at which time | first experienced this wider church focus. | appreciate the
giokal work of our synod and realize that local congregational members do not always realize - the brochures are a great way to
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EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Eastern Synod

st o b ey okt DO

Nominee Name: . h

Please describe y
NationalConvention: (Text st o R e e e R
{111 am Professor Emeritus of Psychology, Wilfrid Laurier University, specializing in a critical history, philesophy, and ethics of the
discipline and profession. | have published on pastoral ethics, religion, and spirifuality, and social justice. [2]} have been a
candidate in municipal, provincial, and federal elections, reprasenting the cause of environmental, economic, and social justice
from an implicit faith-based perspective. [3] | have been an original member of the Alliance Against Poverty, a lacal advocacy
group practicing solidarity with the poor. [4] At Christ Church | serve as lector, assisting minister, and choir member, and direct
an annual theatrical production at Christ Church that addresses issues of social justice. Lastly, | am an Inshallah member.

ghtrelate to being a delegate to

' Please indicate your Concerns ant O ELCIC [Texpmust fit within thebox)
My primary concern and hope are to see during my lifetime a significant shift in congregational activities, including Hturgy, away
from what makes white middle-class congregants comfortable toward living the sacial gospei by embracing our call to serve the
marginalized, practice compassionate justice, and learn to respect quite concretely Mother Earth by each congregation, each
synod, and the national church living within our ecological means. Spiritually, we can fearn how to do 50, in this era of discourse
about "reconciliation,” from Indigenous cuftures in which fwo interrelated moral imperatives are pivotal. fostering right relations
with all people and with ali creation, that is, living sustainably. | believe that if the institutional church and congregations make
stich a shift, then youth and families will discern our relevance and join us in nurturing a positive common future for humankind.

ust fit withinithe box.J. i e i
terest fliows from my experience as a clinical and acadermic
psychologist; as a political candidate for minority parties advocating environmental, economic, social, and demoeratic-
governance policies that largely reflect the social gospel; as an active participant in grassfoots support for the many desperately
poor in Waterloo Region; and as an active contributor fo the life and work of my congregation. This set of experiencas might

prove useful as a delegate during discussions of past, present, and future directions of the ELCIC.
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,,,,,,,,,,, oHventi ftwithinthebox ) o 0 e
Church: Grew up at Redeemer, in London; attended Dollard DO Montreal,and Unil.u Harvard University,
for 35 years.

Work: 17 years at TD Bank and 14 years at Fidelity Canada....making Canadians successful investors
Developed: Many younger people in the workplace in a positive "Do unto others, as they would do unto you" manner
Global Workplace: Tokyo, HK, Singapore, Mumbai, Sydney, Luxembourg, England, USA

Mentor: Have successfully meniored several young people outside of work

Live: On my street...Indonesia, United Arab Emirates, Russia, China, England, Canadal/Jewish, HK..we all get along well.

L L must i th .y
The historic model which | grew up with (and [ like), is dying slowly.  Our church is financially sound, but has barely enough
people to run it. We are seeing volunteer fatique. Young families and their kids are in short supply.

and joined St. Ansgar

lattended St. Matthews Anglican in Maniey Beach, Australia for Easter 2018 and saw a model that is thriving. The § am chureh
is like ours... raditional service, sparsely populated and all grey hair. The 10 and 5 pm were packed full of families in a folk
setling....same sermon as 8am. The 6:30pm Millenial Night church was also packed...using hard driving Christian rock band and
the same sermon as 8 am. There are definitely lessons to be learned here.

I. Staying with the status quo will make it difficult for the ELCIC to survive in my view. We are seeing well established operating
models that have been successful for decades, now being overturned. The next five years will be quite important,

2. Congregations will need to merge to regain critical mass / eliminate volunieer fatique/attract new members; and the service
format, presentation, and music will need to evolve for younger demographic groups. There are many ways 1o deliver a
message.

3. There are a growing number of socially isolated people, due in part to the rise of social media. The Church can help here.

4. Australia has a very high level of volunteerism, which builds a strong society. The church can play a role here too.
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Hon: chition /Texe
Life long mamber of St John's, Amprior since 1956,

Heve served my church as: youth leader, Suniday school teacher, treasurer, councl chalr, outreach chaly and proparty chair,
Board member of Lutherdyn Camp and Conference Centre.

Ratirad from management in Computer Manufacturing. Hald positions in finance, Change Managemant and Operations.

3 the fature oR BLCIC (ot must Btwithin the bios i
its rigsion in service 1o others ang make tangible progress on its chisf

My hope is that the ELCIC can success ully futfil
priorities and areas of fogus,

. Al i e : TooaNme RN T
My expaciation is thet | will serve rmy chursh to the best of my abillies utifizing my experience, skils and using my faith and
boliefs as a foundation. | hope to contribute and to gain inereased knowledge of how the national church operates and share
ihat with our local congregations.
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Youth Nominees (Three to be elected)

Biographical forms on pages following

Name Ministry Area
Ben Cameron The Bay
Megan Famme Nith Valley
Willem Klunder The Bay
Melissa Veniot GTA West
Julia Wirth Ottawa
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Fostern Synod

Nominee Name: Ben C ameron

Position Nominated for: O Rﬁstered ) G Lay @ Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019}

Eastem Synod Congregatmnai Membershlp Hoiy C FQSS

Congregation City: Buﬂ;ngt{)n - Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your e&nmﬁﬁn, wm"k, chn i
National Convention. { Text must fit within the box.).

1 am currently studying Sociology at Wilfrid Laurier University in Waterloo. I'm an aclive member of Haly Cross, Burtington —
who nieniinated me for a provincial Volunteer Service Award for all of my aclivilies in the congregation. | am a Leader in
Training for the upcoming Canadian Lutheran Anglican Youth Gathering in Thunder Bay Jater this year. fam also a Youth
Delegate {0 the Eastem Synod Assembly, and attended the last Nationa! Convention.

H or kfe ex;:ef:ence thatmlght relate to being a delegate o

Please indicate your cencerns and hopes for thefuture of ELCIC. (Text must fit within the box.)

My time at Wilfrid Laurler University, has so far, confirmed that there are many people my age who have no faith experience,
and no reat contact with faith communities. | see the ELCIC working at changing that. My hope for the future of the ELCIC s
that it will continue to work on being a presence in the lives of people who have no faith experience.

My concermn is that the work has along way to go. It is hard to effect change in a large institution. The workd is changing so
rapidly that I'm afraid that the institution of the church might not be able to change fast enough to remain refevant in the fives of

people.
My hope is also that we can fake the Reformation's ideal of being an always reforming commurity, so we don't fall behind.

Why ate you interested in beiog 3 delegate? (Textmust fit within the box } )

I attended CLAY in 2018 in PEI (aid will be in Thunder Bay for CLAY in 2018), National Convention in 2017, and am a
Delegate at the Eastern Synod Assembly in 2018, | want {0 refurn to National Convention in 2019 because ! know how
important the voice of youth Is in an institution. We've seen recently in the U.S. how powerful the youth voice can be in sodiety. |
want 10 continue to help the church reach people — particularly people my age — and to help have a say in the important
decisions that are made as they affect the church's abilily to minister in the future.
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Easfern Synod

Nominee Nam‘e:" ‘ WlRE o

I'am a student with a variely of interests and experiences. | have a well rounded extracurricular schedule: being an aclive
member of the varsity rugby team an playing in the school concert band. | am currently preparing for my Grade 40 Royal
Conservatory Practical Exam ins pianc. | work on my family farm including field work and raising beef cattle. As an active
member of my church, | take pride in the roles 1 hold including acolyte, assistant minister, reader, member of the youth groug,
musician, community voluntesr. | attended the CLAY gathering in PEI in 2015 and loved it. | enjoy traveling and meeting new
people. Several years ago, | visited family in Germany and toured the Wartburg Castie (Martin Luther) which was inspiring but
humbling,

Please indicalé yolir COncerns at Fiture of ELCIC, {Text mustfit within the box.)

I have been a member of the Faith Evangslical Lutheran Ghurch my entire life. This is the Christian family 1 have grown up with
and who have always encouraged and supported me. While | have been fortunate to be part of this spiritual practice and church
community, there are many peapte that do not have this connection. My concern for the future of the ELCIC and church in
general is the potential congregation membership decline. My hope for the future is to break down the misconceptions that
society holds about church. Church can be modern, fun, inclusive and "cool.” We need to take the spiritual messages and
relate these into today's society.

Why are you interested in beinp a Aolegate? 1 ext must fltwithin tiebor]

| am interested in attending the national conference as a youth delegate. | would like to represent the youth in the Eastern
Synod. | see this opportunity as a 'give and take.’ As a high school student, | bring a diverse and young perspective to an aging
institution. Young people in today's society have busy lives and do not have time for the "church.” | think this forum would be a
great opportunity o voice @ young member's perspective and allow me to provide suggestions on how to bring our ever
changing cultural and societal values into the church. | think being a delegate would allow me to grow spiritually, both outside of
my personai comifort and environmental boundaries. Meeting other delegates (especially other youth) from across Canada
would be a wonderful opportunity to share ideas and support each others' goals. New ideas brings new enthusiasm back to my
| ghurch. Thank you for your consideration.
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Eastern Synod

%0 P s s £ G

Nominee Name: M f/{ i 5 SR Vﬁﬂg"@‘g’

Posttion Nominated fors Rostered O Lay ® Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: 5 4‘ Ph ' § p 5 L(é ﬁ/}ﬂ FiAN C/lf‘l MVGM

Coﬁgregatisn City: E’bb i C,»{)k e; ) Cong; egafion Province: O {\}

Please describe your education, work, church or hfe experience that mlght relate to bemg a deiegate to
National Convention. [Text must fit within the box.)
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(®) ‘Youth st be bitween 16 and 25 as ot iy 1

Lutheran Chirch

. ‘Congregation Province

& might relate to'being a delegate

I have just completed my Bachelor's in Nursing and have a passion for working with children and youth. | am starting my fifth
year of service on my parish council, where Pve held posilions such as secretary, chair of youth, and chair of communications. |
am currently co-ieading a multi-parish Lutheran youth group in Ottawa and participate in multiple Christian communities for
young adults.

] i colicerns futy Text must fit within the box.] .

I hope to see a continued focus on the following areas as we follow Christ's call to discipleship on a national level:
- Reconciliation with Indigencus peoples )

- Communication and collaboration between congregations across Synods.

- Partnership with the Anglican Church in Canada and global Christian organizations.

- Support for environmental sustainab#iity within and outside of the Lutheran Church.

-Please indicate

“Why aveiyou interested in béing a delegate? (Texi must At within the box.)... . S

{ want fo learn more about the way the church operates on a national level and learn from the experiences of others in the wider
Lutheran church. | would alse like to bring some perspective from the greater church body to the loeal parishes in Ottawa, and
support new initiatives that are happening on a national and giobat level,
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Rostered Nominees (Seventeen to be elected)
Biographical forms on pages following

Name Ministry Area
Hans Borch Two Rivers
Christian Ceconi Central Toronto
Steve Hoffard Seaway
Jennifer Hoover Nith Valley
Scott Knarr Two Rivers
Pamela Kormano Niagara
Ann Krueger Huronia
Karen Kuhnert Two Rivers
Richard Kwiatkowski GTA West
JoAnne Lam Ottawa
R. Michael Lees Thames
Martin Malina Ottawa
Kimberlynn McNabb Atlantic
Daniela Mertz The Bay
Joanna Miller Nith Valley
Laura Sauder Thames
James Slack Montreal
Annette Smith Grand River
Adam Snook Atlantic
Sylvia Swiatoschik Thames
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Nominee Name: L .
Christian Ceconi

Position Nominated for: @ Rostered @ Lay O Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of juiy 1,2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership:  Martin Luther Church

Congregation City:  Toronto Congregation Province: - ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to'heing a délegste to-
National' Convention. {Text must fit within the box. } )

Graduated in Theology (1999} and church-related Sociat Work (2001) (both University Heidelberg, Germany), received a Dr.
theol. in Practical Theology in 2013 {University of Goettingen, thesis on HR in church); worked in web design, sociological
research and severai calls in the Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hanover; for 5 yrs. CEO of a church-owned nursing home
company, since 2013 serving in the ELCIC with the people of Martin Luther Church Toronto: since Nov. 2015 also serving as

Area Dean for the Central Toronto Ministry Area.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC, {Text must fit within the box.)

My hope for the ELCIC is that we learn again to be a missional church. Basidas our traditional worship and programs we need
new forms of ministry, the courage and curiosity to try new things to make disciples. My concern is, that many congregations
are overwhelmed by the number and complexity of challenges we face currently. Often this situation leads into inward focused
minisiry.

Our wonderful theology and tradition is nothing we have to hide. We need to become more outward focused by serving the
wortd with alf our gifts, by being passionate about the gospel of God's grace.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? (Text must fit within the box.)

I want participate and contribute when our national church envisions and discerns how 1o be a relevant and vibrant chureh in
the 21st century. Transition is an exciting journey. It's a wonderful challenge to prayerfully discern in these times where God
wants us to be His church. 1'd like to share from my background and knowledge whatever is helpful for our journey.
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#
Eastern Synod
Nominee Naunie:
Rev, Steve Hoffard
Pasition Nominated for: @'ﬁﬂﬁtﬂ?{}d Q Lay C) Youth (Must be hetween 16 and 25 a3 of July 1, 2019

Eastern Synod Congregational Memsbership: 81 Mark's Evangelical Lutheran Church

Congregation City:  Kingston _ ’ Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, chuveh or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention, [Texi must fit within the box.)

Graduate of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary, Master of Divinity - June 207172

Ordainad July 8, 2012. Pastor of 5t Mark's Kingston since June 1, 2012

Vice Chair of the Board of Governors for Watestoo Lutheran Seminary

ELCIC representative on the Church Coundll for Justice and Corrections (CCJC)

Dean of the Seaway Ministry Area

Proud Member of Proclaim a Professional Community for LGBTQ2 Lutheran Roshered Mivisters and Seminarians

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC, {Texg must fit within the box. )

The wider church catholic hast't always had a great history and gets painted with a wide brush especially to those who arent a
part of her, Many have experienced or assume the church 1o be place of exclusion and judgment. My hope for the ELCIC and
our member churches is thal we becoms known for proclaiming the gospel message that all are saved by God's grace by doing
it both within and beyond our church walls, That beyond our church walls we are known and recognized by the work we do in
the world and in owr communities, and that we be engaged and inlegral parts of the wider communities we serve. That within
aur church walls we are known and recognized as a safe and caring place for all, A place not to be avoided during times of
trouble, but a place sought out for refuge and strength,

Why are you interested in being a delegate? (Text must fit within the box.}

| have always been interested In the work of the wider chureh. 1am proud of the work of the national expression of our church
bath within Canada and around the world. We are a church that fsn't afraid to engage with the world giving us relevance for
both our members and the communities we are a part of.
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Please describe your edu
National Conventic

ence that might relate to being a delegateto” =~

| completed an MA in Theology at Waterloo Lutheran Seminary and was consecrated as a diaconal minister in 2016, 1 am
Diaconal Minister of Music at Mount Zion Lutheran Church, Waterloo and serve on behalf of the Two Rivers Ministry Area in
partnership with the Six Nations Anglican Parish te support the Music for the Spirit after school program and summer day camp
on Six Nations of the Grand River Territory.

F am a facifitator for the KAIROS Blanket Exercise and participate with the Eastern Synod Biennium Reconciliation Initiative
Task Force, the Haldimand Tract Ecumenical Partnership, and the Eastern Synod Racial Justice working group.

Please indicate vour contern hopes for the fi [TexEmust it within the box.)

God's love has been shown tangibly to me on my journey in $0 many ways. My hope is that the ELCIC can live out this
blessing for others who may not have the same privileges and position, and wha have to work with even more deliberation to
achieve their place within our community. | carry hope with me because God’s grace has been made real for me, and | know
that our church has the capacity 1o reach out beyond itself,

f dream that our church takes risks to walk alongside those who are hurting. Even in the face of diminished resources, that we
continue to extend a hand of friendship and invest in the lives of those around us. My concern is that we do not et the world
become too small. God has big dreams for us, and we nead 1o have the courage to speak our imagination out loug!

Why are you interested in being a déles Text must fit within the'box)

I am interested in sharing about the ministry | have seen happening in my local context. | would also like to participate in
building community connections across our church so that | hear a diversity of voices. | believe that each one of us has the
responsibility to shape the ELCIC into an eclectic, vibrant community for the public good. This national gathering is a key
opportunity to encounter neighbours whom we often do not have the chance to meet, and to learn about their joys and
COMCermns.

2-52



Reports of Assembly Committees

2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMENATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA

FASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIGGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Eastern Synod

Neminee Name: .
Rev, Pamela Korthano

Position Nominated for: 'Rostered D Lay O Youth (Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: | (itheran Church of the Good Shepherd

Congregation City: Niagara Falls Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or er.experien;:e that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. {Text must fit within the box.}

! graduated from. Business Administration and worked in the business sector for many years. My husband and I aperated
business which was recogrized in its industry intemationaily. Throughout my life | have been involved within the congregations
i which 1 have heen a member. | have lived in many communities in Canada, lived oversesas, traveled to many arveas of the
world, talked with peeple of different ages and cultures ahd worshiped with peaple of many faiths and traditions. 1 bring my past
expenenses, wmy role as Faslor of wo Niagara Area churches in a Parish Agreement, my role as a member of the Niagara Avea
Leadership Team, and my role as Dean of the Niagara Ministry Area with me into a defegate role at the National Convention.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of BLCIC, { Text rmust fit within the box)

The Church was never meant to stand still in time. God has continued o rerew. and reform. We have a responsibility to refresh,
renew, and reform, We need to meet people wheie they need to be met. t fee! extited and hopefu! for the future role of the
congregations within their communities, Canada, and the giobal community. I'would hope that Jesus' patience, love, wisdom
and aclions in each situation he encountered would help to be an example for each ong of us. | hepe the ELCIC would continue
o have an ever increasing presence within crealing stronger ecumenical retationships both within Canada and the global
community. The ELCIC is a wealthy church and we have the opportunity to share and give of our varicus. gifts as we are called.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? {Text mustfit within the hox.)

| am interested i being 2 delegate because | have never been given the opportunity to attend an ELCIC National Convention. |
was erdained foUr years ago and | am the pastor of wo congregations i the Niagara Ministry Area of the Eastern Synod, serve
on the. Niagara Area Leadership Team, and serve in the role of Dearn of the Niagara Ministry Area. | seek to continue 1o learn
more abbutthe ELCIC. Serving 25 a delegate for the 2019 National Convention wouid allow me fo leam more aboul the ELCIC,
give me ar opportunity to connect with other clergy, 18y peopie, and youth from across Canada. | would love the opportunity to
bring information from iy experience back to my congregations, area pagtors, and leadership team. | am active within
ecumenical groups i my area and this would be helpful within that context as well.
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11 have been a pastor since 2004 serving St Peter's Lutheran Chuich in Zurich and Westside Lutheran Church since 2008,
have bean a marmber of Bynod Councll and have bean the Dean of our Muronia Ministry Ares. | am currently working on 2 PhD
in Human Relations (Pastoral Leadershin) at Waterloo Lutheran Seminary. A big Interest for me is connecting with children and
parenis {o tleach them about Jesus. We've been doing that through Messy CGhurch for over six vears. We've just started
offering & full-day program on some PA days. mealso very inferested In sonnscting with our neighbours In need - with the
hameless in our community {my Phi research will be asking emsrgency shelter volunteers about thair experienca) &
supporting the womean & children at our Women's Shelter.

Heate you o :
Maintine churches are having 2 tough me - atfracting new members, stirviving financially, having enough volurteers to keep
things geing. We get lost in that Good Friday experience. Instead, | belleve we're called to frust those details to God in prayer,
do whal we can, then put the majordty of our energy into serving our neighbours in need and sharing the guod news of Jesus,
We're Easter peopls. God hasa plan for gl of us - i jus? might not look Tike it does Hght now,

t calebrate partnerships - 2.of the three churches in our ministry area are "Anglican-Lutheran®’. They have new energy sinee
they've become partners and they are.doing terrific things.

Sometimes we get stuck in our need to honor our great-grandparents and the buildings they buill, 1 think they would teif us to
forgat that - look 1o the fultre. Be people of vibrant faith and think abead to our future great-grandchildren. How can we help

X Al £ L e :
t appreciate the opportunities to fearn, 1o mest new people, to reconnect with old frends and to worship. Our worship
experiences are always wonderful. | always appreciate fistening to our guests expecially Bishop Younan from Jordan and the
Holy Land, and the Anglican Primale, Bishop Fred Hiltz,
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I am a passor thh 10 years of ordained congregetxonal and transitional ministry expersence Bom in Nor’{hem Aiberta my fi f rst
degree specialized in Conwmunity Development (UofA) while | attended Lutheran Campus Ministry {(Edmonton). My husband
Rev. Dr. Peter Kuhnert and 1lived in Inuvik, NWT, for 7 years. As Canada's most northerly Lutheran congregation, Holy Cross
included Inuit Lutherans; we became an Anglican-Lutheran Church of Inuit, Gwich'in Dena and Settlers prior to the Waterlco
Declaration. Moving "scuth” for Seminary, we have lived in Waterloo, Ontario, for 18 years serving the Seminary, Eastern
Synod, and Nationaf Church, congregations and Speciat Ministries. We are well known for leading cross-culturally: with
Maranatha Caribbean Lutheran Congregatmn Grand River Six Nations, Nord500North Catholic-Lutheran Commemoration...

svithin the box)

inmy appi:cahon o become pastor to the people of 8L James Lutherars Church in St Jacebs | wrote this:
"l work and live towards the following hope for the ELCIC: that we be an increasingly united ELCIC Lutheran Ghurch from coast
to coast to coast that is walking in Ged's way in faithfid service to Ged's will for the whole world.”

Whether as Arohmst r the Eastern Synod Gircle Member of the Kairos Endlganous R)ghts C rcle, Ongmai Membef of the
Eastern Synod Biennium Reconciliation Initiative Task Force, or as one of the planners for the Synod and Seminary 150-100
Anniversary, | have been a strategic thinker in service to the diverse people and institutions of our Church. | have done this
work while being committed to our Church as a National Church of five distinct federated Synods. | have sought first to be
faithful to Ged in all my endeavours to raise the energy of the Canadian Lutheran voice in Global, Ecumenicat and Inter-faith
locations at home and around the world (LWF 2003, LWF 2010, Climate Change conferences in Sweden 2015, lceland 2017,
TRC work across Ganada 2011-2018). As Archivist, | clearly vaiue and protect our Lutheran traditions and past while aiso being
a forward and future thinker and planner. My roots are in congregational context, my wings spread across the globe.

2-55




Reports of Assembly Committees

QQ {,00 P
fh& 9% va 2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
® EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA
Eastern Synod EASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE - BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

4 St B Latvenn T e ¢ Clrany

,Nomine"e Namez}‘ 5

Bachelor of Arts (BA) The Camseus Ooilege of Buffalo, Buffalo, New York - May 1996
Master of Divinity (MDiv} - The Lutheran Theologicat Seminary at Philadeiphia, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania - May 2001
Magter of Theology (ThM) - University of Toronte / Trinity College / Toronto School of Theology, Toronte, Ontario - May 2015

September 2016 to Present - Grace Evangelical Lutheran Church, Qakville, Ontario - Pastor

November 2014 1o July 2016 - First Evangelical Lutheran Church, Toronto, Ontario - Interim Pastor

June 2002 to November 2014 - Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, North Boston, New York - Pastor

Please indicate your concerns and hopes Tor the Riture of ELCIC, (Taxt rmust fit within the box. ). - S

L am concermed about the struggies that individual congregations face. Often, congregations struggle financially and have to
make difficult decisions. Those decisions may negatively impact how congregations engage in ministry. This is not unique to
Lutheran congregations. Bishops and synod staff are wonderfully supportive. 1t would be great if the ELCIC could form more
ecumenical partnerships, such as the ELCA has done in the U.S. Through these pantnerships, there could be a more effective
pocling of resources. It is at the congregational level where most people encounter the Word and receive the Sacraments. If it
weren't for congregational minisiry, many people today would have no connection with the church. My ultimate hope is that we
find additional ways that we can support congregations in their mission to curb the losses congregations are experiencing.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? [Text must fit within the box.).”

My iourney in ministry began as an active youth in a small suburban Lutheran oongregahon and then eontmued forma!!y wtth
theological education, being ordained, and then cafled to serve in congregations. Over the years, | have experienced changes
to how congregations waorship and how the level of engagement of members has changed due 1o both aging and societal
demands. The Lord has blessed me with a wide range of ministry experiences. 1 believe that when God blesses us with
anything, we are called to share those blessings. | would like the opportunity 1o share my insights from these ministry
experiences in the hope that they might help to strengthen or further the mission and ministry of the ELCIC and congregations.
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Being a current member of the Coramission on Faith and Witness of the Canadian Council of Churches and the Christian
Council of the Capital Area (Ottawa & Gatineau), | would like to keep current on the direction of our national church body as
wel as to be present to contribute to the conversations taking place beyond the synodical level. My education inciudes Master
degrees of theological studies(TST), Advanced Ecumenical Studies (WCC), and M. Div from Waterloo Lutheran Seminary
{Waterloo). Currently, | am pursuing @ PhD in biblical studies that serves fo research methodologies in biblical exegesis with a
focus on the vuinerable prophets and how it shapes our training of pastoral leaders. | have attended the 2017 Nationasl
Convention and | beli feve _continuity in my aitendance serves my work within the synodical and wider church context

and Hopes for sk fibwithin the bok.).

As we continue to face decreasmg resources to suppert our current ministry mode!, | am excited to see how the mited
resources will serve to be more imaginative in how we be church and in how do church, It is not that we are without resources,
It is requiring us to readjust our perspective and self-definition of church. 1 am concerned with the need to ciose church and that
we will focus on the positive posture of fransformation and renewal. Also, we need to have fraining to offer a good death to
communities that require an end to a minisetral legacy. My sincers hope is that ELCIC will continue to witness our faith, seeking
ways to speak and walk in justice, and to not only be relevant in our generation, but to be a prophetic voice for peace.

As memxoned before L am serving on a few commuttees on behave on the Eastem Syned as well as the wrder ELCIC My hope
s to keep current of the themes and foci for our national church. | am interested to see how the wider ELCIC is represented
across Canada and to widen my knowledge and awareness of our Lutheran tradition beyond the context of the Eastern Synod.
I also hope to bring seme of our resources and ministry projects to share with colleagues in other synoads to connect similar
energies and interest, hoping for a larger impact on Canadian society with our presence o serve our communities.

2-57




Reports of Assembly Committees

RSl

2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA

EASTERBAVNOD NOMINEE - BIGGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

%ﬁﬁi@m ﬁymd

Hav;ng; gradua“tecf from. Wafer{w Lumeran &emmary in :2068 Fhavie served Trmaty Windsor for Gver ning: years s thelr pasior
Prior t-discerning a gall o ministry 4 enjoyed a bucessful career a5 a computer programmer, moving inte systerms desigrand’
addinistration. Having raised three children Tamnbwa happy grandfather. | believe these experiences p?owde & broad
pefspecwe and-will heip me b a better el egate .

r -"!Zhﬁ fufire 6RELCIC, ?‘ext witise e wichihe box )

Vhile it seeris &l churcbes ars.exper rfemg declining mefribershipand budgets I beieve the church is found in the hearis and
faith of the indhvidual, Woérking Ggeelher 16 support sech other and extend a welcofing hand fo our neagﬁbcurs ard :
communiliss iswhere and howwe wilf thrive,
tam glad o s8¢ ecumsnical actomplishmernds ke our full communion re atronshxp with the Anglwan Chureh in Canada, as well
as the recent Reformation 500 joint Lutheran / Roman Catholic Bible study serles. Even If prograss toward unily is-slow and )
falterng, e conversatians:we have 1ead us tolards understanding and respect. This afftude paves the way for convefsatmns
with non- Chrisisan nexghbeurs a8 well, hapefu!!y breaking down walls of misunderstanding belween us,

mg; s deloonte? [ Toxt st REunthinthe box)

| have been privileged o attend i}remcus Mational Conventions, both in Camrose and Saskatoon, and iis a!ways & honom to
parlicipate in the fulare of this wonderful church: | enioy and banefit from the rich fabric that is Canadian Lutheranism, aﬂd {can
only hope | give: bacx ever a portion of whal | receive.
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g B e D

Nominee Name: 2., v g f:‘n‘y\ n/h::z. Vo e

Position Nominated for: @ Restered O Lay O Yaath [Mustbe: between i6and 25as of }uly 1,2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membershlp .51’31,.} [\ C"{"k‘ama -
Conigregation City: @*{-—ng& o BT _:-1.' Congregauon Provmce 0 f\}

Please déscribe your educatmn, work chiiirch oF hfe expenence that m:ght re}ate to bemg a delegate to
;National Convention: (Textmust fit withinithe box.)... :
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fastern Synod
Nominee Name; . g i AL AL ]

Q@‘C%f, bfi KM\%& s E\{ e Y i}“ﬂﬂ‘?fﬁl’)
Position Nominated for: M@stered O Lay @ Youth {Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

. : . 3
Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: Loatheran Churddn s ,? a%t K e cdinm

Congregation City: ‘;—\@;‘\% C(. WX . Congregation Province: %

Piease describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.)

*Ioam curcensty Dean of the Alashe Whinistrg Area ’ o
< T jave wirked on bhe Punniag caommitkes e (LAY Z?f(ﬁi\(b@&:\ desigrate o gﬁ?‘m Wﬁ@@;
Planmed Commen Peayel Secviwe 2017, eohive in leadoship deue lop ment commitites Guee
Pest 10 yrs o - : e ot
+ Corcently supervise bubheran and Pryglicsn erdinaeg cindidales; tach hgesiedes afy Teaksy
Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. (Text must fit within the box,)
“Hhat e church be a voice of grace inatroabled weeld
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~ , ’ : . ¢ e f = e A
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Why are vou interested in being a delegate? (et must fit within the hox.}
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Eastern Synod

f e b ple s e U A Lk

:-Nammee Name:; Danue}a Me rtz

“Pasifion Nommateﬂ for @ Rostered

| Eastern Synod Cc ; gregatmnal M be

Cmagregatmn City Ham 'g ON

Please H:B_S'c'r;ib_éﬁz#’".d'!_ifcatt ‘
:National Convention. {fext mushh

thave many years of diverse work-experience with the local and wider church: 1994 — 2007 pastor in three different
congregations Germany; 2007-2014 pastor, St. Paul's Leamington; 2014- present pastor, St. John's, Hamilton; 2016- present
pastor, Faith, Hamiiton in shared ministry with St. John's. 2008 -20186 Interim pastor (Trinity, Windsor; Reedemer, London;
Mount Zion, Waterloo; Grace, Oakville); 2010 — present part of the leadership team of ALSOC (organizing multi-congregationa
youth relreats); 2016 - present Candidacy Committee of the Eastern Synod

We initiated - in close partnership with the Eastern Synod - 8t. John's Mission/Community-Outreach ministry and helped bring
together 81, John's and Fa th i_uth ran Church hared mi ms
“Please indicate yourconcer ¥t st fitwithin the boy:)

The church landscape has been changing over the last 25 years. Like marily mainstream churches our Lutheran churches have
bacome smaller and older with limited human and financial resources. Yet, 1 ses in many congregations a strong will not only to
keep their doors open but also to be a church in mission for othérs in many different ways (good food box, supporting refugees,
comrunity garden projects etc.). St. Jehn's communi ty—outreach project stands as an example for the desire of ELCIC
congregations across ihe country to become a more mission-criented church. | helped initiate amalgamation talks between four
Lutheran churches in Hamilton. Our process may serve as a mode! and encourage other local congregations to enter into
cioser ;Jartnershaps in order to do better and more effective mmlstrles Itis my hope that our church contmues o prowde ona

‘Why areyou. mtereste n

ELCIC National Conventions pmwde opportumiles o !earn more about our church, the challenges and ihe opportumt;es I
would like to be part of the conversation and decision making at the 2019 National Convention. | bring my passion for the
ELCIC as well as a variety of experiences and gualifications earmned in the service of that church.
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i Name: i
Nominee Rev. Joanna Miller

Position Nominated for: @ Rostered O Lay 0 Youth (Must be between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership:  7ion Ev. Lutheran Church, Philipsburg

Congregation City:  Philipsburg Congregation Province: ON

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. (Text must fit within the box.}

I currently serve two rural congregations in Witmot Township, west of Kitchener-Waterloo, in the Nith Valley Ministry Area. In
our ministry area, we are currently working toward a new vision of shared ministry that will enlfiven our mission, worship, and
encourage sustainability. | am excited by the reformation [ see happening and look forward with anticipation to where God is
leading us.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. (Text must fit within the box.)

My hope for the future of the ELCIC is that we continue on a path to becoming more and more fike Christ's vision for the
church, My biggest concern is that we find the faith that is required to faithiully foliow the Spirit as we are reformed info the
church Jesus wants us {o be, without giving in to anxiety and fear.

Why are you interested in being a delegate? {Text must fit within the box.}
i care deeply about our church, its role in the world, and its future. Also, part of my call as Pastor to the ELCIC is to be present
for and part of the faithful administration of the church.
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A bream it e DR Aot

Nominee Name:
Laura Sauder

Position Nominated for: Rostered O Lay O Youth (Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of fuly 1, 2019

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: St Peter's Lutheran Church
Congregation Province; ON

Congregation City: Brodhagen

Please describe your education, work, church or life experience that might relate to being a delegate to
National Convention. {Text must fit within the hox.)
I was ordained in 2012 and have been serving St Peter's, Brodhagen since that ime. | also serve as Dean of the Thames

Ministry Area (since 2014). I have experience of the wider ELCIC, having grown up in Saskatchewan, completed my intemship
in Winnipeg, and now serving in the Eastern Synod. | am wife to John and mum to almost 2 year old James.

Please indicate your concerns and hopes for the futare of ELCIC. [Text must fit within the box.)

My biggest concern is that local congregations lose sight of being a part of this larger Lutheran family, allowing worries about
decline and survival to draw their focus inward. So many in our communities long to hear a word of hope and grace that | think
Lutherans are particularly well equipped to offer. My hope is that the ELCIC will continue to survive and thrive for generations {o
come (and I'm encouraged by the steps that both our Nationat Church and Synods have been taking fo adapt to our changing

social reality).

Why are you interested in being a delegate? {Text must fit within the box.}

| have only attended national convention once before and found it to be an invigorating and encouraging experience. it's a
privilege to be a part of the decision-making process for the future of our church, and a joy to connect and re-connect with

fellow Lutherans from across the coundry.
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2019 NATIONAL CONVENTION NOMINATION FORM
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FASTERN SYNOD NOMINEE ~ BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Eostern Synod

5 SO BT i L

ﬁNﬁ‘fﬂiﬁée Name:

. o beinig a delegate’to . .
Hon ‘G!IV&DtH)IL YL HIHSE _ﬁf Wzthm g2 e:bax) S e :
Outdmr Ministry staff - Gamp Mush-a-Mush 1974-1980

M. Divinity Waterloo Lutheran Seminary 1985

Dean Ottawa St. Lavirence, Kitchener-Waterdoo, Aflantic Conferences, Montreal Ministry Area

{Outdoor Mmlsiry board and/or chaplain - Camp Lutherkyn 1986-1992, Camp Mush-a-Mush 1996-2002

Eastarn Syact Councl

Diocesan Councils NS/PEI and Montreal

Delegate to previous national conventions

cateyour concerns and hopes forthe fnmre ol ELCIC (Texts must e wthm the box)
‘Support for growing, stable and declining congragations

United response to local, national and glocal injustices

Further collaboration with Anglicans, other Christians and those of other Faiths

Whyare ven interested fibeingadel égate? f[Text st fit Wwithinithe! bux) ‘
Opportunity serve and represent Eastern Synod, Montreal Ministry Area, and Congrega*aon
Ability-to. hear a variety of opinions, and 1o support the decision of the majotity
Will share highlights/results of canvention with congregation, ministry area and synod
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Eastern Synod

SR A TRt o i

" Annette

Must b betiveen 16 and 25 45 of July 1,2019) .

. ON

P e that might relate to beinga delégat
:Natiofial Conventi extmust it wi theoxy: i O RTINS :
As an ordained pastor in the ELCIC for 30 years | have served in both parish and specialized ministry. Parishes, both rural and
urban and my time as a campus chaplain has given me a national perspective on the life of the ELCIC as well as the breadth of
ministry and serving opportunities both withis the Lutheran context and also with ecumenicat and interfaith partners. ! have
also been an avid supporter of outdoor ministry, serving on the Lutheran Outdoor Ministries in Canada (LOMIC} executive for
SOme years.

"Pledseindicaiey 10e kst Abwithin the Bkl
My hope for the ELCIC is that we can move forward as a Lutheran expression of the Christian church in Canada with creative
and innavative vision and missicn. | believe that the context of our ministries as they exist and coutd exist provide ample room
for this hope to be realized if we are willing to embrace it, This is one of the largest challenges we face as a church: maintaining
our Lutheran identity and breaking out of the institutional ways we have become comfortable and now more uncomfortable as
society, immigration patterns, community needs and calls to action have evolved.

Why are you int gt withimthebos) - - "
This opportunity gives voice and consideration to creative and adaptive options for discipleship in the Canadian context and
with global partners. It also affirms and strengthens relationships within the ELCIC and encourages understanding of the
diversity of expressions of mission while standing solidiy on our Lutheran theclogy and integrity.
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i Bt K 1 Cormad

Nominee Name: Rev, Adam George Snook

Pesi'tion Nominated for: @ Rostered O Lay O Yonth (Must be between 16 and 25 asof July 1, 2019]

Eastern Synod Congr eg"’t‘”“"ﬂ MB’“"E"S'"P’ St. John's Evange!mai Luiheran Church

. Cengregatmn City: - Mahone Bay S L Congregation Province: NS

Please describe your education, work, church or m‘e experience tbat mipght relate to hemg a delegate to
National Convention. [Text must fit within the box.} . ‘

| ourrently serve a Shared Ministry between St. Johns Lutheran Church, Mahone Bay and Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church, Upper
Neorihfield in the Allantic Ministry Area. | represent our area on the boards of the local VON, and Lutheran Camp Mush-A-Mush,

| have worked as a intern with Citizens for Public Justice where | co-edited a book entitled, "Living Justice: A Gospel Rasponse
to Poverty”; and currently contribute to the KAIROS planning team for the Allantic Provinees, | have enjoved the opportunity to
work i full-communion partnership through the Vital & Healthy Parish program, and have contributed to the ecumenical work of
the Rural Ministry Symposium. | hold a BA In Religious Studies and Sociology from St. Francis Xavier University, and a MDiv
from Martin Luther College.

Please indicaie your concerns and hopes for the future of ELCIC. {Text must fit w1thm the bax)

! balieve that we, God's people, find ourselves at a wonderfully challenging crossroad within the ife of the church. | also belleve
that amidst the troubles and sufferings of the world, God's ward of grace, love and peace breathes hape into our midst. | has
been my experienca that the ELCIC is an expression of that same hope-filled grace. We are a church that has laboured,
faithfully, 10 live Into the fullness of what it means fo be disciples. And we are still learning. | believe that our future rests in our
ability to openly angage with God's world in a way that seeks lo bulldfstrengthen relationships, understanding, reconciliation,
and justice through bold service and proclamation of the gosped,

Why are you interested in being a delegate? {Text must fit within the box)

| am interested in being 2 delegate to the ELCIC National Convention because | am deeply Invested in the future of this
expression of God's church. | balieve that | have gifts to offer, and value the ability to share my time and tafents in servics lo my

wider cormnmunity.
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Eosi@m Synod
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Nominee Name:
Sylvia Suiateschik |
Position Nominated for @-Rostered O Lay O Youth {Mustbe between 16 and 25 as of July 1, 2019)

Eastern Synod Congregational Membership: = PQ,UJ\ < L\VL"H&QE& n

Congregation City: f Qa_m,f M‘/foﬂ Congregation Province: OM

Please describe your education, work church or life experience that mi ght relate te being a delegate to
National Convention. {Text must fit within the box.) |

f3<5 [» S ?cusﬁw/ Qﬁ\ oL Seno oy LT '\Z)U"““ o= ggﬂ,a/umq Qg:&rr‘v
odbor Ludbeasn cluuches )f\u,( thfv{—b)i‘{‘ O fecteon ey
different  from wrban condre chowckes .

Please indieate your copcems and hopes for the future of EL CIC. (Text mustﬁt within the bax)

g cfhe FLL hope fe Hood

1 eV V(*(L, ) th taif\ T}e {‘x,i&;;‘-\ it M «
Q{)r&ﬂ(‘?%mwﬁ Lﬂcemﬂ o lpacon 0F %M” e s Commanihies.

Why are you interested in being 2 delegate? [Text must £t within the hov, )
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Section 3 - Reports of the National Bishop and
Canadian Lutheran World Relief

Report of the National Bishop

Liberated by God’s Grace

Grace and peace to you in the name of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ!

As | think back on the past two years since your last Synod Convention, the first thing that
comes to mind is the commemoration of the 500" anniversary of the Lutheran Reformation
and the lasting impact it will have on the ELCIC. The commemoration of the Reformation may
be officially over but the way it has strengthened our Lutheran identity, the way it brought us
together in common witness and service through the Reformation Challenge, and its core
message of being Liberated by God’s Grace will continue to shape our life together as a
church in Canada.

In September of 2017, our National Church Council began working on a new five-year strategic
plan. The National Office uses this strategic plan to help shape and focus our work. We are
energized by the new four areas of focus in our strategic plan: Reconciled Relationships, One
Body Working Together, Courageous Innovation, and Empowered Disciples. | would invite you
to look at these four areas and consider how you, your congregation and your community
might be engaged in one or more of these priorities.

The following is a small glimpse at the work of the National Office reported around these four
new strategic areas, and how we carry out our call to be a church In Mission for Others.

Reconciled Relationships

In 2011, the ELCIC made a commitment to promote right and renewed relationships between
non-indigenous and Indigenous Peoples within Canada. In July 2015, the ELCIC renewed this
commitment to truth, reconciliation and equity by repudiating the Doctrine of Discovery. At
this year’s National Convention delegates welcomed Kaila Johnston, research coordinator for
the National Centre for Truth and Reconciliation (NCTR). The NCTR opened in the summer of
2015 and was created to preserve the memory of Canada’s Residential School system and
legacy. It is the permanent home for all statements, documents, and other materials gathered
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by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (TRC). In her presentation to
delegates, Johnston shared that she is frequently asked what people can to do be involved in
reconciliation. She listed several actions of reconciliation, including: “Learn the history of
Indigenous and nonindigenous peoples, understand the history and legacy of Residential
schools, explore the unique intersections between treaty, constitutional Indigenous and
human rights, recognize the rich contributions Indigenous peoples have had to this country,
take action to address historical injustices and present-day wrongs, as well as teach others.” |
encourage you to consider how you and your congregation can learn more about the TRC’s 94
Calls to Action and how you can be involved in the important work of reconciliation.

The 2017 ELCIC National Convention affirmed A Statement to Muslims in Canada by the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada
(http://elcic.ca/ecumenical/documents/StatementtoMuslimsinCanadabytheEvangelicalLuther
anChurchinCanada.pdf) and a new resource titled Encountering People of Other Faiths -
Interfaith Guidelines
(http://elcic.ca/ecumenical/documents/EncounteringPeopleOfOtherFaiths-
InterfaithGuidelines.pdf). These are important documents for our church given the fact that
hate crimes are rising within Canada. Following the January 2017 fatal attack at le Centre
Culturel Islamique de Québec, | called on the members of our church to reach out in a genuine
expression of love for our neighbour (http://www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=459). | continue
to urge you to speak out against all forms of racism and violence against Muslims and to work
to build relationships with your interfaith neighbours.

The 500" anniversary of the Reformation provided the opportunity to strengthen relationships
with Roman Catholics in Canada and around the world. There were services of Common Prayer
co-sponsored by Lutherans and Roman Catholics all across the country, from Whitehorse to
Vancouver, Sault Ste. Marie to Halifax. Other events that took place as part of the
commemoration of the Reformation gave us the opportunity to strengthen relationships with
many of our ecumenical partners. This was evidenced at the 2017 National Convention, where
partners from the Canadian Council of Churches, Presbyterian Church in Canada, United
Church of Canada, Canadian Conference of Catholic Bishops, Anglican Church of Canada,
Evangelical Lutheran Church in America, and Mennonite Church Canada participated in an
ecumenical panel on the convention floor and then participated in our National Service of
Commemoration of the 500" anniversary of the Reformation.

At the 2015 National Convention we adopted an “ELCIC Resolution on Climate Justice.” This
action expanded the commitments we made in 2007’s resolution on the Stewardship of
Creation. Our continued commitment to working for reconciliation with all of creation is done
at the congregational level through efforts like the tree-planting component of the
Reformation Challenge, and nationally and internationally through work with partners.
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One Body Working Together

To be a fully functioning church we need to have effective working relationships between
congregations, synods, national church, and national and international partners. The body of
Christ is bigger than any one of its component parts.

The Synodical and National Officers met at the beginning of December 2017 to look at ways we
can work more closely together. At at ime of challenge and o pportunities, with fewer
resources, we need to work together to set focused priorities that will enhance our ability to
fulfill the mission to which God is calling us.

Shared vision and mutual trust is not only important within the church, but also among our
church and our various partners. We are currently working towards a new Memorandum of
Understanding with our partner Canada Lutheran World Relief (CLWR). We give thanks for the
wonderful leadership Robert Granke has provided to the organization and offer our prayers on
his retirement. At the same time, we welcome Rev. Karin Achtelstetter and look forward to our
ongoing partnership in the ministry of CLWR.

In May of 2017, | had the privilege of participating in the global life of our church through The
Lutheran World Federation Assembly in Windhoek, Namibia. As we gathered from many
churches and countries and spoke and sang in many languages, | was reminded again of how
much we gain when we are one body working together.

| was honoured to preside at communion at our Sunday worship service, a global celebration of
the reformation anniversary. To look out over the crowd of 10,000 and see Lutherans gathered
from around the world, worshipping God, commemorating our shared history, joining with
ecumenical partners and celebrating the steps towards reconciliation we have shared, lifting up
our shared mission and ministry - it was a spiritual highlight for me!

| had a si milar spiritual highlight when | presided at our national commemoration service in
July. Seeing our church gathered from across the country along with her ecumenical partners
reminded me of my Windhoek experience. What a joy to feel the Spirit alive and in our midst
whether carrying out ministry in our local communities or gathered together at a convention.

Courageous Innovation

We recognize that we are in a time of change and that we are going to need to be flexible and
patient with one another as we discover together how God is calling us to be the Lutheran
church in Canada at this time.

The ELCIC’s Church Extension and Capital Fund (CECF) is in the middle of a five-year initiative
where they are doing experimentation to figure out new ways of doing ministry given that the
old model of congregational development has proven to be too expensive and/or no longer
effective. CECF has provided a total of $300,000 to each synod for Synod Mission initiatives.
Funds will be used for activities that are experimental in spirit and genuinely seek to explore
what it means to participate in God’s mission in the world today.
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We are excited about walking with synods in this process. Each of the synods are allocating
their funds in different and creative ways. In your synod, one example is St. John’s, Hamilton -
Mission Outreach: a 3-year project that is building relationships with agencies and individual,
particular newcomers to Canada, and also encouraging and fostering spirituality of mission and
behavior towards mission in the congregation.

Being courageous innovators involves balance - on the one hand we need to remember the
boundaries we live in as expressed in the constitution and bylaws of this church and on the
other hand allow for the freedom of colouring outside the lines. We need to hold these together
in a he althy and creative tension as w e continue to discern possibilities and try out new
ministries across the church.

By naming Courageous Innovation as one of our strategic priorities, National Church Council is
recognizing that God may indeed be calling us to new things and new ways and we may have to
try things and fail and learn from our failures as part of our faithful discipleship.

Empowered Disciples

Now as in all times of the church there is a need to create and nurture faithful participation in
God’s mission in the world. In an effort to inspire a church that is prophetic, missional, and
diaconal, the ELCIC’s Faith, Order and Doctrine committee has published Public Ministry in the
ELCIC: A preliminary draft for review, reflection and response by September 30, 2018.

At the same time, we are looking at new ways of calling and equipping Rostered leaders in our
church for specific ministries. We believe the new Congregational Employment Agreements and
updated Letters of Call will enhance the quality of your vocational relationships and deepen
the bonds of mutual care and accountability.

And, in this year of synod conventions, we also look forward to two national gatherings - the
Canadian Lutheran Anglican Youth (CLAY) gathering (www.claygathering.ca) and the National
Worship Conference (www.nationalworshipconference.org). Both of these Lutheran/Anglican
events serve to strengthen faith and empower people in witness and service.

Thank you for your participation in the ELCIC Reformation Challenge. | was overwhelmed and
proud by the contributions, large and small, that individuals, congregations and synods make to
help us meet our goals. We may not have met all of our challenge goals but together we raised
the equivalent of about four million dollars for ministry in Canada and around the world. How
amazing is that!
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In his 2018 New Year’s message to the Lutheran World Federation, General Secretary Martin
Junge declared that despite the many challenges we face, there is no better time than now to
be the church. By acknowledging these challenges, it reminds us to stay focused on what has
been given to us without cost, and share it with the thirsty in the world - offering a life-giving
witness. “It is a good year to be the church. We have our hands filled with gifts to share,” says
Martin! And | agree.

Friends, it’s a good year to be the church. We too have our hands filled with gifts to share.

Yours in Christ,

+ W\L%M«\
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We want to thank you. You are creating hope in the world.

Your generosity each year means that more children learn in safe and healthy environments,
providing them with a strong foundation for the future. You make it possible for refugees—
many of whom have had to leave everything behind—to have a new home and the basic
supplies they need to care for themselves. Along with volunteers all across Canada, you create
beautiful quilts that are sent overseas, providing thousands of people with warmth and
comfort. Many others receive the We Care kits you packed, filled with essential supplies.

Thanks to you, Fort McMurray residents are receiving support as they adjust to life after
wildfires swept through the region in 2016. More than 270 refugees began new lives in Canada
in 2017 because Canadian Lutherans like you responded.

For all these reasons and many more, we say thank you. And we’re not the only ones.

Around the world, people are thanking you. At the time of writing, you are creating life-
changing hope in Canada, Cuba, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Jordan,
Myanmar, Nepal, Nicaragua and Palestine and more.

Thank you!

| wish to express gratitude to Robert Granke, our Executive Director, who retired at the end of
March 2018. He has held this title since 2006 and has a more than 40-year history with CLWR.
We deeply appreciate his strong and wise leadership, his commitment to CLWR’s mission and
his vision for nurturing future humanitarians.

Robert Granke’s legacy of life-changing leadership will be continued through the Intern
Support Fund, which will be established in his name. You are invited to nurture future leaders
of CLWR by considering a contribution to the Fund. Your gift will support interns as they
prepare for a future of humanitarian service. Donations to the Fund may be made online
anytime at: http://bit.ly/clwr-isf

CLWR’s Board of Directors is pleased to announce that Rev. Dr. Karin Achtelstetter has been
appointed CLWR’s incoming Executive Director Designate. Previously the General Secretary of
the World Association for Christian Communication, Rev. Dr. Achtelstetter has extensive
experience working with CLWR partners including The Lutheran World Federation, ACT
Alliance and the World Council of Churches. As an ordained Lutheran pastor and through her
years of executive leadership experience, she has firsthand experience working with churches,
grassroots communities and project partners around the world.

Beginning April 1, 2018, she will assume the position of Executive Director. Please join us in
welcoming her to CLWR.
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| am pleased to share about several other staff transitions in our Community Relations
department. Fikre Tsehai, formerly our Development Manager—Refugee Resettlement, has
transitioned to the position of Refugee & Migration Policy Advisor. He will remain based in our
western office in New Westminster, BC.

Senait Biadgilign, also working out of our western office, has begun the position of Refugee
Resettlement Officer. If you are interested in refugee sponsorship and are in the British
Columbia Synod or Synod of Alberta and The Territories, please contact Senait Biadgilign at 1
(888) 588-6686.

Jennifer Ardon, based out of our office in Waterloo, ON, is our new Refugee Resettlement
Manager. If you are interested in refugee sponsorship, and are in Saskatchewan, Manitoba and
the Eastern Synods, please contact Jennifer Ardon at 1 (888) 255-0150. Additionally, we are
pleased to welcome Hoda Al-Obaidi to the position of Refugee Program Assistant in the
eastern office.

These changes are designed to provide increasing support for the refugee sponsorships made
possible by Canadian Lutherans like you each year. Along with the transitions, these staff will
now focus specifically on refugee sponsorship. If you would like to arrange for someone to
speak with your congregation or group, please contact me at 1 (800) 661-2597 and | would be
happy to make arrangements with you.

We are so thankful for your desire to create a world where people live in justice, peace and
dignity. Visit our website at www.clwr.org and join the conversation with us on Facebook,
Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn to find out how you are making a difference in the lives of
people around the world.

| would like to hear from you about what CLWR means to you. We would love to feature your
congregation’s stories. | can be reached at carla@clwr.org.

God bless,

Ret/ WW&%

Rev. Carla Blakley
Community Relations Director

On behalf of
Robert Granke and Karin Achtelstetter
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Section 4 - Reports of the Bishop, Vice Chair
and MinistryAreas

Report of the Bishop
Rev. Dr. Michael J. Pryse
Report to be distributed at Assembly.

Report of the Vice Chair

Laurie Knott
It has been a joy to serve as vice-chair of the Eastern Synod for the last two years. | have
participated in a wide range of activities — from reviewing and updating personnel policies to
being involved in the strategic planning process — all of which, have broadened my
understanding of the work and life of the Eastern Synod.

Leadership has c ontinued to be a particular area of interest and | have remained on the
Recruiting task force as we look for ways to identify, encourage and support new leaders for
rostered ministry. It has been inspiring to hear the missional work occurring across our Synod
through my participation on the Mission Committee and | am excited about the work being done
to explore new ways of doing ministry.

As | write this report, | am preparing for a trip to Guyana to experience what it means to be
Lutheran in our companion synod and to learn how we can best journey together in our
ministries.

| have enjoyed working with the people in the Synod office and | am particularly grateful to my
fellow officers — Bishop Michael Pryse, Keith Myra and Rev. Wendell Grahlman. They have guided
me in my work and made it fun to serve! Thank you for this opportunity and should it be the
desire of the assembly, | would be willing to serve another term.

Report of the Atlantic Ministry Area
Atlantic Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Dr. Kimberlynn McNabb

The past biennium has been spent taking steps to create the Ministry Area envisioned in the
future; a Ministry Area that is pro-active, healthy, and life-giving.

Significant Aspects of the work have included:

e Continued work towards Community Parishes- Congregational groupings were proposed
at a Ministry Event and Consultation. Groups worked together to explore the possibilities
of combining/sharing ministries. Some conversations have continued in the
configurations suggested, others formed into different relationships. First Lutheran
Community Parish is the first to be a C ommunity Parish on paper, representing five
congregations committed to doing ministry together.

e Pastoral leadership and succession has been addressed through:

0 Having a pastor with a Special Call to non-stipendiary work within the Ministry
Area. The pastor contributes to the health of clergy and c ongregations, being
versed in areas of trauma and c ounselling. The pastor provides pulpit supply,
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consulting, and emergency on-call services to cover vacation times. The
installation of this pastor included: First Nation’s smudging/blessing, a
delegation of bikers (yes, wearing their leather and arriving on bikes), firefights,
and Lutheran congregation members.

o0 The Ministry Area, in partnership with the Atlantic School of Theology, WLS, and
Synod Office, home-growing a Pastor (to be ordained later this spring), having a
specific intention of possible call placement before their internship began.

o0 Clergy are participating in chaplaincy in the community. Two examples include:
police, fire department.

Clericus meets once a month and is intentional on building leadership skills. Ministry
Area clergy read, study, and di scuss books to help become better leaders. This
biennium: Luther Snow’s Asset Making, and Friedman’s Failure of Nerve.

Significant Events in the Atlantic Ministry Area:

Hosted CLAY 2016 in PEI - as there are no Lutheran churches in PEI, this was quite an
undertaking. Atlantic Canadian youth -Anglican and L utheran- were able to access a
larger tradition, meet Bishops and youth from across the country, bear witness to the
work of Christ among them and in “holy” moments that could only happen interacting
with the people and landscape of PEI.

The 500" Reformation commemoration was an incentive to learn and grow together as a
community, not just for ourselves, but, in partnership:

o Inshallah East - The Inshallah Choir came to the East Coast. Their time with us
included: workshops, concert, tree blessing ceremony in Lunenburg, First Nations
relationship building. The event was planned by an ecumenical committee and
partnered with the Atlantic School of Theology, Mahone Bay Three Churches
Foundation, Town of Lunenburg, Boxwood Festival. Local artists participated as
did the 36™ Halifax Pipers, United Universalist Church Halifax, Lunenburg town
crier.

o Living Traditions Symposium - Oct. 2017 was held at the Atlantic School of
Theology with a presentation of papers related to re-forming Christian tradition.
Two local Lutheran clergy presented papers and will have their papers in the
Symposium publication scheduled for Oct. 2018.

o Common Prayer Service - This service was prepared in partnership with the
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Halifax/Yarmouth. The event was at Zion
Lunenburg, with participants from throughout the Ministry Area and RC Diocese.
It opened with prayer from the Mi’kmaq community.

Atlantic Lutheran Campus ministry continues to offer a chaplain presence on campus and
to students in various Atlantic institutions. Some resources have been directed to
Interfaith Harmony Week and the work of “Justice and Action” presentations by students
hired to prepare the events.

Camp Mush provides continued summer ministry. Meeting the needs of local families, a
day camp option and a part week registration for first time campers, has be en a
welcomed addition to their ministry. EPIC, a weekend for older teenagers, has been a
powerful ecumenical partnership and event for area youth work.
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Future direction and goal---

e Ministry Area congregations continue conversations and bui lding relationships with
neighbouring Lutheran congregations to implement the proposal of Community Parishes,
fine tuning the idea into reality. As this report is being written some congregations are
actively discerning divesting buildings and land.

e Partnerships continue with the Anglican Diocese of NS and PEI, and the Anglican Diocese
of Fredericton. Currently there is a sharing of priests/pastors. The Diocese of NS/PEI has
Lutheran clergy supervising Anglican interns, as well as, forums for students to learn
about Full Communion and Lutheran liturgical rites.

Report of the Central Toronto Ministry Area
Central Toronto Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Dr. Christian Ceconi

The Central Toronto Ministry Area is probably the most diverse ministry area of the Eastern
Synod: 20 congregations preaching the gospel in nine languages in different urban contexts. We
understand the new ministry area structure as a platform to bring congregations together to
learn from each other, to be inspired by each other’s perspectives and to cooperate wherever we
can work together. Since the last Synod assembly we have tried to live out our Mission: “Working
together: creating a vibrant church, relevant in our communities” in many ways.

The decline in membership in the past years can’t be overlooked. In Dec. 2017 one of our
congregations closed. Others are in serious condition or struggling. Only a few thrive. We think
it’s time to focus on re-formation. With conversations in our ministerial in January 2018, we
began to look at ways to support each other more than we have. Our focus now is to find and
pursue ways of reviving our congregations. We are tired of dying and we are longing for
resurrection.

We will begin with a lunch & learn event for lay leaders and pastors on May 26. We invited Susan
Bell, Missioner of the Anglican Diocese of Toronto and bishop-elect for the Diocese of Niagara, as
our keynote speaker. Having eight years of experience in church planting in urban contexts we
will benefit from her knowledge and wisdom. Following this event, we will help congregations to
build partnerships, to visit each other, inspire each other and hold each other accountable to
their plans for renewing the church. We will pray more and walk alongside each other in the
complex challenges we are facing. Even though we don’t know what the path and solutions will
be, we are determined to find life-giving and relevant ways of being church.

If you are interested to learn and see more, please go to our website LutheransToronto.ca. We
will report about our journey and share what we will learn.

In 2017 we hosted again an Area Workshop to share best practice. Several Workshops attracted
around 40 participants.

Reformation Events held in our Area were Lutheran-Catholic Service in Commemoration of the
Reformation, the Joint Area Reformation Service and a conference on Reformation Theology,
hosted by our German congregations. The inspiring joint service for the area attracted around
500 participants filling St. James Anglican Cathedral. Under the theme “living justice” we were
opened on new perspectives on how to be a church of the reformation in the 21st century. After
an inspiring sermon from Jennifer Henry we marched to First Lutheran church, holding up
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banners with the subthemes for the reformation year. The march concluded at First Lutheran
where Bishop Mark MacDonald shared his perspectives on how we can work towards social
justice.

Members of the Ministry Area Leadership Team are currently: Rev. Mavis Fung, David Berg and
Andrew Slonetsky.

Report of the Georgian Ministry Area
Georgian Ministry Area Dean
Rev. John Polacok

Isaiah 43:19
| am about to do a new thing; now it springs forth, do you not perceive it? | will make a way in
the wilderness and rivers in the desert.

The past year has found those of us involved in Georgian Bay Area Ministry, which stretches from
Listowel in the South to Wiarton in the north and all points in between, very busy. The
ministerial (clergy cluster) has met regularly throughout the year and on April 24, 2016, Rev.
Catherine House was installed at Trinity Walkerton and last year, Rev. Heather Spencer was
welcomed full-time at Trinity Lutheran Church in Ayton. We now have a full slate of regular call
ministers once again in Georgian Bay and t hat lends itself to good feelings throughout the
Ministry Area.

We also had a pas tor resign his call, but for reasons that are life-giving - to the greater
community of Georgian Bay. Pastor Dwight Biggs has moved from Faith Lutheran Church, Port
Elgin, to take the position of Director of Chaplaincy for Grey and Bruce Counties. We pray for
Dwight in his call there and know that he is an excellent choice to lead the chaplaincy program
for years to come.

Our churches are represented in Georgian Bay by an Area Ministry Team (AMT) consisting of three
regions, north, central and south. Each congregation has a tier representative from whom three
Area Leadership team (ALT) members have been chosen along with the representative from the
Georgian Bay Women, and t he dean. The hope in 2016-2017 is to add one or more youth
representatives to the AMT. The idea of the AMT is for the tier representatives to provide clear
means of communication within the congregations they serve and to other congregations in the
Tier, and the Area as a whole, through their ALT representative. We are exploring different ways
to communicate more effectively including the use of websites and social media.

In its first year, the ALT has chosen to focus on ministry to seniors as our churches and the area
we serve is higher than the provincial average (between 60% - 80% seniors). This ministry includes
assisting the YMCA Housing program with finding contacts in our local congregations to help
identify resources from which seniors and others can draw for furniture, beds, bedding, cutlery,
etc. and help with repairs such as electrical and plumbing. We have also endeavoured to make
known all provincial programs offered to seniors. Early indication is this has gone well, but this is
something that will need to be constantly updated as the programs and assistance levels offered
changes. Finally, we are exploring the possibility of a training program for our members
interested in volunteering in nursing homes and extended care facilities in our area. This
program would be designed to assist medical staff in areas where they are over-burdened, hoping
to lessen their load so the medical care they provide can be delivered at the highest levels.
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It has been my honour to serve first as Dean of the Georgian Bay Conference and now for
Georgian Bay Area Ministry. We look forward together now, doing the work of Christ, empowered
by God's Spirit in the communities we serve.

Report of the GTA East Ministry Area
GTA East Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Suzanne Nevile

What a great year it has been! Our area kicked off 2017 - 500 Years of Reformation with an
amazing joint service attended by all five of the churches in our area. Services were cancelled in
four of the churches and we gathered at Christ the King - Whitby, for a rousing worship that
included a joint choir, guitar, violin and guitar anthems, followed by a traditional Lutheran pot
luck. We were blessed to have Bishop Pryse preach and our offerings were designated towards
Scholarships in the ELCJHL.

Our theme of 500 Years of Faith continued throughout the year as our congregations worked
together to grow in community andin faith. The five women's groups gathered at Peace,
Pickering, for a Ladies Day Away that had many reminiscing about spring ELW conferences.
Christ, Peterborough hosted an GTA East Area picnic at the Peterborough Zoo. We welcomed 2
new pastors to our area and had a be autiful installation service at Peace, Pickering. As we got
closer to October 31st we were thrilled to have our first joint OKTOBERFEST event at the local
German Cultural centre - Club Lorelei, in Oshawa - with schnitzel, cabbage, strudel and a
German DJ! There were many OOM PAH PAHs and polkas throughout the night.

Once again we gathered to worship together on Reformation Sunday. This time we were grateful
to have Rev. Dr. Allen Jorgenson who spoke about where we have come from and where we are
headed.

Spring 2018 brought the 5 GTA East churches together again for a joint service - which we plan to
hold as an annual event travelling each year to a different host congregation. We are looking
forward to the 2nd Ladies Day Away in June - a day planned and hosted entirely by the women of
the GTA East. In the fall (2018) we are hoping to have another Oktoberfest celebration as well as
a Community Impact Event that will take place at each of our congregations simultaneously. And
while a date has not yet been selected we are excited to be making plans for an old fashioned
Tent Revival at a local Peterborough farm.

I'd like to thank the our area committee members as well the people and pastors of Epiphany -
Scarborough (Rev. Rasma Caune), Peace - Pickering (Rev. Hilla Lahtinen & Rev. Ronnie Smith),
Christ The King - Whitby, Faith - Oshawa (Rev. Denis Becker), and Christ - Peterborough (Rev.
Scott Schellenberger) for all the work and cooperation that has gone into planning events and
activities that have made our worship, outreach and fellowship so meaningful.

Here's to another 500 Years of Faith!
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Report of the GTA West Ministry Area

GTA West Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Nadine Nicholds

The GTA West ministry area is comprised of four congregations: Augsburg Lutheran, Brampton;
Holy Spirit of Peace Anglican Lutheran, Mississauga; Grace Lutheran, Oakville; and St. Philip’s
Lutheran, Etobicoke.

Here are a few things that we have done in the past two years: two congregations meet together
for weekly Bible study; the senior’s groups from the congregations have met on occasion; there is
an open invitation from one congregation to an annual Christmas carolling event; two
congregations sponsored and settled a refugee family of five.

The clergy are a supportive group. We meet regularly to share information and are attentive to
each other spiritually and emotionally. At the moment we are trying to decide what our next
common congregational event will be: cultural? fellowship? education? A meeting has been set to
discuss.

Peace to you.

Report of the Huronia Ministry Area
Huronia Ministry Area Dean(s)
Rev. Martin Giebel (current) and Rev. Ann Krueger (past)

Our ministry area, the smallest in the Synod, consists of three churches: St. David’s Anglican-
Lutheran Church in Orillia, St. Mark’s Anglican-Lutheran Church in Midland, and Westside
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Barrie.

Out of our common interest in learning more about our indigenous brothers and si sters, we
hosted a learning event called “Connecting Our Roots” at the Huronia Museum in Midland on May
6, 2017. We welcomed an O jibwe elder from Nipissing First Nation as our morning guest. We
were all enthralled by her storytelling style, and t he deep and w ise answers to our many
questions. In the afternoon, Rev. Karen Kuhnert, our synod’s historian, helped us t o better
understand the connections between our peoples.

We are also beginning to make friendships between our churches through music. St. David’s
Anglican-Lutheran joined Westside at their annual spring concert in 2017.

The pastors in the area meet occasionally for mutual support. One change in the past year:
Pastor Ann Krueger resigned as dean due to workload in the parish and her PhD, and P astor
Martin Giebel accepted the appointment of dean.

Report of the Grand River Ministry Area
Grand River Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Stephen Weber

The Grand River Ministry Area now consists of 11 congregations serving Kitchener, Cambridge and
Guelph. In the past 2 years, we have seen significant changes. Maranatha Mission, serving
primarily Caribbean and Af rican communities, concluded its ministry, asdi d St. James in
Cambridge. St. Paul’s in Guelph has become part of a Lutheran Anglican parish, now called All
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Saints. St. Philip’s in Kitchener is merging with St. Luke’s. St. Mark’s and Reformation, both in
Kitchener, are working on a merger with St. John’s in Waterloo.

During the past biennium, the following activities have taken place:

e Clergy continue to meet monthly. Active clergy have been surveyed to find the best
time to meet each month, and will have resumed their meetings by the time of
Assembly. Collegiality and openness among clergy has pr ovided opportunities to
celebrate the high points of life and ministry, and to support one another in dealing with
ministry challenges.

e Retired clergy have two gatherings from which to choose. They enjoy one another’s
camaraderie, and persist in finding ways to share their experiences and their knowledge.

e The Leadership Team continues to work well together. By the time we gather for
Assembly 2018, we will have held our Second Annual GRMA Picnic. In 2017, more than
400 of us gathered for an outdoor worship and lunch. This year our Bishop will preach;
we anticipate that over 500 will attend. In addition to the annual picnic, we are
planning a Reconciliation event, likely held over two Saturdays.

e Confirmation Youth Activity Days were held several times over the past two years with
nearby Ministry Areas and the Rev. Anne Anderson of thirdspace._.

e Several congregations continue to gather together for fellowship and worship during the
season of Lent, while others work with local churches in a ministry of community
outreach.

| want to give a special word of thanks to the members of the Leadership Team - Rev. Richard
Schwass (St. Stephen, Kitchener), Rev. Jennifer Hoover (now at Bethany, Woodstock), Fay
Albrecht (St. Mark’s, Kitchener), and Shirley Mitchell-Grumme (St. Paul’s, Cambridge) - and to
our former Dean, Pastor James Koellner (St. Luke’s, Kitchener), for their ongoing support and
guidance. By the time this report is published, we hope to have a representative from All Saints
Lutheran-Anglican in Guelph.

Report of the Montreal Ministry Area
Montreal Ministry Area Dean
Rev. James Slack

The Montreal Ministry Area is comprised of nine congregations, which worship in seven different
languages.

A great deal of our focus in 2017 was on the celebration of the 500" anniversary of the
Reformation. In May a concert featuring Connie Kaldor was held in Dollard-des-Ormeaux,
complete with stories and songs about life in Lutheran congregations on the Prairies. In the same
month a symposium on Luther and the City was held at Concordia University, with several
Lutherans from across North America among the presenters. In October we organised a concert of
Reformation music at a local Catholic church/concert hall, which was paired with by a
concert/service of Evensong at the Presbyterian Church of St. Andrew and St. Paul. In November
Bishop Pryse and Archbishop Christian Lepine presided over the service From Conflict to
Communion, with a reception hosted by the German consulate. And in December Maestro Kent
Nagano and the orchestra of the University of Montreal presented a concert of traditional and
modern Reformation themes. Funds raised through these events, and from congregations have
been directed to the Reformation Challenge. (A speaking tour, featuring the Bishop of
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Greenland, Sophie Petersen, was planned for the spring, but illness prevented her from being
with us.)

The Ministry Team is supported by the Montreal Lutheran Council, a board of clergy and lay
leaders from our congregations, which meets five or six times a year. We host a website,
welcome the participation of the Ecumenical Officer of the Anglican Diocese of Montreal,
participate in the Montreal Christian-Jewish Dialogue, sponsor a spectacular Easter Vigil at St.
John’s, and hold an annual service and picnic in August (this year in Noyan). As dean | also sit as
a member of the Diocesan Council, and attend synod gatherings.

In the year to come we hope to work together to nominate clergy, lay and youth delegates to the
ELCIC convention. And will continue to meet among ourselves and synod leaders to consider new
forms of cooperative ministry. Several of our congregations have also become part of the
Lutheran-Anglican Refugee Alliance of Montreal (LARAM), which seeks to bring a family of six to
Montreal from Rwanda.

Report of the Niagara Ministry Area
Niagara Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Pamela Kormano

My sisters and brothers in Christ, last fall | accepted the appointment of Dean of the Niagara
Ministry Area. | have the honour and privilege of working with three devoted colleagues Rev.
Julio Romero, Rev. Jukka Saarinen, and Rev. Dr. Doreen McFarlane within this Area and al so
presently there are five dedicated people Bette Rempel, Dianne Yungblut, Suzanne McClennan,
Sheila Fretz, and Pastor Julio Romero, who serve with me on the Niagara Area Leadership Team!
Since the beginning of the Niagara Ministry Area a num ber of years ago, we have had
representatives from each of the congregations serving on this team at some point in time.

The Niagara Ministry Area is a small Area as far as the number of congregations and yet they are
spread out into the Niagara Peninsula. This Area consists of seven congregations: Rev. Julio
Romero serves as the Pastor to Trinity Evangelical Lutheran Church in Fort Erie and also Faith
Evangelical Lutheran Church in St. Catharines, Rev. Jukka Saarinen serves as the Pastor for St.
Matthew’s Evangelical Lutheran Church in Welland and First Evangelical Lutheran Church in Port
Colborne, Rev. Dr. Doreen McFarlane is the Pastor for St. Paul’s Evangelical Lutheran Church in
Niagara Falls, and myself, Rev. Pamela Kormano the Pastor for Lutheran Church of the Good
Shepherd in Niagara Falls and St. Luke’s Evangelical Lutheran Church in Ridgeway.

We seek to develop and strengthen loving and helpful relationships between the seven Lutheran
congregations, their communities and the global community.

On September 24th, 2016, the Niagara Area ELCIC congregations hosted a Gala Family Concert
for the people of the Niagara Peninsula. We were blessed with the participation of the Strong
Water Woman of the Fort Erie Native Friendship Centre, and also one of their sons, who lovingly
gifted us an incredible experience with their drumming and singing. Emma Wright, a young
upcoming soloist from Meaford, Ontario gave everyone a wonderful performance of her
incredible singing. The very talented Niagara Area Lutheran Choir sang a number of beautiful
pieces for those of us who were gathered together for the concert that evening. We had an
intermission for atime of fellowship! A f reewill offering of $917.00 was gathered for the
Reformation challenge to plant trees- of which part was gifted to Heartland Forest in Niagara
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Falls and part gifted to CLWR for trees to be planted in Africa and a part gifted to the ELCIC to
be directed for trees to be planted in Palestine.

On April 22, 2017 trees were planted at Heartland Forest in Niagara Falls. A pine was planted in
thanks to the Strong Water Woman of the Fort Erie Native Friendship Centre for their friendship
and participation in our Concert the previous fall. Fruit and nut trees were planted there as a
gift to creation and in response to the ELCIC Reformation Challenge.

On September 24, 2017, the Niagara Area ELCIC congregations came together at Heartland Forest
in Niagara Falls for a 500th year commemoration of the Reformation with a Worship Service and
Supper. Designated offerings in the amount of $1,654.00 were collected that enabled one full
Scholarship of $1,400.00 and a bit more for the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Jerusalem and
the Holy Land (ELCJHL) Schools in response to the ELCIC Reformation Challenge. The Area
Pastors and persons of all ages from each of the congregations worked together to prepare for
this day, participated in the spirit filled worship which included a choir with people from the
seven congregations, Bishop Pryse gifting us a sermon and presiding over communion, there were
parts of the wonderful Luther Drama performed, and then all enjoyed the bounty of tasty dishes
people prepared for the supper and helped to dismantle and clean-up! It was a wonderful time of
worship and fellowship for the over one hundred people who attended!

We are currently working toward another gathering on September 29th of this year, 2018. Bishop
Pryse has accepted our invitation to speak to those who will gather and then we will open up the
floor to have an opportunity for questions from those who have gathered. We will have snacks
and beverages available. Our hope is also to have an additional component to this gathering
which has not yet been firmed up at this time.

We seek to be open to how the Holy Spirit guides us within our ministry to the congregations and
communities of this Niagara Peninsula Area and within the larger Global Community!

Peace and Blessings.

Report of the Nith Valley Ministry Area
Nith Valley Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Jeff Laustsen

The Nith Valley Ministry Area consists of fourteen congregations in portions of Perth and Oxford
Counties and the Waterloo Region. These congregations were brought together from the former
Kitchener-Waterloo and London conferences; during its first years of existence, Nith Valley has
worked to establish its identity and discern the mission that we share in this part of the Eastern
Synod. In the Nith Valley Ministry Area, we are “Fourteen Congregations - God’s love in
action.”

One of the highlights of this past year was our commemoration of the 500th Anniversary of the
Reformation. We gathered for a Reformation Ministry Fair and Feast on Saturday, November 18 in
the Shakespeare Community Centre; on Sunday, November 19, our Reformation worship
celebration was attended by over 250 persons from congregations throughout Nith Valley. This
was the second conference-wide worship service that has gathered during our existence as a
ministry area; both worship experiences were well-attended and well-received.

Thanks to a grant from the Eastern Synod Mission Fund, Nith Valley has been blessed with a Youth
Worker who is serving with us this year. Heidi van Schaik brings a great deal of experience and
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enthusiasm to her role, and will be working with us through August, including the CLAY gathering
in Thunder Bay. Congregations within the ministry area also cooperate in summer Confirmation
camps and r etreats and w ill continue to work to establish relationships and par tnerships
throughout Nith Valley. Several of our congregations hosted Vacation Bible School sports camps
in the summer of 2017.

Several of our congregations have been in discussion on cooperative/shared ministries. The
ACTion Committee (“Acting Courageously Together”) is exploring models of ministries that will
strengthen our ministry and witness both as congregations and as a ministry area. A steering
committee consisting of members from congregations throughout Nith Valley has been formed to
investigate how multiple congregations pooling resources to work together might strengthen
ministries and promote church growth throughout the ministry area. Many of our congregations
have committed to participating in this process.

We have experienced several transitions in ministry in the past two years, welcoming new
partners in ministry as well as giving thanks for the conclusion of ministries:

e Pastor Tanya Ramer completed her ministry as pastor of Bethany, Woodstock as she
began her new call as pastor of Trinity, New Hamburg.

e St. James, Perth East (North Easthope) called Pastor David Hammer to serve as its
pastor.

e Pastor Barry Boeckner has served as interim pastor at St. James, Perth East and at St.
Peter’s, Milverton.

e Pastor Jennifer Hoover accepted the call to serve as pastor of Bethany, Woodstock.

e Pastor Bonnie Schelter-Brown of St. James, New Dundee completed her ministry as dean
of the Nith Valley Ministry Area; Pastor Jeff Laustsen of Zion, Stratford has been
appointed as dean.

Our rostered clergy meet monthly for mutual support and discussion in the ministry we share
here in Nith Valley. Our gatherings include pastors under call, retired pastors, pastors under
special call, as well as two members of the Deaconess Community. In January, we welcomed
Bishop Pryse to our monthly meeting, and look forward to working with our partners in ministry
both in Nith Valley and throughout the Eastern Synod.

We are thankful to all of our sisters and brothers in Christ who have blessed us with their
presence and the offering of their gifts during the first years of the Nith Valley Ministry Area’s
existence. We are looking forward to working together so that we all might experience “God’s
love in action.”

Report of the Northern Ministry Area
Northern Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Brad Mittleholtz

The Northern Ministry is one of the largest geographically reaching from Sault Ste. Marie in the
west to North Bay in the east to South Porcupine in the north to Magnetawan in the south. In that
area our 8 worshipping communities are served by a diversity of faithful rostered and lay leaders.
Distance is a constant challenge as is weather (snow gear doesn’t usually get put away until well
into April or even May). Even with our challenges we commit to doing our best to connect and be
in relationship with one another as often as is possible.
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During this past biennium we have gather a number of times. Our spring gathering in Magnetawan
featured learning about Reformation principles by the Rev. Dr. Joy Philip and the work of the
TRC and our role with the Rev. Karen Kuhnert. This event also foreshadowed an even larger
event that celebrated the commemoration of the 500th Anniversary of the Reformation:
Nord500North. This event held in Sudbury in September 2017 had | eadership from many
denominations including: Lutheran, Roman Catholic, Anglican, United, Free Methodist, Mennonite
and Pentecostal. The two day event featured lectures, sharing and fellowship. A highlight was a
Common Prayer worship service held at St. Patrick’s Roman Catholic Church in Sudbury.

There have been several changes in our ministry area since the last Synod Assembly. We have
welcomed the Rev. Mira Salmelainen to New Hope Lutheran in Sudbury, we joined the Rev.
Charles Nolting whose interim call was affirmed when New Hope Lutheran invited him to accept
a full call to ministry. Our faithful dean for many years, the Rev. Glenda Morrissette in 2017
chose to step down as the dean along with resigning as pastor of Trinity Lutheran in Sudbury. |
thank Glenda for her dedicated and pa ssionate service to the people of Trinity and to the
Northern Ministry Area.

With a new dean and with a hew member of the team we have agreed to focus on what we can
do well in the north: gather when we can, connect as often as possible, and pray all the time.

Report of the Ottawa Ministry Area
Ottawa Ministry Area Dean(s)
Rev. JoAnne Lam (current) and Rev. Martin Malina (past)

2017 Highlights

Catholic-Lutheran Ecumenical Studies, Sept 27 - Oct 25

Five sessions of discussions, presentations, and Bible studies were instrumental in bringing
together Catholics and Lutherans who were open to discover the various components of the bi-
lateral document of From Conflict to Communion. The average attendance ranged from 30-50
individuals from many Catholic and L utheran parishes. The series were co-facilitated by Pr.
Martin Malina of Faith Lutheran and D orothy Wood of Canadian Martyrs Catholic Parish. The
participants expressed interest to continue gathering and building on the momentum from this
series to establish common ground for building relationships.

Reformation 500 Documentary: Impact of the Reformation Today, Sept 30

Several Missouri Synod Lutherans initiated an education event and it took place at St. Paul
Presbyterian Church. There were more than 70 participants and the event was led by Rev. Jorge
Rohl of Christ Risen as the Lutheran Scholar and also Rev. Dr. Rolland Miller as a retired professor
from various Lutheran seminaries. Katie Luther made an appearance and several volunteers from
Ottawa Lutherans participated in the planning and coordinating of this event.

Reformation 500 Commemorative Event, Oct 29
With excerpts from St. Peter’s Newsletter and notes from Anna Koolstra

On October 29, 2017, our eight ELCIC congregations gathered to commemorate the 500th
anniversary of the Reformation. We started first at St. Peter’s for the Music and Word of the
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Reformation and then we processed to Christ Church Cathedral for a Eucharist Liturgy led by
National Bishop Susan Johnson and Synodical Bishop Michael Pryse.

Not only were we honoured to have join us that day, Nation Bishop Rev. Susan Johnson and the
Eastern Synod Bishop Michael Pryse, but Minister of Parliament the Honourable Andrew Leslie
brought greetings from the Prime Minister of Canada too. As well, the Ambassador of Latvia, His
Excellency Karlis Eihenbaums and his wife Inara Eihenbaums were also able to be with us in the
morning, as well as Algonquin Elder Barbara Dumont-Hill who opened our day in a good and
special way.

There were a few other special guests who came and shared a few words from their respective
Ottawa ridings; Ministers of Provincial Parliament Nathalie Des Rosiers and John Fraser, as well
as The Mayor Jim Watson and City Councillor Jean Cloutier.

The attendance of the day was remarkable. There were approximately 350 people at St. Peter’s
for the first service, and over 600 people who joined us at Christ Church Cathedral. All offerings
will be calculated and forwarded to the ELCJHL (Evangelical Lutheran Church in Jordan and the
Holy Land) Scholarships - one of the ELCIC’s Reformation Challenges. Please feel free to visit the
Ottawa Lutheran’s website to see photos from the day. www.ottawalutherans.org

The liturgy for the day was a combination from the global commemoration liturgy from the
Lutheran World Federation headquarters and various resources from other Reformation 500
commemoration liturgies used in Canada and in USA.

Our choir made up of members of our eight parishes as well as members from the Concordia
Choir who rehearses at German Martin Luther Church.

The Reformation 500 event also produced thirty professionally prepared posters on the history
and contemporary impact of the Reformation. These were produced in partnership with St. Paul
University who eventually took on the full cost of printing the posters and are now the owner of
these Reformation posters. There is a suggestion to engage the university to use these posters on
an exhibition tour with a final destination of the posters to the Waterloo Lutheran Seminary.
Further conversations are necessary to explore this suggestion.

We had a gathering of non-profit organizations who are active and partnering with our parishes
at the Reformation 500 event. We hope to continue engaging these ecumenical advocacy
partners in future activities and events.

Finances will be reported separately by our event’s treasurer, Heather Bent.

The Reformation 500 Organisation Team members include Anna Koolstra (St. Peter’s), Heather
Bent (German Martin Luther), Saralyn Lichty (St. John), and Pr. JoAnne Lam (Mt. Calvary). Thank
you to the team for picking up t he project in April and to bring everything to a f aithful
completion.

Catholic-Lutheran Joint Common Prayer, Nov 25

The Archdiocese of Ottawa and O ttawa Lutherans gathered at the Notre Dame Basilica for a
prayer liturgy. This liturgy was based upon the Common Prayer used in 2016 in Lund, Sweden for
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the joint commemoration of the Reformation. Music selection included many songs from the
ecumenical Taizé community in France.

The Cathedral Choir was joined by several members from Ottawa Lutherans to provide musical
leadership. Bishop Michael Pryse and Pr. JoAnne Lam joined Archbishop Terrence Prendergast,
Ecumenical Officer Fr. Jacques Kabangu of St. Gabriel Parish, and Deacon Francois Lortie to lead
this prayer service. More than twenty volunteers participated by reading in English and French,
and lighting the five commitment candles. Bishop Pryse and Archbishop Prendergast shared a
joint sermon on the hopes of moving closer to a possibility of a visible unity among Catholics and
Lutherans.

Reception was hosted by the Archdiocese of Ottawa and the Reformation posters were made
available for this occasion by St. Paul University.

Advent Midweek Services, Dec 6, 13, 20 at 7 p.m., Mt. Calvary Lutheran
Church

We will continue to host midweek Holden Evening Prayers at Mt. Calvary this Season of Advent.
We have opened this to participants of Catholic-Lutheran Ecumenical Studies. Our hope is that it
will offer an opportunity for us to gather together to pray and to worship together.

Youth and CLAY 2018 Planning, Aug 15-19 in Thunder Bay
Notes from Ken Grahlman

o The gathering will take place at Lakehead University, in Thunder Bay, August 15-19

e There is a transition in leadership from Ken Grahlman who has taken on other
commitments and will no longer be able to serve as the coordinator of youth events and
especially participants for CLAY 2018.

e There is a remaining balance from CLAY 2017 at St. John. We will receive an update of
the balance and then plan ahead to see how that will contribute to the expenses for
CLAY 2018 participants.

e There was a bottle drive in the fall as an initial fundraiser.

Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church and German Martin Luther becoming one
community

As of January 1, 2018, the two faith communities will move to become one congregation. It has
been a long process of getting to know one another and finding common ground. Mt. Calvary
celebrated their 60th anniversary of serving the community near Elmvale. Bishop Pryse preached
at the celebratory worship and the German Martin Luther Council Chair presented a plaque in
honour of the ministries of Mt. Calvary to name the hall “Mount Calvary Hall.” It was an end but
also a beginning to a courage step forward to rebuilding a renewed presence at 933 Smyth Road.

Transitions
During this past biennium, St Peter’s Lutheran Church and the Ottawa Ministry Area bid farewell
to the Rev. Barton Beglo who retired at the end of 2017. Over the past couple of decades, Pastor

Beglo served faithfully the congregation of St Peter’s as well as in the capacity of Dean of the
former Ottawa/St Lawrence Conference and various Synod committees. He joins the company of
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retired ELCIC pastors living on the territory of the Ottawa Ministry Area: The Revs. Arthur
Conrad, Ted Heinze, Stanley Johnstone, Jan Malina, Joanna Malina, Diane Raddatz, and Silvia
Zalts.

Continuing to serve actively the congregations in the Ministry Area are: The Revs. Joel Crouse,
Friedrich Demke, Mei Sum Lai, Martin Malina, Elina Salonen, Ed Bastian, Stephen Silverthorne and
Ilmars Zvirgds; and, The Rev. JoAnne Lam, Dean.

Report of the Ottawa Valley Ministry Area
Ottawa Valley Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Paul Roellchen-Pfohl

In the past biennium the UOVMA began to work on local ministry needs as we have come to face
changing situations. As well most of the parishes have seen to local opportunities to serve our
communities in which we live. There have been celebrations and sorrows, arrivals and leavings.

Like many ministry areas we celebrated the 500th Anniversary of the Reformation celebrating our
unity with Lutheran, Roman Catholic, and An glican participation in a joint worship service
following the Liturgy of the service held in Lund, Sweden. We were pleased to have Bishop Pryse
and Father James Beanish of St. Columbkille Cathedral share the preaching. We were delighted
with special unexpected guest Bishop Susan Johnson as she participated sharing with us t he
benediction. A combined choir of close to 50 members led the congregation of close to 300 in
spirited singing of praise to God for many blessings throughout the years. A freewill offering was
received to support the local food bank. Following worship we continued to celebrate with
fellowship in the cathedral’s lower hall. During that time many people commented that they
never thought a day like this could be possible! Many thanks go to Pr. Bruce Thompson for his
coordinating efforts and ability to tie up loose ends quickly and neatly.

Some examples of parishes meeting local needs are taking place in Eganville and P embroke.
Grace, Eganville has opened the Soul Cafe. It is a worship experience for those who have found it
difficult to feel comfortable in a regular worship service as well as an opportunity for a
denominationally neutral setting. It is outreach to a segment of the community whose ideas of
church and their relationship to church has been broken and wounded. Recently, Zion, Pembroke
has become the home of Music Healing Veterans. MHV is a veteran run operation which seeks to
offer veterans and others suffering from post traumatic stress the means of healing through the
gift of music. Upwards of 40 people gather each week to learn how to play instruments in one to
one lessons and group jam sessions. A highlight for Zion and MHV was their participation within
our worship on Remembrance Day weekend as a group of Vets played and sang “Highway of
Heroes.” These are two examples of the church meeting the needs of the local community being
church where you are.

We have welcomed Pr. Albert Romkema as pastor to St. John's Petawawa and Deaconess Pam
Harrington to Pembroke. We are excited to have them among us as we work together. On March
21st we said farewell to our brother, friend and colleague Pr. Fred Haak who joined the saints
triumphant!
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Report of the Seaway Ministry Area

Seaway Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Steve Hoffard

The Seaway ministry area formed logically from the old Seaway ministry cluster and
geographically finds itself stretched along the St. Lawrence Seaway. We are made up of Holy
Trinity - Belleville, St. Mark’s - Kingston, Good Shepherd - Brockville, South Dundas Lutheran
Community Church Parish (formed from the prior congregations of St. Peter’s - Williamsburg and
St. Paul’s - Morrisburg), St.Luke’s Dunbar and t he specialized prison ministry of Rev. Sylvia
Poetschke.

St. John’s - Riverside Heights, which began in the late 1700s, was the oldest Lutheran
congregation in what was once Upper Canada. They held their final service on Sunday, July 17,
2016.

The distance we are apart from one another is a challenge and we do not have the resources to
engage beyond our own local contexts.

However, even with the challenges we stay connected to one another through the
communication of the pastors. We also continue to host the annual “All Saints Clergy Retreat”
for Eastern Synod Pastors which is always a time of learning and renewal for those who attend.

Report of the Thames Ministry Area

Thames Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Laura Sauder

The Thames Ministry Area is made up of eight congregations from city, small town, and rural
communities that span from Windsor and Leamington east to London and Aylmer, and north to
Zurich and Brodhagen. We are a diverse group and geography makes it difficult to do many things
face-to-face. In 2017 we made the difficult decision to disband our leadership team and we
continue to discern how we might best pool our resources and support one another in ministry.
Highlights from the past couple of years include:

- Our Thames Ministry Area Reformation 500 worship service which was held on September 25,
2016. About 150 people gathered to sing and worship, and a supper was held following. Enough
funds were collected to cover one scholarship for ELCJHL schools for the ELCIC Reformation
Challenge.

- A Thames rostered leaders Advent retreat in 2017, with two more retreats planned for 2018.

- Almost monthly get-togethers for our active and retired rostered leaders (for mutual support
and encouragement).

- Steps forward in the Biennium Reconciliation Initiative: we’ve made some new contacts with
one of the indigenous communities in our area and as of the writing of this report are planning a
second area-wide Blanket Exercise on April 14, 2018.

Transitions and ministry changes: as of January 2018 St John’s, Aylmer is now in a shared
ministry partnership with Trinity Anglican, Aylmer, with Rev. John Goldsworthy serving both
parishes. From June 2016 - August 2017 Rev. Laura Sauder was on parental leave. Thank you to
Rev. Harold Brill who served as interim pastor at St Peter’s, Brodhagen, and thank you to Rev.
Steve Johnston who served as interim dean during that time.
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Report of The Bay Ministry Area
The Bay Ministry Area Dean
Rev. Thomas Mertz

The Bay Area congregations in Burlington, Hamilton and Brantford continue to grow together as
churches united in “Mission for Others.” On many occasions our congregations came together to
worship, work and play and a lead group of representatives from each church meets regularly to
share about their local ministries, support each other and plan for the numerous joint events
throughout the year.

During the Week of Prayer for Christian Unity in January we hold our annual Sunday pulpit
exchange with each pastor officiating and p reaching at a d ifferent Bay Area church. Four
Hamilton City congregations take turns hosting the Ash W ednesday evening service. In the
summer we all come together for our Area Picnic at one of the local parks.

Many of our 2017 events commemorated the 500th Anniversary of the Reformation. We
welcomed Rev. Dr. Michael Pryse to an “Afternoon with the Bishop” in April. Earlier that month
70 volunteers from our various congregations gathered at Bow Park Farm in Brantford to plant
2000 trees as a response to the ELCIC Reformation Challenge.

The Bay Area initiated and he lped plan two ecumenical services. Along with other protestant
denominations we invited the public to an outdoors service at Gage Park, Hamilton in May. Guest
preacher on this occasion was Rev. Dr. Lois Wilson, the first female Moderator of the United
Church of Canada and former president of the Canadian Council of Churches.

Bishop Pryse returned to Hamilton for the Common Prayer service at Christ the King Cathedral in
November. He co-presided at the service with Bishop Crosby of the Roman Catholic Diocese of
Hamilton. A dialogue sermon was delivered by Sister Eileen Schuler and Rev. Daniela Mertz of St.
John’s The Bay Area Massed Choir conducted by Heide Lang, Music Director of St. John’s sang at
this and other occasions in 2017.

For the third time we held the annual Lutherfest Dinner and R eformation Service at Faith,
Brantford as Bay Area events and welcomed Rev. Dr. Oscar Cole-Arnal as our guest preacher.

The Reconciling Circle, a group of Lutheran and Anglican pastors in the area planned Treaties
Recognition Week activities in Brantford, including a presentation by two survivors of the
Residential School system, held at the Woodland Cultural Centre. We thank the Synod for a grant
we received in support of this annual event.

Also with generous support of the Eastern Synod mission fund St. John’s, Hamilton continues its
community outreach project in Ward |l of Hamilton for the third year. The funds allow the
congregation to employ Rev. Chun Zhang as a part-time missionary.

Faith, Brantford called Rev. Brian Wilker as their new pastor and Redeemer, Fisherville
welcomed Rev. Kevin McLeod as interim minister.

Grace Lutheran Church, Hamilton sold their property on Main Street - to be vacated in the
summer of 2020 - and joined Transfiguration, Faith and St . John’s Lutheran churches in
amalgamation talks. The four churches appreciate the support of the Synod and particularly Rev.
Doug Reble in this process. They also contracted Janet Marshall and Ron Ewart of the Toronto
United Church Council Centre for Church Development and L eadership to facilitate the
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conversation. A work plan has been laid out with the goal of having a decision on amalgamation
by the end of 2018.

Report of the Two Rivers Ministry Area

Two Rivers Ministry Area Dean
Rev. David Malina

The eleven congregations of the Two Rivers Ministry Area (TRMA) are located in the vicinity of
the confluence of the Conestogo and Grand Rivers, on the original lands of the Six Nations. TRMA
consists of both rural and urban congregations, from St. Peter’s Lutheran Church in Linwood in
the west, to Faith Lutheran Church in Fergus in the northeast, to St. John’s Lutheran Church,
Waterloo in the south.

| was appointed Dean in January 2017 when Pr. Elina Salonen concluded her call to Faith
Lutheran Church in Fergus to accept the call to the parishes of Mildmay and Neustadt, Ontario,
thereby stepping down as Dean, a position she held since the formation of Ministry Areas in 2014.
We’re grateful for her leadership in the first years of the Ministry Areas. Thank you Pr. Elina!

Since the beginning of TRMA, the Leadership Team consisted of members Barb Finn, Jackie
Nunns, and Monika Wiesner, with ex-officio Scott Knarr. Today, the Leadership Team members
are Barb Finn, Robyn Gromeder, and Mary Thompson, with ex-officio Scott Knarr. I’'m very
grateful for their wise and enthusiastic contributions. I’m also grateful to the people of my home
church, Christ Lutheran Church, Waterloo, who’ve let me exercise the role of Dean: attending
TRMA events, meetings, synod Dean/Directors meetings, installations of pastors, council exit
interviews, pastoral visits and attending to communication and administrative tasks for the MA.
Specifically, | conducted in January 2018 the installation of Rev. Karen Kuhnert as pastor of St.
James, St. Jacobs. In Febraury 2018, | facilitated the exit interview of retiring Rev. Monika
Wiesner at St. Matthew’s, Conestogo.

On the whole, I’ve found this work energizing, particularly in the tasks of bringing people
together, who’d otherwise have remained in their silos. As | see it, a major purpose of the work
of the Leadership Team, and by extension, the MA, is to help excite the imaginations of all of our
members for mission and ministry work that is happening, and can happen, beyond the walls of
our own local congregations. The Ministry Area is by no means the only vehicle for such a
purpose. Our personal involvements - church and otherwise - which help do this for us, are many.
But the MA is one such vehicle.

The Leadership Team and | have helped convene a humber of TRMA gatherings over the past year
and a half - mainly for the purposes of education, mutual support, and prayer -- comprised of
both rostered and lay members of TRMA churches. We gathered weekly during the month of May
2017 with Roman Catholics in the area to study together the Together in Christ resource
prepared for the occasion of the 500th Anniversary of the Commemoration of the Reformation.
We’ve pondered together, encouraged by the leadership of Deacon Scott Knarr and Henriette
Thompson, what it means for us to have a reconciling relationship with indigenous people, and
what watershed discipleship means. We visited the local masjid and imam, considering our
relationship with Muslim neighbours. We’ve developed relationships with Anglican and Lutheran
churches in the city of Waterloo during Lent 2018, praying, and studying together the
relationship between Indigenous theology and the Christian Church. In January 2017, church
councils of four TMRA churches came together to share their situations and c onsider their
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futures. In January and February 2018, we held a series of “clergy reunion” meetings of active
and non-active rostered ministers.

We’ve shared, through the “Two Rivers Lutherans” website (www.waterloonorthlutherans.ca),
the “Wading in the Water” e-newsletter, and periodic email fan-outs, the many learning, music,
and service events happening in our churches and wider community.

The Two Rivers MA has been a major sponsor and supp orter (through the receiving of Synod
Mission Grants) of the work of Deacon Scott Knarr at Six Nations through his music ministry there,
and as he’s endeavoured to build bridges of understanding and relationship between members of
Two Rivers, the wider Eastern Synod, and indigenous peoples.

Over the next three years, we hope to continue to support the work of education and
relationship-building with indigenous people, particularly Six Nations, to continue informing and
communicating with our member churches, to continue bringing us together for education,
support and prayer, and to continue to excite our imaginations around mission and m inistry
possibilities.

4-18


http://www.waterloonorthlutherans.ca/

Section 5
Statistical Reports

Report of the Secretary
Necrology Report

Report of the Archivist



Statistical Reports

Section 5 - Statistical Reports

Report of the Secretary

Secretary
Rev. Wendell Grahlman

Changes in the Roster of Synod since Assembly 2016
Rostered Ministers Received into Synod

By Transfer

Rev. Richard Kwiatkowski from the Upstate New York Synod, ELCA effective September 15, 2016
Rev. Moses Prashad from the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Guyana effective October 16, 2016
Rev. Mira Salmelainen from Evangelical Lutheran Church of Finland effective January 16, 2017
Rev. Paul Sodtke from the Manitoba Northwestern Ontario Synod, ELCIC effective March 6, 2017
Rev. Jeffrey Hosick from the Convention of Atlantic Baptist Churches, effective April 27, 2017
Rev. Doreen McFarlane from the United Church of Christ, effective June 6, 2017

Rev. Jim Halmarson from the Saskatchewan Synod, effective August 31, 2017

By Ordination

Rev. Hilla Lahtinen
Rev. Albert Romkema
Rev. Ronnie Smith
Rev. Chris Krejlgaard
Rev. Elaine Boone

Candidates Approved for Ordination upon Receiving a Call

Leena Jensen
William (Bill) Macintyre

Anglican Clerics serving Synodical Parishes

Rev. Judith Alltree at Redeemer Evangelical Lutheran Church, Toronto

Rev. Stephen Croft at Evangelical Lutheran Church of Our Saviour, Dartmouth

Rev. Perry Chuipka at Lutheran and Anglican Ministries of the Bruce Peninsula

Rev. Patricia Dorland at St. John’s Lutheran Church, South Porcupine

Rev. Dawn Leger at First Evangelical Lutheran Church, Toronto

Rev. Stephen Silverthorne at Good Shepherd Barrhaven Anglican Lutheran Ministry, Ottawa
Rev. Edward Wagner at St. Mark’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, Chesley

Rev. Henk Willems at Zion Lutheran Church, Massey and Faith Lutheran Church, Elliot Lake

Pastors on Leave from Call Status, July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018
First Year

Rev. Debra Johnston

Rev. Rebecca Klages

Rev. Gloria Ryder
Second Year

Rev. Neil Thomsen
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Third Year

Rev. Peter Kuhnert
Fourth Year

Rev. John Jacobs

Pastors on Leave from Call Status, July 1, 2018 - June 30, 2019
First Year

Pamela Harrington

Mark Kalvaitis

JoAnne Lam

Christie Morrow-Wolfe

Second Year
Rebecca Klages
Gloria Ryder

Third Year
Neil Thomsen

Rostered Ministers Removed from the Roster of Synod

By Transfer

Rev. Michael Macintyre to the Alberta and the Territories Synod effective August 1, 2016

Rev. Mark Van House to the Southeast Minnesota Synod, ELCA, effective August 16, 2016
Bishop (Ret.) Stephen Kristenson to the Alberta and the Territories Synod, effective October 1,
2017

Rev. Debra Johnston to the Manitoba/Northwestern Ontario Synod, effective December 31,
2017

Rev. Gary Barr to the Anglican Diocese of Nova Scotia and P.E.I. effective 2018

By Constitutional Directive

By Request

Rev. Herbert Harms, effective April 1, 2017
Rev. Sara Faulhafer, effective April 15, 2017

By Death
See Necrology Report

Changes in the Roster of Congregations and Synodical Missions

e St. Timothy’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, Copper Cliff and St. Matthew’s Evangelical
Lutheran Church, Sudbury merged to become New Hope Lutheran Church, Sudbury, effective
April 9, 2016

e St. Paul’s Lutheran Church, Guelph merged with St. David Anglican Church and St. Patrick’s
Anglican Church, Guelph to become All Saints Lutheran Anglican Church, Guelph, effective
June 4, 2016

e St. James Evangelical Lutheran Church, Cambridge dissolved June 25, 2017
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e St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, Riverside Heights dissolved August 31, 2017

e Mount Calvary Lutheran Church, Ottawa merged with German Evangelical Martin Luther
Church, Ottawa: December 31, 2017

e Lithuanian Lutheran Church of the Redeemer, Toronto dissolved on December 31, 2017

e Edgewood Camp and Conference Centre concluded operations on December 31, 2017

e Maranatha Mission, Kitchener concluded on December 31, 2017

Rostered Ministers Requesting to be Excused from Assembly 2018 Sessions

Rev. Matthew Anderson
Rev. Virginia Cookman
Rev. Tim Dawkins

Rev. David Hammer
Rev. Ilze Kuplens-Ewart
Rev. JoAnne Lam

Rev. Sue Nevile

Rev. Nadine Nicholds
Rev. Mira Salmelainen
Rev. Jerry Slote

Rev. Capt. Stephan Wagner

Rostered Ministers Celebrating Anniversaries of
Ordination/Consecration during Assembly 2018

Twenty-five Years Fifty Years

Rev. Claudine Carlson Rev. Walter Philip Heinze
Rev. Rasma Caune Rev. Theodore Heinze
Rev. Virginia Cookman Rev. Carl Kappes

Rev. Friedrich Demke Rev. Maris Kirsons

Rev. Sonja Free Rev. Everett Mossman
Rev. Davis Kaneps Rev. Tonis Nommik
Rev. David Maginley Rev. Clinton Rohr

Rev. Doreen McFarlane Rev. Gordon Schmidt
Rev. Jonathan Schmidt

Rev. Christian Schweter Sixty Years

Rev. Gregory Smith Rev. Vernon Cronmiller
Rev. David Tin

Rev. Charles Dechert
Rev. Dr. William D. Huras (Bishop - Ret.)
Rev. Barry Lang

Rev. Glenn Widdis

Forty Years Rev. Joachim Von Schmeling
Rev. Jacob Dressler Rev. Eric Weber

Rev. Ted Guthrie

Rev. Beverley Nitschke Sixty-five Years

Rev. Dr. David Pfrimmer
Rev. Glenn Sellick

Rev. William Shafer
Rev. Paul Sodtke

Rev. Thomas Ristine

Seventy Years
Rev. Arthur Conrad
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Concluding Remarks

If you’ve ever wondered what | do...

Minute recording at Synod Council and Officer meetings, correspondence and any required
action related to those Minutes, custodian of the Roster of Synod for Rostered Ministers and
Congregations, the On Leave from Call annual process, overseeing the nomination work for
Synod Council and the synodical delegates to National Convention, and of course, responsibility
and caretaker of constitutional records for congregations and the synod. (And I think the Bylaws
indicate something like “other duties as assigned.”)

| have now served sixteen years as Secretary of the Eastern Synod. These years have been a gift
to me in many ways; at the same time, | have been very honoured and appreciative to be able
to serve the synod with my gifts. This assembly year marks a change in the way that the Synod
Assembly elects a Secretary, i.e. through an affirmation of the Synod Council’s nomination.
Synod Council’s nomination of my name implies my willingness to continue serving, and | would
be pleased, should it be the Assembly’s affirmation, to do so.

Allow me to express my great appreciation and thankfulness for the other Officers of the
Synod: Bishop Michael Pryse, Vice-Chair Laurie Knott, and Treasurer Keith Myra. And no less for
the members of Synod Council who have served in this past biennium, with a special nod to
those who served with me on the Legal and Constitutions Committee; and of course, for those
who work at the synod office and keep synodical things humming more than you can imagine;
and for Cathy Caron, the long-time serving administrative support to this Secretary, who will
soon join me in a new lifelong wedded partnership! To be able to serve alongside them and be
a recipient of their wisdom and partnership is awesome!

What do | do? For all this, and more, | offer a grateful: Thanks be to God!
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Necrology Report
| am the resurrection and the life. Those who believe in me, even though they die,
will live and everyone who lives and believes in me will never die.
(John 11:25).

In this biennium, the deaths of seven pastors, and nine spouses are recorded.

The Rev. James Dookram - November 13, 1930 - July 26, 2016

Rev. James Dookram, was the loving father of Sandra (Bob) Dewar of Walkerton, Linda (Bill)
Becker of Corunna, Walter (Linda) Dookram of Barrie, Gavin (Debbie) Dookram of Fergus and
Rosemary (Jason) Chow of Guelph. Cherished grandfather of Olias, Alyssa, Renata, Steven,
Alaina, Devon, Destiny, Bethany, Benjamin, Senna, Haleigh and Brandon and great-grandfather
of Xayden, Masyn, Molly, Zackery, Colby, Aadison and Denny. Dear brother of Bethlyn (David)
Peters. He was predeceased by his beloved wife Lucille (nee Bohen), his parents, as well as his
other siblings.

Born in Guyana, South America and a graduate of Waterloo Lutheran University (BA); Waterloo
Lutheran Seminary (BD). James was ordained May 30, 1962 and served the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Guyana as Parish Pastor, Secretary and President, 1962 - 1972; Trinity,
Walkerton, 1972 - 1995 when he retired. He also served on the Synod Life Committee; World
Mission Committee; Synod Council; and as Dean of the Georgian Bay Conference.

Funeral service was held at Trinity Lutheran Church, Walkerton on Wednesday, August 3, 2016
with Bishop Michael Pryse and Rev. Catherine House officiating. Interment in Walkerton
Cemetery.

Elizabeth Joan Diegel - July 24, 1936 to September 10, 2016

Elizabeth Diegel, was the wife of the Rev Calvin Diegel, and dear mother of Reverend Matthew
Diegel (Kaija Ranta), Reverend Michael Diegel (Anna Skogsrud) and David Diegel (Martha
Terdik). Dear grandmother of Elina, Stacie, Alexa, Thomas, Samuel and Hannah. Special "mom”
of Xuandong Zhu (Hui Yao) and their children Debbie and Christina. She is survived her sister,
Carole Arndt (Mel). Predeceased by her parents, Helen and lon Hartman.

Elizabeth graduated from Stratford Teachers' College. She was an English as a second language
teacher for many years and a long-time community volunteer.

Funeral Service was held at Faith Lutheran Church, Brantford on Friday September 16, 2016.
Interment at Mount Hope Cemetery.

Elaine Marguerite Grosz - September 2, 1923 to October 25, 2016

Elaine Grosz was the loving wife of the late Rev. Roy Norman Grosz and mother of Jane Grosz
of Waterloo, Philip Grosz of Kitchener, and Nancy Bergey of Waterloo. Lovingly remembered by
granddaughter Leigh (Grant) Lovell, great-grandsons William and Brian, and great-
granddaughters Elleigh-Jane and Waverley. Survived by brother-in-law, Ken DeCoppel.

She was born in Kitchener, a daughter of the late Clarence Oswald and Caroline nee Chesney.
Predeceased by infant son, Robert and sisters Doris Bornhold (Robert) and Marian DeCoppel, by
son-in-law Brian Bergey, and Jane’s friend Debbie Gordon.

5-5



Statistical Reports

Funeral service was held at the Erb & Good Family Funeral Home, Waterloo on October 28,
2016 with Rev. Joanne Peppler officiating. Interment at St. Peter’s Lutheran Cemetery,
Kitchener.

The Rev. Calvin Diegel - september 30, 1933 - November 21, 2016

Rev. Calvin Diegel, predeceased by his loving wife Elizabeth (Betty. Dear father of Reverend
Matthew Diegel (Kaija Ranta), Reverend Michael Diegel (Anna Skogsrud) and David Diegel
(Martha Terdik). Beloved grandfather of Elina, Stacie, Alexa, Thomas, Samuel and Hannah.
Special "dad” of Xuandong Zhu (Hui Yao) and their children Debbie and Christina. Dear brother
of Arthur (Esther) Diegel and Marleen McLaughlin.

Cal was a graduate of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary and Waterloo College (Waterloo Lutheran
University). Together with Betty, he served parishes in Geraldton, Nakina, Longlac, Owen
Sound, Wiarton and Collingwood before settling in Brantford as Pastor of Faith Lutheran
Church. He proudly served the congregation of Faith Lutheran for 30 years and received the
honourary title of Pastor Emeritus upon his retirement. He and Betty enjoyed many summers at
their cottage in Sauble Beach, and it was there he gathered friends and support to establish
Christ the King Lutheran Chapel.

Funeral Service was held at Faith Lutheran Church, Brantford on November 25, 2016 with Rev.
Kevin Baglole officiating. Inurnment at Mount Hope Cemetery.

The Rev. Dr. David Granskou - September 5, 1927 - December 19, 2016

Rev. Dr. David Granskou, is survived by Charlotte, their five children John, Janet, Sonja, Sarah
and Mary; their partners Trevor, Andrew and Dennis; and grandchildren Natalie, Grace, Soren
and Solveg. He was predeceased by his artist daughter, Joanie; parents Clem and Ella and
sisters Ruth and Evie.

David was born in Yankton, South Dakota. He graduated St. Olaf College, Minnesota; Lutheran
Seminary, Minnesota and Princeton Theological Seminary. He was ordained March 25, 1957. He
served First Lutheran Church, Albert Lea, Minnesota (1956-59); Secretary, Department of
Theological Co-operation, National Lutheran Council, NY, NY (1960-63); Professor, Maywood
Lutheran Seminary (1963-71); Professor, Waterloo Lutheran Seminary (1971-73); Professor,
Wilfrid Laurier University (1973-93).

A Memorial Service was held in the Keffer Chapel, Waterloo Lutheran Seminary on December
30, 2016.

Ruth Magda Kjaer - January 10, 2017

Ruth Kjaer, was wife of the late Rev Jens Kjaer. She was the loving mother of Erik, Peter and
Paul and loving grandmother of Erin, Jordan and Jonathan.

A memorial service took place on January 21, 2017 at The Danish Lutheran Church of the
Niagara Peninsula, Grimsby.
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Alma Catherine Caroline Janke (nee Lantz) - April 28, 2017

Alma Janke, was the wife of Rev. Melvin Janke (and the late Wilfred Weppler), and loved
mother of Carol Heard (James), Susan Thompson and the late Dale Weppler and mother-in-law
of Shirley Weppler. Cherished grandmother of eight grandchildren and fourteen great-
grandchildren.

A Memorial Reception was held at Erb & Good Family Funeral Home, Waterloo on May 7, 2017.

Grethe (Cookie) Edna (nee Kristiansen) Crouse - May 26, 2017

Grethe Crouse, was the wife of Rev. Keith Crouse, and mother of Dan (Lisa, Anders, Emma);
Joel (Erin, Noah, Samson); Ted (Marcy).

She leaves behind her sister-in-law Mona Dennison (Ozzie); her brother-in-law Kevin Crouse
(Becky) and her many nieces and nephews. Grethe was predeceased by her first born son,
Kelly, parents, brother, son and her sisters-in-law Judy Tanner and Valerie Crouse.

A service honouring the spirit and resolve of Grethe was held at Good Shepherd Lutheran
Church, Brockville on May 29, 2017. The interment will take place at Hillcrest Cemetery in
Lunenburg, N.S.

The Rev. Joachim Knaack - July 25, 1932 - June 22, 2017

Rev. Joachim Knaack is survived by his wife, Ursula; his two sisters, Brigitte Laewen and Monika
Schaller; his sons, Stephen (Joanne nee Desgroseilliers) and Peter (Lana nee Asal) and his two
grandsons, Geoffrey and Dennis. He was predeceased by his father, Arthur Willy and his
mother, Frieda (nee Klaipedat).

Born in Berlin, Germany, Pastor Knaack studied at the Kirchliche Hochschule in Berlin, the
Lutheran Theological Seminary at Gettysburg, PA and the University of Saskatchewan where he
achieved a Bachelors of Arts Degree in 1959. Pastor Knaack together with his wife Ursula (nee
Kind) served Ponoka-Rimbey Parish, AB; St. Mark’s Lutheran Church, Markinch, SK; St. Peter’s
Lutheran Church, Winnipeg, MB; St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, Aylmer; ON; St.
George’s Evangelical Lutheran Church, Toronto, ON; Tabor Lutheran Church, Philadelphia, PA
and First Evangelical Lutheran Church, Toronto, ON.

Funeral Service was held on June 27, 2017 at Martin Luther Evangelical Lutheran Church,
Etobicoke with Bishop Michael Pryse and Rev. Christian Ceconi officiating. Burial at Bethesda
Lutheran Cemetery in Unionville.

Eva Slack - January 14, 1927 - September 26, 2017

Eva Matilda Slack (nee McCay), was the wife of the late Rev. James Slack Sr. She is survived by
sons, Rev. James Slack Jr. (Natalie) of Montreal; Stephen of Halifax; daughters, Kathy,
Georgetown, ON; Barbara (Carlos) Homosits, Mississauga, ON; Virginia Slack, Waterloo, ON and
Carol Slack-Wamboldt (Jeff Cotter) of Conquerall Bank, NS. She is also survived by 11
grandchildren and 3 great-grandchildren.

She was the daughter of the late Thomas and Mary (Fischer) McCay and predeceased by
husband, Rev James Slack Sr., son-in-law, Philip Wamboldt , brother, Thomas and sister,
Margaret.

Funeral service was held on October 2, 2017 at Zion Lutheran Church, Lunenburg, Rev Rick
Pryce and Rev. Svante Olson officiating
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The Rev. Edward (Chad) Honneyman - February 16, 1979 - October 3, 2017

Rev. Edward 'Chad' Honneyman was husband and best friend of Kim Honneyman (nee Barclay).
He was the son of Sharon and Edward Honneyman, son-in-law of Holly Devlin and Ed Barclay,
loved brother-in-law of Geoffrey Barclay and his partner Mary Anne Reid and Jennifer Barclay,
all of Owen Sound. Remembered by his church families, his motorcycle riding association, the
Owen Sound gaming community and many friends.

Funeral service was conducted from St. George's Anglican Church, Owen Sound on October 11,
2017 with Bishop Linda Nicholls and Bishop Michael Pryse officiating.

Doris Stockman (Nee Metzger) - June 23, 1927 - December 16, 2017

Doris Stockman, was the wife of the late Rev. Martin Stockman,and mother of Suzanne
Coubrough (Malcom), Linda Hood and Timothy (Jo-Anne). Cherished Oma of Taryn McKinnon
(Donald), Melissa Coubrough, James Hood, Peter Hood (Jayne), Katie Hood, Andrew Stockman
(Bonnie), Angela Stockman and Christine Stockman and special Great Oma of Rhys, Zane, Tessa,
Willow, Myers, Linley, Elsie and William.

Doris was predeceased by her parents Norma and Herbert Metzger, brother Harvey, sister Marie
Dwyer, and her granddaughter Zanne. She will be missed by her cousins, nieces and nephews.

A memorial service was held on January 6, 2018 at Mt. Zion Lutheran Church, 29 Westmount
Rd. South, Waterloo.

Thylamay Sheila Munro (Nee Padavatton) - December 29, 2017

Thylamay Munro, was the wife of the late Rev. Victor Roy Munro Sr. She is survived by her
children Victor Jr. (Jackie), Mark (Phyllis), Kevin (Elaine), Leland, and Lauren Bourdon
(Graeham). Devoted grandmother of Samuel, Ashlyn and Aidan. Dearly missed by her brothers,
sisters and extended family.

Funeral Service was held at Advent Lutheran Church, Toronto on January 8, 2017.

The Rev. Capt. Robert Earle Bouchard - April 22, 1951 - February 25, 2018

Rev. Capt. Robert Bouchard was the loving Dad of Ryan and his spouse Michelle Vandenakker,
and Lynn Bouchard and her spouse Jacob Arnold. Beloved and devoted grandfather of Myra.
Dear brother of Mary-Lou Paryniuk and her husband Bill, and Cathy Lintula and her husband
Matt. Bob will be fondly remembered by Laura. Predeceased by his parents John and Lucille.

In addition to his role as Military Chaplain with the Canadian Armed Forces, Padré Bob served
the congregations of St Peter’s, Wiarton; Lutheran Church of Our Saviour, Owen Sound and
Faith, Port Elgin.

Funeral service was held on March 7, 2018 at Faith Lutheran Church, Port Elgin, with Bishop
Michael Pryse, Rev. Darlyne Rath and Rev. John Polacok officiating.
The Rev. Frederick Emil William Haak, Jr. - June 13, 1938 - March 14, 2018

Rev. Frederick Haak, Jr. was the beloved husband of Grace Haak, and caring father of Natalie
(Mike Jamieson) and Angela Haak. Survived by his brother, Martin (Audrey) and sisters, Marie
(Charlie Blum), Ruth (Len Young), Lillian Haak and Minna (Rob Peever). Predeceased by a
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brother in infancy, Emil, as well as his sisters, Miriam and Lois. Fred will be dearly missed by
his many nieces, nephews, cousins and friends.

Rev. Haak served as Pastor for 39 years in the Parishes of Grattan, Elmwood-Brant, St John,

Petawawa, Grace, Hamilton, St John, Arnprior, and Trinity, Ayton. Following his retirement he
continued to serve locally throughout Eastern Ontario and Western Quebec for the Parish of St.
John's, Ladysmith and Zion, Schwartz. This brought his faithful service record to more than 50

years.
Funeral service was held at Grace Lutheran Church, Eganville, on March 21, 2018 with Bishop

Michael Pryse and Rev Gregory Smith officiating.
Alice Anna Christine Lang (nee Bald) - March 18, 2018

Alice Lang, was the wife and partner of Rev. Barry Lang, and loving mother of Kirk, Hans and
Mark Nathan. Alice will be sadly missed by her family and friends.

A memorial service took place on Easter Sunday (April 1, 2018) at 5:00 p.m.
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Report of the Archivist

Archivist
Rev. Karen Kuhnert

This biennium marks the 400" anniversary of Lutherans in the Eastern Synod! With recent
commemorations of 500 years of the Lutheran Reformation and 150 years “of Canada,” the
Archives show that we have become mindful to learn more about ourselves and to reconnect to
our neighbours by grace. | commend to you this Report, the Report and display by Laurier
Archives that will be available on-site at Synod Assembly 2018 and the publications of Synod
Office on-line.

400th Anniversary - Our Eastern Synod story begins with the Innu in 1619
On May 7, 1619, Danish explorer Jens Munck and Rev. Rasmus Jensen sailed from Copenhagen.
These Danish Lutherans landed that summer in the Eastern Synod trading European
manufactured items for food and traditional goods with the Innu. Blocked in by ice, they
wintered in Port Churchill (MNO Synod). Jensen and most of the crew and cargo never left. The
social and environmental legacy of this 400 year-old encounter is well remembered in history
books and the oral tradition of the First Peoples. On January 11, 2018, it was my honour to
have KAIROS Board Member Deborah Tagornak, an Inuk from Naujaat, offer a Blessing of
Ministry in Inuktitut to those gathered at St. James in St. Jacobs. Descended from umiak
whalers indigenous to the locations where Munck landed, Deborah shared at length about
Climate Change and environmental impacts upon our common Arctic home.

500th Year of the Reformation - From Conflict to Communion

Indeed, our Lutheran history goes back beyond 400 years. In our Synod this biennium there
were eight Lutheran-Catholic Commemorations connecting our local contexts to the unity
shown by Pope Francis and LWF President Bishop Munib Younan in Lund, Sweden (birthplace of
the LWF, 1947). These events brought out liturgical excellence and rich relationship building. In
the Northern MA, what began as a two-leader RC-Lutheran worship planning group ended up as
a twenty-leader two-day Ecumenical-Indigenous transformational engagement. Forty people
attended Sunrise Ceremony led by Elders Julie and Frank Ozawagosh followed by a KAIROS
Blanket Exercise with students. Then the Anishinabe Elders, Christian leaders and students
together processed the Sacred Fire to a conference location. There, two hundred delegates
participated in two days of learning and dialogue about Reformation and Reconciliation.
Powerfully, this flowed into the pre-release screening of the local movie Indian Horse. In the
Opening-evening Commemoration worship, three hundred people were present as the
Anishinabe Eagle Staff and Sacred Medicines were thoughtfully located along with the cross and
ecumenical banners. The Service in the Catholic Cathedral was co-presided over by female and
male priests. The days concluded with a Drum-Circle Round Dance and presentation of an Eagle
Feather with Honour and Unity Songs. This event had what Finns call sisu!

Members of our Synod were also part of breaking down barriers beyond our national borders.
Rev. Stephen Larson of Nith Valley MA Chaired the Worship Team for the LWF gathering in
Namibia, Africa, and attended the historic Lutheran-Catholic Commemoration in Lund, Sweden.
He was also one of two Keynote Speakers at the 2016 National Worship Conference held in
Waterloo that with heightened clarity and intention linked local and global worship with social
justice. Toronto Area leaders used our Archives for displays at the Canada Pavilion in
Wittenberg Germany. Along with Deborah Tagornak, | participated in statement writing for the
UN Climate Change Conference (COP24, Bonn, Germany) at the 2017 WCC and Arctic Circle
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Conferences in Iceland. Our commitment to Just Peace with the Earth was signed at Parliament
Plains (Thingvellir, established by Vikings in 930AD). His All Holiness, Ecumenical Orthodox
Patriarch Bartholowmew |, referred to as “the Green Pope,” historically held open-Communion
for ALL assembled.

Coming Home to Canada 150 - remembering who we have been and are again

becoming

Many Lutherans explored their local histories as Canada celebrated 150 years of Confederation.
Huronia held their Spring meeting in the Midland museum led by Nipissing Elder Gertie
Beaucage. Huronia and Georgian Bay leaders Acknowledged the Chippewas of Rama and
Saugeen-0Ojibway First Nations on Canada Day. Ottawa Lutherans participated in the Kitchie
Blanket Exercise on Parliament Hill with Algonquian, Mi'’kmaqg and Metis Leaders Barbara Hill,
Billy Lewis and Gabrielle Fayant. The Bay hosted Chief Ava Hill of Six Nations in Hamilton and
went to Ohsweken and Hagersville for learning from Haudenosaunee and Mississaugas Elders and
academics.

On Reformation Sunday in St. James Cathedral, Toronto, there was a noteworthy anamnesis
(imperative) among the four hundred Lutherans and Anglicans festively gathered. How so?
Colonial documents show that earliest Canada was ethnically and religiously diverse. Later pre-
Confederation Lutherans experienced intense pressure to assimilate into a constructed “British”
North America. In Atlantic and Seaway congregations there were property seizures of land,
buildings and even communion ware. It became against the law for our long-established Seaway
congregations to have clergy perform marriages and baptisms. Clergy Reserves were shifted to
finance only Anglican Church advancement. John Strachan, located out of the Seaway at
Kingston and Cornwall then later Toronto, became Bishop of highest Canadian Order. Strachan
was a primary force of assimilation. On the 500" anniversary of the Reformation, only feet from
Strachan’s interred remains in his own Anglican Cathedral, a Lutheran Pastor of German
heritage spoke words of reconciliation and forgiveness at the altar. Together Anglicans and
Lutherans drank for the first time from the pre-Confederation Silver chalices of the Loyalist
Lutherans of the Seaway who resisted assimilation forces and eventually by action of
Parliament had their land and silver repatriated with compensation from the Anglican Church.
Though hidden for decades, preserving memories of conflict, these cups now contain our
common covenant to be Christ’s broken, forgiven and blessed disciples together. Perhaps one
day these chalices will sit alongside a wash-bucket and olive oil recalling Mennonite-Lutheran
Reconciliation (LWF, 2010). Some leaders have begun to prepare for 2025, the 500" Anniversary
of Anabaptism and Lutheran persecution of Anabaptists.

Coming to be faithful together has been a theme of this biennium. As Archivist, | recount with
pride the records of Zion, Maple and Trinity, Tavistock/Sebastapol thick with commitment of
founding families to build a Lutheran Synod that brings people together across diversities and
divides. These pioneers, with Markham Lutherans and others, invested greatly to bring our
Synod into being and to preserve the freedom of “justification by grace through faith” in
Canada.

We and our nation are turning again to embrace diversity, perhaps even decolonizing
relationship with land, air and creatures lost in establishing the Dominion of Canada. We are
more than meeting our Muslim, Jewish, Orthodox and Indigenous neighbours now, we are
forming relationships again! Other movements of grace include the street-outreach in Montreal,
Stronger Together 2017 the on-Reserve residential program with Grand River, Two Rivers and
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Nith Valley, anti-poverty solidarity in Toronto and Kitchener, the Women’s March in Thames
and synod-wide refugee resettlement. Our Young Adults have been leading us out of
establishment and resourcing our intersectionality.

All of these stories matter! Please share your local, national and international lives with Laurier
Archives who expertly safekeep our documents, photos, artifacts and digital footprints. They
too share Good News that touches lives and changes the world. By our actions together,
generations will remember... Waterloo Lutheran Seminary reforming into Martin Luther
University College and Maranatha Lutheran Caribbean Mission, for 25 years our most diverse
congregation who hosted an annual Black History Month Service and feast for more than a
decade.... Together we will remember all the gains and losses for the future we cannot see, a
future safe in our timeless God’s loving care.
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Section 6 - Report of Eastern Synod Council

Directory of Synod Council 2016-2018

Officers:

Bishop: Rev. Dr. Michael J. Pryse
Vice-Chairperson: Laurie Knott
Secretary: Rev. Wendell Grahlman
Treasurer: Keith Myra

Synod Council:

Term Ending Convention 2018
Rev. Dr. Dwight Biggs

Rev. Richard Brown

Valerie Getson

Rev. Norine Gullons

Deacon Pam Harrington

Rev. David Malina

Jordan Smith

Rev. Robert Wiesner

David Wilk

Assistants to the Bishop:

Rev. Riitta Hepomaki
Rev. Douglas Reble

Ministry Directors:

Rev. Katherine Altenberg (Public Policy and Service)
Cathy Calvin (Women)

Rev. Joel Crouse (Property Transformation)

Debbie Lou Ludolph (Worship)

Rev. Christie Morrow-Wolfe (Youth and Young Adults)
Jeff Pym (Stewardship and Resource Development)
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Table of Contents for Section 6
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Notes:

The items that require assembly action are placed at the front of this section. The listing of
motions from Synod Council and Officer meetings are placed in Appendix A (these pages are
adopted by the assembly as part of the Consent Agenda).

Information printed in other synodical reports is not repeated here. Informative reports from
the Officers, Standing Committees, Waterloo Lutheran Seminary, the Evangelical Lutheran
Foundation of Eastern Canada, the National Church and Ministry Directors were given during
each Synod Council meeting, and their information is recorded in their respective biennial
reports to the Assembly.

Synod budgets for 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and reports of synod auditors are found in the
report of the Treasurer of Synod. (See Section 8 - Financial Reports)

Other information may be found in the report of the Secretary of Synod (See Section 5).
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Part A

Eastern Synod Council Recommendations Requiring Action

1. That the first reading for the amendment to the Constitution of the Eastern Synod, Article
VI Section 9, be adopted. (see Part B)

2. That the amendment for the Bylaws for the Eastern Synod, Part V Section 12b, be
adopted. (see Part B)

3. That the 2018 Revised Budget and 2019-2021 Proposed Budgets be adopted. (see Section
8)

4. That Keith Myra be nominated for election as Treasurer of Synod for a six year term.
(refer to ESC 18-01, page 6-25)

5. That Rev. Wendell Grahlman be nominated for election as Secretary of Synod for a six
year term. (refer to ESC 18-02, page 6-25)
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Part B

B.1 Amendment to the Eastern Synod Constitution, First
Reading

That the Eastern Synod Constitution, Article VI Section 9 be amended (first reading):

Should a A congregation which-has ceased to exist or whose membership has so
diminished in numbers as to render it impossible or impractical for the congregation to
function according to its constitution and bylaws shall, the bishop of the synod shall

arrange a after consultation with any remaining members, after which the synod
council may deem the congregation be-deemed-by-thissynod-te-be defunct. Fhis
synod-through-If the congregation is deemed to be defunct, the synod council shall
appoint trustees, including where feasible fermer members of the former
congregation, who shall take charge and control of the property of said congregation
to hold, manage and convey the same on behalf of the former congregation this

syned,

B.2 Amendment to the Eastern Synod Bylaws
That the Eastern Synod Bylaws, Part V Section 12b be amended by removing the following:

b. The Committee on Nominations shall provide the following information for each
nominee: address—oceupation; area, church/community involvement and vision for
the church.
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Part C

Assembly 2016 Resolutions referred to Synod Council

C.1

ES 16-01 MSC that the following be referred to Synod Council:

That the Bylaws of the Eastern Synod, Part V, Section 3, be amended by adding the

following and re-numbering the remaining sections:
c) Retired rostered ministers whose numbers may constitute up to 10 percent
of all eligible rostered voting delegates. Retired rostered ministers will be
elected by their peers through a nomination and balloting procedure
determined by the Synod Council.

ESC 16-36 MSC to refer ES 16-01 to the Legal and Constitutions Committee to recommend
possible action for the Synod Council.

ESC 18-28 MSC that regarding the referral of ES 16-01 to Synod Council, no further action be

taken.

Background:

The membership of this synod consists of congregations and synodically recognized
ministries that are recognized by this synod in the manner described in the bylaws of
this church (Constitution Article V Section 1). That is to say that delegates are not
involved as interested individuals, but are representative of their investment and
participation in various ministry places.

Assembly 2014 chose specifically that voting members of convention (Assembly)
includes "rostered ministers serving under call or appointment.” Assembly 2016
affirmed the action of Assembly 2014.

It's been a longstanding ELCIC principle that the balance of the voice between lay and
rostered is an important value in our makeup and an integral expression of our
theology. Making a change to increase the rostered participation could reduce the
percentage of lay voices and influence.

As recent trends have indicated, assemblies are becoming smaller; fewer people, and
notably lay people, are attending. A motion to increase the rostered membership can
lead to an imbalance of rostered and lay delegates.

We have had a long practice of all rostered ministers, regardless of professional
activity, to be delegates. However, being a delegate is not an inherent privilege of
ordination.

At the national church level there is some consideration being given to some
conversation regarding some of these constitutional issues; it would be timely for us to
allow that conversation to unfold.

This recommendation of "no action” is in no way intended to downplay or ignore the
gifts, value, wisdom and contribution of those who have chosen or come to a retired
status. We would do them a disservice of making this a token action that occurs so
infrequently.

What might be considered as missing significant voices will always be considered as
such by some perspectives; there's no perfect system. A bylaw amendment doesn't
promise, guarantee or deliver an improvement.
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C.2 ES 16-09 MSC that the following be referred to synod council:

That the Eastern Synod of the ELCIC no longer require nominations or resumes for
various roles and elected or appointed positions to include information that is
prohibited by Federal or Provincial Acts or Regulations.

ESC 16-37 MSC to refer ES 16-09 to the Secretary to procure a legal opinion.

Summary:

1.

While PIPEDA (Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act) does not
apply to the synod in this case since the personal information is not being “collected,
used, or disclosed in the course of a commercial activity,” the synod has a Privacy
Policy which states in part:

e personal information of an individual that is to be placed on the synod website
is to have express consent to do so, or the individual will be given the option to
have their personal information suppressed;

e all personal information is destroyed, erased or made anonymous as soon as the
purpose for which it was collected is no longer relevant.

“The Eastern Synod may want to consider the purpose of disclosing certain information
on forms used that contain personal information that would be publically available.”

. The Ontario Human Rights Code applies to volunteers. Therefore, the Nomination Form

should eliminate the question that asks for a candidate’s gender and birthdate. (The
form can ask if a candidate falls within the youth category, and be confirmed upon
election. A candidate’s gender should only be asked if the question is a reasonable and
bona fide qualification for the work.)

Therefore:

1.

Information on nomination forms that is on the synod website is to be removed when
no longer needed.

2. Future forms, especially for ELCIC delegate nomination purposes, should:

e clarify the Privacy Policies available to the public via the website;

¢ eliminate the question about gender;

¢ eliminate the question about birth date (have the candidate confirm date of birth
following election);

e provide an area for express consent to comply with the Eastern Synod Privacy
Policy.

3. Amend Synod Bylaw Part V Section 12b:

The Committee on Nominations shall provide the following information for each
nominee: address, occupation, area, church/community involvement and vision
for the church.
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Appendix A

Chronological listing of Synod Council & Officer Resolutions

This report includes actions as recorded in Synod Council and Officer Minutes.

ESC xx-xx are Eastern Synod Council motions.
Un-numbered MSC’s are Officer Motions.

Housekeeping items are not included in this report.

Sensitive issues relating to any Investigative Committees, Disciplinary Committees, Executive
Sessions (closed), congregational conflict, etc., which may have required Synod Council action
are not detailed in this composite summary.

Officers Meeting - October 26, 2016

(E-mail vote of October 10, 2016) MSC that the August 25th, 2016 Managed Fund Agreement
between the synod and ELFEC be ratified.

(E-mail vote of October 10, 2016) MSC that the Congregational Moving Expense Policy be

amended as follows:

(Revised October, 2016)
c) synod will share in the cost remaining after deducting $6.00 per confirmed member
according to the latest published statistics of the requesting congregation, from the
total cost incurred. In those multiple congregation parishes serviced by a team
ministry, the number of confirmed members shall be divided by the number of
ministers, and the deduction calculated accordingly. For merged Anglican/Lutheran
congregations, for the purposes of this calculation the cost of moving the pastor shall
be divided by two and the number of confirmed members shall be divided by two.

(E-mail vote of October 10, 2016) MSC that the synod provide a $1,500 subsidy to St. Mark’s
Anglican Lutheran Church, Midland to help defray the costs associated with Rev. Martin
Giebel’s move.

MSC that the officers recommend that 10% of the latest installment of the Emily Brown estate
be directed to the National Church: $20,000 to the Praise Appeal, and $30,000 to the
Reformation Challenge.

MSC that the officers recommend to the synod council that the Eastern Synod Strategic Plan
2017-2021 be adopted.

MSC that the non-stipendiary call to special service be renewed for Rev. Karen Kuhnert to
serve as the Eastern Synod Archivist and as a Synodical Interim Minister.

MSC that the following be nominated for election by synod council as delegates to the 2017
ELCIC National Convention: Lay: Gary Barling, Joanna Coombs, Maria Featherston, Charlotte
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Corwin and Lawrence Lupton, and Rostered: Rev. Thomas Arth, Rev. Glenda Morrisette, Rev.
Dr. Mark Harris, Rev. Kevin Baglole, Rev. JoAnne Lam.

Synod Council Meeting - November 3-5, 2016

ESC 16-34 MSC that 10% of the latest installment of the Emily Brown estate be directed to the
National Church: $20,000 to the Praise Appeal, and $30,000 to the Reformation Challenge.

ESC 16-35 MSC that the following be elected as delegates to the 2017 ELCIC National
Convention: Lay: Gary Barling, Joanna Coombs, Maria Featherston, Charlotte Corwin and
Lawrence Lupton, and Rostered: Rev. Thomas Arth, Rev. Glenda Morrisette, Rev. Dr. Mark
Harris, Rev. Kevin Baglole, Rev. JoAnne Lam.

ESC 16-36 MSC to refer ES 16-01 to the Legal and Constitutions Committee to recommend
possible action for the Synod Council.

ESC 16-37 MSC to refer ES 16-09 to the Secretary to procure a legal opinion.

ESC 16-38 MSC that Synod Council direct the Officers to amend the December, 2007
agreement with ELFEC to incorporate recommendations by legal counsel that would
strengthen the liability firewall, conditional on ELFEC’s agreement.

ESC 16-39 MSC that Synod Council direct the Officers to apply to CRA for associated charity
status with ELFEC, conditional on ELFEC’s agreement.

ESC 16-40 MSC that the lease agreement between the Synod and Edgewood Camp and
Conference Centre be terminated effective December 31, 2016.

ESC 16-41 MSC that the Eastern Synod Council consider recommendations made by the
Membership of the Edgewood Corporation for the disbursement of assets related to the sale of
the property after the $15,000 loan repayment of November 23, 2013; the $20,600 emergency
loan of February 4, 2015; and the repayment of redevelopment funds up to the amount of
$100,000 from designated accounts.

ESC 16-42 MSC that block funding for Edgewood in the amount of $24,000 be removed from
the ES-YAYA budget for 2017.

ESC 16-43 MSC that $13,000 be used from the interest income of the YAYA Endowment Fund to
pay the insurance for Edgewood in 2017.

ESC 16-44 MSC that the Eastern Synod Council authorize the YAYA ministry director to proceed
with the decommissioning of six septic systems on Edgewood property.

ESC 16-45 MSC that authorization be given to the YAYA ministry director to list the Edgewood
property for sale in the new year.

SC 16-46 MSC that the Eastern Synod Strategic Plan 2017-2021 be adopted, subject to the

inclusion of the financial plan to be presented at the spring 2017 synod council meeting. (see
Appendix B)
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ESC 16-47 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate Elaine
Boone be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2018.

ESC 16-48 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate Albert
Romkema be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2018.

ESC 16-49 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate Chris
Krejlgaard be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2018.

ESC 16-50 MSC that the revised budgets for 2017 and 2018 be adopted.

ESC 16-51 MSC that the following people be appointed to the Youth and Young Adult
Committee for 2017: Katerina Kuhnert, Tia Oxner, Julia Wirth, Jonathan Hopkins, Emily
Wuschnakowski, Holly Lohnes, Isabel Hilgendag, Kelsey Nowlan, and Josee Ernest.

ESC 16-52 MSC that Bonnie Weppler be appointed as the Synod Council representative on the
Youth and Young Adult Committee for a one year term ending December 31, 2017.

ESC 16-53 MSC that the following people be appointed to the Candidacy Committee: Rev.
Shirley Ruller for a first term ending December 31, 2018; and James Diehl for a first term
ending December 31, 2020.

ESC 16-54 MSC that the following person be appointed to the Professional Leadership
Committee: Rev. Susan Climo for a first term ending December 31, 2020.

ESC 16-55 MSC that the following person be appointed to the Mission Committee: Jim Krats for
a two year term ending December 31, 2018.

ESC 16-56 MSC that the following be appointed to the Candidacy Committee for a second term
ending December 31, 2020: Rev. John Goldsworthy, Rudolf Michaeli, Rev. Daniela Mertz, Mark
Weingartner.

ESC 16-57 MSC that the following be appointed to the Examining Committee for a second term
ending December 31, 2020: Rev. Olavi Hepomaki, Rev. Thomas Mertz.

ESC 16-58 MSC that the following be appointed to the Mission Committee for a second term
ending December 31, 2020: Rev. Jun Gao, Rev. Sebastian Meadows-Helmer, Peggy Read,
Dorothy Frook.

ESC 16-59 MSC that the following constitutional amendments be approved for Bethany,
Woodstock:

e Constitution Article Ill (terminology); Article IV Section 2 (deletion of word “also”),
Section 2b (“Voting members are confirmed members who have received Holy
Communion and have made a contribution of record within the current or preceding
calendar year either individually or as part of a family unit.”), Section 5 (deletion of
words “it shall be”); Article VII Section 4 (deletion of words “or territory”), Section 6
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(deletion of words “after which time the Pastor may be called for renewable two year
terms”); Article VIII Section 4a (“For any duly called congregational meeting, 25 voting
members shall constitute a quorum.”), Section 4b (“In the event that, at the time and
place of the congregational meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting may be re-
scheduled for a date no earlier than two Sundays following or later than six Sundays
following and notice of the re-scheduled meeting to be done in accordance with
Section 3.”); Article IX Section 5 (addition of words “Board of” Trustees).

ESC 16-60 MSC that the following constitutional amendments be approved for St. James,
Elmira:

e Constitution Article VII Section 6 (deletion of words “the attainment by the pastor of
the age of sixty-five years, after which time the Pastor may be called for renewable
two year terms”); Article VIII Section 4 (quorum to be “Twenty-five voting members
shall constitute a quorum.”); Article IX Section 1 (reducing Council size from nine to
six, and term length from three years to two years with one half of the terms expiring
annually, no member serving more than three consecutive terms).

ESC 16-61 MSC that the following constitutional amendment be approved for Christ the King -
Dietrich Bonhoeffer, Thornhill:
e Constitution Article | Section 1 (“The name of this congregation shall be Thornhill
Lutheran Church which is located in Markham, Ontario.”).

ESC 16-62 MSC that the following constitutional amendments be approved for St. Luke’s,
Ridgeway:
¢ Amendments to update to the Model Constitution (Preamble; Article | Section 3; Article

Il d; Article IV Section 1b, 1c, Section 2a, 2b, Section 3, Section 4, Section 5; Article V
Section 2; Article VI Section 6; Article VII Section 6-2; Article VIII Section 5; Article IX
Section 1, Section 2, Section 5, Section 9); and also Article VIII Section 4 (“Two (2)
times the number of council members plus one (1) voting members shall constitute a
quorum.”); but not to include the redundant words in Article IV Section 2b (“and have
completed confirmation”).

ESC 16-63 MSC that the following constitutional amendment be approved for Grace, Rankin:
e Grace, Rankin - Constitution Article IX Section 1 (reduction of Congregational Council
size from seven to five).

ESC 16-64 MSC that the following constitutional amendment be approved for Bethlehem,
Woito:
¢ Amendments to update to the Model Constitution (Preamble; Article Il d; Article IV

Section 1b, Section 2a and 2b, Section 3, Section 4, Section 5; Article V Section 2;
Article VI Section 3, Section 6; Article VII Section 6-2; Article VIl Section 5; Section 2,
Section 5, Section 9); and Article IX Section 1 (“At its annual meeting the congregation
shall elect (by secret ballot) a Congregational Council of five members for terms of
three years each with approximately one-third of the terms expiring annually. The
members of the council must be voting members of the congregation.”); but not to
include the words in Article VIII Section 3 (“and congregational council”).

ESC 16-65 MSC that the following constitutional amendments be approved for Trinity, Windsor:
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“new” constitution (based on the Model Constitution); but not including Article IV Section 2d,
Section 5; Article VIl Section 2, Section 3, Section 5; Article IX Section 1, Section 2, Section
11.

ESC 16-66 MSC that Rev. Riitta Hepomaki be granted a three month sabbatical leave ending
August 15, 2017.

ESC 16-67 MSC that the Upper LaHave-Rhodes Corner Parish of Mount Olivet, Upper LaHave
and St. Luke’s, Rhodes Corner be dissolved.

ESC 16-68 MSC that the Northfield and District Lutheran Parish of St. Andrew’s, West
Northfield, Mount Calvary, Upper Northfield and St. James, Branch LaHave be dissolved.

ESC 16-69 MSC that the First Lutheran Community Parish of St. Luke’s, Rhodes Corner, Mount
Olivet, Upper LaHave, St. Andrew’s, West Northfield, St. James, Branch LaHave and All Saints,
Newcombville be formed, effective October 1, 2016.

ESC 16-70 MSC that the following be appointed to the Board of Directors of Lutheran Homes -
Kitchener Waterloo beginning January 1, 2017: Julie Dopko and John Neufeld for three year
terms; Bill Hett for a two year term; and Jeffrey Wong for a one year term.

Officers Meeting - January 31, 2017

(E-mail vote of December 1, 2016) MSC that the synod contribute $750 as its 2016 donation to
the Canadian Council of Christian Charities Legal Defence Trust Fund.

(E-mail vote of January 13, 2017) MSC that Peter Winkler be appointed as a director of
Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo for a three year term beginning January 1, 2017.

(E-mail vote of January 17, 2017) MSC that the synod council appoints a list of nominees as
presented by Bishop Pryse to serve on a Committee on Discipline.

MSC that the following recommendations be adopted:
e that 100% ($207,000) of the ELFEC General Operations Grant be allocated to fund the
2016 operating budget;
e that 13™ month payments be made to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary ($32,000) and Youth
and Young Adult Ministries ($9,692);
o that the ELFEC grant request from the Undesignated Gift/Bequest Fund be reduced
from the budgeted amount of $168,500 to $100,000.

MSC that the revised Strategic Plan and Work-plan be referred to the synod council for
adoption.

MSC that the synod sign the Agreement to Amend Funds Transfer Agreement conditional on
ELFEC’S agreement to sign.

MSC that the synod and ELFEC apply to CRA for associated charity status, conditional on
agreement by ELFEC.
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MSC that the Treasurer be authorized to discuss with ELFEC the possibility of ELFEC applying
for a court order that would permit Canadian Mission funds (currently restricted to supporting
new or recently established congregations) to be available to support ministry in existing
congregations.

MSC that the Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets be forwarded to legal counsel
for final review and then recommended to the Finance Committee and Synod Council for
approval.

MSC that a call to special service be renewed for Rev. Dan Phannenhour to December 31, 2017
to the Mission to Seafarers, Southern Ontario.

MSC that the Congregational Moving Expense Policy be terminated.

MSC that Richard (Rick) Ritz be appointed to the Candidacy Committee for a first term ending,
December 31, 2020.

Synod Council Meeting - April 6-8, 2017

(E-mail votes of January 17, 2017, February 27, 2017, and March 1, 2017) ESC 17-01 MSC that
a Disciplinary Committee be struck and served by those persons as presented.

ESC 17-02 MSC that Synod Assembly 2018 be held June 21-24, 2018 at International Plaza
Hotel, Toronto, and that we authorize Rev. Jeffrey Smith to negotiate and sign a contract
with the hotel.

ESC 17-03 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate Ronnie
Smith be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2018.

ESC 17-04 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Rev. Jeffrey Hosick
be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical Lutheran
Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2018.

ESC 17-05 MSC that the following special appeals be authorized for 2018:
e YAYA - Outdoor Ministry - Lutherlyn and Mush-a-Mush;
o St. Peter’s, Kitchener - CTV Television Ministry Appeal.

ESC 17-06 MSC that Ernst & Young LLP be appointed as synod auditors for 2017, the fee to be
negotiated by the synod treasurer.

ESC 17-07 MSC that the 2017 budget be revised as follows:
Benevolence income be reduced to $1,472,000;
National Convention Endowment Fund be increased to $11,000;
Professional Salaries be reduced to $306,000;
Admin Support Salaries be reduced to $164,800;
Computer Hardware/Software be reduced to $4,500;
Legal be increased to $12,000;
Auditing be reduced to $25,000.
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ESC 17-08 MSC that the “Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets” be approved.

ESC 17-09 MSC that:

a)

b)

high priority repairs to the synod office building, as identified in the 2016 building
inspection report, to a maximum of $40,000 from the “Synod Office Capital Fund” be
authorized;

the Eastern Synod request the Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada to
consider renaming the “Synod Office Capital Fund” to the “Synod Capital Fund” and
expand its permitted purpose to include funding of capital improvements and major
repairs to include all synodical building/property assets, except for the camps;
replacement/repairs to the front sidewalk at the Delton Glebe Centre, to a maximum
of $5,000 from the “Synod Capital Fund” or the “Undesignated Gift/Bequest Fund” be
authorized.

ESC 17-10 MSC that the following constitutional amendments for St. Peter’s, Wiarton be
approved as outlined:

updates to the Model Constitution (Article | Section 3; Article Il d; Article IV Section
1b, Section 2a, Section 4, Section 5; Article V Section 2; Article VI Section 6; Article VII
Section 5, Section 6-2; Article VIl Section 5; Article IX Section 1, Section 2, Section 5,
Section 9, Section 10); and all other Model instances of “ELCIC” and grammar
corrections; and further amendments Article VIII Section 4 (quorum reduced from 20 to
16).

ESC 17-11 MSC that the following constitutional amendments for St. Peter’s, Zurich be
approved as outlined:

updates to the Model Constitution (Article | Section 3; Article Ill d; Article IV Section
1b, Section 2a, Section 3, Section 4, Section 5; Article V Section 2; Article VI Section 6;
Article VII Section 6-2; Article VIII Section 5; Article IX Section 1, Section 2, Section 5,
Section 9, Section 10); and all other Model instances of “ELCIC” and grammar
corrections; and further amendments Article | Section 1 (adding “Evangelical” to name
of church), Section 3 (congregational seal); Article IV Section 2b (removal of age
restriction); Article VIl Section 2 (correct spelling of “counsel”).

ESC 17-12 MSC that that the following constitutional amendments for Thornhill, Thornhill be
approved as outlined:

Article | Section 3 - addition of paragraph (... “without purpose of gain”....); Article IV,
Section 1 and 2a - addition of phrase (...”or another congregation of a church in full
communion with the ELCIC”...); Article IV Section 2b - removal of sentence (“In order
to vote on financial and/or property matters, members must be of legal age.”); Article
IV, Section 4 - updated terms as per 2010 Model Constitution (Dismissal “Exclusion”;
Inactivity “Removal from membership roster because of inactivity”); Article IV, Section
5 - addition of sentence as per 2010 Model Constitution (“Anyone so removed shall be
given written notice of the council’s action.”); Article IX Section 11 - Addition as per
2010 Model Constitution (“The council shall declare vacant the position of any council
member whose membership in the congregation is terminated for any of the reasons
stated in Article IV of this constitution or whose status as a voting member in good
standing (cf. Article IV) has not been maintained. The council may declare vacant the
position of any council member who has been suspended from membership in the
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congregation by disciplinary action of the council (Article IV) or has been censured by a
two-thirds vote of the members of council for behaviour that is inconsistent with the
policies of the council and the congregation.”)

ESC 17-13 MSC that that the following constitutional amendments for Trinity, Windsor be
approved as outlined:

Article IV Section 2d (redundant paragraph removed), Section 5 - addition of sentence
(“Anyone so removed shall be given written notice of the council’s action.”); Article
VIII Section 2 (“Special Congregational Meetings must - not may - be called...), Section
3 (“Notice of all congregational meetings shall be given to all members and shall be
sent by hard copy or electronically ten or more days before the date of the meeting,
and be sent to each member individually to his/her last address shown on the books of
the corporation. A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given when
delivered to his or her last address or when deposited in a post office or public letter
box and a transmitted or recorded communications shall be deemed to have been
given when delivered to the appropriate communication company or its representative
for dispatch. The notice for all congregational meetings shall include date, time,
place and purpose of the meeting and shall contain sufficient information to permit
the member to form a reasoned judgement on the decision to be taken. Notice of
each congregational meeting must remind the member that the member has the right
to vote by proxy. A pastor under call shall be notified of all regular and special
meetings of the congregation.”), Section 5 (“Votes at Meetings of Members may be
given either personally or by proxy, provided that the proxy represents no more than
one Member (in addition to him/herself, if the proxy is also a Member) at such
meeting. A proxy shall be executed by the Member.”); Article IX Section 2 (“A pastor
under call shall not be a member of the Congregational Council but shall be entitled to
receive notice of and to attend and speak at all meetings of the Congregational
Council. A pastor under call shall be an ex officio member of all Board Committees.”),
Section 11 (removal of section); Article X Section 8 (“No Councillor shall place himself
in a position where there is a conflict of interest between his duties as a Councillor and
his other interests. Every Councillor who is in any way directly or indirectly interested
in or may become interested in a material way in an existing or proposed contract,
transaction or arrangement with the Church or who otherwise has a conflict of interest
by virtue of involvement with a member of his or her family (with “family” defined as
spouse, father, mother, child, brother or sister, or spouse of such family members) or
by the involvement of his or her partner, business associate or corporation that the
Councillor is involved with as either a director, shareholder, officer, employer or
agent, then such Councillor shall declare his conflict of interest fully at a meeting of
the Congregational Council and shall withdraw from any discussion or vote thereon.”)

ESC 17-14 MSC that David McKee be appointed as a director of Lutheran Homes Kitchener-
Waterloo for the three year term ending December 31, 2019.

ESC 17-15 MSC that Christine Hulan be appointed to the Candidacy Committee for a two year
term ending December 31, 2018.

ESC 17-16 MSC that Diane Karges be appointed to the Professional Leadership Committee for a
four year term ending December 31, 2020.
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ESC 17-17 MSC that the Leaves of Absence policies for Bereavement & Compassionate Care
Leave, Sick Leave - Illness and Disability Policy, and, Maternity &/or Parental Leave Policy be
approved as presented and will replace the existing policies for Emergency Leave, Disability
and Maternity/Paternity Leave.

ESC 17-18 MSC that the Salary Administration policy be approved as presented.

ESC 17-19 MSC that the Eastern Synod Health & Safety Policy, Fire Safety & Emergency
Evacuation Plan, Critical Injury Response Policy, and Workplace Anti-Violence, Harassment,
and Sexual Harassment Policy be approved and added to the Personnel Manual.

ESC 17-20 MSC that the Accessibility for People with Disabilities (AODA) Policy be approved
and added to the Personnel Manual.

ESC 17-21 MSC that the remuneration as presented for the Bishop, Assistants to the Bishop,
the half time Ministry Director and synod office staff, and honoraria for the Synod Treasurer
and Secretary and the remaining Ministry Directors be adopted for 2017, retroactive to
January 1, 2017.

ESC 17-22 MSC that the Eastern Synod issue a Call to Special Service to Rev. Jeffrey Hosick to
serve as a non-stipendiary interim minister in the Atlantic Ministry Area.

Officers Meeting - May 24, 2017

(E-mail vote of March 9, 2017) MSC that the officers authorize a supplemental salary top up to
Stephanie Clayton's short-term disability allowance as per ELCIC Groups Services Inc. policy.

(E-mail vote of March 28, 2017) MSC that Rev. Jennifer Hoover (rostered) and Julia Hilgendag
(youth) be elected as replacements as Eastern Synod delegates to the 2017 ELCIC National
Convention.

(E-mail vote of April 21, 2017) MSC that Rev. Mark Kalvaitis (rostered) be elected as a
replacement as an Eastern Synod delegate to the 2017 ELCIC National Convention.

(E-mail vote of April 28, 2017) MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that
Rev. Doreen McFarlane be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until
December 31, 2018.

MSC that Section 14 in the proposed Agreement to Amend Funds Transfer Agreement with
ELFEC that would provide ELFEC with fifteen days to remedy a breach be amended to thirty
days.

MSC that the synod and the ELCIC apply to CRA for associated charity status, conditional on
agreement by ELCIC.

MSC that the Audit results for December 31, 2016 be received, and the draft audited 2016

financial statements, subject to finalizing the Lutheran Homes: Kitchener-Waterloo 2016
financials when these become available be approved.
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MSC that a call to special service be extended to Rev. Olavi Hepomaki to serve as a synodical
interim minister, beginning July 1, 2017 for a term ending June 30, 2019.

Officers Meeting - June 23, 2017

MSC that Keith Myra and Rev. Wendell Grahlman be designated to hold title to the property of
St. John’s, Riverside Heights in trust with the synod, in order to effect the severance between
the church and the cemetery properties.

MSC that the Eastern Synod receive and hold the real property in trust from St. Paul’s,
Guelph.

MSC that the Eastern Synod would share the proceeds from the sale of St. James, Cambridge
with Lutheran Homes - Kitchener Waterloo on the understanding that LH-KW be entitled to
proceeds over and above the appraised value of the property.

Officers Meeting - July 18, 2017

(E-mail vote of May 26, 2017) MSC that Rev. Rasma Caune (rostered) be elected as a
replacement delegate for the Eastern Synod to the 2017 ELCIC National Convention.

(E-mail vote of May 26, 2017) MSC that Rev. John Jacobs be granted an additional year On
Leave from Call to June 30, 2018 in recognition of his appointment to interim ministry at St.
Paul’s, Ladysmith and Zion, Schwartz, Quebec.

(E-mail vote of May 29, 2017) MSC that the Officers accept the following quotes from Morneau
Shepell related to the valuation of the liability associated with the synod's retiree health
benefit subsidy: $6,500 for the valuation and $1,000 per year for annual updates for the
following three years.

(E-mail vote of May 30, 2017) MSC that the Sick Leave - Illness and Disability Policy be
amended to include the following addition:
d) Employees who are eligible for long term disability benefits will qualify for a
supplemental income benefit of 13% of their pre-disability income for the first eight
weeks of their long term disability.

(E-mail vote of June 3, 2017) MSC that the Eastern Synod issue a Call to Special Service to
Rev. Doreen McFarlane to serve as a non-stipendiary pastor at St. Paul's Evangelical Lutheran
Church, Niagara Falls, Ontario.

(E-mail vote of June 7, 2017) MSC that the following persons be appointed to serve as trustees
for St. James, Cambridge: Gail Cutting, Bob Schauber, Louann Brethauer, The Rev. Guenter
Dahle.

(E-mail vote of June 23, 2017) MSC that Rev. Roy Thakurdyal (rostered) be elected as a
replacement delegate for the Eastern Synod to the 2017 ELCIC National Convention.
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(E-mail vote of June 27, 2017) MSC that the Eastern Synod issue a Call to Special Service to
the Rev. Jeffrey Smith to serve as the appointed priest/pastor of All Saints Lutheran Anglican
Church, Guelph, Ontario, effective July 1, 2017.

(E-mail vote of July 10, 2017) MSC that the constitutional amendments for St. James, St.
Jacobs be approved:
e Article VIII, Section 4 - reducing the quorum for congregational meetings from 40 to 25;
e Article IX Section 1 - changing the council size from 9 members to a range of 6-9
members.

MSC that the Officers give their thanks and affirmation for the Bishop and his ministry.

MSC that the following rostered persons be granted On Leave from Call status, July 1, 2017 to
June 30, 2018:
First Year
Rev. Debra Johnston
Rev. Rebecca Klages
Rev. Gloria Ryder
Second Year
Rev. Neil Thomsen
Third Year
Rev. Peter Kuhnert

MSC that the Eastern Synod issue a Call to Special Service to Rev. Kevin McLeod to serve as a
synodical interim pastor effective July 1, 2017 until June 30, 2019.

Officers Meeting - October 3, 2017

MSC that the Officers recommend to Synod Council that the Synod ask ELFEC to consider a
grant of $250,000, an equal amount from each of the Lutheran Homes fund and Canadian
Mission funds to support Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo’s strategic initiative for a third
year.

MSC that the Officers recommend to Synod Council that the Synod ask ELFEC to consider a
grant of $125,000 and an interest free loan of $125,000 for a ten year period to support
Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo’s new development initiative from the Lutheran Homes
fund.

Synod Council Meeting - November 2-4, 2017

MSC to move the meeting in-camera.

MSC to move the meeting out of camera.

The disciplinary process that was initiated in November 2016 has been concluded through a
legal settlement.

ESC 17-23 MSC that the Nominating Committee for the 2018 Synod Assembly consist of the
Ministry Area Deans, the Ministry Directors, the Bishop and Synod Secretary.
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ESC 17-24 MSC that the Synod ask ELFEC to consider a grant of $250,000, an equal amount
from each of the Lutheran Homes fund and Canadian Mission funds to support Lutheran Homes
Kitchener-Waterloo’s strategic initiative for a third year.

ESC 17-25 MSC that the Synod ask ELFEC to consider a grant of $125,000 and an interest free
loan of $125,000 for a ten year period to support Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo’s new
development initiative from the Lutheran Homes fund, contingent upon the closing of LHKW’s
offer to purchase the property.

ESC 17-26 MSC that the synod contribute $750 as its 2017 donation to the Canadian Council of
Christian Charities Legal Defence Trust Fund.

ESC 17-27 MSC that an additional $35,000 from the Synod Capital Fund be authorized for high
priority repairs to the synod office building.

ESC 17-28 MSC that the following Assembly Policies be revised as follows:

ASSEMBLY EXPENSE REFUND POLICY

The following policy applies to clergy and lay Assembly delegates who register and pay
fees for the Assembly, and subsequently are unable to attend the entire Assembly,
provided that notice is received at least 30 days prior to the start of the Assembly:
1. The entire registration fee (less a $50 administration fee tocoverthe Bulletinof
Repeorts) is refundable.

2. Any fees paid to the Synod for accommodation and meal expenses (including the
anniversary dinner) are refundable, provided that the supplier does not charge the
Synod for unused accommodation or meals.

The Convention Manager at his/her discretion will consider requests for partial
reimbursement in exceptional circumstances that require the delegate to miss the
entire Assembly or a portion thereof.

to-be developed-ata-future date

MISCELLANEOUS PRACTICES REGARDING ASSEMBLY FEES

APPROXIMATE COST OF FUNDING SYNODICAL COMMITTEES AND TASK FORCES
Eastern Synod Bylaws (Part Ill, Section 3d) require the following:

2. Travel, meal, and accommodation expenses will vary depending on the following
factors:

e the size of the task force (obviously, it is considerably less expensive for a
group of 3-4 people to meet than it is for a group of 9-10 people)

e the proximity of task force members to the meeting location (i.e. obviously,
it is considerably less expensive if all task force members live in the same
geographic location, rather than having representation from each ministry
area conference)

¢ the number of meetings that will be required (Note that it may be less
expensive to assign the responsibility to an existing committee, rather than
creating a new task force.)
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o the length of each meeting (Longer meetings may make it necessary for
members to stay overnight)

o thedavof the week inwhich meeti ir travel spanning a Saturd

ESC 17-29 MSC that the Group Benefits policy be approved as presented to replace the existing
Group Benefits policy.

ESC 17-30 MSC that the Sabbatical policy be amended to delete the word “three” when
referring to the Assistants to the Bishop.

ESC 17-31 MSC that the Honoraria policy be deleted and removed from the manual.

ESC 17-32 MSC that the following people be appointed to the Youth and Young Adult
Committee for 2018: Nancy Hilborn, Katerina Kuhnert, Jonathan Hopkins, Emily
Wuschnakowski, Isabel Hilgendag, and Ken Grahlman (ES Rep for PCYM).

ESC 17-33 MSC that Bonnie Weppler be appointed as the Synod Council representative on the
Youth and Young Adult Committee for a one year term ending December 31, 2018.

ESC 17-34 MSC that Susan Heard, Rev. Tuula Van Gaasbeek, and David Schnarr, be appointed
to the WLS Board of Governors, Term 1, ending WLS Annual Meeting 2020.

ESC 17-35 MSC that the following be appointed to the Board of Directors of Lutheran Homes-
Kitchener Waterloo beginning January 1, 2018: Geoff Bellew and Glenn Smith for a second
three year term, and Christopher Pilliteri for a first three year term.

ESC 17-36 MSC that the following amendments be approved for the Constitution of St. Peter’s,
Kitchener:

Article VII

Section 6. 2) the retirement of the pastor;

Article VIII
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Section 3. Notice of all congregational meetings shall be given to all members and shall
be sent by hard copy or electronically ten or more days before the date of the
meeting, and be sent to each member individually to his/her last address shown on the
books of the corporation. A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given
when delivered to his or her last known address or when deposited in a post office or
public letter box and a transmitted or recorded communication shall be deemed to
have been given when delivered to the appropriate communication company or agency
or its representative for dispatch. The notice for all congregational meetings shall
include the date, time, place and purpose of the meeting and shall contain sufficient
information to permit the member to form a reasoned judgement on the decision to be
taken. Notice of each congregational meeting must remind the member that the
member has the right to vote by proxy. A pastor under call shall be notified of all
regular and special meetings of the congregation.

Article IX

Section 2. A pastor under call shall not be a member of the Congregational Board but
shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and speak at all meetings of the
Congregational Board.

A pastor under call shall be an ex officio member of all Board Committees.

ESC 17-37 MSC that the following amendments be approved for the Constitution of Trinity,
Tavistock:
amendments to update to the Model Constitution 2010 (Article Ill d; Article IV Section
1b, Section 2a, Section 3, Section 4, Section 5; Article V Section 2; Article VI Section 6;
Article VII Section 6-2; Article VIl Section 5; Article IX Section 1, Section 2, Section 5,
Section 9, Section 10); and all other Model instances of “ELCIC” and grammar
corrections;

ESC 17-38 MSC that the following be approved for St. James, Perth East:
new corporate bylaw (replacing their former Constitution);

ESC 17-39 MSC that the following amendments be approved for the Constitution of New Hope,

Sudbury:
Add the following to become Article Ill (Nature and Mission Purpose and Objectives)
Section 1:
This congregation shall be a charitable organization according to the following
objectives:

a. To preach and advance the teachings of the faith of the Evangelical Lutheran
Church in Canada and the religious tenets, doctrines, observances and culture
associated with that faith;

b. To establish, maintain and support a house of worship with services conducted
in accordance with the tenets and doctrines of the faith of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada;

c. To support and maintain missions and missionaries in order to propagate the
faith of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada;

d. To establish and maintain a religious school of instruction for children, youths
and adults;

e. To receive and maintain a fund or funds and to apply all or part of the principal
and income therefrom, from time to time, to qualified donees as defined in the
Income Tax Act (Canada); and
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f. To do all such other things as are incidental and ancillary to achieving the
above.

Move Article | Section 3 to become Article Il Section 2:
This congregation shall be carried out without purpose of gain for its members, and any
profit and other gains to the congregation shall be used in promoting its objectives.

Make the existing Article Ill to become Article Il Section 3:
This congregation is a worshipping, learning, witnessing and serving community of
baptized persons ...
a. Worship. This congregation, remembering God's mighty acts in the past, ...
b. Learning. The congregation shall develop an educational program ...
c. Witnessing. This congregation, relying on the Holy Spirit, shall proclaim ...
d. Service. This congregation shall live by faith active in love. It shall motivate ...
e. Support. This congregation in faithfulness to God shall provide leadership ...

Amend Article V Section 4:

Upon the dissolution of the congregation and after payment of all debts and liabilities,
its remaining property shall be distributed or disposed of to the Eastern Synod,
provided same is, at that time, a registered charity under the Income Tax Act
(Canada).

ESC 17-40 MSC that the following amendments be approved for the Constitution of Trinity,
Windsor:

Article IX

Section 1. At its annual meeting the congregation shall elect a Congregational Council

consisting of 6 (six) Voting Members of the Church.

1. The election of Congregational Councilors shall take place yearly and all the

Councilors then in office shall retire, but, if qualified, are eligible for re-
election.
No Councilor shall be elected for more than six consecutive years.
Upon completion of the maximum permitted number of consecutive terms on
the Congregational Council, a minimum of a one-year absence is required
before eligibility for re-election to membership on the Congregational Council is
restored.
A person may be considered for election to the Congregational Council if he or she
fulfills all of the following qualifications. The Person must:

a) Be a Voting Member in good standing;

b) Be in full agreement with the Church Constitution;

c) Be at least 18 years of age;

d) Be mentally competent;

e) Not be an undischarged bankrupt; and

f) Not hold a paid position with the Church and not enter a contract for

services with the Church

w N

ESC 17-41 MSC that the Eastern Synod issue a Call to Special Service to Rev. Dr. Dwight Biggs
to serve as Spiritual Care Leader at Royal Victoria Hospital in Barrie, Ontario.

ESC 17-42 MSC that the Eastern Synod Council recognizes the dissolution of Mount Calvary

Lutheran Church, Ottawa and approves the merger of its members and assets into Martin
Luther Gemeinde / German Martin Luther Church, Ottawa, effective January 1, 2018.
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Officers Meeting - January 26, 2018

(E-mail vote of November 26, 2017) MSC that the fee structure for Assembly 2018 be approved
as presented.

(E-mail vote of November 27, 2017) MSC that the Bishop and Treasurer be authorized to
accept the conditional offer from Jodi Dobbie, Kimberly Murphy, Ruth Knight-Bowes and
Thomas C.W. Bowes for Edgewood Camp and Conference Centre.

(E-mail vote of December 13, 2017) MSC that the Rev. Christie Morrow be appointed to serve
as the Eastern Synod Ministry Director for Youth and Young Adult Ministries effective January
1, 2018.

(E-mail vote of December 14, 2017) MSC that the second reading of constitutional
amendments for New Hope Sudbury be approved.

(E-mail vote of December 21, 2017) MSC that the vacation time carryover to 2018 for unused
days in 2017 for Stephanie Clayton be approved.

MSC that the job description for the Ministry Director of Property Transformation be approved.

MSC that the Officers recommend to Synod Council that Rev. Joel Crouse be appointed as
Ministry Director of Property Transformation for a three year term beginning January 1, 2018,
with compensation and other expenses funded through the CECF fund.

MSC that the Officers request the ELCIC NCC to explore with GSI the possibility of
implementing a centralized payroll system for synods, congregations and other ELCIC-related
organizations.

MSC that 100% ($180,000) of the ELFEC General Operations Grant be allocated to fund the
2017 operating budget.

MSC that 13th month payments be made to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary ($28,152) and Youth
and Young Adult Ministries ($7,408).

MSC that the ELFEC grant request from the Undesignated Gift/Bequest Fund be reduced from
the budgeted amount of $169,750 to $144,750.

MSC that the following people be appointed to the Mission Committee for a one year term
ending December 31, 2018: Julie Ramey and Rev. Sylvia Swiatoschik.

MSC that the Officers recommend that synod council establish the YAYA committee as a
standing committee.

Officers Meeting - March 13, 2018

(E-mail vote of February 2, 2018) MSC that Section Il of the policy for "Nominations and
Election of Eastern Synod Delegates to ELCIC National Convention” be revised as follows:
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Section Il Order of Elections

1. Nominees in each delegate category shall be elected by a single ballot, based on the
highest number of votes of the prescribed number of delegates needing to be elected.
2. If there is a tie vote between nominees for the last delegate position needed, a
second ballot will determine the final delegate(s) needed based on the highest number
of votes received.

3. Should there be insufficient nominations in any category, those vacancies shall be
filled in the same manner as outlined in Section Il of this policy.

(E-mail vote of February 9, 2018) MSC that the Eastern Synod’s Privacy Policies be updated
and revised as indicated.

(E-mail vote of February 16, 2018) MSC that the terms as outlined in the ELCIC Employment
Agreement be offered to Bishop Michael Pryse and Assistants to the Bishop, Rev. Riitta
Hepomaki and Rev. Douglas Reble.

MSC that offering proceeds from Assembly 2018 be split between the Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary Reform Campaign and Canadian Lutheran World Relief.

Synod Council Meeting - April 12-14, 2018

ESC 18-01 MSC that Keith Myra be nominated by Synod Council for election by Assembly 2018
as Treasurer of Synod for a six year term.

ESC 18-02 MSC that Rev. Wendell Grahlman be nominated by Synod Council for election by
Assembly 2018 as Secretary of Synod for a six year term.

ESC 18-03 MSC that Rev. Joel Crouse be appointed as Ministry Director of Property
Transformation for a three year term beginning January 1, 2018, with compensation and other
expenses funded through the Church Extension Capital Fund.

ESC 18-04 MSC that the Youth and Young Adult Committee be established as a standing
committee of the Eastern Synod.

ESC 18-05 MSC that a 10% ($40,000) share from the recent distribution from the Emily Brown
Estate and a 10% ($27,521) share from the proceeds of Rev. Chad Honneyman’s Insurance
policy be donated to the ELCIC according to the following: 65% to the LIFE Special Projects
Reserve, 25% to the ELCIC General Endowment, and 10% of the LWF Endowment.

ESC 18-06 MSC that the Congregational Fixed Asset Distribution Policy be approved.

ESC 18-07 MSC that the direction of the funds from the sale of the Edgewood property be
referred to the Officers to bring a recommendation back to synod council.

ESC 18-08 MSC that Amy Rebel, Jonathan Hopkins, Sydney Marshall, Ben Cameron, Isabella
Poelz, and Jonah Bruce be appointed as youth delegates to the 2018 Eastern Synod Assembly.

ESC 18-09 MSC that an extra youth person be funded to attend Synod Assembly.
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ESC 18-10 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate William
(Bill) Macintyre be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until
December 31, 2019.

ESC 18-11 MSC that pursuant upon receipt and acceptance of a call, that Candidate Leena
Jensen be approved for reception onto the roster of ordained ministers in the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada and that this approval remains in effect until December 31, 2019.

ESC 18-12 MSC that the Terms of Reference for the committee be updated in the Committee
Policy Manual.

ESC 18-13 MSC that the Compensation Schedule for Rostered Ministers, Pastoral Supply and
Interim Pastors for 2019-2021.

ESC 18-14 MSC that the agenda for Synod Assembly 2018 be adopted.

ESC 18-15 MSC that the St. Peter’s, Kitchener - CTV Television Ministry Appeal be authorized
for 2019.

ESC 18-16 MSC that Ernst & Young LLP be appointed as synod auditors for 2018, the fee to be
negotiated by the synod treasurer.

ESC 18-17 MSC that the synod’s current investment policy be replaced with the following:
The treasurer shall maintain a balance in the synod’s bank account that is sufficient to
meet projected cash flow requirements. All remaining funds shall be transferred to the
Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada (ELFEC) with the understanding
that ELFEC will own, invest, manage/administer these funds as well as consider
requests from the synod for grants from these funds as required.

ESC 18-18 MSC that the synod’s miscellaneous practices regarding assembly fees be amended
as follows:

1. The Synod will pay the registration fee and expenses for travel, meals, and
accommodation for the lay members of Synod Council (including officers) who are not
congregational delegates and for rostered ministers of Synod Council who are currently
not serving under call or appointment.

2. ..

ESC 18-19 MSC that the new constitution for All Saints Lutheran Anglican Church, Guelph be
approved.

ESC 18-20 MSC that the revised constitution and bylaws for St. John, Ottawa be approved.
ESC 18-21 MSC that the revised constitution and bylaws for St. Peter's, Alice be approved.
ESC 18-22 MSC that the revised constitution and bylaws for Grace, Rankin be approved.

ESC 18-23 MSC that the revised constitution and bylaws for Bethlehem, Woito be approved.
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ESC 18-24 MSC that the constitutional amendment for Trinity, Walkerton of Article VIII Section
4 (congregational meeting quorum reduced from 25 to 21) be approved.

ESC 18-25 MSC that the following amendments be approved for the Constitution of St. Luke’s,
Kitchener:
amendments to update to the 2010 Model Constitution (Article Il d; Article IV Section
1b, Section 2a, Section 3, Section 4, Section 5; Article V Section 2; Article VI Section 6;
Article VII Section 6b; Article VIII Section 5; Article IX Section 1, Section 2, Section 5,
Section 9, Section 10); and all other Model instances of “ELCIC” and grammar
corrections.

ESC 18-26 MSC that first reading of the following amendment of the Eastern Synod

Constitution Article VI Section 9 be recommended to Synod Assembly for approval:
Should a A congregation which-has ceased to exist or whose membership has so
diminished in numbers as to render it impossible or impractical for the congregation to
function according to its constitution and bylaws shall, the bishop of the synod shall

arrange a after consultation with any remaining members after which the synod

council may deem the congregation be-deemed-by-thissynod-te-be defunct. This
synod-through-If the congregation is deemed to be defunct, the synod council shall
appoint trustees, including where feasible fermer members of the former
congregation, who shall take charge and control of the property of said congregation to
hold, manage and convey the same on behalf of the former congregation this-syned.

ESC 18-27 MSC that the following amendment of the Eastern Synod Bylaws Part V Section 12b
be recommended to Synod Assembly for approval:
b. The Committee on Nominations shall provide the following information for each
nominee: address-oceupation; area, church/community involvement and vision for the
church.

ESC 18-28 MSC that regarding the referral of ES 16-01 to Synod Council, no further action be
taken.

ESC 18-29 MSC that the policies for Sick Leave (Personal Emergency Leave), Illness and
Disability and Family and Medical Leave be approved as presented to replace the existing
policies.

ESC 18-30 MSC that the Vacation Policy be approved as presented to replace the existing
policy.

ESC 18-31 MSC that the 2018 revised budget and budgets for 2019-2021 as presented be
recommended to Assembly 2018 for approval.

ESC 18-32 MSC that the remuneration as presented for the Bishop, Assistants to the Bishop,
YAYA Ministry Director, Property Transformation Ministry Director and synod office staff, and
honoraria for the Synod Treasurer and Secretary and the remaining Ministry Directors be
adopted for 2018, retroactive to January 1, 2018.

ESC 18-33 MSC that the following people be adopted as recipients for the Eastern Synod
Leadership Awards to be presented at Assembly 2018:
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For Lay service to the wider church - Bruce Cook;

For Clergy service to the wider church - Rev. Brian Wilker;

For Lay service to the wider community - Sherry Coman;

For Clergy service to the wider community - Rev. John Polacok.

ESC 18-34 MSC that synod council forward all eligible nominees of Synod Leadership Awards
for Ontario Volunteer Service awards.

ESC 18-35 MSC that the Policy on Deeming a Congregation Defunct be adopted as amended.

ESC 18-36 MSC that William (Bill) Macintyre be eligible to receive a non-stipendiary call to
Grace Lutheran Church, Cole Harbor, Nova Scotia.

ESC 18-37 MSC that the synod council express its thanks to the Rev. Guenter Dahle for his
service as Eastern Synod Property Consultant.

Officers Meeting - May 15, 2018

MSC that the appointments, as suggested, be made to the Assembly 2018 committees.

MSC that the 2018 Revised Budget be amended as follows:
e Mission Committee - increase “Other Sources of Funding” by $2,500
e Youth and Young Adult Ministry Committee - transfer $8,650 from “Funding From Other
Sources” to “Level 1”
e Retreats and Conferences - transfer $4,750 from “Funding From Other Sources” to
“Level 1”

MSC that we authorize extending the lease of 177 Albert Street at the existing rental amount
with Waterloo Lutheran Seminary for an additional 5 year period ending April 30, 2023.

MSC that the draft audited 2017 financial statements be adopted.

MSC that the audited 2017 financial statements be recommended for approval at synod
assembly as part of the consent agenda.

MSC that the Personnel Policy amendments be adopted as presented.
MSC that ESC 18-34 be rescinded.

MSC that Bishop Pryse is authorized to effect the Memorandum of Understanding with Wilfrid
Laurier University (Archives) for a term of ten years ending in 2028.

MSC that a payment of $3,600 per year for a five year period be authorized beginning in 2019
for archival services with Wilfrid Laurier University (Archives).

MSC that the following rostered persons be granted On Leave from Call status, July 1, 2018 to
June 30, 2019:
First Year
Deacon Pam Harrington
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Rev. Mark Kalvaitis

Rev. JoAnne Lam

Rev. Christie Morrow-Wolfe
Second Year

Rev. Rebecca Klages

Rev. Gloria Ryder
Third Year

Rev. Neil Thomsen
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Appendix B

STRATEGIC PLAN
2017-2021
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Vision for Mission

God calls the whole church through the Gospel to be engaged in mission in response to the
needs of others, celebrating what God has done and continues to do through us. Relying on the
gifts of the Spirit, we will develop ministries that will inspire and equip us to care for others
through the mission work of the synod, ministry areas, congregations, synodically recognized
ministries and specialized ministries. As members of the Eastern Synod, we will help one
another to embrace our vocations as ministers of the Gospel.

Context

Organization Structure

The Eastern Synod is one of five synods within the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada
(ELCIC), which is a member of the Lutheran World Federation.

The Eastern Synod is comprised of 191 congregations and 49,147 baptized members. Each
congregation has its own constitution and bylaws and is governed by a Church Council.

The Eastern Synod is governed by Synod Council who are the directors of the corporation and
trustees of the Synod, and are elected at Synod Assembly. Synod Council is comprised of the
Officers of the Synod (Bishop, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary, Treasurer), 6 rostered and 6 lay
members.

The Eastern Synod holds a biennial Synod Assembly, the delegates to which are all active
rostered members of the Synod, as well as (generally) one lay delegate from each congregation,
members of Synod Council, and six youth delegates.

Financial Structure

Financially, within the ELCIC, all expressions of the church (congregation, synods, national) are
operated through one offering plate: individuals give to and through their congregations;
congregations give through and to their synods; synods give to and through the National Office;
the National Office gives to and through the wider expression of the church.

Since the ELCIC’s formation in 1985, congregational receipts have generally kept pace with
inflation. In this time period, however, the number of congregations has decreased, as have
baptized membership and worship attendance. Local ministry is consuming an ever-larger share
of congregational receipts, reducing the amount of money that is sent to the Synod and the
National Office.
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Environmental Scan

In developing this Strategic Plan, many leaders across the Synod were consulted through
interviews (one-on-one and group), an on-line survey, and in small group discussion.

The topics were wide-ranging, and a combination of both qualitative and quantitative feedback
was received.

Strengths

The Synod is praised for its support of the ELCIC and the effect that this has on helping the
Synod community to feel connected to the wider church. The work of Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary (WLS) and the Synod’s role in its achievements is also a source of pride for the
synodical community.

The Synod does an excellent job of providing support for congregations, and lay and rostered
leaders. Public policy, stewardship, and worship resources are particularly valued, as is the
provision of workshops. Communications are an important aspect of this support.

Generally speaking, the Synod is seen to do a good job of ministry for youth and young adults.
The delegation of decision-making to the Youth and Young Adult Committee is seen as both a
strong tactical approach for this ministry, and also as a means of leadership development.

The Synod is seen to have a strong working relationship with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in
Jordan and the Holy Land (ELCJHL), although many are unsure why this is important to the life of
the Synod.

Weaknesses

The Synod is criticized for being reluctant to make critical decisions. This relates primarily to
stopping some ministries rather than let them drain resources, both financial and human.

Some in the community would like to see more support from the Synod on training and
education. Some Ministry Area Teams feel that they have received excellent training, but others
do not feel as positive about this. As the Synod is still “growing into” the Ministry Area
structure, this is understandable at this point in time. A number of participants in the
consultations felt that the Synod could do a better job in providing continuing education for
both lay and rostered leaders, although history says that when this has been provided,
attendance has been very poor.

While there is acknowledgement that the Synod does a good job of trying to match the right
rostered leaders with the right ministries, many feel that the Synod and the community do not
do a good job of identifying candidates for ministry.

Women’s ministries have become an extension of the old Evangelical Lutheran Women (ELW)
which was discontinued several years ago. The impetus to keep these going is seen as being
locally driven, rather than supported by the Synod.

As mentioned above, most of the work within youth and young adult ministry is well-regarded.
There is, however, concern that not all three camps are viable going forward. There is also some
criticism of campus ministry, although those directly involved acknowledge that it is very vibrant
ministry, but not done in the same way that some remember from past decades.
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Many do not understand why the Synod has a Global Mission Companion relationship with the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Guyana (ELCG). And most do not value work that is done in the
areas of witness and evangelism.

Opportunities

While the relationship between the Synod and Waterloo Lutheran Seminary is widely valued,
financial support from the Synod has been committed one year at a time. WLS would be in a
better position for its own decision-making if a longer term agreement was developed with a
clear funding plan.

It is well-recognized that not all existing congregations are going to continue to be viable going
forward. There are opportunities for the Synod to provide assistance with the process by
providing resources in the form of palliative care, and assistance with disposition of real estate
and other assets.

As Ministry Areas are a relatively new means of doing ministry in the Synod, there is seen to be
an opportunity to build further momentum in the places where they are doing well, and to
assist those that are struggling to determine how they can or cannot be more effective in their
contexts.

The demographic reality of the Synod is that new churches are not being formed. There are
opportunities for the Synod to look at new forms of ministry, expanding on the model of
thirdspace_, and developing other synodically recognized ministries. This is particularly
important for members of the community (primarily young members) who want a deeper, more
meaningful experience of church than they feel in most congregations.

Threats

The primary threat for the Synod is that there are insufficient funds to continue to financially
support all of the existing programs. Difficult decisions must be made in order to safeguard the
assets of the Synod for whatever the future church will be. At the same time, there is a risk of
disengagement of members, particularly younger members, who don’t want to continue to “do
church” in the same way that it has been done.

There is a significant risk of a drain on resources if assets are mismanaged in closing
congregations. There are opportunity costs associated with assets being undervalued,
underutilized, or used inappropriately.
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Strategic Goals
Relying on the gifts of the Spirit, we will develop ministries that will inspire and equip us to care
for others through the mission work of the Synod, ministry areas, congregations, synodically
recognized ministries and specialized ministries.

1. Provide Vision, Leadership and Support to the Synodical Community

2. Develop Capable Leaders

3. Connect the Synodical Community with the Wider Church through Effective Partnerships

4. Live as a Healthy Synod

Note: All references to “congregations” should be considered to mean congregations,
specialized ministries, and synodically recognized ministries.
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Goal 1: Provide Vision, Leadership, and Support to the Synod Community

This goal involves setting the direction for the synod and its congregations, as well as
support for congregations.

Strategies:

1. Interpret and express the ELCIC vision within the territory of the Eastern Synod.

2. Provide support for congregations

a.
b.
C.

Physical presence with congregations.

Facilitate the call process.

Develop and offer training for congregational leadership through retreats,
conferences and workshops.

Initiate and support new forms of Ministry, including but not limited to
synodically recognized ministries.

Provide financial support for congregational ministries that qualify for available
funding.

Proactively encourage congregations who are at a crossroads to intentionally
consider all options, ask the hard questions, and act decisively when determining
future direction.

Provide financial and other support for Ministry Area Deans.

Provide resources to assist in ministries such as worship, youth, generous giving,
and women’s ministries.

3. Provide synodical leadership and resources in support of social justice initiatives.
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Goal 2: Develop Capable Leaders

This goal encompasses training for rostered and lay members, the relationship with
Waterloo Lutheran Seminary, and identification and support of candidates for ordained
and diaconal ministry.

Strategies:
1. Identify, recruit and train candidates for rostered leadership.

2. Provide for the theological formation of lay and ordained leaders at Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary.

3. Provide support for lay and rostered leaders.
a. Develop and deliver training at retreats, conferences and workshops.
b. Provide pastoral leadership, care, and counsel.

4. Support the work of Ministry Areas to broaden the effectiveness of ministry at the local
level.
a. Provide ongoing training for Ministry Area Leadership Teams.
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Goal 3: Connect the Synod Community with the Wider Church through Effective

Partnerships

This strategic goal encompasses the partnership with the ELCIC, Global Mission
Companion Programs, CLWR, ecumenical and faith-based partnerships.

Strategies:

1. Support the work of the ELCIC.

a.

b.
C.
d

Provide financial support to the ELCIC.

Promote ELCIC Reformation Challenge.

Elect candidates for the National Conventions and pay their registration fees.
Provide names of Synod members to nominating committees for election to
ELCIC bodies such as National Church Council, Group Services Inc., Program
Committees, etc.

Nominate members for appropriate ELCIC task forces and ad hoc working groups.

2. Strengthen the importance of Global Mission Companions to the work of the Synod.

3. Work through and with partners to promote social justice in Canada and the world.

4. Maintain and nurture ecumenical and faith community partnerships to broaden the
effectiveness of the work within the Synod community.

a.

b.

Work closely with the ELCIC’s full communion partner, The Anglican Church of
Canada and its dioceses within the synod to share ministries, leadership and
resources.

Work with other ecumenical partners and faith communities to further our
understanding of each other and to work together as appropriate to further
God’s work.
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Goal 4: Live as a Healthy Synod

This goal is aimed at ensuring a spiritually and organizationally healthy structure that
encompasses effective communications, good governance practices, sound financial
stewardship and strong, mutually accountable relationships.

Strategies:

1.

Model good governance and spiritual maturity in the Synod’s legislative processes
and actions.

Effectively communicate the accomplishments, opportunities, and challenges of the
Synodical community.

Encourage generous financial support for the Synod, ELCIC and wider Church

amongst individuals and congregations.

a. Develop and implement materials, workshops, events and programs for Resource
Development throughout the Synod.

b. Encourage lay and rostered leaders to develop a culture of generosity within
their contexts.

Ensure responsible management of real estate assets across the Synod.
a. Establish a policy for disposition of assets when congregations disband.

Honour the Synod’s commitments as articulated within the Covenant Concerning the
Life and Ministry of the Eastern Synod and encourage all congregations to do
likewise.

Appreciate and nurture the Synod’s rostered leaders through the provision of fair
compensation, effective pastoral care, counsel, and opportunities for leadership
development.

Appreciate the abundance of financial gifts and assets that have been entrusted to
the Synod and explore all available means to use them most effectively.

Ensure the Strategic Plan is a living document.
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Appendix A
Covenant Concerning the Life and Ministry of the Eastern Synod, ELCIC

The days are surely coming, says the LORD, when | will make a new covenant with the house
of Israel and the house of Judah. Jeremiah 31:31

Our competence is from God, who has made us competent to be ministers of a new covenant,
not of letter but of spirit; for the letter kills, but the Spirit gives life. 2 Corinthians 3: 5-6

Preamble

The Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, its synods and congregations have been engaged
since 2011 in a process of structural renewal. During this same period our National Bishop,
Susan Johnson, has called on members of our church to engage in a process of personal spiritual
renewal.

This historic moment of regeneration in the life of our church provides a timely opportunity to
renew the promises made when congregations first came together, more than 150 years ago, to
create our synod.

The Synod and its congregations are committed to ministry together for the sake of God’s
mission in the world. Our common purpose is the work that marks us as “a church in mission for
others” — namely the things we do together that we could not do on our own.

Our covenant with each other is grounded in a promise that we all make to God and to the
world. We commit ourselves to be a biblical, confessional, gospel-centred church which is open
and welcoming to all people, and participates respectfully and constructively in the lives of the
communities of which we are a part. This document makes clear the cooperative basis of our
relationship. It affirms that we are a covenant people.

In this covenant, we acknowledge and affirm our determination to remain accountable to one

another in the ways stated, and to call each other to account when the reality does not live up

to the promise. We declare our commitment, with God’s help, to live in a renewed relationship
with each other. Our covenant is not of letter, but of life-giving spirit.
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As the Bishop and Synod Council of the Eastern Synod, ELCIC, we promise that we will do the
following.

With respect to Communication with congregations, we will:

1.
2.
3.

© Nk

Be honest about the condition and circumstances of the church in all of our dealings;
Listen respectfully to what congregations are saying;

Consult with congregational leaders, as appropriate, on matters that affect synodical or
congregational life;

Keep congregations informed of news and developments that are relevant to them;
Communicate synodical initiatives to congregations, and explain how they can help;
Provide timely responses to requests for information from congregations;

Be transparent in financial reporting to congregations and members;

Use methods and technologies that are both efficient and effective.

With respect to Mission and ministry, we will:

1.

Provide public leadership in society and in situations which are beyond the capacity of
congregations to address at a local or area level;
Sustain the theological integrity of the church in a challenging and creative way.
Provide leadership, support and direction to congregations, ministries and rostered
ministers when expressions of the church are developing, declining, restructuring or
dying;

o Provide training and support for lay leaders;

o Inspire, equip and assist congregations to engage in ministry beyond their local

community.

Ensure that our programs address current issues and remain relevant to current
conditions in our mission context;
Provide education and support to ministry candidates and continuing education to
rostered ministers;
Act within approved budgets to provide staff, programs and resources for identified
priorities.

With respect to Ministry vacancies, we will:

1.

Be honest and fair in assessing the needs of congregations and the capabilities of
rostered ministers;

Recommend interim pastors and assist congregations in finding an appropriate rostered
minister when a vacancy occurs.
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As a congregation of the Eastern Synod, ELCIC, we promise that we will do the following.

With respect to Communication with the Synod, we will:

1.

w

Keep the bishop and synod staff informed of all relevant developments in the
congregation;

Be honest about our condition and circumstances;

Remain respectful in relationship, even when we disagree;

Respond to requests for information and reports in a timely, accurate and reliable
manner;

Meet deadlines for remittances and registrations;

Strive to use available methods and technologies that are both efficient and effective.

With respect to Communication with our members, we will:

1.
2.
3.

Educate and inform our members about the Synod and all expressions of the wider church;
Share specific information with our members when requested to do so;

Forward requests for information to the appropriate individual or group so they can
respond on our behalf;

With respect to Direction and leadership of the Synod, we will:

Participate in programs offered by the Synod that benefit congregational ministry;
Participate in collective, collaborative ministry that involves the wider faith community,
and offer leadership when appropriate.

Listen to and act on direction from the Synod, particularly in times of financial difficulty,
membership decline, leadership vacancy, or congregational conflict;

With respect to Synodical governance, we will:

Send delegates to Synod Assembly and pay the congregation’s share of their expenses;
Ensure that delegates have opportunities to discuss agenda issues with the congregation
both before and after Assembly;

Empower delegates to participate in Assembly debates and, after consideration of all
points of view, vote as their conscience dictates;

Be governed by the decisions made at Synod Assemblies on matters affecting
congregational life.

With respect to Financial support of the Synod, we will:

1.

w

Provide funding for the administrative structures and common ministry programs of the
wider church;

Ensure that our financial support is both generous and proportional to our capacity to give;
Remit payments on a regular and timely basis;

Increase our giving proportionately when increases to the synodical budget are
approved by the Synod in Assembly.
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defunct. The synod through the Synod Council shall appoint trustees, including where
feasible former members of the congregation, who shall take charge and control of the
property of said congregation to hold, manage and convey the same in behalf of this
synod.

This Eastern Synod policy, Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets, applies to those
congregations that are nearing the end of their lives but have not yet disbanded or been
declared or deemed defunct. As this is a difficult time in the life of such congregations, it is
often challenging for the relatively few members still remaining to make decisions that allocate
any remaining assets according to sound stewardship principles and in accordance with
regulations and legal requirements. In these situations it is important that any decisions
concerning remaining assets be given ample consideration so that these congregational legacies

are best used to carry out the mission of Christ’s Church into the future.
Principles

1. From atheclogical perspective, the national church, the Eastern Synod and its congregations
carry out ministry in partnership as one.

2. The Eastern Synod will provide guidance and exercise its influence to ensure that the
decisions that are made regarding the disbursement of congregational assets follow the
constitution, bylaws and enactments of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada
(“ELCIC"), the Eastern Synod and the congregation, as well as legal and regulatory
requirements, intentions of original donors and sound stewardship of these assets for

strengthening the mission of Christ’s Church.

Congregational Requirement to Provide Notice

This policy requires that a congregation experiencing one or more of the following conditions
shall notify the Bishop if it:

a) Is considering disbanding or formally winding up its operations
b) Finds itself in diminished numbers (active members and/or finances) such that its
continued operations have become impractical or unduly burdensome
c) Has been unable to:
a. Hold regular congregational council or board meetings
b. Hold an Annual General Meeting, or elect the required number of council
members/directors

c. Meet corporate or income tax filing or other legal obligations

Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets Page 2
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d) Is considering disposing of 25% or more of its assets, including real property
e) Is considering transferring assets outside of the ordinary course of business, other

than by way of transfer to the Eastern Synod

Congregations That Are Planning to Disband

In the case of a congregation that is planning or has formally decided to disband or dissolve, the
congregation shall notify the Eastern Synod and the assets of the congregation remaining after
the liquidation of property and payment of liabilities (the “Net Assets”) shall be transferred by
the congregation to the Eastern Synod in accordance with the applicable law and regulations,
thus creating a legacy that enables seeds that were sown in a local setting over many years to

be spread, continue to grow and bear fruit in the form of synodical and national ministries.

For legal and regulatory reasons, to ease the transfer of the Net Assets and to reduce expenses
to the congregation, it is preferred that the transfer of the Net Assets to the Eastern Synod shall
take place prior to the formal disbhandment or dissolution of the congregation. However, the
transfer of the Net Assets to the Eastern Synod may also take place at the time of, or after,
disbhandment or dissolution. The Eastern Synod will provide guidance concerning any legal or

accounting advice that may be required.

This policy includes options available to a congregation to bestow a portion of this legacy to
other ministries of the Eastern Synod/ELCIC or in the local community, as provided below:

Where the Net Assets exceed $100,000.00, and subject to the applicable tax and other
laws and regulations, the Net Assets shall be distributed as follows:

1. Although not obligated to do so, the congregation may transfer up to 10% (to a
maximum of $50,000) of congregational Net Assets remaining at closure to:
a. One or more congregations or other ministries of the Eastern Synod or ELCIC; or,
b. One or more local registered charities,
as determined by a two-thirds majority of the then remaining members of the
conhgregation in a vote taken at a meeting to be called for that purpose {which must be
before or a part of the decision to disband, but may be decided at the same meeting),

provided that the general intentions of the original donors are respected.

2. Although not obligated to do so, the congregation may transfer up to 40% (to a
maximum of $500,000) of congregational Net Assets remaining at closure to the
Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada (ELFEC), (the “ELFEC Transfer”).
ELFEC shall maintain a separate fund for the ELFEC Transfer for a five year period during

Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets Page 3
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which time ELFEC shall invest the principal and make the investment income available
for disbursement to:
a. One or more ministries of the Eastern Synod or ELCIC; or,

b. One or more local registered charities.

This decision shall be determined by a two-thirds majority of the then remaining
members of the congregation in a vote taken at a meeting to be called for that purpose
{which must be before or a part of the decision to disband, but may be decided at the

same meeting).

The congregation may appoint a local mission committee consisting of at least three and
no more than five of the members of the congregation following the decision to disband
who shall be elected by the then remaining members of the congregation at a meeting
to be called for that purpose (which must be before or a part of the decision to disband,
but may be decided at the same meeting) and shall serve for a period of five years. This
committee shall be responsible for recommending recipients of grants to congregations,
other ministries of the Eastern Synod or ELCIC or local ministries to the Eastern Synod’s
Mission Committee and respecting the general intentions of the original donors to the
{(by then disbanded) congregation. The Eastern Synod’s Mission Committee shall be
responsible for approving these recommendations and requesting ELFEC to make these
grants after confirming that they comply with applicable regulatory, legal and policy
requirements.

The ELFEC Transfer shall be transferred to the Eastern Synod for general use in

accordance with its constitution, bylaws and enactments:

a. If membership of the local mission committee decreases to less than three of the
original members; or,
b. Atthe end of the five year period.
Normally the Eastern Synod will allocate these funds to the principal of the
Remembering for the Future Fund, the income of which is used to support the Eastern

Synod’s operating budget that funds its ongoing ministries.

3. All other congregational Net Assets remaining at closure shall be transferred to the
Eastern Synod for general use in accordance with its constitution, bylaws and
enactments. Normally the Eastern Synod will allocate these funds to the principal of the
Remembering for the Future Fund, the income of which is used to support the synod’s
operating budget that funds its ongoing ministries.
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Where the Net Assets do not exceed $100,000.00, and subject to the applicable tax and
laws and regulations, the Net Assets shall be distributed as follows:

The congregational Net Assets remaining before or at closure shall be transferred to the
Eastern Synod for general use in accordance with its constitution, bylaws and
enactments. Normally the Eastern Synod will allocate these funds to the principal of the
Remembering for the Future Fund, the income of which is used to support the synod’s

operating budget that funds its ongoing ministries.

Congregations That Amalgamate, Merge or Consolidate®

For congregations that amalgamate, merge or consolidate with another Lutheran congregation,

all assets belong to the amalgamated/merged/consolidated congregation.

Special Situations

1. Special considerations may be applied in the case of congregations that that received a

significant amount of funding from the Eastern Synod or national church in previous years

(e.g. Canada Mission grants).

2. Special considerations may be required in the case of a specific purpose charitable trust

fund or endowment fund is held by the congregation in order to ensure that trust or

endowment requirements are satisfied.

Considerations

Congregations are encouraged to consider the following questions when determining which

ministries to support (refer to items #1 and #2 in the section “Congregations That Are Planning

to Disband” above:

Has the congregation supported this cause during its existence?
Would such a grant align with the missicn of the congregation?
What impact would such a grant have on the receiving organization?

Are there existing Lutheran charities that do similar work? (e.g. CLWR)

* CRA defines these terms as follows on its website:

Amalgamation - When charities amalgamate, they bring their memberships, assets, and liabilities into the
entity that emerges. The original charities do not cease to exist or dissolve.

Merger - In a merger, one or more entities wind up their affairs and transfer their assets to another
registered charity.

Consolidation - In a consolidation, all the original bodies dissolve and transfer their assets to a new entity.
All the original bodies that wind up undergo a voluntary revocation of their registration.
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s Would the relationship with the proposed recipient charity work in a reciprocal way?
(i.e. if it was the recipient charity that was closing {and not the congregation), might it

consider including the congregation as part of its legacy?)

Adopted: Eastern Synod Council - April 2017
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6. Next, the item may be offered to the donor (or surviving family members) to remove it
from congregational property, at no cost to the congregation.

7. Next, the item may be offered to other members of the congregation to remove it from
congregational property, at no cost to the congregation.

8. Finally, failing all else, the items shall be managed and disposed of in a responsible and
respectful manner.

Adopted: Eastern Synod Council - April 2018
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. Year 2018 Year 2019 Year 2020 Year 2021

Years Ordained/Consecrated (includes COL A3)
6th year after . 42,840 43,654
ordination/consecration

7th year after . 43,516 44,343
ordination/consecration

8th year after . 44,202 45,042
ordination/consecration

oth year after . 44,886 45,739
ordination/consecration

10th year after 45,569 46,435
ordination/consecration

11th year after 46,255 47,134
ordination/consecration

12th year after 46,939 47,831
ordination/consecration

13th year after 47,622 48,527
ordination/consecration

14th year after . 48,305 49,223
ordination/ consecration

15th and all subsequent years 48,990 49,021

after ordination/consecration

Rostered Ministers receiving more than the minimum should receive an increase at least

equal to the COLA.
Salary beyond base

An amount in addition to the base salary figure should be considered to affirm the
rostered minister’s ministry. Other factors to take into account include additional
theological education, or other relevant experience, skills or responsibilities.

To determine the appropriate amount of additional salary, it would be beneficial to
dialogue in a small group represented by a cross-section of people in the congregation
committed to mutual ministry,

It is recommended that each congregation have a mutual ministry committee. Resources
for this committee are available from the Synod Office.

The final salary, including the base plus additional amounts, should be approved by the

congregational council.

Prorated expenses

Salary and certain benefits are prorated to a rostered minister’s call with a given

congregation. Please check with GSI regarding enrollment and remittance requirements
under the pension and benefits plan it sponsors. Should the rostered minister accept a call
to another congregation, the calling congregation will reimburse any expenses paid on a

prorated basis to the congregation which the rostered minister formerly served.

3COLA for 2019 is set at 1.9%.
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Housing

Adequate housing is provided as part of the compensation package either in the form of
congregation-owned housing {parsonage) or a housing allowance. Synod policy states that
this housing allowance should be equal to the costs of renting accommodations similar to
a parsonage, including utilities, in that area.

“The costs of renting accommodations similar” can best be determined through
consultation with a local real estate agent.

“Utilities” is considered to include heat, electricity, water and sewage, and basic phone
and internet service.

Housing allowance is prorated for those serving less than full time, but not less than 65%.
However, when a rostered minister is called to more than one congregation, the housing
allowance is apportioned between the congregations.

When the congregation provides a housing allowance, the actual amount the rostered
minister may claim as a Clergy Residence Deduction is determined by Canada Revenue
Agency (CRA). To request an exemption from withholding income tax deductions on the
amount eligible for the Clergy Residence Deduction, the rostered minister must submit a
Letter of Authority to CRA in September of the previous year, using the calculation from
form T1223E part C, to determine the exempt amount for the following year. CRA will
confirm with the employing congregation via a Reduction of Income Tax Deduction at
Source letter.

Each congregation is encouraged to offer the housing allowance in lieu of congregation-
owned housing. Congregations where the rostered minister has served for ten or more
years and still lives in congregation-owned housing should consider re-evaluating their
present housing arrangements.

Congregations should pay housing allowance to rostered ministers residing in a
congregation-owned home and charge rent, in order for the salary to be fully insured
under Group Benefits Plan sponsored by GSI.

An equity allowance shall be provided if the rostered minister lives in a congregation-
owned house, including a congregation-owned house rented by the rostered minister. Each
year the congregation should provide a determined amount, which is not below $1,843" as
a housing equity allowance.

Other Expenses

Congregations or employing agencies will cover the expenses for rostered ministers to
attend synod conventions.

Moving expenses

When an official call is extended to a rostered minister, the rostered minister and
congregation negotiate what professional moving service will be used. The moving
contract should include minimum safeguards for the rostered minister’s furniture and
personal belongings against loss or damage.

*The housing equity figure has been updated to take into account a COLA of 1.9%.
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Schedule for Permanent Part-Time Rostered Ministers

Congregations which are employing rostered ministers on a permanent part-time basis are
required to negotiate a compensation package which clearly includes consideration of
those elements (Salary and Housing, Professional Expenses, Pension, Eligible Benefits, and
Other Expenses) which are considered in a full time call.

Schedule for Interim Rostered Ministers

Congregations which are employing rostered ministers on a full-time, interim basis will
provide remuneration (salary, housing, and eligible benefits) as per the Schedule for
Rostered Ministers.

Congregations which are employing rostered ministers on a part-time, interim basis will
provide remuneration on the following terms:

1) Sunday Supply will be according to the Schedule for Pastoral Supply.

2) The hourly rate will be $40.00 /hr, beginning the time that the rostered minister
leaves his/her home. (This does not apply to Sunday supply, ref. no 1.)

3) Source deductions (income tax, CPP, and El) and applicable deductions for plans
sponsored by GSI must be made and a T4 issued.

4) Interim Rostered Ministers serving less than 12 months should receive vacation pay
(4% on all earnings) or negotiated vacation time.

5) Those serving on a long-term (12 months or more) part-time interim basis will
receive continuing education and book allowances and a pro-rated paid vacation
(based on an average of the previous 12 months’ earnings) according to
harmonized compensation guidelines.

6) For travel expenses, refer to harmonized compensation guidelines.

Schedule for Pastoral Supply

One service: $200 plus mileage plus other remittances (ELCIC pension, El), if applicable®.
Two services in the same congregation/parish: $300 plus mileage plus other remittances
(ELCIC pension, El}, if applicable®.

For travel expenses, refer to harmonized compensation guidelines.

*Check with GSI to determine if the supply rostered minister is a member of the GSI
Pension Plan.

In addition to any required GSI pension remittances, source deductions for the employee

and employer portions of Employment Insurance are applicable. A T4 must be issued at
the end of the year.
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Similar provisions are contained within the Constitution of the Eastern Synod.

This document concerns itself with the first part of the process that concludes with the
congregation being deemed defunct by the Synod and the appointment of trustees.

III. Definitions

According to legal and general-purpose dictionaries:
¢ Deem means “consider something as having certain characteristics;” “adjudge,
decide or conclude.”
¢ Defunct means “having finished the course of life or existence;” “no longer living,
existing or functioning.”

Therefore the subject of this document is a process by which the Synod may adjudge,
decide or conclude that a congregation is no longer living or functioning in accordance with
the Synod Constitution or the constitution and bylaws of the congregation.

v. Rationale

The process of decline that can set in as congregational membership diminishes can create
appreciable risks (the “Risks”). There is the unfortunate possibility that Risks can create
serious consequences for the Synod, and by extension, for all other congregations that
share in its well-being.

Risks may include the following:

1. Governance
Small organizations, including small congregations, can inappropriately be
controlled by small groups or factions that have objectives that are not consistent
with the objectives and values of the congregation and its constitution and bylaws,
the Synod, the Synod Constitution or the ELCIC.

2. Financial
a. Enduring assets could be inappropriately encumbered or converted or used
to pay current obligations, resulting in a reduction of resources available for
transfer to future generations of the church.

b. Potential liabilities may be created that may lead to claims against the Synod,
for example:
i. An unsafe building or property could result in personal injury leading
to lawsuit;
ii. Poor employee relations could resultin claims for wrongful dismissal;
iii. Poor governance practices could result in division and strife among
members and factions, leading to litigation.
iv. Creditors may pursue the Synod for unpaid debts and obligations.

3. Reputational

Decisions could be made and actions taken that would bring the name of the Synod
and/or ELCIC into public disrepute.

For the congregation and the Synod, deeming a congregation defunct is an important risk
management option.

Deeming a Congregation Defunct: Policy and Procedures Page 2
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V. Criteria for deeming defunct

Any decision to deem a congregation defunct must be based on a determination that it is
“impossible or impractical for the congregation to function according to its constitution and
bylaws”. For guidance, those requirements from the new Model Constitution and Bylaws
for Congregations are summarized below. In the event a congregation has not adopted the
most recent Model Constitution and Bylaws for Congregations, the requirements for a
congregation shall be the materially equivalent provisions of the congregation’s
constitution and bylaws and, if there are no materially equivalent provisions, then the
provisions of the most recent Model Constitution and Bylaws for Congregations shall apply.

While failure to function according to one of the criteria listed below may evidence that a
congregation is defunct, deficiency in any one area may not, by itself, dictate that a
congregation will be deemed defunct. Similarly, deficiency in any one area may be sufficient
to dictate that a congregation will be deemed defunct. Each situation will be determined by
its own circumstances.

The Synod Council, upon reviewing the findings of the Commaittee described at Section IV
below and the criteria listed below, may deem a congregation defunct if it determines that:

¢ There is a pattern of deficiency with respect to one or more of the criteria listed
below, or any other circumstance or situation, and as a consequence,

e There is the reasonable likelihood of one or more Risks.
A. Purpose and Objectives (Article III)

1. Failure to demonstrate that the congregation is “a worshipping, learning,
witnessing and serving community of baptized persons”. Article III goes
on to prescribe what the congregation must do to fulfill its mission in
each of those areas.

B. Relationship to the Wider Church (Bylaws Part IV, Sections 2 and 3)

1. Failure to participate in Synod assemblies, meetings, gatherings and
events.

2. Failure to provide benevolence offerings commensurate with the
congregation’s overall financial situation, according to Synod-wide
norms.

C. Self-Governance

1. Failure to maintain current and accurate records of membership (Bylaws
Part ], Sections 2 and 5).

2. Failure to conduct congregational meetings in accordance with such
requirements (Bylaws Part VI) as pertain to:

a) Timing
b)  Proper Notice
c) Quorum
d) Voting
3. Failure to maintain proper relationships with the rostered minister or
other employees, including, but not limited to, the responsibilities defined
by Article VII, Sections 5 and 6:

Deeming a Congregation Defunct: Policy and Procedures Page 3
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a) Theletter of call and /for employment agreement
b}  Pension plan requirements
¢} Employment statutes and requlations

4. Leadership (Bylaws Parts VII and VIII)
Failure to ensure the election and proper functioning of the Congregation
Council and Officers, including, but not limited to, the requirements for:

a) Termsand term limits
b}  Duties of office-holders
¢}  Orderly meetings

D. Finances (Bylaws Part VIII, Section 4)
[nability to provide:

1. Current and accurate financial statements upon request.
2. Accurate past financial statements for up to 7 years upon request.

3. Evidence of appropriate controls on financial transactions, including
separation of functions.

4. Adequate insurance coverage for property and persons (Bylaws Part VII,
Section 11 k).

5. Adequate maintenance of building and property, including, but not
limited to, ensuring the safety of people using or visiting the premises and
proper maintenance of assets.

6. A sustainable financial plan, and evidence that current, and reasonably
projected, future performance is achieving the plan.

VI. Process

1. Where there is a reasonable belief by the bishop that a congregation may meet
the conditions set out in Article VI, Section 9 of the Synod Constitution, the
bishop shall appoint a consultative committee of three people (the “Committee”),
and a staff member of the bishop’s office to provide guidance and support to the
Committee. Members of the Committee shall be independent from the
congregation.

2. The bishop shall notify the congregation in writing that a Committee has been
appointed in accordance with this Policy and the reasons therefore. The bishop
shall invite the pastor and any remaining members of the congregation to make
written submissions of reasonable length and in a timely manner to the
Committee.

3. The Committee shall make reasonable efforts to confer with the pastor and any
remaining members of the congregation to gather information relevant to the
functioning of the congregation as outlined in this Policy and the criteria listed
above.

4. The pastor and members of the congregation shall cooperate with the
Committee with respect to the disclosure of all information requested by the
Committee.

Deeming a Congregation Defunct: Policy and Procedures Page 4

6-62



Report of Synod Council

5. Atthe conclusion of its consultation, the Committee shall report its findings to
the bishop in writing. The Committee report shall include a copy of the written
submissions, if any, of the pastor and any remaining members of the
congregation.

6. The bishop shall report the Committee’s findings, along with the bishop’s
recommendations, if any, to the Synod Council in writing. The bishop’s report
shall include a copy of the Committee’s report and a copy of the written
submissions, if any, of the pastor and any remaining members of the
congregation.

7. The Synod Council may, on the basis of the Committee’s findings and the
bishop’s recommendations, deem the congregation defunct, or make such other
determinations or directions as it sees fit in the circumstances (the “Council
Decision”). The Synod Council shall identify the basis for the Council Decision in
a written report.

8. The bishop shall notify the congregation in writing of the Council Decision,
enclosing a copy of the Synod Council’s written report.

9. The congregation may, within thirty (30) days of the date of the notice sent by
the bishop, make a written request with reasons to the Synod Council for a
review of the Council Decision. The Synod Council shall provide a copy of the
written request for a review to the bishop, who may provide a response in
writing, with a copy to the congregation.

10. Upon consideration of the congregation’s request for review and the response of
the bishop, if any, the Synod Council shall make a final determination of the
congregation’s status or make such other determinations or directions as it sees
fitin the circumstances (the “Review Decision”). The Review Decision shall be
final and it shall not be subject to further review or appeal.

11. If the Council Decision or Review Decision includes a determination that the
congregation is defunct, the Synod Council shall appoint trustees, including,
where feasible, members of the former congregation, with authority to deal with
the congregation’s property in accordance with Article VI, Section 9 of the Synod
Constitution.

Adopted: Eastern Synod Council - April 2018
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Reports of Standing Committees and Ministry Directors

Section 7 - Reports of Standing Committees
and Ministry Directors

Report of the Mission Committee
Committee Roster
Dorothy Frook, Rev. Jun Gao, Rev. Stanley Johnstone, Jimmy Krats,
Rev. Sebastian Meadows-Helmer, Bishop Michael Pryse,
Julie Ramey, Peggy Read (Chairperson), Rev. Sylvia Swiatoschik

Once again the Mission Committee received many creative mission applications for grant monies
which are generously provided by our forebears in the National expression of the ELCIC through
the CECF, as well as Synodical funds and some special bequest monies.

We continue to support several mission congregations which are doing ministry in traditional
ways, others through community outreach and exploration, and some in truly “non-traditional”
ways.

Other congregations are reaching out to children through music, VBS, playschool, inner city teen
programs, seniors’ social activities and subsi dies, refugee travel and outdoor opportunities.
Addressing food injustices in our communities is af ocus for more than half a dozen
congregations.

In February, Bishop Pryse and | had the opportunity to spend two days at a retreat centre in
Winnipeg with Mission Committee members of each Synod and CECF and National Church staff.
The generous funding of our synodical mission initiatives for the past several years has come, in
part, from the interest generated by CECF funds. Our mission for this meeting was to determine
whether we felt our Synods were using the funds wisely in the adaptive challenge and change
which was set out for us in 2015. There was a lot of very good discussion, soul-searching and
honesty, but above all hope and energy that came from the feeling that we have been on a slow
but steady journey of change, and that we would like the funding to continue for a little longer.
Change comes slowly and we asked for the opportunity to continue the journey.

At our spring 2018 meeting we will be visiting with three congregations with whom we enjoy
significant funding partnerships. In accordance with the Eastern Synod’s Strategic Plan priority to
identify new forms of ministry, we will also be meeting with representatives of the Diocese of
Toronto to learn more about their experience of the Fresh Expressions initiative. We will
continue to seek additional learning opportunities during the coming triennium.
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Long Term
Partnerships
Total $133,900

Short Term
Partnerships
Total $100,110

o]
Total $20,000

2017 Mission Support Summary

Westside Barrie

Rhenish Markham Programs
Rhenish Markham Support
St. David's Orillia Support

Good Shepherd Barrhaven

Various requests

thirdspace_ Waterloo Mission

Atlantic Inshallah

St. John's Augsburg Journey to Enlightenment
St. James Baden Website

St John's Bonnechere Journey to Enlightenment
Grace Eganville Soul Café

St. Peter's Kitchener TV Ministry

Trinity Village Kitchener

Opening Minds through art

Montreal

Reformation 2017

Nith Valley

Shared Youth Worker

Peace Ottawa

Partnership through Communication

Zion Pembroke

Three Parts

Zion Philipsburg

Promo 1.0

Christ the King, Thornhill

New name, new face

St. Paul Chinese Unionville

Sunday Children’s Services & Choir

Mt. Zion Waterloo

Mt. Zion Café (seniors)

St. John's Waterloo

Rebranding

Trinity Ayton

Community Ecumenical Service

Mt. Zion Waterloo

Open Sesame Preschool

St. David's Orillia

ICAN Teen Cooking

St. David's Orillia

Route 66

Trinity Walkerton

Refugee Sponsorship

Mt. Zion Waterloo

Refugee Travel

Lutheran Homes Kitchener

Support Impoverished Seniors

St. Paul's Magnetawan

Welcoming the Stranger

Westside, Barrie

Strategic Planning

St. John's Arnprior

Children's Snack Pack Program

Holy Trinity Belleville

Addressing Food insecurities

St. Philip's Etobicoke

St. Philip's Good Food

Grace Hamilton

Grace Good Food Box
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St. Mark's, Kitchener Community Ministry
St. David's Orillia Free Community Breakfast
CECF Two Rivers Six Nations

Total $100,000 | St.John's Hamilton Mission Outreach
First, Toronto transformation@first
Total of all 2017 Grants $254,010
ClI=Compassionate Justice
Initiative

CECF=Church Extension Capital
Fund - Synodical Mission
Initiatives

2018 Mission Support Summary

Congregation Project
Long Term

Partnerships | Barrie, Westside Ministry Support

Total $219,350 | Guelph, All Saints Community Market
Kitchener, St. Peter's TV Ministry
Markham, Rhenish Programs & Support
Nepean, Good Shepherd Barrhaven | Bud Club
Orillia, St. David General Funds
Trinity Village Support for Seniors
Waterloo, Mount Zion Open Sesame Preschool
Toronto, First Congregational Reboot
Unionville, St. Paul Chinese Pastoral Service
Waterloo, thirdspace_ Alternative Worship Community

Short Term

Partnerships | Cambridge, St. Peter's Website Development

Total $32,275 | Cambridge, St. Peter's Ministry/Business Plan
Cambridge, St. Peter's Home Hospice Assn
Chesley, St. Mark's Godly Play
Elmira, St. James Website Development
Kitchener, St. Stephen Food Fun & Faith
Magnetawan, St. Paul's Movie Nights
Morrisburg, South Dundas Newborn Necessities
New Hamburg, Trinity Response to 94 Calls to Action
New Hamburg, Trinity/Nith Valley Discovery: A Comic Lament
Orillia, St. David Website Redevelopment
Orleans, Resurrection Adult Day Care Program
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cll
Total $18,000

CECF
Total $58,000

Owen Sound, Our Saviour

Bible Camp Outreach

Pembroke, Zion 3 Parts
Peterborough, Christ Kids Klub

Sault Ste. Marie, Zion Sewing Room
Sudbury, St. Matthew's Wednesday Café

Upper Northfield, Mt Calvary

Community Sign Board

Waterloo, St. John

Local Advertising

Whitby, Christ the King

CTK Day Camp

Windsor, Trinity

Prayer Scarves

Montreal, St. John's

Food Justice Ministries

Arnprior, St. John's

Children’s Snack Program

Belleville, Holy Trinity

Addressing Food Insecurities

Etobicoke, St. Philip's

Good Food Market & Box

Kitchener, St. Mark's

Community Ministry

Orillia, St. David

Free Community Breakfast

Orillia, St. David

Route 66- Youth Program

Waterloo, Mount Zion

Seniors Social Outreach

St. John's Hamilton

Mission Outreach

Two Rivers

Six Nations

Total of all 2018 Grants

$327,625

ClJI=Compassionate Justice
Initiative
CECF=Church Extension Capital

Fund - Synodical Mission Initiatives

Report of the Candidacy Committee
Committee Roster
Jim Diehl, Rev. John Goldsworthy, Christine Hulan, Rev. Philip Mathai, Rev. Daniela Mertz, Dr. Rudolf
Michaeli, Dr. Mary Joy Philip, Rev. Douglas Reble, Rick Ritz, Rev Shirley Ruller,
Rev. Heather Spencer-Stoltz, Mark Weingartner (Chairperson)

The Candidacy Committee (CCOM) is responsible for determining the readiness of individuals to
enter the candidacy process and be gin theological education, for endorsing candidates for a
specific roster of the church, and forwarding a final evaluation of each candidate’s qualifications
and readiness for the ministry to the Synod for the use of the Examining Committee.

We continue to strive to adapt our process to accommodate more individualized programs of
study. Our process is generally as follows:

» Each student must complete a registration package and psychological evaluation prior to
having a structured interview with members of the committee.

» Based on this information and the results of the first interview a decision is made
regarding endorsement for study.
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» The candidates receive an annual review and endorsement as they work toward
internship. At the end of the process, recommendation is made to the Examining
Committee.

= Generally, a student will meet three or four times with CCOM and receive three
endorsements while they are in the candidacy process. These endorsements are based
upon written materials provided by the candidates themselves, evaluations provided by
contextual education supervisors, clinical pastoral education supervisors and internship
supervisors, as well as interviews with CCOM and input from the seminary.

= At the beginning of the process each student is assigned a relator to act as a liaison
between the committee and the student. The relator’s role is to help the student
understand the endorsement decision and answer any related questions.

In 2018, CCOM will begin to use the new Candidacy Manual which was developed by the Program
Committee for Leadership for Ministry (PCLM) of the ELCIC. The National Church Council
approved this new manual at their September 2017 meeting.

A small Recruitment Task Force, a subcommittee of CCOM, meets a few times annually to discuss
how Synod and current pastors can support individuals exploring ministry as a vocation. Task
Force Members include Rev. Katherine Altenburg, Laurie Knott, Rev. Doug Reble, and myself.

| am grateful for the participation of all committee members. | am particularly appreciative of
the leadership and guidance offered by the Rev. Doug Reble, Assistant to the Bishop and our
faculty liaison, Dr. Mary Joy Philip.

We ask for your prayers for all of our candidates for ministry.

Report of the Examining Committee
Committee Roster
Rev. Olavi Hepomaki, Rev. Dr Allen Jorgenson, Uli Kuebler
Rev. Thomas Mertz, Bishop Michael Pryse (Chairperson), Norma Yau

The Examining Committee is constitutionally mandated to “examine candidates for ordination or
for reception from other churches with whom mutual recognition of ministry has not been
established and to present recommendations to the synod council.”

The committee’s examination process consists of two components, one written and the other
oral, and is designed to fulfill the following statement of purpose:

e To explore one’s vocation to the pastoral ministry;

e To reflect on pastoral identity and practice with a view to integrating identity and
practice;

e To review and affirm responsibilities and commitments basic to the pastoral office.
In fulfilling this mandate during the past biennium, the committee has examined 8 candidates
and subsequently recommended the endorsement of those eight candidates for ordained

ministry. A record of those persons who have been endorsed can be found in the Report of Synod
Council.
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Report of the Professional Leadership Committee
Committee Roster
Rev. Riitta Hepomaki, Rev. Susan Climo (Chairperson),
Diane Karges, Kathryn Smith, Ellen Wolfe

The overall mandate of our Synod’s Professional Leadership Committee is to:

e prepare guidelines for the compensation of professional leaders;

e research, recommend and encourage continuing education opportunities for professional
leaders in consultation with the seminary;

e advise on matters related to the financial, vocational and physical needs of professional
leaders;

e be responsible for the synodical support of institutional chaplaincies.

Leading into this year’s Assembly, our principal undertaking was the development of the Synod’s
Compensation Schedule for Rostered Ministers, Interim Pastors and Pastoral Supply for 2019-
2021. The format of this document was fundamentally revised to reflect a shift in our church’s
understanding and appreciation of the role and value of diaconal ministers; all rostered persons,
both ordained and consecrated, are now to be compensated using the same formula as presented
in the schedule. This shift was welcomed by the committee.

The Synod Compensation Schedule, along with the national document from GSI “Employers
Compensation Guideline (Excluding Salary Scale) For Rostered Employees of the ELCIC” provide
all the information needed as congregations establish how they will remunerate any rostered
persons serving in their midst.

Following Assembly, our committee will shift its focus to the topic of continuing education. We
hope to partner with the seminary in developing some form of listing or directory of various
educational opportunities for rostered ministers. Our hope is that such a resource would support
diaconal ministers and pastors in their quest to continually learn, develop new skills and enrich
their leadership capacities as they serve in our Synod.

| am most grateful to all the committee members for their faithful work; thanks also to Pastor
Riitta for her diligent support, to Keith Myra for generously sharing his subject matter expertise
on financial / CRA issues.

Respectfully submitted,

Pastor Susan Climo
Committee Chair

Report of the Public Policy and Service Ministries

Ministry Director
Rev. Katherine Altenburg

As Director of Public Policy and Service Ministries, my understanding of this position grows as |
learn more about advocacy and policy-shaping, and as | continue to serve as a r esource person
for the justice work of our Synod. It is a privilege to witness to the efforts of our ministry areas
and our congregations in this justice work. It is a privilege to see the courage and willingness to
be a church increasingly visible in the public or common space. The Church in the Public Space, a
document published by the Lutheran World Federation (LWF), says this of church: “The call to
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neighborly love is an intrinsic part of Christian life. It is the vocation of the individual believer
just as it is the vocation of the church as the community of believers. It leads the church into
public advocacy and stewardship.”" This is the call and vocation in which we engage - together -
in the common spaces for the common good.

A couple of emphases over the past biennium:

e The Biennium Reconciliation Initiative (BRI) Task Force continues its work and | am very
grateful for my colleagues (Rev. Janaki Bandara, Rev. Rosalyn Elm, Rev. Phil Heinze,
Deacon Scott Knarr, and Sherri Wilker) and for the steps we as a Synod have undertaken
toward reconciliation and right relationships with First Nations peoples. As the Ministry
Area Deans have reported - relationship and working with First Nations partners is
happening and is of vital importance as we move into a new future. Last Assembly, Chief
Ava Hill from Six Nations of the Grand River, charged us to work ‘with’ and not ‘for’ -
always remembering to partner from the beginning, wherever possible, with First
Nations partners. Though too many to list here, | have seen the efforts of “working
with” - from a Lenten series using the Mennonite resource Quest for Respect: The
Church and Indigenous Spirituality; working with Indigenous partners directly for an
installation service; with and in a ministry area Reformation commemoration; continued
learning through Kairos’ Blanket Exercises; gathering spaces of healing circles and
Grandmother’s Teas; music programs and educational plays. Our promise to live into
reconciliation with First Nations peoples is underway as we live out the Truth and
Reconciliation Commission’s 94 Calls to Action.

e In Canada, more needs to be done to address the 4.9 million people who live in
poverty.? As a Synod, we urge our provincial and federal governments to eliminate
poverty and its high social and financial cost. In 2017, the federal government began an
online public consultation process around a Canadian Poverty Reduction Strategy from
February to August. Individuals were encouraged to participate in this public
consultation to inform and push the federal government to reduce and eliminate poverty
in Canada. We continue to partner with advocacy groups across our Synod for fairer
labour laws, increased minimum wages, better financial support for affordable housing,
and extended mental health and addictions services. In 2017, our Synod was a signatory
to the Faith Leaders Statement on $15 and fairness (http://isarc.ca/faith-leaders-
statement/).

There is much service ministry and advocacy for just governmental policies to be done: for First
Nations and Se ttler relationships, poverty, climate change, refugees and i mmigration, racism,
addictions and mental health. But we never do it alone. We, who have been liberated by God’s
grace to be neighbour, continue to learn, to grow, and to reach out with compassion for a just
society and world.

Thank you, Synod family, for your ongoing ministry and your commitment to publically witness to
the love of God in Christ.

! The Church in the Public Space, LWF, p.26
? Citizens for Public Justice, WWW.cpj.ca
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Report of Stewardship and Resource Development Ministries
Ministry Director
Jeff Pym

Generous Giving Practicum

In October 2016 the Synod hosted a2 -day event for 60 pastors, diaconal ministers and
seminarians. The focus was on helping rostered leaders to nurture a culture of generous giving in
a community of faith.

By all measures the practicum was a smashing success. Post-event feedback from participants
included the following comments:
“Fantastic!” “Awesome.” “Excellent.” “Outstanding.”
“l have come away with a refreshed appreciation for the theological underpinnings of
talking about money.”
“Thank you a million times! This was an outstanding use of my continuing education
time and | truly do appreciate the generosity shown us by the synod. This is sacred
ground and holy work. Thanks be to God!”

In response to the question “If we had another event like this one, would you recommend it to a
colleague?”, 92% of the participants said “definitely.”

Congregational Leadership Workshops
Throughout the past biennium Pastor Riitta Hepomaki and | have offered a program called “Apple
Tree”, which focuses on the topic of mission:

o What do we mean by mission?

e What is the mission to which God has called our congregation?

¢ What creative new things can we do with the gifts God has given our congregation?

In the past two years we have presented the workshop in the Georgian Bay, GTA East, GTA West,
Niagara, Ottawa Valley, Seaway, Thames and Two Rivers Ministry Areas. In coming months we
will be in the Northern Area, with the hope that dates can be arranged in other areas as well
before the end of 2018.

Pr. Riitta and | also visited a num ber of congregations who had r equested help because of
distress around declining membership or financial resources.

Benevolence Task Force
Bishop Pryse, Keith Myra, Pr. Riitta Hepomaki and Pr. Doug Reble and | meet several times each
year to discuss benevolence giving and other topics related to congregational ministry. In each of
the past two years we have planned and mailed out:
e Fair Share giving letters encouraging congregations to be generous in benevolence
giving,
e Thank you letters expressing the Synod’s appreciation for benevolence offerings
received,
e Our Ministry Story, a brief portrayal of the Synod’s ministry in words and pictures.

7-8



Reports of Standing Committees and Ministry Directors

In addition, we coordinated a project to review and revise the annual Parochial Report that each
congregational pastor is responsible for submitting to the ELCIC national office. The result is a
considerably shortened report that is in place for reporting on 2017.

Finally, we spent significant amounts of time preparing draft policies and procedures related to
congregational closings. These covered: how congregational assets, financial and other, are to be
distributed when a congregation closes; and how and when to declare a congregation defunct.

Grant-writing Workshop

In the fall of 2018 we plan to offer a workshop for congregational leaders on where to find
government and foundation funding programs and how to apply for grants. If the first program
proves successful, we will consider offering it in other regions of the Synod.

Synodical Covenant
At the 2012 Assembly we introduced the “Covenant Concerning the Life and Ministry
of the Eastern Synod, ELCIC.” In the years since then we have encouraged congregations to study
the document and adopt a motion authorizing their Council and officers to sign the covenant on
their behalf.
As of February 28, 2018, when this report was written, the results for congregations are as
follows:

Returned a signed covenant: 100

Declined to sign: 9
No reply 82
Percentage signed: 52.4%
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Report of the Worship Ministries
Ministry Director
Debbie Lou Ludolph

Within this worship ministry, synod has w orked in partnership with congregations (providing
guidance and r esources), Waterloo Lutheran Seminary (worship discussions, and t he Kanata
Centre), and the Program Committee for Worship (ELCIC). As a c ommunication tool, the synod
website worship page has provided information on worship resources, conferences, and worship
events within the synod and abroad. Thank you to Kathryn Smith for her contributions to this
website work and the role she plays in representing the synod on the Program Committee for
Worship.

As the Director of Worship Ministries, much of my time is spent planning and reflecting with
worship teams and modelling worship that embodies spirited discipleship through worship at
Assembly and Waterloo Lutheran Seminary events. In addition, supporting worship and m usic
workshops, advising pastors and congregations on contextual possibilities, and par tnering with
other ministry areas to point to or develop resources for worship is a significant part of this work.
In 2017, | also contributed to the planning and execution of a number of Reformation events,
including travelling with Inshallah on behalf of synod and se minary to lead workshops and
worship in the Atlantic Area.

The worship budget supported the purchase of 100 copies of the Sing the Circle Wide songbook to
be used at synod events, asw ell as MD iv students attending the Liturgy Canada worship
workshops, and sponsoring a Music that Makes Community event in June 2017.

Report of Women'’s Ministries
Ministry Director
Cathy Calvin

I’ve often heard it said that “Behind every successful woman is a tribe of other successful women
who have her back.” | don’t know who said it, but it could not be truer for me in my role as
Women’s Ministry Director. These last two years | have been blessed with a bevy of women who
do indeed “have my back.” | would be remiss in not mentioning them to you: Linda Mittleholtz,
Dorothy Frook, Pauline Deunch-Miller, Heather Rundstedtler, Melissa Sayer, Seija Hyhko, and Inga
Nelson. | also had the pleasure of welcoming Pam Radunsky and Brenda Dimoff to the fold in
2016 as well.

With my team behind me, we had a very successful retreat in May of 2017. H.U.G.S - Helping Us
Grow Spiritually, was held May 26™-28" at the beautiful Kempenfelt Conference Centre in
Innisfil, Ontario (outside Barrie). It was an exhilarating, spiritually fulfilling weekend. Throughout
the weekend we enjoyed a campfire and singing at the lakeshore; a variety of workshops, and
lively entertainment on Saturday evening. Some took the opportunity to experience the Pearl of
Life Prayer Walk on the glorious grounds. Some took part in Tai Chi or found their artistic self in
painting. A bible study and a he aling touch presentation gave opportunities for learning. We
enjoyed the varied speakers retained for the weekend who kept us engaged with messages that
held relevance in our lives. Ruth Smith Meyer challenged us to reflect and Brenda Byers amused
us with her phenomenal story-telling. Sherry Lawson, Administrator of Heritage Services,
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Culture, from Chippewa of the Rama First Nation shared moving stories of her experience with
the struggles of native women. Chaplain Pastor Ann Anderson engaged all of us in meaningful
worship throughout the weekend. Plans are in the works for the next retreat in May 2019 “Joy in
the Journey” being held in Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario.

In 2015 we were all challenged by the ELCIC to give generously towards the Reformation
Challenge initiatives. Women’s Ministry took on the tree planting and we have raised (to the end
of 2017) $5,166.20 with our “Toonies for Trees” campaign. This money was to have been split
equally between the endeavor with CLWR in Ethiopia and the planting of trees in Jordan and the
Holy Land. We also heard of other efforts as well that women encouraged in their congregations
to enhance the neighborhoods around their church. All in all, a very successful endeavor indeed.

Our Women’s Ministry Scholarship for participants in the Christian Studies and Global Citizenship
program is doing quite well. We appreciate any of the women’s groups who continually support
this ministry with their offerings. We should be able to offer two scholarships this year which will
be awarded in the fall.

In 2015 we received a grant from the Women of Faith Fund to sponsor workshops to be presented
by the Women’s Ministry team. To date, we have completed five of the “If You Plant a Seed”
workshops around the Synod. We also expanded the program to offer a full day retreat which has
worked out beautifully. We are in the process of developing a different workshop to offer the
women in the synod in 2019. Learning opportunities are few, so we feel this is the least we can
do to offer more opportunities for learning and spiritual growth for all women throughout the
synod.

Report of the Youth and Young Adult (YAYA) Ministries

Ministry Director
Rev. Christie Morrow-Wolfe

Have you ever found yourself at the end of a dock on a warm, summer’s night, gazing up at the
starry sky, wondering how you could feel so small in God’s vast universe, but yet so connected at
the same time? Have you ever left the isolation of cramming for finals to receive grace in the
form of a home-cooked meal, camaraderie with other students and perhaps an exam care-
package to get you through? Have you ever attended a confirmation class because your parents
made you do it, only to find a whole new group of friends with whom you also get to hang-out at
camp in the summer? Have you ever boarded a bus with 60 of your closest friends to travel to the
site of a National Youth Gathering where you join around 900 more of your friends from across
the country?

Over the past two years, the Eastern Synod Youth and Young Adult Committee (ES-YAYA) has
continued to fund many congregational and Synod initiatives aimed at providing rich, meaningful
and faith-filled experiences for youth and young adults. These include our camps, a variety of
campus ministry initiatives, a weeklong confirmation camp (and mid-winter retreat), plus several
other area and congregational events. Youth and Young Adult Ministry is a vibrant and active
ministry within the Eastern Synod.

The ES-YAYA Committee continues to meet a couple of times per year (and as necessary). Our
meetings take place electronically which is cost-efficient and al lows for a diverse number of
voices regardless of where they are located in the Synod. We are committed to continue funding
creative and m eaningful initiatives that support youth and young adult ministry. Our funding
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meeting takes place in October. Applications will be available on the Synod website for funding
for the 2019 calendar year by July 1st. The deadline to apply is September 15™. Please be in
touch if you have a program or idea you think falls within the scope and mandate of ES-YAYA. We
would welcome conversation with you.

The Church Reformed and Ever Reforming ...

A couple of big changes took place over the past biennium. First of all, the difficult but
necessary decision was made to close Camp Edgewood. This was and is still painful for many, but
true to our Lutheran heritage, we are a church reformed, ever reforming. While Edgewood may
no longer exist as a physical space, its legacy remains in all those who have been touched by the
ministry that took place there. At the time of writing this report, a serious offer is on the table
for the property. This offer includes the donation of a significant portion of the property to a
local conservation authority. The wishes of Edgewood voices have been heard by our Eastern
Synod Council. Edgewood will be born again as something new, and for those of us who walked
the grounds and spent part of our summers in the wonders of God’s creation in that place, we
too will carry the Edgewood legacy forward to further discern what God is already doing and to
see how we might be a part of that.

Another big change saw the retirement of the Rev. Joel Crouse as Ministry Director for ES-YAYA.
We thank Joel profusely for his fun, formational, dedicated ministry with this portfolio for the
past ten years and we wish him well on his next adventure. Thank you so much, Joel, for your
guidance, patience and hard work! Well done, good and faithful servant!

Future Plans ...

Looking ahead, the ES-YAYA is in the beginning phase of doing a little bit of rebranding. We
would like to see a major overhaul of our web-presence to provide the youth, young adults,
leaders and pastors in our Synod with a consistent, safe and healthy online gathering place to
share ideas, resources and opportunities, and to build community.

The ES-YAYA would also like to expand our thinking somewhat to include the support and nurture
of children and young families in our mandate. We would all love to see more children and young
families involved in our churches, so how do we support them during this unique time of life? We
are beginning to explore this question by pulling together a “think tank” of sorts of people who
have a passion for children’s ministry and / or those who find themselves worshiping with young
children on a regular basis and wonder (in a panicked-filled way) about what to do when the
snacks run out after the first hymn! The Patricia Watts Endowment Fund has been established to
provide funding specifically for children’s ministry, and we will look for creative ways to use
these funds to better support the children in our midst and those who love and care for them.
We look forward to seeing where these conversations will take us.

In addition to these initiatives, the ES-YAYA committee is also committed to continue to draw
the circle wide by fostering relationships with youth, young adults and their leaders throughout
the Synod, but also across the ELCIC, the ELCA, the global communion of Lutherans, and
ecumenically as well. We recognize that we are better together and we would like to seek ways
to be in relationship and form effective partnerships with those who are all working towards the
same goal - to share the Gospel by being God’s hands and f eet in this world. Additionally, we
would also like to move forward by being cognizant of those voices among us who are typically
under-represented and under-utilized. How do we continue to draw the circle wide so that those
on the margins are given a seat and voice at the table? What does it truly mean to be neighbour?
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It’s a challenging time to be the church, but it’s also an exciting time. We are thankful to belong
to a church and a Synod that takes support of youth and young adults seriously and is committed
to ensuring that ministry, whatever it may look like, is sustainable for the future.

God bless us as we serve together!
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Financial Reports

Section 8 - Financial Reports

Report of the Treasurer

Treasurer
Keith Myra

Although faced all too frequently with the prospect of budget deficits and the need for budget
cuts, as treasurer | am often reminded that as a synod we have been richly blessed with
financial and other resources. As you will see from reviewing the synod’s financial
statements, such was the case once again over the past biennium!

To your congregational leaders and members: Thank vou for your support of our partnership
in mission! '

Key Initiatives

In addition to the treasurer’s usual activities, | am pleased to report a number of other
notable accomplishments over the past biennium:

+ Through Leaders’ Edition, a quarterly synodical communication for congregational
leaders, guidance was provided on various financial matters. Subject matter included
financial considerations when sponsoring refuges, audit requirements for
congregations, pre-authorized remittances, considerations when managing restricted
funds and cemetery ownership and operational requirements. Many of these items are
posted on the synad web-site.

s Led by the Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada {ELFEC) and in
partnership with the synod, a successful application was made to the Superior Court of
Justice to remove several restrictions on three “Canadian Mission” bequest funds that
will permit increased flexibility when expending these funds in future years.

= Action was taken to strengthen the liability firewall between the synod and ELFEC.

e The Benevolence Task Force continued to determine direction and provide oversight
for a number of benevolence and stewardship issues. A major deliverable was a new
Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets that was subsequently communicated
to each congregation.

e The first of several consultations between the synod and Waterloo Lutheran Seminary
was held to share financial projections between these two institutions.

¢ The synod office building was inspected and a detailed report outlining future required
repairs was prepared.

» | continue to enjoy accepting invitations to visit congregations to share the story of the
synod’s ministry and how this is supported through congregational benevolence
offerings.

tn accordance with CRA requirements, the Registered Charity Information Return (T3010) for
2016 was filed prior to the June 30", 2017 deadline. Work on the 2017 return is currently in
progress and will be filed after the audit currently underway is complete.

2016 Financial Overview

Note that in the 2016 & 2017 Financial Overview sections, income and expenditures are
reported on a cash flow basis, consistent with how the operating budget was set. As such
these amounts may differ somewhat from those reported in the audited financial statements.
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Although income for the synod’s operations in 2016 fell short of budget, underspending in
several areas resulted in a modest year-end surplus (~-57,000).

2016 Financial Summary ~ Actual Budget Variance
Total Income _ | _ §2,598,479 52,732,620 -$134,141
Total Expenditures $2,591,475 $2,732,620  -5141,145
Surplus /Deficit =~ =~ " '47.004  $0  $7,004

2016 Income Summary

On an overall basis, 2016 income was $134,000 less than budgeted. Given several “one time”
contributions to benevolence in 2015, the budget for 2016 anticipated a 1% decline.
Unfortunately, the decline was actually 2%, resulting in a shortfall of almost $15,000. Most of
the remaining income shortfall was attributable to a reduced need to request grants from
several funds held by the Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada (ELFEC) due to
under-expenditures in several areas of the budget.

ELCIC grants totaled over $172,000 during the past year and received a significant boost from
special $100,000 grants that were made available from the national church’s Church Extension
Capital Fund {CECF) in each of 2015 and 2016.

INCOME Actual Budget Variance
Benevolence Offerings 51,458,021 51,473,000 -$14,979
ELCIC Grants N _ $172,693 $170,693 $2,000
ELFEC Grants $727,466 S8_33,527 -$106,061
Rent/Services $53,076 $50,900 82,176
Assembly/Retreat Registration Fees $149,304 $156,575 -$7,271
Individual Donations $14,900 $33,500 -$18,600
Other $23,021 $14,425 58,596
Total . 82,508,481 $2,732,620 -5134,139

2016 Expenditure Summary

As depicted in the following chart, the synod’s operating budget funds a variety of ministries
in Eastern Canada. Furthermore, through the offerings that we forward to the ELCIC, we also
fund ministries in other areas of Canada and the rest of the world.

Total expenditures in 2016 were approximately $141,000 under budget. These under-
expenditures were primarily attributable to efficiency savings that were realized during the
year or ministry programs that were budgeted for 2016 but that for different reasons didn’t
progress to the extent originally anticipated.

As has been the case for many years now, the synod met in full its commitment to the

National Church ($387,100, representing a $3,800 (1%) increase over 2015) and its
commitment to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary ($416,000).
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| EXPENDITURES Actual Budget Variance
ELCIC $387,100 $387,100 S0
Waterloo Lutheran Seminary $416,000 $416,000 50
Mission Committee 5427,973 $444,550 -516,577
Youth & Young Adult Ministries $149,709 5145,320 -5211
Candidacy Committee 524,075 531,000 -56,925
Professional Leadership Committee 5102 5200 -598
Stewardship & Resource Development 561,418 $71,500 -$10,082
Communication 523,267 §23,200 567
Ministry Director Programming $11,790 $21,800 -$10,010
Office of the Bishop $16,392 526,400 -510,008
Salaries and Professional $5697,485 $712,650 -515,165
Office §122,305 $143,350 -521,545
Retreats $46,080 540,000 $6,080
Synod Council 516,155 $21,150 -54,995
Ministry Area Programming 523,188 $42,000 -518,812
Subsidies - Moving & Retiree Health Ins 855,772 $69,000 -513,228
Assembly $112,664 $132,300 -§19,636
Total Expenditures $2,591,475 $2,732,620 -$141,145

Syned staff compensation continued to be carefully controlled while ensuring that employees
were fairly compensated. In addition to salaries, benefits and other expenses associated with
compensating synod employees, other areas of the budget that received significant amounts
of financiat support during 2016 included:

s Canadian Missions: Over $400,000 was granted to thirty five different congregations
and other organizations to help fund a variety of creative and impactful outreach
initiatives.

e Youth and Young Adult Ministry: - $150,000 was allocated to support the synod’s
camps, campus ministries in seven locations in Ontario, Quebec and Nova Scotia and
half a dozen other ministry programs targeted for youth and young adults across the
synod. .

» Synod Assembly 2016: ~ $112,000

» Office Expenses - As has been the case in recent years, the $122,000 costs asscciated
with running the synod office (e.g. utilities, maintenance, mailing, office supplies,
insurance, auditing, legal, computer hardware/software/networking and other similar
types of expenses) were fully covered by income that is earned on invested funds that
were generously donated by our parents and grandparents many years ago. As a result,
rather than paying for office infrastructure, the offerings that are given to
benevolence are directly support the synod’s “on the ground” ministries.

Other 2016 Financial Activities

During the year the synod received $500,000, the fourth instalment of an unusually large
unrestricted bequest. In accordance with pre-existing synodical policy, ten percent of each
instalment was gifted to the ELCIC in support of national ministries and the remainder
allocated to the Undesignated Gift & Bequest Fund.
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Because ptans to install solar panels on the roof of the synod office building proved unviable,
the synod contracted with Bullfrog Power, ensuring that all electricity used by the synod
office is replaced by an equivalent amount that is added to the grid from poltution-free,
renewable sources.

The sale of the building/property previously owned by Finnish Lutheran Church in Kirkland
Lake, a congregation that closed in 2013, was completed in 2016, resulting in gross proceeds
of $30,000 that were added to the batance of the Remembering for the Future Fund. Income
earned by this fund is used to help fund synodical ministries.

Excluding the $§500,000 non-recurring bequest mentioned previously, offerings remitted
through the synod office for all causes decreased 1.1% in 2016 compared to 2015. Canadian
Lutheran World Relief received $321,000, the largest portion of designated funds. Of this
amount, approximately $66,000 was designated towards the Fort McMurray Wildfire Appeat.

2017 Financial Overview

Similar to 2016, both income and expenditures for the synod’s operations in 2017 were less
than budgeted. For 2017 the net result was another modest surplus of -$14,000. Although
this is a positive result, it is important to note that such an outcome would not have been
possible without the benefit of exceptionally high returns from investments in combination
with $87,000 of budget cuts (and hence reduced expenditures) that were made at the
beginning of the year.

2017 Summary Actual Budget Variance
Total Incame $2,373,902| $2,515,010 -5141,108
Total Expenditures _ $2,359,531| $2,515,010 -$155,479
Surplus / Deficit . -~ 814,371 %0 $14,371

2017 Income Summary

On an overall basis, 2017 operating income was $141,000 less than budgeted. Almost two
thirds (§93,000) of this shortfall is of minimat concern and can be disregarded as it consisted
of projected grants from a number of funds held by the Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of
Eastern Canada (ELFEC) that were ultimately not required/requested due to under-
expenditures in several areas of the budget.

Approximately $100,000 was received from the ELCIC national church, consisting primarily of
grants from the ELCIC’s Church Extension Capital Fund (CECF) (~$80,000) and Compassionate
Justice Initiative Fund (~5$20,000).

Of greatest concern on the income side is the continuing decline in congregational
benevolence offerings, a disturbing trend that has been in place for twenty-five years now. In
2017 these remittances declined 1.5% from those of the previous year, resulting in a $36,000
shortfall compared to budget and the lowest amount received in the synod’s 32 year history.
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INCOME Actual Budget Variance
Benewience Offerings $1,435,590 $1,472,000 -$36,410
ELCIC Grants $100,355 $120,600 -$20,245
ELFEC Grants $699,085 $792,410 -$93,325
Rent/Senices/Other $53,554 $50,500 $3,054
Assembly/Retreat Registration Fees 363,020 $56,000 37,020
individual Donations $22,298 $23,500 -$1,202
Total | $2,373,902| $2,515,010{ -$141,108

2017 Expenditure Summary

All in all, expenditures ended the year approximately $155,000 under budget, primarily
attributable to ministry programs that were budgeted, but that for different reasons, didn’t
progress to the extent originally anticipated.

EXPENDITURES

Actual Budget Variance
ELCIC $390,900 $390,500 S0
Waterloo Lutheran Seminary $366,000 $366,000 S0
Mission Committee $340,101 $396,000 -$55,899
Youth & Young Adult Ministries $117,135 $121,210 -54,075
Candidacy Committee $13,088 525,500 -$12,412
|Professional Leadership Committee $219 5200 $19
Stewardship & Resource Development $34,187 $36,800 -52,613
Communication $22,699 523,200 -5501
Ministry Director Programming $35,908 $30,800 $5,108
Office of the Bishop $19,364 $32,100 -512,736
Salaries and Professional $668,664 $726,050 -557,386
Cffice $129,329 $139,050 -59,721
Retreats 546,760 548,000 -$1,240
Synod Council $29,949 §22,150 $7,799
Ministry Area Programming $25,490 $37,500 -$12,010
Retiree Health insurance Subsidy 561,688 $61,500 $188
National Convenion / Synod Assembly 558,050 $58,050 S0
Total Expenditures $2,359,531| $2,515,010| -$155,479

Following are comments on several of the

largest areas of expenditure:

e ELCIC - This continues to be a significant and high priority area in our budget. Once
again the synod met in full its commitment to the National Church in 2017 with our
$390,900 remittance representing a $3,800 (1%) increase over 2016.

= Waterloo Lutheran Seminary - Despite a $50,000 budget reduction that was required in
2017, the $366,000 grant to WLS still represented a significant financial commitment.

» Mission Committee - The $340,000 of expenditures in this area consisted of grants that
were awarded to 27 different congregations to help fund their outreach initiatives. In

addition, funds were allocated to support 11 synod-sponsored initiatives.
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+ Youth and Young Adult Ministries:; Spending in this area was allocated to causes similar
to 2016.

» Salaries and Professional - This area of the budget provides compensation and benefits
for twenty people (five full-time staff and four part-time staff who receive salary and
benefits, two ministry directors and two officers who serve on a very part-time basis
and receive honouraria and six ministry area deans who were compensated on a “fee
for service” basis for specific tasks that were required of them (e.g. installations, exit
interviews)). Underspending in this area was due to a combination of an unexpected
illness leave and some contingency in this area of the budget.

= National Convention/Synod Assembly - Effective in 2017 delegate registration fees for
the ELCIC National Convention changed from a congregational to a synodical
responsibility. A special “shout out” to those congregations that supplemented their
usual benevolence offering remittances by including an additional amount to help the
synod cover these increased costs during this transition year!

Other 2017 Financial Activities

The synod received 5400,000, the fifth instalment of a most generous unrestricted bequest.
tn addition, another $275,000 unrestricted gift was received from the proceeds of a life
insurance policy for which the synod had been most generously designated as a beneficiary.
Similar to our practice in previous years, ten percent of these gifts were granted to the ELCIC
and the remainder applied to the synod’s Undesignated Gift & Bequest Fund.

During 2017 the synod made the first of four annual $250,000 gifts to Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary in support of our one miliion dollar commitment to the seminary's Reform Capital
Campaign. Commitments such as these wouldn’t be possible without the unusually large,
undesignated gifts mentioned in the previous paragraph!

With the closure of St. James Lutheran Church, Cambridge and the subsequent sale of its
property, net assets were distributed in accordance with the synod’s recently established
Policy for Disbursement of Congregational Assets. Under the terms of this policy $50,000 was
disbursed to four local registered charities selected by the congregation, $297,000 was
established as a five year endowment fund with ELFEC and the remaining $370,000 was
transferred to the synod. From the synod’s portion, approximately $300,000 was subsequently
granted to Lutheran Homes KW in recognition of the significant role that this corganization
played in readying the property for sale. The synod’s remaining $70,000 share was added to
the balance of the Remembering for the Future Fund (as will, in 2022, the $297,000 principal
from the endowment fund). Income earned by the Remembering for the Future Fund is
earmarked to help fund the synod’s operating budget.

With the dissolution of Edgewood Camp and Conference Centre, at its final AGM in May, 2017,
Edgewood’s membership took action to transfer the corporation’s remaining cash and other
assets (approximately $125,000) to the Eastern Synod. After the sale of Edgewood’s property
closes, Synod council will take preferences expressed by Edgewood’s membership into
consideration when determining how to allocate these assets.

Excluding the large, non-recurring bequest and insurance proceeds mentioned previously,
offerings remitted through the synod office for all causes decreased 2.9% in 2017 compared to
2016:

» Canadian Lutheran World Relief received $287,000, the targest portion of designated
funds, 70% of all CLWR offerings were undesignated while the large majority of
designated offerings were directed towards African famine relief and retated African
causes.
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o With almost $83,000 being donated through the Eastern Synod to the ELCIC’s
Reformation Challenge in 2017, the synod’s total over the past two years falls just shy
of $200,000, an amount that excludes funds that were retained by congregations in
support of their own refugee sponsorship/resettlement projects. What a tremendous
response! 70% of the Reformation Challenge donations that flowed through the synod
office over the past two years were designated for scholarships for schools of the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Jordan and the Holy Land. The amount raised to date
from our synod will fund scholarships for 95 studentst

Synod Professional Staff Remuneration
The foilowing information is provided in accordance with direction provided at Assembly 2012:

In 2018 there are five incumbents in professional rcoles. Three of these (Bishop and two
Assistants to the Bishop) are positioned in salary ranges that vary between a minimum of 80%
of full job value and a 110% maximum. In 2000 the 100% job value (defined as fully meeting
job expectations) for Bishop was established at 155% of the 2000 Synod Compensation
Schedule, based on a pastor with 15 years of experience (125% for Assistant to the Bishop).
These job values are updated annually to reflect changes with the Cost of Living Allowance
{COLA) index and periodically benchmarked against the other four ELCIC synods to ensure they
remain reasonable and cempetitive.

For 2018, remuneration for the role of Bishop at 100% of job value is $93,709 (includes both
salary and housing components) while the corresponding remuneration for Assistant to the
Bishop is 580,227. This results in ranges of $75,000 to $103,100 (Bishop) and $64,200 to
$88,200 (Assistant to the Bishop).

Benefits are in accordance with those prescribed by the Synod Compensation Schedule. In lieu
of mileage reimbursement for travel, the synod provides a vehicle to the Bishop, an
arrangement that is financially favourable, both tc the synod and the incumbent Bishop.
Synod council conducts an annual review of the Bishop’s performance and the Bishop conducts
performance reviews of other synod office staff members.

Compensation for the other two roles, a half-time Director of Property Transformation and a
quarter-time Director of Youth & Young Adult Ministries, was determined at the time of initial
appointment based on their position in the synod salary schedule at the time of hiring, an
amount that is adjusted annually based on COLA. Health and dental benefits are not
provided.

Financial Statements

The next sections of my report provide highlights from the financial statements and other
reports that fotlow this report.

2016 & 2017 Congregational Receipts

Excluding larger, non-recurring gifts in excess of 55,000, congregations and individuals
forwarded a total of $3.9 million in designated and undesignated offerings to the synod over
the two years of 2016 and 2017, a decrease of approximately $66,000 from the previous
biennium. CLWR receipts decreased by approximately $134,000 during this period while
receipts to the ELCIC Reformation Challenge, a special appeal held over the 2016-2017
biennium, resulted in $191,000 of donations. In addition to Regular Benevolence (decrease of
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$40,000 between 2016/17 and 2014/15), offerings designated for synodical camps decreased
by $36,000 and the ELCIC Praise Appeal decreased by $29,000.

2018 - 2021 Budget Recommendations

Assumptions relating to the revised budget for 2018 and projected budgets for the next
triennium are included in the budget presentation documents. Among the key items to note
are the following:

» Because several congregations have closed in recent years, a trend that is expected to
continue in future years, it is anticipated that in total, congregational remittances to
regular benevolence will decrease by 1% year over year, using 2017 actual remittances
as the base.

* The amount committed to ELCIC benevolence is projected to increase 1% annually and
represent at teast 25% of congregational benevolence receipts.

» Funding for Waterloo Lutheran Seminary was reduced by $50,000 in 2017. The 2018
revised budget incorporates an additional $50,000 reduction. Grants for 2019 - 2021
are projected to remain at the 2018 level.

» Budgets for 2018 and subsequent years include provision for a Ministry Director of
Property Transformation, a half-time position.

s The Ministry Director for Youth and Young Aduit Ministries rote was reduced from 50%
to 25%, effective January 1, 2018.

» Aswas the case in 2017, the synod will be responsibie for covering registration fees for
delegates to the 2019 ELCIC Nationat Convention, a cost that was previously a
congregational responsibility.

2016 & 2017 Audited Financial Statements

Ernst & Young, the synod’s auditor, expressed an unqualified opinion that the 2016 Financial
Statements presented the financial position of the Synod fairly and in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. Although the 2017 audit had
not been completed at the time this report was prepared, a similar opinion is anticipated.

Closing Comments

| conclude this report with a deep sense of thanks for those colleagues with whom | have had
the opportunity to partner in this ministry of financiat administration over the past biennium -
these include Bishop Pryse, Laurie Knott and Pastor Wendell Grahlman (my fellow officers),
Laurie Kitchen (who provides accounting consutting services to the synod), Sue Heimpel and
Karen Cross (assistants to the treasurer), members of synod council, deans, ministry directors,
office staff and those rostered and lay congregational leaders who serve across our synod.
Thanks to each of you for your dedication, your support, your encouragement and your
friendship!

As | indicated in my opening paragraph, as a synod we have been richly blessed with financial
and other resources. | have also been richly- blessed in so many ways to have had the
opportunity to serve as your treasurer, not only over the past biennium, but also over the past
twenty eight years. Should it be the desire of this Assembly, | am willing to serve another
term.

Indeed these have been interesting, stimulating, challenging, and exciting years of ministry.
May we continue this journey together knowing that we are accompanied by God’s grace and
guidance!
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"EASTERN SYNOD BUDGETS
2018 -2021
Principles, Assumptions and Notes

Budgets for each year will be balanced.

The economic environment over the next triennium will consist of:

e generally low (but slowly increasing) interest rates

¢ moderate rates of return on equity investments

¢ relatively low rates of inflation
Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada (ELFEC) investments will generate a 3.5%
rate of return.

Because several congregations have closed in recent years, a trend that is expected to continue
over the next triennium, it is anticipated that in total, congregational remittances to regular
benevolence will decrease by 1% year over year, using 2017 actual remittances as the base.

100% of the ELFEC operating grant will be allocated to the operating budget. This investment
income, earned from gifts made by our forefathers many years ago, will be allocated to fund all
expenses associated with the synod office infrastructure (e.g. utilities, building maintenance,
office equipment and supplies, IT, insurance, auditing, legal and other incidental expenses), thus
enabling benevolence offerings to be allocated exclusively towards “on the ground” ministries
supporting pastors, congregations and others in our response to our call to be a synod “In
Mission for Others”.

The amount committed to ELCIC benevolence will increase a minimum of 1% annually and will
represent at least 25% of congregational benevolence receipts.

Budgeted expenditures reflect historical priorities and also incorporate newly emerging
opportunities and needs as prioritized in the Eastern Synod Strategic Plan (2017-2021).

Significant new or increased areas of expenditure include:
» Property Transformation Director (new)
e Internship funding (increase)
» Health benefit premium subsidy for retired rostered leaders (increase)
¢ [T infrastructure support (increase)
¢ ELCIC National Convention registration fees (2019)

Significant decreases from 2017 funding include:
e« Waterloo Lutheran Seminary grant
¢ Youth & Young Adult Ministry Director {from half time to quarter time role)
¢ Edgewood insurance (effective after sale of property is completed)

Funding requirements for personnel areas of the budget assume current staffing complements
with provision for modest annual increases to salaries and benefits.

NOTE: Inaddition to providing the necessary administrative support for ministries funded by
the synod’s operating budget, salaries and benefits provided to the Bishop, Assistants to
the Bishop and office staff also help to cover the required support for non-operational
areas such as CLWR and other special purpose programs that are funded by designated
offerings, special gifts, and bequests. In some years these non-operational areas may
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represent as much as one million dollars in additional annual receipts.

8. To the extent that favourable income and/or expenditure variances are realized at the end of
each year:
e 50% of the excess will be reinvested with ELFEC’s General Investment Fund (the source
of the ELFEC Operations Grant) to help offset the impact of inflation in future years.
e 50% ofthe excess will be added to the synod’s benevolence commitment to the ELCIC

8-20



Financial Reports

(1202 - 8102) s19bpng poulg uis)seg

60Tt 00z'ge 0 005°Z¢ 008°'Z¢ 0 Go0'zZe |000°2¢ 0 00¥°9¢ 00v'9t 0 Juswdo[aAs 80Jn0Say (8104
000'S 000's o00's 000'G 000's 000's 0ne's 000's FEITSY
Q0Z'es 00Z €€ 00522 00S'2Z 00022 000'Le 0or'LE :00¥'1LE - [9ABIL [ S84 J0ANT
Wawdojanag 23inosay g diysSpiemals e
052 0sZ 0sZ 052 052 _ ”omu (1}:14 0sZ aapwwoy) diysiapea jeuoissajold p
005°v2 085'v) 056'6 005°pZ 055’7} |0S6'6 005'6¢ ‘oss'sz :056'6 005°6¢ ;06562 056°6 Aaepipues |eloL
005"y 005’y 005’y 005'¥ 005’ : 1005 % 008'p ” 006Gy 1Buyo
000'0Z 05S5'vL 0SH'G 00002 0SSkl 05t'S 000'se 056'62 L0GF'S 000'GE 1065'62 asr's sdiysuiajuy g sauesing
! ; 28]wwo ) Adepipuen 0
00Z'68 050'65 0SLgE 00z'29 05+'cs 05L'€E 00z'aeg 0s1'Es 0s0'9¢ BZL'bZ4  [SLL'6E 000°s8 salsiug Jnpy Bunod g yino, |elo)
000'51 0580k  0SL'Y 0ocel 0sZ'8 osL'y 000EL 056°G 050°L 00051 000'¢ 000°2L 13U - unpy Buno ), 3 Yinop,
000'8Z 000'vL -000'7L 006'8e 000'%1 000'v1 000'0g 0009} 00071 0009y 000'91L 000'sg Ansiuy snduied
00Z 8% 06T L€ ‘000'S1 00z 9% 0oz'Le 000'G1 00Z'9y 00Z'LE con'sL 8LLED 8L4'gl Qo0'sy AdISIuliy J0OpING
wwog sausivipl Inpy Buno g yinoa 'q
§29'08z 57908 |0 $T8'08Z  |§29'0BT (0 SZ9'ALE SZS'BES ¢ AL szL'9F 0 uo|SsiiN ejo L
000'%1L 000'v) 000'%} 000'%1 000'Fl 1000y} 000'¥L 000'rL Jayio
§29'69Z  -529'992 §ge'99z  |528'08T GZI'FZE  1529°vZE GzZl'eSr GZL'ESk SUBID) UOISS|IY LEtpRUR)
| A3 WWO UBISSIY ‘B
_ - Bulwwed6ol4 Ansmin 2 391w wos ¢
000'9LE 10009 000°082  |000'9L¢  1000'9E 000'082 000'9LE 000°9g 000°082 000'9LE  1000'9g 000'082 Aleu|wag ueiayn oopsieM ‘T
: :
004'90% 004'90F  |00£°Z0¥ 00.'Z0¥ 002'g6¢ 1004°86¢ 008°'v6E 008°'¥6¢ 21273 - 494nyJ [euozeN °|
SIFUNLIONIIXT
ST6'S6P'Z|SZ6'9PL |000'6P.L'L{GTE'OLE'Z|S20°609 [006°4ZL°) [S22'06k'Z (G22'c2.  [000°2ZL'L |S0T'L99'T £00'6Z6 100Z'ZSLL awodL| - B0 )
. |
G26°'9¥L  |SeB'erl GZD'609  |G20'609 §l2'ees Gi2'EEL £00'6Z6  £00'6C6 | Bujpung .ayi0
000001 00000 |000'08 ~|pQo'og 000'08 000'08 000'08 m 1000'08 juesg) isanbagmio poieubisspun
00004 60002 000'09 000'09 000'05 00005 00C'9f i 000'9p ueisy ainin4 ey} 1o Buiaquiaweay
000'002 000007 |000'SE) 000'S61 000'061 060064 {000'G8L ‘000581 et suolessdo 03413
000'628" L 000'6.E'L |006'TBE'L | 00B'Z6E'L  [000'L0F L 000°L0¥'L  |002'LZP'L 002'L2¥'L 3sus|oasuag Je|nbay
” FWOOINI
TVIOL |ONIONNS | ONIONNS | TvLOL | ONIONNS | ONIONNS | “IVLOL | ONIGNNZ | ONIONNS | TYLOL | ONIGNOd  ONIONAA
HIHLO | L13A3T d3HLO L 13A37 HIHLO (A ERLER H3HLO L 13AT
1202 0202 6102 (gasiaay) gLoz

8-21



Financial Reports

00+'69 009t 008'29 00v'69 009k 008°29 00v°69 “009"L 008729 00169 009} [008°L9 Apisang ylleaH soney 6
000'cE 00051 000°'8} coo'ee 000'51 0008l ooa‘ee 00051 Wcoc.m_ 000'¢E 000°51 [000'8L sealy Ansiull jejo)
0 0 0 : | 000'G) 000'SH Bututes) / sjuels) eary Ausiuipy
ooo'ee 0001 000'8 0O0'EE  |000'SE 000’8l 000'EE 000§ 100081 000'8L 0008l sueaq Jo saliWwoDd
: sealy AIsSiUIAl )
05112 05i'1Z 0s1'0Z 0s)'02 [N losL'61 05181 0518 $3aPIWWOY IS 7 |1IUN0Y poufs -2
000'6¥ 000'6¥ 00060 000°6F 000'6¥ 1000'6v W 000'8Y osZ'et 0sL'y S30UaJ3JUCT PUE SiEaNaY P
002'05L  |oop'Zl 00E'8EL  |000'SSL  |0OF'ZL 009'zZrL  |o08'vpL  i00P'ZL oor'zeL  |0oL'gRL  |oOvZL 004'5€1 330 [l
00521 00521 00024 00021 00594 005'9L 000'9L 000’94 AousBuyuo) 'sjejuaprou
00014 000"t 000'LL 00024 005'89 005'89 0052L 00522 1} ‘ypny ‘eBa ‘Buliely ‘suoydasa |
0o0'zz i 00022 000'ze 000°'2Z 000'2Z 000'2Z 000'¢Z 000'€2 ewdinb3 @ sadang sol0
00Z'0p  "00P'ZL 00822 000'se 0op'zL 00%'9Z 00828 Qor'zh 00¥'se 00%'9E 00%'2L 00Z'¥g soueInSu} JUIER ‘SalN - Buiping
. 82140 "2
000'86L mcom_ao 00L'ZEL  (000'6ZL  {006'6S  00L'6LL  [000'08L |006'85  .00L'LOL  |009'6EL  |006'26  |0OLLE9 IBUOISSDJ0Id PUE SalIEleS [eJo)
00L'88 - 002'85 00425 00L'2G 004'G5 100L'5S 008'LG 008'/§ 192140 / sueaq / s100a1Q
000'¢€Z 006 00L'PEZ  [000'82Z {006 00L'ZZz  |0o0'zzZ.  |006 00L'k2Z  |005TIZ {00 009'112 siijauag g saeleS - HEIS 930
000°85 000'85 0008 000'8S 000'8% 000'8s 000'85 . |oog'ss [2ABIL - HEIS [BUDISSD401G
Qoc'9ry 00009 00£'98E  |00E'SEy  [000'6S  [0OE'9LE  [oog'wer  |000'8S Q0L'09E  [OOE'LLP  O0C4S 00E'¥SE S1JoUdH ¢ SAHE|ES - JBIS BUOISSRI0l
: H Jeuolssajold pue sauees q
| i
gog9'sy [ 000'SY 009 0098 000'SP  ;009°¢ 009°z$ 000'6¥ oo9'e 00925 000'cs 008'y doysig ays Jo 22110 19101
Goo'o+ 000'0L 0000} 0000k 00001 00001 000'0L 00001 il e}
coo's 1000'S 000'S 000's 000°g 000'S 000'S 000°g we.Boid uojuedwo? UISSI EGOID
009'6 1000'G 009'f 009'8 000'§ 009'c 0092} 000'8 009'E 009'L} 0001 008'f sdoysyiop diysiapeaT jeuonedaibuog
£o0'6Z  |000°5T 00052 00052 00062 000's2 00052 00052 uopewliojsuel | Auadoig
: doysig aul jo 220 .
SBLASIUIN J9Y10 b
SL1'89b  [gzv'ees  [aselos SL0'P9r  [S2L°06E  [Q98'EL G25°6¥S  [S22°94p  |0SZ'EL £46'704  |£52°185 00712 BuiwweiBoig Ansiuyy g 3aILWo] - B30}
aog'y 008't 008'L oog'L 008'L ocs‘L 008'L 008't aa1mag g Aoljog lgnd
0008 000'8 000°8 000°8 000°'2Z 00022 000'8 000°8 usiom 'y
0054 005k 0054 005"} 0os‘} 005'L 005'L 005°} diysiom B
80L'vZ 1000t 0oLz (ooLsz 000 00292 004'%Z 000’} 00L'EZ 002'vZ 000°t 007°¢Z uonesunwwoy [ejoL
o0L'y 000'} 00£'¢ 0042 000'} 00L's 004+ 000'L 00L'E 002’ 000’ noz's ISIP 'UOHPT SIapeaT 'ausgaIM
Qoo'oz 000'0Z 00002 000'02 00002 000'02 000'02 000'0Z uelayn epeues
uonediunwwoyn 'y
IYLOL [ONIGNN4 |ONIANNA | TvlOLl |ONIANN4 | DNIONN4 | T¥LlOL | ONIANNA | ONIONNA [ Ivlol | ©NIONN4 | ©NiONNA
Y¥3HLO | 1 13AT Y¥3HIC | L 73ATT d3H10 | 1L 13ATT HIHLO RELER
Lzoz (J41]4 6L0zZ (Q3SIA3YH) 8102

8-22



Financial Reports

0 0 , 0 1] 0 0 (119143Q) / sn1dUNs
§Z6'66P'C G26'9PL |000'6P.L’) [526°9ES'T . G20'609  006'L2L') [SLZ'08K'Z [SiT'EzL 00042l [£02°1L99°'7 [£00'626  [00Z'2EL'} seinypuadxg - jejo |
0SPROEL WSm_NE 0567166 [0Si'¥SL1 (0067281 0Se'1/6  [000°981°L [095'0LZ 080'G.6  I0GPivE'L |0SLLIE _ |00L5%6 SA[ASIU|A 3410 - 20
009'EEL  -009'8ZL  |000'S 0 0 o o 7 009'¢cl  |009'8ZF  |000'§ Alquessy poufg |
() i 0 0 .wo . 050'85 050'52 ,ccc.mm ¢ UCHUBAUGY [BUOHEN Y
W1OL |ONIGNN4 [ONIGNN4 | Tvi0L |ONIGNN4 | ONIONRA | TvioL | ONIaNd 7 ONIONNd | 1¥1OL  ONIONNd | ONIONNA
¥3IHLO | L13A3T ¥IHLO | 4 713A3T HIHIO | LI3ATT M3IHLO | +73A3T
LZ0Z 6zoz 6102 (a3sIA3Y) Lom

8-23



Financial Reports

Financial statements

Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran

Church in Canada
December 31, 2016

Building a better
working world

8-24



Financial Reports

Independent auditors’ report

To the Bishop and Directors of the
Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

We have audited the accompanying financia! statemenis of Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in
Canada, which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of
operations, fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsibie for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal contrcl as management
determines is necessary ¢ enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or esror.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and pian and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit invoives performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disciosures in the financiat
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditers’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinicn on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controi. An audit aiso includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overail presentation of the financiaf statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our cpinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all materiat respecis, the financial position of the Eastern
Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

&Mzt *%ﬂoa? LLf

Kitchener, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
May 24th, 2017 Licensed Pubiic Accouniants
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

2016 2015
$ 3

Operating activities
Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year {114,651) {97,623)
Add (deduct) items not involving cusrent payment of cash

Amortization of capital asseis 65,263 66,610

Accretion of implicit interest on loans receivable fnofe 4] {6,750) (6,500)

Post-retirement benefits expense [nofe 6] 48,600 49,200
Net change in non-cash working capital balances

related to operations [note 10] ) (472,744) 120,123
Post-retirement benefits plan funding fnote 6] {53,194 {66,325)
Cash provided by {used in) operating activities (533,476 75,485
Investing activities
Purchase of capitat assets {5,557) (19,084}
Decrease in investments 41,128 —
Decrease in loans receivable 18,886 62,203
Cash provided by {(used in) investing activities 54,457 43,118
Net increase (decrease) in cash during the year {479,019) 118,604
Cash, beginning of year 483,764 365,180
Cash, end of year 4,745 483,764

See accompanying notes
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Notes to financial statements

Decemper 31, 2016

1. Purpose of the Synod

The purpose of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada [the “Synod”] s to facilitate and
advance the mission of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada in Ontario, Quebec and the Maritime provinces.
The Synod is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act {Canada) and is exempt from income taxes.

2. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Part Il of the CPA Canada Handbook — Accounfing,
“Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Corporations”, which sets out generally accepted accounting principles for
not-for-profit arganizations in Canada and includes the significant accounting policies described hereafter.

Fund accounting

The accounts of the Synod are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting, a procedure by
which resources for various purposes are classified in accordance with activities or objectives as specified by
donors or limitations imposed by the Synod Council. For financiat reporting purposes, the Syned has combined
funds with simitar characteristics into two major fund groups as foliows:

i Operafing

This fund accounts for amounts received, amounts expended and funds available to be spent on the general
operations and administration of the Synod.

fij  Special purpose

This fund accounts for donations, grants, bequests and other income received, and amounis expended and
amounts available to be spent for certain restricted purposes as dictated by the donor or appropriated by the
Synod. In some cases, only the income from these funds may be expended and the principal amount must be
permanently endowed.

Revenue and expense recognition

The Synod follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions. Donations and grants are recognized
as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection
is reasonably assured. Restricted contributicns are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund.
Contributions for endowment are recognized as revenue of the externally restricted fund.

Investments

Investment certificates are valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Transactions are
recorded on a trade-date basis, and transaction costs are expensed as incurred,

Loans receivable

Loans receivable are initially recorded at fair value and then carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method and the interest rate implied in the fair value determination.
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Notes to financial statements

December 31, 2016

Capital asseis

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization of capital assets is provided cn a
straight-fine basis over the following periods:

Computer hardware and photocopier 3 years
Office building and furniture and equipment 25 years
Vehicles 3-4years
Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property 25 years
Edgewood assets 5-25years
Lutherlyn assets 10 years
Camp Mush-a-Mush assets 10 - 25 years

Financial instruments
It is management's opinion that the Synod is not exposed fo significant interest rate risk or currency risk arising
from its financial instruments.

The Synod is subject to credit risk with respect to its miscellaneous receivables, loans receivable and amounts due
from ELFEC. The maximum credit risk is the fair value of these receivables.

Post-retirement benefits

The Synod provides extended health care benefits to certain retired pastors, diaconal ministers, ciergy and their

spouses after retirement.

The post-retirement benefit chligation is actuarially determined using the projected benefit methed prorated on
services. This method involves the use of the market interest rate at the measurement date on high-quality debt
instruments at the discount rate and management’s best estimates regarding assumptions about retirement age,
termination rates, mortality rates and expected health care costs.

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are in the normai course of operations and are initially measured at fair value.

3. Investments

Investment certificates issued by the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada are carried at amortized cost of
$75,500 [2015 — $575,500]. This investment matures February 11, 2018.

The ELFEC Managed Fund was established in 2016 to held funds that will be used towards the Synod’s
commitment to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary’s capital fundraising campaign [nofe 8] and is recorded at amortized
cost of $458,872.
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Notes to financial statements

December 31, 2016

4, Loans receivable
Loans receivable consist of the following:

2018 2015

$ $

Loan receivable from non-interest hearing ioans 270,600 285,600
Loan receivable from interest bearing loans —_ 18,886
270,600 304,486

Less reduction in carrying value o recognize interest implied
in the face value 21,250 28,000
Less allowance for loans receivable 20,600 35,600
Net carrying value 228,750 240,886
Less current portion —_ 51356
228,750 235,751

The loan receivable from Waterloo Lutheran Seminary is due December 31, 2019. The fair value of the loan was
measured at its present value, using an effective interest rate of 3.0%. implied interest income on the loan will be
recognized at 3.0% over the life of the lcan, with a corresponding recognition of interest income in each future
period. Interest income earned during 2016 was $6,750 {2015 — $6,500], offeet by a reduction in carrying value to
recognize interest implied.

The above-mentioned loans receivable are not secured by collateral.

5. Capital assets

a] Capital assets consist of the foilowing:

2016
Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value
] $ $

Computer hardware and photocopier 20,365 20,365 _
Office furniture and equipment 47,636 30,486 17,150
Office building 676,673 418,620 258,053
Vehicles 29,608 29,608 —_
Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property 206,920 18,049 188,871
Edgewood assets 573,318 455,339 117,979
Lutherlyn assets 193,598 105,265 88,333
Carmp Mush-a-Mush assets 193,358 56,372 136,986

1,941,476 1,134,104 807,372
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Notes to financial statements

December 31, 2016

2015
Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value
3 $ 5

Computer hardware and photocopier 20,365 17,627 2,738
Office furniture and equipment 47,636 28,580 19,056
Office building . 676,673 391,553 285,120
Vehicles 29,608 29,608 —
Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property 206,920 13,536 193,384
Edgewood assets 573,318 450,099 123,219
Lutherlyn assets 188,041 91,088 96,953
Camp Mush-a-Mush assets 193,358 46,750 146,608

1,835,919 1,068,841 867,078
[b] The change in the net book value of capital assets is due to the following:

2016 2015
$ $

Balance, beginning of year 867,078 914,604
Transfer of property 5,557 19,084
Purchase of capital asseis — —
Amortization of capital asseis (65,263) (66,610)
Balance, end of year 807,372 867,078

The Synod currently owns the foliowing properties: Bear Lake, Ontario; Toronto, Ontario [Christ]; Elliot Lake,
Ontario [Faith]; and Shantz Station, Ontario [Trinity]. These properties were all acquired in previous years for a
nominak amount.

During 2016, St. John's, Riverside Heights was closed and the property transferred to the Eastern Synod for a
nominal amount.

During 2013, the Synod repurposed the Lutheran Campus Ministry property to house the Detton Glebe Counselling
Centre. Included in the Delton Giebe Counselling Centre assets is fand carried at $94,116 [2015 — $394,116], which
is not subject to amortization.

During 2018, the Synod terminated the lease agreement for the Edgewood property with Edgewood Camp and
Conference Centre. The property is being prepared for sale. Included in the Edgewoad assets is land carried at
$33,512 {2015 — $33,512], which is not subject to amortization.

Included in the Lutherlyn assets is land carried at $48,549 {2015 - $48,548], which is not subject to amortization.
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Notes to financial statements

December 31, 2016

Lutherlyn transferred a new cabin roof and ancther water softener to the Synod in 2016 at an original cost of
$5,5657. Lutherlyn transferred a water scftener and heating system as well as a back-up generator to the Synod in
2015 with a carrying value of $15,683.

Camp Mush-a-Mush transferred a new cabin rocf to the Synod in 2015 with a carrying value of $3,401.

Included in the Camp Mush-a-Mush assets is land carried at $78,680 [2015 —~ $76,680], which is not subject to
amortization.

The Delton Giebe Counselling Centre property, Lutherfyn assets, Camp Mush-a-Mush assets and Shantz Station,
Ontario [Trinity] assets are held for leasing purposes.

6. Post-retirement benefits

The Synod provides extended health care benefits to certain retired pastors, diaconal ministers, clergy and their
spouses after retirement if the retirees attain the age of 85 prior to January 1, 2013 and meet certain eligibility
requirements.

For the first fiscal year commencing on or after January 1, 2014, the new Section 3463 under Part I}l of the CPA
Canada Handbook - Accounting will apply. Therefore, the new standard was applied to the Synod’s financiat
statements effective January 1, 2014, with comparative figures presented for the fiscal 2013 financial statements,
resulting in the actuarial revaluation being recognized directly in fund balances in the statement of financial position
rather than in the statement of operations, and presented as a separately identified line item in the statement of
fund balances. it had an impact to fund batances in 2013 of $425,100 and an impact to fund balances in 2014 of
$1086,200.

The Synod retained the services of Morneau Shepeil Lid., a third-party firm, to perform a valuation of post-
employment benefits as at January 1, 2014. The Synod measures its accrued benefit abligation for accounting
purposes as at December 31 of each year. The Synod does not have any assets specifically designated to cover
the accrued benefit obligation.

Infermation about the Synod's post-refirement benefits plan as at December 31 is as follows:

2016 2015
3 3
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 1,338,124 1,345,249
interest cost 48,600 49 200
Actuarial revaluation — —
Benefits paid (53,194) (56,325)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 1,333,530 1,338,124
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The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Synod's post-retirement benefits obligation and
benefits cost are as foliows:

2016 2015
$ $
Discount rate 3.75% 3.75%
Health care cost trend rate 6.50% 6.75%
Ultimate heaith care cost frend rate 5.00% 5.00%
Ultimate trend rate reached in year 2022 2022

7. Interfund transfer

fn 2016, an undesignated bequest of $500,000 was received from the Emily Brown Estate [note 11]. This was
originally recorded as an increase to the operating fund. During the year, $450,000 was designated as internaily
restricted to create the ELFEC Managed Fund fnote 3]. The fund and the income it generates is used o support
the Synod’s commitment to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary's capital fundraising campaign.

In 2015, $186,733 was reclassified from an endowment fund to operations. This change is reflected on the
statement of fund balances. This fund was generated from the proceeds resulting from the sale of land and
buildings that were transferred to the Synod. The income generated from this fund is used to support Synod
operations.

8. Related party transactions

.The Synod is retated to the ELFEC, a foundation whose directors are elected by the Synod Council. The ELFEC
is a registered charity that supports and furthers the life, work and mission of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada, its congregations and affiliated institutions, and other faith-based organizations with
similar purposes by encouraging generous giving, prudently investing assets entrusted to it and granting money to
Lutheran charities that respond creatively and effectively to God's call to ministry.

The following is a summary of transactions during the year:

[a] The Synod provides use of its facilities and administrative services to the ELFEC for which it receives a fee
of $13,067 [2015 — $12,900] annually under the terms of the office facilities agreement. This amount is
included in suppert for ministries and administrative revenue on the statement of operations.

[b] The Synod receives grants from the ELFEC as approved by the Board of Directors. Total grants to the Synod
for the year were $753,711 [2015 — $761,312].

[e] During the year, the Synod transferred to the ELFEC $30,000 from the operating fund [2015 — $1,442,442]
and $492,988 from the special purpose fund [2015 — $71,908] of funds received from donors, which were
designated for investment purposes and are included in disbursements for special purpose fund projects on
the statement of operations. The Synod aiso transferred $450,000 to ELFEC for the ELFEC Managed Fund
{note 31
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Amounts due to/from ELFEC are as follows:

2016 ) 2015
$ $
Due from ELFEC 546,712 145612
Due to ELFEC (55,488) (154,350)

9. Controlled entities

The Synod controls Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo ["LHKW"] and Waterloo Lutheran Seminary {“WLS"].

The purpose of LHKW is to provide and operate non-profit residential accommodation and facilities incidental
thereto, exclusively for persons of low/modest income, senior citizens of low/modest income, and disabled persons
of fow/modest income. LHKW is a registered charity, incorporated under the laws of Ontario and exempt from
incomes taxes under section 149 of the Income Tax Act {Canada). The Synod Bishop appoints one individual to
LHKW's Board of Directors and the Syncd Councit appoints the remaining directors.

WLS is an institution of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, federated with Wilfrid
Laurier University. The purpose of the WLS is to provide for the scholarly study of the Christian faith, especially in
its Lutheran understanding, and for the educaticn of persons in and for Christian ministry, especially in the Lutheran
Church and the Canadian context. WLS is a registered charity under the income Tax Act (Canada) and exempt
from income taxes. The Synod Council appoints members to the Seminary’s Board of Governors according to the
terms determined by the seminary. The Seminary's property, both real and personal, is held by the Board of
Governors in trust for and under the guidance of the Synod.

None of the controlled entities have been consolidated in these financial statements. The restrictions on the
resources of the controlled entities are represented by the identification of separate funds in those entities [capital
funds, internally and externaily restricted funds, and trust and endowment funds]. Summarized information from
the most recent audited financial statements of these non-consolidated entities is as follows:
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2016
Lutheran Homes Waterloo
Kitchener-Waterico Lutheran Seminary
5 5
Financial position
Total assets 32,184,954 13,306,856
Total liabilities 26,221,141 2,478,933
Total net assets 5,963,313 10,827,923
Results of operations
Total revenue 14,361,517 3,105,480
Total expenses 13,718,460 2,460,133
Investment income (loss} —_ {246,076)
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 643,057 399,271
Cash flows
Cash provided by operating activities 1,120,052 448,964
Cash used in financing and investing activities {1,356,983) {515,244)
Net decrease in cash during the year {236,931) (66,280)
2015
Lutheran Homes Waterloo
Kitchener-Waterloo Lutheran Seminary
3 $

Financial position
Total assets 32,415,802 12,947,570
Totat liabilities 27,095,557 2,434,402
Total net assets 5,320,245 10,513,168
Results of operations
Total revenue 13,809,981 2624117
Total expenses 13,455,624 2,270,858
Investment income — 810,937
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 354,357 1,164,196
Cash flows
Cash provided by operating activities 1,331,899 1,218,742
Cash used in financing and investing activities (1,841 113) {1,567,361)
Net decrease in cash during the year (509,214) {347,619)
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The financial statements for WLS are prepared as at April 30, 2016. in the eight-month period ended December
31, 2018, there have been no transactions out of the ordinary.

During 2016, the Synod committed $1,000,000 to WLS’s capital fundraising campaign for major renovations and
upgrading of its existing facility with payments of $250,000 to be made in each of 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The
payment in 2020 is contingent on WLS repaying the $250,000 interest free loan to the Synod.

10. Statement of cash flows

The net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations consists of the following:

2016 . 2015
$ $
Decrease (increase) in miscellaneous receivables, prepaid expenses and
accrued interest ' 28,602 (39,039)
Net change in amounts due to/from ELFEC {499,962) 141,833
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (1,384) 17,329
(472,744) 120,123

11. Non-recurring receipts

In 2016, the Synod received non-recurring donatiens from estates totalling nil for the special purpose fund and
$500,000 for the operating fund, and $30,000 [gross proceeds] from the sale of property. These receipts are
recorded in donations, bequests and other receipts on the statement of operations.

in 2015, the Synod received non-recurring donations from estates totalling nil for the special purpose fund and

$1,500,000 for the operating fund. These receipts are recorded in donations, bequests and other receipts on the
statement of operations.
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Schedule of offerings

Year ended December 31

2016 2015
S $

Offerings for Synod programs
Reguiar benevolence 1,458,021 1,488,270
Offerings — Eastern Synod Lutheran — 5,937
Total offerings for Synod programs 1,458,021 1,484 207
Offerings for special purposes
Canadian Lutheran World Relief 321,219 368,173
Lutheran Campus Ministry 4,298 3,250
Waterloc Lutheran Seminary 13,010 10,063
Synod camps 28,122 48,927
Praise appeal 10,461 10,389
Global missions 11,583 15,878
Reformation challenge 108,333 —
Other 7,644 6,736
Total offerings for special purposes 504,670 461,414
Total offerings of member congregations 1,962,691 1,955 621

This schedule excludes offerings in the amount of $19,920 [2015 — $49,148] that were remitted for designated
synodical ministries that are already included in donations, bequests and other receipts in the statement of
operations.

See accompanying notes
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Independent auditors’ report

To the Bishop and Directors of the
Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran
Church in Canada, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the
statements of operations, fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditars’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal conirol relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit pracedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s interna
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaiuating the overall
presentation of the financiat statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in ali material respects, the financial position of the
Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada as at December 31, 2017 and the results

of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.

fﬂmﬁ *"g»oauf Lep

Kitchener, Canada Charlered Professional Accountants
May 15, 2018 Licensed Pubiic Accountanis
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Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

Statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses for the year
Add (deduct) items not involving current payment of cash
Amortization of capital assets
Accretion of implicit interest on loans receivable fnote 4]
Post-retirement benefits expense [nate 6]
Net change in non-cash working capital balances
related to operations [note 10]
Post-retirement benefits plan funding [note 6/

Cash provided by {used in} operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of capital assets
Decrease (increase) in investments
Decrease in loans receivable

Cash provided by {(used in) investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash during the year
Cash, beginning of year

Cash, end of year

2017 2016

$ 5
294,856 {114,651)
51,704 65,263
{6,900) (6,750)
39,100 48,500
556,440 (472,744)
(61,688) (53,194)
873,512 (533,476)
(76,647) (5,557)
(31,300) 41,128
— 18,886
(107,947) 54,457
765,565 (479,019)
4,745 483,764
770,310 745

See gccompanying notes
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December 31, 2017

1. Purpose of the Synod

The purpose of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada [the "Synod™] is to facilitate and
advance the missicn of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada in Ontario, Quebec and the Maritime provinces.
The Synod is a registered charity under the /ncome Tax Act (Canada) and is exempt from income {axes,

2. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Part Il of the CPA Canada Handbook — Accounting,
“Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Corporations”, which sets cut generally accepted accounting principles for
not-for-profit organizations in Canada and includes the significant accounting policies described hereafter.

Fund accounting

The accounts of the Syncd are maintained in accerdance with the principles of fund accounting, a procedure by
which resources for various purposes are classified in accordance with activities or objectives as specified by
donors or limitations imposed by the Synod Council. For financial reporting purposes, the Synod has combined
funds with simiiar characteristics into two major fund groups as foliows:

fii  Operating

This fund accounts for amounts received, amounts expended and funds available to be spent on the general
operations and administration of the Synod.

fiil  Special purpose

This fund accounts for donations, grants, bequests and other income received, and amounts expended and
amounis available to be spent for certain restricted purposes as dictated by the donor or appropriated by the
Synod. In some cases, only the income from these funds may be expended and the principal amount must be
permanently endowed.

Revenue and expense recognition

The Synod follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions. Donations and grants are recognized
as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection
is reascnably assured. Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund.
Contributions for endowment are recognized as revenue of the externally restricted fund.

Investments

Investment certificates are valued at amortized cost using the effective interest raie method. Transactions are
recorded on a trade-date basis, and transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Loans receivable

Loans receivable are initially recorded at fair value and then carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method and the interest rate impiied in the fair vaiue determination.
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Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization of capital assets is provided on a
straight-fine basis over the following pericds:

Computer hardware and photocapier 3 years
Office building and furniture and equipment 25 years
Vehicles 3 -4 years
Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property 25 years
Edgewood assets 5 - 25 years
Lutherlyn assets 10 - 20 years
Camp Mush-a-Mush assets 10 - 25 years

Financial instruments
ft is management's opinion that the Synod is not exposed to significant inferest rate risk or currency risk arising

from its financial instruments,

The Synod is subject to credit risk with respect to its miscellaneous receivables, foans receivable and amounts due
from ELFEC. The maximum credit risk is the fair value of these receivables.

Post-retirement benefits

The Synod provides extended health care benefits to cerlain retired pastors, diaconal ministers, clergy and their

spouses after retirement.

The post-retirement benefit obligation is actuarially determined using the projected henefit methad prorated on
services. This method involves the use of the market interest rate at the measurement date on high-quality debt
instruments at the discount rate and management’s best estimates regarding assumptions about retirement age,
termination rates, mortality rates and expected health care costs.

Related party transactions

Refated parly transactions are in the normai course of operations and are initially measured at fair value.

3. Investments
Investment cedificates issued by the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada are carried at amortized cost of
$75,500 {2016 — $75,500]. These investments mature on February 11, 2018.

The ELFEC Managed Fund was established in 2016 to hold funds that will be used towards the Synod's
commitment to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary's capital fundraising campaign fnote S} and is recorded at market
value of $480,172 [2016 — $458,872).
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4. Loans receivable

Loans receivable consist of the following:

2017 2016
$ s

Loan receivable from non-interest bearing loans 270,600 270,600
Less reduction in carrying value to recognize interest implied

in the face vaiue 14,350 21,250

Less allowance for loans receivabie 20,600 20,600

Net carrying value 235,650 228,750

Less current portion — —

235,650 228,750

The loan receivable from Waterloo Lutheran Seminary is due on December 31, 2019. The fair value of the loan
was measured at its present value, using an effective interest rate of 3.0%. Implied interest income on the ioan wilt
be recognized at 3.0% over the life of the loan, with a corresponding recognition of interest income in each future
period. Interest income earned during 2017 was $6,900 [2016 — $6,750], offset by a reduction in carrying value to
recognize interest implied.

The above-mentioned loans receivable are not secured by any collateral.

5. Capital assets

fa] Capital assets consist of the following:

2017
Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value
$ $ $

Computer hardware and photocopier 20,365 20,365 -
Office furniture and equipment 47,636 32,391 15,245
Office building 676,673 445,687 230,986
Vehicles 29,608 29,608 -
Deilton Glebe Counselling Centre property 211,371 22,739 188,632
Edgewood assels 573,318 455,339 117,979
Lutherlyn assets 256,695 112,964 143,731
Camp Mush-a-Mush assets 202,457 66,715 135,742

2,018,123 1,185,808 832,315
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2016
Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value
3 3 $

Computer hardware and photocopier 20,365 20,365 —
Office furniture and equipment 47,636 30,486 17,150
Office building 676,673 418,620 258,053
Vehicles 28,608 28,608 —
Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property 206,920 18,049 188,871
Edgewood assets 573,318 455,339 117,978
Lutherlyn assets 193,598 105,265 88,333
Camp Mush-a-Mush assets 193,358 56,372 136,986

1,941,476 1,134 104 B07,372

[6] The change in the net book value of capital assets is due to the following:
2017 20186
$ $

Balance, beginning of year 807,372 867,078
Transfer of property 72,196 5,557
Purchase of capital assets 4,451 —_
Amortization of capital assets (51,704) (65,263)
Baiance, end of year 832,315 807,372

The Synod currently owns the following properties: Bear Lake, Ontario; Toronto, Ontario [Chrisi]; Eliiot Lake,
Ontario {Faith], and Shantz Station, Ontario [Trinity]. These properties were all acquired in previous years for a
nominal amount.

During 2016, St. John's, Riverside Heights was closed and the property transferred to the Eastern Synod fer a
naminal amount.

During 2013, the Synod repurposed the Lutheran Campus Ministry property to house the Delton Giebe Counselling
Centre. Included in the Delton Glebe Counselling Centre assets is fand carried at $94,116 [2016 — $34,116], which
is not subject to amortization.

During 2016, the Synod terminated the lease agreement for the Edgewood property with Edgewood Camp and
Conference Centre. The property has been prepared for sale. Included in the Edgewood assets is land carried at
$33,512{2016 — 333,512}, which is not subject to amortization. Cash assets of the camp in the amount of $124,644
were transferred to the Synod.

Included in the Lutherlyn assets is land carried at $48,549 [2016 — $48,548], which is not subject to amortization.
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Lutherlyn transferred the value of a kifchen renovation to the Synod in 2017 at an original cost of $63,0097.
Lutherlyn transferred a new cabin roof and a water softener to the Synod in 2016 at an original cost of $5,557.

Camp Mush-a-Mush transferred the value of a dishwasher and a road upgrade to the Synod in 2017 with an originat
cost of $9,099.

Included in the Camp Mush-a-Mush assets is land carried at $76,680 [2016 — $76,680), which is not subject to
amortization.

The Delton Glebe Counselling Centre property, Lutherlyn assets, Camp Mush-a-Mush assets and Shantz Station,
Ontario [Trinity] assets are held for leasing purposes.

6. Post-retirement henefits

The Synod provides extended healih care benefits to certain retired pastors, diaconal ministers, clergy and their
spouses after retirement if the retirees attain the age of 65 prior to January 1, 2013 and meet certain eligibility
regquirements.

For the first fiscal year commencing on or after January 1, 2014, the new Section 3463 under Part Ill of the
CPA Canada Handhook - Accounting will apply. Therefore, the new standard was applied to the Syned's financial
statements effective January 1, 2014, with comparative figures presented for the fiscal 2013 financial statements,
resulting in the actuarial revaluation being recognized direcily in fund balances in the statement of financial position
rather than in the statement of operations, and presented as a separately identified line item in the statement of
fund bailances. it had an impact to fund balances in 2013 of $425,100 and an impact to fund balances in 2014 of
$106,200

The Synod retained the services of Mormeau Shepell Ltd,, a third-party firm, to perform a valuation of post-
employment benefits as at January 1, 2017 The Synod measures its accrued benefit obligation for accounting
purposes as at December 31 of each year, The Synod does not have any assets specifically designated to cover
the accrued benefit obligation.

Information about the Synod’s post-retirement benefits plan as at December 31 is as follows:

2017 2016
$ $

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 1,333,530 1,338,124
interest cost 39,100 48,600
Actuarial revaluation (202,800) —
Benefits paid (61,688) (53,194)
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 1,108,142 1,333,530

5
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The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Synod's post-retirement benefits obligation and
benefits cost are as follows:

2017 2018
Discount rate 3.40% 3.75%
Health care cost trend rate 6.00% 6.50%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.00% 5.00%
Ultimate trend rate reached in year 2026 2022

7. Interfund transfer

In 2017, internally restricted funds of $185,376 were reclassified to unrestricted. This change is reflected on the
statement of fund balances. The majority of the change was due to reclassifying a fund previously established to
provide loan assistance to the bishop when purchasing a residence, which is no longer necessary. The income
generated from the unrestricted fund is used to support Synod operations.

In 2016, an undesignated bequest of $500,000 was received from the Emily Brown Estate fnote 71]. This was
originally recorded as an increase to the operating fund. During the year, $450,000 was designated as internaily
restricted to create the ELFEC Managed Fund fnote 3). The fund and the income it generates is used to support
the Synod's commitment to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary's capital fundraising campaign.

8. Related party transactions

The Synod is related to the ELFEC, a foundation whose directors are elected by the Synod Council. The ELFEC
is a registered charity that supports and furthers the life, work and mission of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada, its congregations and affiliated institutions, and other faith-based organizations with
similar purposes by encouraging generous giving, prudently investing asseis entrusted to it and granting money to
Lutheran charities that respond creatively and effectively to God's call to ministry.

The following is a summary of transactions during the year:

fa}l The Synod provides use of its facilities and administrative services to the ELFEC for which it receives a fee
of $13,300 [2016 — $13,067] annually under the terms of the office faciiities agreement. This amount is
included in support for ministries and administrative revenue on the statement of operations.

fb] The Synod receives grants from the ELFEC as approved by the Board of Directors. Total grants to the Synod
for the year were $1,111,927 [2016 — $753,711}.

[c] During the year, the Synad transferred to the ELFEC $383,549 from the operating fund [2016 — $30,000] and
$746,080 from the special purpose fund [2016 - $492 988] of the funds received from donors, which were
designated for investment purposes and are included in disbursements for special purpose fund projects on
the statement of operations. The Synod also transferred $nil {2016 — $450,000] to ELFEC for the ELFEC
Managed Fund [note 3].
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Amounts due to/from ELFEC are as foilows:

2016 ‘ 2015
$ 5
Due from ELFEC 546,712 145,612
Due to ELFEC (55,488) (154,350)

9. Controlled entities
The Synod controls Lutheran Homes Kitchener-Waterloo [*LHKW"} and Waterloo Lutheran Seminary ["WLS"1.

The purpose of LHKW is to provide and operate non-profit residentiai accommodation and facilities incidentai
thereto, exclusively for persons of low/modest income, senior citizens of low/modest income, and disabled persons
of low/modest income. LHKW is a registered charity, incorporated under the laws of Ontario and exempt from
incomes taxes under section 149 of the fncome Tax Act (Canada). The Synod Bishop appoints one individual to
LHKW's Board of Directors and the Synod Council appoints the remaining directors.

WLS is an institution of the Eastern Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, federated with Wilfrid
Laurier University. The purpose of the WLS is to provide for the scholarly study of the Christian faith, especially in
its Lutheran understanding, and for the education of persons in and for Christian ministry, especially in the Lutheran
Church and the Canadian context. WLS is a registered charity under the /ncome Tax Act (Canada) and exempt
from income taxes. The Synod Council appoints members to the Seminary's Board of Governors according to the
terms determined by the seminary. The Seminary's property, both real and personal, is held by the Board of
Governors in trust for and under the guidance of the Synod.

None of the controlled entities have been consofidated in these financial statements. The restrictions on the
resources of the controlied entities are represented by the identification of separate funds in those entities [capital
funds, intemalty and externally restricted funds, and trust and endowment funds]. Summarized information from
the most recent audited financial statements of these non-consolidated entities is as follows:
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2016
Lutheran Homes Waterloo
Kitchener-Waterloc Lutheran Seminary

$ $

Financtal position
Total assets 32,184,954 13,306,856
Total liabilities 26,221,141 2,478,933
Total net assets 5,963,813 10,827,923
Results of operations
Total revenue 14,361,517 3,105,480
Total expenses 13,718,460 2,460,133
Investment income (loss) — (246,076}
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 643,057 399,271
Cash flows
Cash provided by operating activities 1,120,052 448,964
Cash used in financing and investing activities {1,356,983} {515,244)
Net decrease in cash during the year {236,931} (66,280)

Lutheran Homes Waterloo

Kitchener-Waterloo Lutheran Seminary

$ 8
Financial position
Total assets 32,415,802 12,947,570
Total liabilities 27 095,557 2,434,402
Total net assets 5,320,245 10,513,168
Results of operations
Total revenue 13,809,951 2,624,117
Total expenses 13,455,624 2,270,858
invesiment income — 810,937
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 354,357 1,164,196
Cash flows
Cash provided by operating activities 1,331,899 1,219,742
Cash used in financing and investing activities (1,841.113) (1,567 361)
Net decrease in cash during the year (509,214) (347,619}
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The financial statements for WLS are prepared as at April 30, 2016. In the eight-month period ended December
31, 2018, there have been no transactions out of the ordinary.

During 2016, the Synod committed $1,000,000 to WLS's capital fundraising campaign for major renovations and
upgrading of its existing facility with payments of $250,000 to be made in each of 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The
payment in 2020 is contingent on WLS repaying the $250,000 interest free loan to the Synod.

10. Statement of cash flows

The net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations consists of the following:

2016 . 2015
3 $
Decrease {increase} in misceilaneous receivables, prepaid expenses and
accrued interest : 28,602 {39,039)
Net change in amounts due to/from ELFEC {499,962) 141,833
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable {1,384) 17,329
(472,744) 120,123

11. Non-recurring receipts

In 2016, the Synod received non-recurring donations from estates totalling nil for the special purpose fund and
$500,000 for the operating fund, and 330,000 [gross proceeds) from the sale of property. These receipts are
recorded in donations, bequests and other receipts on the statement of operations.

In 2015, the Synod received non-recurring donations from estates totalling nil for the special purpose fund and

$1,500,000 for the operating fund. These receipts are recorded in donations, beqguests and cther receipts on the
statement of operations.
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2017 2016
$ b3

Offerings for Synod programs
Regular benevolence 1,435,590 1,458,021
Offerings for special purposes
Canadian Lutheran World Relief 287,152 321,218
Lutheran Campus Ministry 4,013 4,298
Waterloo Lutheran Seminary 27,464 13,010
Synod camps 12,082 28,122
Praise appeal 8,328 10,461
Global missions 14,438 11,583
Reformation challenge 82,923 108,333
Other 16,252 7644
Total offerings for special purposes 452,652 504,670
Total offerings of member congregations 1,888,242 1,962 691

This schedule excludes offerings in the amount of $37,340 [2016 ~ $19,920] that were remitted for designated
synodical ministries that are already included in donations, bequests and other receipts in the statement of
operations.

See accompanying notes

10
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WATERLOO LUTHERAN SEMINARY
REPORT TO EASTERN SYNOD ASSEMBLY 2018

Report from the chairperson of the WLS Board of Governors

In the past biennium, the Board has been most actively living out our vision of “inspiring lives of
meaning and service in God’s world.” The following report details the many actions we have
taken in support of this vision.

Perhaps the most significant accomplishments of these past two years have been:

The further development of our undergraduate program, and the significant opportunities
it has provided for cross-registration by Laurier students;

The continuing development of the Delton Glebe Counselling Centre which is becoming a
significant community asset both for the training of students and as a service to the wider
community;

The expansion of the MDiv program to include bi-vocational options for students preparing
for pastoral ministry (MDiv/MSW and MA/MDiv);

The major redevelopment of the seminary facility over the past 13 months which will see
the existing seminary transformed into a modern building that will accommodate our
needs to support our vision for many years;

Moving the faculty and staff into temporary facilities (from April 2017 to the end of June
2018) while the seminary reconstruction is underway;

Undertaking a $1.5-million capital fundraising campaign to support the building’s renewal
and modernization;

Obtaining approval from the Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Development for
changing the seminary’s name to Martin Luther University College, and pursuing the
necessary business registrations and trademark registrations to secure the use of this
name;

Commissioning a creative firm to interview stakeholders, conduct research, and develop
the vibrant visual identity for Martin Luther University College;

Renegotiating a new operating agreement with Wilfrid Laurier University to replace the
previous agreement that was 24 years old;

Undertaking a comprehensive, institutional self-study in preparation for an ATS
(Association of Theological Schools) Comprehensive Visit in March 2018.
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Other highlights from the biennium include the following:
e Strong and steady enrolment — of students registering at the seminary and at Laurier —
has continued in the Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy program.
¢ Ongoing development of the “alternative worshipping community” that was established as
a pilot project at the seminary, providing the first non-traditional avenue for membership
in the ELCIC-ES. This community, called thirdspace_, is led by Rev. Anne Anderson.

The current membership of the Board of Governors consists of the following: James Phillips
(chair), Rev. Steve Hoffard (vice-chair), Susan Heard (treasurer and chair of finance committee),
Dr. Andrew Thompson (secretary), Heather Main, Ken Meinert (chair redevelopment committee),
Uli Kuebler, Dave Schnarr, Rev. Tuula Van Gaasbeek, Bishop Michael Pryse, Karen Redman, Kevin
Tuer, Chun Zhang, Tom Bishop. Ex officio (voice only) Rev. Dr. Mark Harris, principal-dean; Rev.
Dr. Kristine Lund (vice-chair, Waterloo Lutheran Seminary Senate).

We want to thank these people who continue to offer their time and talents for the advancement
of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary and who, we believe, will lead us to exciting new ministries while
honoring and preserving our roots.

We appreciate the Women’s Auxiliary as they continue their faithful and generous service to the
seminary community by keeping the building and grounds looking beautiful and well-decorated
for each season. They also continue to support our MDiv students with bursaries and lovely quilts.
We appreciate the faithful and thoughtful support they have offered over the years.

The Board of Governors owes a debt of gratitude to many people who share in the ministry of the
seminary. WLS could not continue its work without the commitment of our bishop, the synod
council and the members of the Eastern Synod who have provided support and encouragement in
so many ways. The faculty and staff of the seminary deliver excellence in both their teaching and
care for our students. The continuing strong enrolment is evidence of their skill, dedication and
enthusiasm. The students make the seminary come alive, and their formation as leaders in
ministry is our purpose. Our long list of donors continues to grow, and we are most grateful for
every contribution of time, talent and treasure received. The board appreciates the commitment
and hard work of all these people, and we extend to each one of them our heartfelt thanks.

James Phillips, Chairperson of the Board of Governors
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Report from the Principal-Dean

The Evangelical Lutheran Theological Seminary of Eastern Canada was established in Waterloo
in 1911, by the Lutheran congregations of eastern Canada, solely as a means of preparing pastors
to serve in congregations. Two years later, when legal documents were filed, the school was
incorporated as the Evangelical Lutheran Seminary of Canada. Within three years of its
founding, it became apparent that more was needed, both to better prepare future seminary
students and in response to the educational needs of the wider community. Thus in 1914, the
seminary launched Waterloo College School. The school grew to become, in 1924, the Waterloo
College of Arts. In partnership with the University of Western Ontario, it started granting
undergraduate degrees. In 1956, the board established the Waterloo College Associate Faculties
as a way of delivering science programs. The Associate Faculties eventually moved down the
street and, in 1959, co-founded the University of Waterloo. Also in 1959, the provincial
government enacted Waterloo Lutheran University which, 13 years later, became Wilfrid
Laurier University. Waterloo Lutheran Seminary retained part of the Waterloo campus and
remained independent, but federated with Laurier. Since then, during the past 46 years, the
seminary’s academic programs have continued to grow and evolve in response to the changing
needs of the church and Canadian society.

| begin with this brief, historical synopsis as a way of illustrating that change and evolution has
been part of the DNA of this school since its founding. Reflecting our Lutheran commitment to
education for clergy and laity, and in response to shifting opportunities and needs in Canadian
society, this school has consistently been both a school “for the church,” educating leaders to
serve the church, but also a school “of the church,” an expression of the church’s mission to
serve the needs of the wider community.

This is why, after providing a brief snapshot of the seminary’s current enrolment, the balance of
my report will largely focus on life at the seminary through the lens of the Eastern Synod’s 2017
Vision for Mission. Over the past biennium, the seminary has joined with congregations across
the Eastern Synod in finding lively and creative ways to reflect theses mission priorities in our
common life. | will conclude with comments pertaining to the capital redevelopment of the
facility and the renaming of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary.

Current Enrolment at the Seminary

WLS continues to develop and refine its programs under the academic plan approved by the
Board of Governors in 2015. Graduate enrolment has been capped by Laurier’s funding formula.
In light of the new Strategic Mandate Agreement with the province, there is pressure to limit the
growth of the undergraduate program is as well. The first chart below illustrates the enrolment
patterns for the past eight years.
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The MDiv program is now the smallest program at the seminary. While we anticipate that it will
remain so, based on the enrolment trends in other schools, it nonetheless remains a core
program to which this school is committed. MDiv students take introductory level theology and
biblical courses alongside spiritual care students. Advanced MDiv courses consist solely of MDiv
students. Enrolment in the spiritual care programs remains strong. The BA program remains small
but steady.

WLS continues to refine its undergraduate program in Christian Studies and Global Citizenship.
The advisory committee has just completed a thorough review of the program and courses, and
has developed a number of recommendations regarding new electives, to meet the needs and
interests of students. Recruitment remains an important priority for the program. WLS now has
14 students registered in this program, and we will celebrate our third graduating class in June.
It is noteworthy that, from the outset, it was never anticipated that the BA in Christian Studies
and Global Citizenship would be a large program. However, as chart # 2 reflects, it provides
access to a much larger body of potential students. The BA classes provide the opportunity for
Laurier students, majoring in other fields of study, to register for classes at the seminary. This is
a wonderful opportunity for a growing number of university young people who are looking for
ways to explore Christianity or are wrestling with issues of faith, life, and their own sense of
vocation.
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Across North America, enrolment in Master of Divinity programs is decreasing at a staggering
rate. A report released last November, by the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America, indicated
that enrolment in ELCA seminaries dropped 67% between 2010 and 2017. Similar reductions are
being faced by theological schools across North America. In response to this and the growing
number of MDiv students who are looking for programs that offer bi-vocational options, the
seminary’s double-degree programs (MA/MDiv and MDiv/MSW) are proving popular.

Our programs in Spiritually Integrated Psychotherapy, previously known as Pastoral Care,
continue to be the most highly subscribed programs at the seminary. The MA in Theology (in
Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy) has been revised in order to comply with the requirements of
the College of Registered Psychotherapists of Ontario. As a result, we are awaiting confirmation
of program accreditation with the college. This will enable students who successfully complete

the program to receive licensing more readily.

Synodical Mission Priorities

While the seminary’s enrolment statistics provide a high-level overview, they only provide a
cursory view. For a fuller picture of life at the seminary, it is helpful to consider the variety of
opportunities meant to supplement and enrich classroom learning. Many of the activities are
open to pastors, congregational members, and those in the wider community. These not only
express the heart and soul of the seminary, they also clearly reflect the mission priorities of the

Eastern Synod.

Goal # 1: Provide Vision, Leadership and Support

The Delton Glebe Counselling Centre is one of the means through which we pursue social justice
in our community. The centre has grown substantially over the past two years, thanks to the
leadership provided by Janet Howitt. The Glebe Centre provides a range of wellness and
counselling services to students and the public, as well as being a Centre for research and the
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training. The centre has the capacity to offer counselling services in 13 different languages; has a
partnership with Reception House, to provide concurrent counselling for new refugees and play
therapy for their children; and has sponsored numerous training events for volunteers.

Through the Centre for Public Ethics, under the leadership of John Milloy, the seminary engages
issues at the crossroads of faith and public ethics. The centre’s scholars write guest columns that
are published regularly by mainstream news outlets; hold public lectures on faith and politics;
and have been organizing invitation-only “Community Leadership Breakfasts” to explore the
intersection of faith and public life. The centre also offers a number of courses, in the undergrad
curriculum, that are concerned with public faith and public ethics.

The Abrahamic Faiths Forum, sponsored in partnership with Interfaith Grand River, a coalition
of faith leaders in Waterloo Region, provides opportunities for members of the Christian, Muslim,
and Jewish communities to engage in conversation around issues of common concern. They
gather twice yearly for events that are open to the public.

We are also deeply engaging the call to promote right and renewed relationships with the
Indigenous peoples of Canada. Through our Circle of Dialogue program, we provide twice-yearly
learning days led by Indigenous leaders. We include trips to the Six Nations of the Grand River in
our undergrad core course requirements; partner with the Good Hearted Women Singers drum
circle; have devoted a recent edition of the Consensus academic journal to articles on revisiting
the relationships between First Nations and Christians; and work with Laurier’s Office of
Indigenous Initiatives and the Indigenous Student Centre. Assignments in a number of our courses
feature the works of First Nations writers. We acknowledge traditional treaty lands in all public
gatherings and have also included the acknowledgement in all course syllabi.

Through the work of the Kanata Centre for Worship and Global Song and the Inshallah
community choir, the seminary works at the intersection of music, faith, and justice to promote
right relations, develop partnerships, increase awareness, and raise funds to support justice
initiatives. Over the past year, more than 130 singers have participated in Inshallah’s eight public
events, which have raised nearly $15,000 to build community and benefit justice initiatives in
the Waterloo Region.

A number of our core courses in the undergrad program in Christian Studies and Global
Citizenship include a CSL (Community Service-Learning) component as part of the course
curriculum. Students do not just study “public service,” they put their faith and deepest values
into practice in community service agencies. This practice of linking in-class readings and
discussions with community placement experiences is proving to be a powerful and, in many
cases, inspiring learning opportunity for our students.

The seminary is also the home for thirdspace_, a small, emergent community sponsored by the
synod’s Mission Committee. Under the pastoral leadership of Rev. Anne Anderson, thirdspace_
continues to explore a model for faithful discipleship, lived in community, that does not
necessary meet the criteria of a normal “congregation,” but which appeals to the needs and
questions of millennial youth and young adults — a demographic that is often absent from our
congregations. The questions and learning from this experience are feeding into course content
and discussions, and are made available as a resource for the wider church.

Worship and the study of Scripture are at the very heart of who we are as Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary.
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During this past academic year, students and faculty gathered three days a week for noon-hour
prayers offered on behalf of our community and the world. Wednesdays, at 5 p.m., we gathered
for Open Door, a community wide Eucharist that included the participation of faculty and
students from across the campus. We provide a hospitable welcome to all who wish to be
nurtured in Word and sacrament; inspired by the music; included in community; or to wrestle
with issues of faith and life. Up until the time of our move into interim facilities last April, this
service was followed by a simple community supper. We often welcomed 150 or more
participants for such gatherings.

Spirited discipleship is also evident in our classrooms. We are, first and foremost, a theological
school. So the study of Scripture and an ever-deepening exploration and understanding of faith is
part of every program of study. Particularly in the undergraduate courses, we have students who
have no faith-memory who are exploring what Christianity is all about; devout youth raised in the
church; young people who are questioning and wrestling with their faith; and those who come
from other faith traditions. All are working, studying, and exploring together what it means to be
individuals of faith and conscience. In the process, students learn about themselves, their
traditions, and one another. It is an exciting learning environment.

Goal # 2: Develop Capable Leaders

Since 1911, the seminary has provided theological education for the church’s future leaders.
While our educational opportunities have expanded far beyond that original vision, equipping
faithful lay and ordained leaders has been the golden thread that has defined the fabric of the
seminary to this day. While our current MDiv program is much smaller than it once was, it is still
larger than in the seminary’s first decades and continues to be a core reason for our existence as
a school. Our double-degree options, MDiv/MSW and MA/MDiv, are efforts to expand the
vocational option for pastors. Any of these programs equips pastors for a bi-vocation ministry:
pastoral ministry and social work; or pastoral ministry and chaplaincy, counselling, or
psychotherapy.

During this past academic year, WLS was home to 164 full-time and part-time students, and 248
Laurier students who took courses at the seminary. It’s also home to 10 full-time, four part-time
and 17 adjunct faculty. Thirty-one different faith traditions are represented within our
community. What this means is that the seminary is no longer a Lutheran enclave as it once was.
Rather, the seminary has grown to reflect a cross-section of Canadian society. The way that we
understand this, as a seminary, is that we are Lutheran hosts to a wonderfully diverse,
ecumenical and multifaith community.

This is unfamiliar ground for many of us, but it is also the new frontier that we, as Canadian
Lutherans, are called to navigate. It prompts the question, “how do we remain faithful to our
own tradition while, at the same time, partnering with others to promote justice in God’s
world?” It is a good question. At the same time, such a diverse community provides a rich
learning environment in which to engage in these conversations, even as students develop the
skills and nurture the relationships that make it possible to find common ground. We are learning
that the development of such skills — a rootedness in one’s own tradition, yet a simultaneous
openness to collaborate with diverse communities — is a crucial antecedent to the pursuit of
compassionate justice.
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Goal # 3: Connect through Effective Partnerships

The synod is one of two primary partners for WLS. We exist as an institution of the synod to serve
the church through the preparation of theologically informed laity and candidates for ministry.
At the same time, we are an expression of the synod’s mission to the wider community, nurturing
collaboration with a variety of faith communities and community partners.

While the seminary has been displaced from our facility during construction, we are deeply
committed to working with the Area Ministry teams in supporting their ministries. Toward this
end, we have been facilitators in the Area Ministry Confirmation Program and helped facilitate
an area-wide Vacation Bible School program during the past few years.

We have also provided support to congregations throughout the Eastern Synod by helping pastors
tell their congregations’ stories. Mirko Petricevic, the seminary’s director of communications and
public affairs, delivered a three-part workshop during the Atlantic Pastors Conference in 2017. In
May 2018, he delivered a daylong communications workshop at the synod office in Kitchener. The
program focused on helping pastors pitch congregational stories to journalists, and on how to
make better use of social media platforms. Mirko also contributes regularly to the Eastern Synod
Communications Mutual Support group on Facebook.

Each year, in partnership with the Eastern Synod, the seminary hosts the Dubrick Summer
Institute for Ministry (formerly Lutherhostel). This is a continuing education event that runs
each June. It is an opportunity for newly ordained pastors to deepen their skills for leadership in
ministry.

WLS enjoys a very positive relationship with Wilfrid Laurier University. As the founding institution
for Wilfrid Laurier University, our historic contribution is recognized and supported by Laurier’s
senior administrators and many of Laurier’s faculty. The current relationship traces its origins to
“An Act respecting Wilfrid Laurier University (1973)” that was drafted at the time WLU became a
provincial university. A new Memorandum of Agreement was signed with Laurier earlier this year.

WLS also enjoys many wider community partnerships. We have benefitted, over the last
biennium, from a working relationship with St. Joseph’s Health System, the Hamilton Health
Sciences Centre, the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, and Grand River Hospital.

WLS has benefited from the Face to Faith program. In 2013, the Eastern Synod signed a
partnership agreement with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Jordan and the Holy Land
(ELCJHL). One expression of that partnership is our biennial trip to the Holy Land, which
includes visits to the holy sites but also time with our partner church and other significant
multifaith actors and organizations. Our next trip is planned for April/May 2019. The seminary is
also sponsoring a student from the ELCJHL. Rodny Said is now in his final year of academic work
before returning to serve the ELCJHL. We have also hosted several Iranian students (Muslim) who
were with us for advanced counselling training. Such international visitors provide a great
learning opportunity for our community.

Through the Glebe Centre, the seminary has been partnering with a number of community
counselling and refugee settlement agencies. Through the Office of Indigenous Initiatives at
Laurier, we have been working with a number of First Nations groups. Through our community
pastor (Anne Anderson), the seminary is partnering with the chaplaincy and diversity offices at
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Laurier, and with a number of Christian student groups on campus. Also, we host a number of
joint initiatives with Interfaith Grand River.

Goal # 4: Live as a Healthy Synod

Many of the seminary’s lectures, workshops, and continuing-education offerings provide an
opportunity for pastors and laity to grow in faith, wrestle with current issues, or meet new
ministry partners. Once again, the seminary is planning to lead a study course in the Holy Land.
All are welcome to join us April-May 2019. Further information on that opportunity will be
provided in the coming months.

All of the seminary’s programs — undergraduate, master’s, and doctoral — are efforts to either
equip lay persons for ministry in the world, or to deepen the expertise of pastoral candidates and
leaders to better serve in their settings. All of our students are engaged in biblical and
theological studies and are wrestling with questions of what it means to be people of faith in the
contemporary world. While a minority of those will end up leading or participating in Lutheran
congregations, many confirm that they have found the seminary to be an educationally rich, safe
and welcoming place to grow in their faith. That may not directly serve to make us a healthy
synod, but it is a powerful witness to who we are as a Lutheran community: Strengthening people
of faith from many different traditions.

Capital Redevelopment

In April 2017, the faculty, staff, and students of the seminary vacated our facility in order for the
building to undergo a $9-million renovation. This involved totally gutting the interior of the
facility, with the exception of the chapel, reconfiguring the classroom and office spaces, and the
addition of a welcoming new entrance and administrative level on Bricker Avenue. The result of
this renovation will be an increased number of classrooms that meet current educational
standards; expanded common areas and office space; and a highly energy efficient and cost-
effective facility. Further information will be provided in the presentation at Synod Assembly.

Renaming

Since its founding in 1911, the school that began as The Evangelical Lutheran Theological
Seminary of Eastern Canada has changed its name five times. On each occasion, this change was
meant to reflect what the school was becoming. While the name Waterloo Lutheran Seminary
has been used since 1973, when the university was provincialized and the seminary became a
separate entity federated with Laurier, it is no longer adequate to convey the rich variety of
programming that we offer. This is why, with the support of Laurier and the approval of Synod
Council and the Board of Governors, the seminary has received approval from the Ministry of
Advanced Education and Skills Development to become known as Martin Luther University
College. Final approval for this change was received in 2017, the quincentennial of the Lutheran
Reformation, and will become effective when we move into the renewed facility at the end of
June. The new logo will be publicly unveiled at the Synod Assembly.

Concluding Remarks

These are challenging times in theological education. Yet our school has been working hard to
adjust to the ever-changing world of post-secondary education and the changing needs of the
church.
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As we continue to grow and evolve, as an institution of the church, we have just completed a
yearlong, comprehensive, institutional self-study and, as a result, have been recommended for a
10-year accreditation by the Association of Theological Schools. We have recently welcomed the
Rev. Dr. Gyeong Kim to the faculty, and we eagerly anticipate our move back into the renewed
facility during the week after the Synod Assembly.

This will be the last report that | am preparing for the Eastern Synod Assembly and the last
report under the name Waterloo Lutheran Seminary. When this report next prepared, three years
from now, it will be the report from Martin Luther University College, and prepared by my
successor.

In closing, on behalf of the WLS Board of Governors, the faculty, staff and all the students, | also
wish to express our deep appreciation to the Eastern Synod for your generous support,
encouragement and prayers. To Bishop Pryse and his staff; Synod Vice Chairperson Laurie Knott;
Synod Treasurer Keith Myra; Synod Secretary Wendell Grahlman; and to the whole Synod Council
who works so hard on our behalf, we are most grateful. Among theological schools and synods,
we enjoy a unique and distinctive partnership in ministry. May it continue to serve the synod, the
school, and the wider community for many years to come.

The Rev. Dr. Mark W. Harris
Principal-Dean
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Waterloo Lutheran Seminary Faculty Updates

The following are some of the highlights of faculty involvements over the past six months, just to
give an impression of activities in addition to regular teaching, advising, and administrative
responsibilities.

Brice Balmer: Assistant Professor, Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy

Brice has been teaching five courses per year plus advising PhD students. He serves on the WLU
Research Ethics Board. He continues to be deeply involved in a Shi’a-Protestant Dialogue
program, and recently returned from teaching in Iran. He is co-ordinating the Abrahamic Faiths
Forum; has edited a number of articles; and has fulfilled numerous community speaking
engagements.

Mark Harris: Principal-Dean, Professor of Functional Theology

A significant amount of Mark’s time, over the past year, has been spent overseeing the
redevelopment of the seminary facility; co-ordinating the Reform Capital Campaign; and
renegotiating the operating agreement with Laurier while attending to his ongoing teaching and
administrative responsibilities. He is a member of the Ontario Provincial Commission on
Theological Education (Anglican) and the ELCIC Program Committee on Leadership in Ministry. He
recently presented at a Luther’s Legacies conference and at a symposium with the United Church
of Canada in Toronto.

Kate Harper: Assistant Professor, Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy

Kate, who successfully defended her PhD thesis since the last assembly, is currently on a health
leave. Over the past year she taught three courses: Human Development; Theories of Change;
and Assessment. She advised several doctoral students; served on the Senate and the Honorary
Degree Committee; is continuing research with Kristine Lund; and worked on an online academic
integrity training module for new students.

Allen Jorgenson: Professor of Systematic Theology, Assistant Dean

In addition to teaching a full load and overseeing the BA and MA (Public Faith and Spirituality
field), Allen has maintained a heavy speaking and travel schedule. He presented at a number of
conferences over the past year. In July, Allen will begin a 12-month sabbatical that will focus on
issues around the indigenization of the seminary curriculum. He received a substantial Wabash
Grant to support him in these efforts.

Florence Juma: Associate Professional Faculty

During the winter term, Florence taught one course; supervised PCE (Pastoral Counselling
Education) students placed at the Freeport Campus of Grand River Hospital (GRH); submitted an
application to the accreditation committee of the Canadian Association for Spiritual Care (CASC)
for program approval on behalf of GRH in partnership with WLS; completed her requirements for
CASC’s Associate Supervisory Education program; was elected vice chair for CASC’s Southwest
Ontario Region (four-year commitment); received a recognition award on International Women’s
Day for her work with immigrant women in southwestern Ontario; and will be presenting a
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workshop on postmodern, social construction and narrative theories to a group of spiritual care
providers (chaplains) in May.

Debbie Lou Ludolph: Dean of Chapel, Director of the Kanata Centre for Worship and Global Song

As well as overseeing the worship life of the seminary community, Debbie Lou oversees the
Kanata Centre and directs Inshallah; oversees undergraduate recruitment; and recently taught a
Christian Studies and Global Citizenship introductory course. She serves on numerous committees
including BA advisory; BA recruitment; Inshallah advisory; art advisory; Sing Fires advisory; and
community pastor advisory. In her role as ministry director for the Eastern Synod, she is
overseeing and co-ordinating worship for Synod Assembly 2018. She is also nearing the
completion of her doctoral dissertation.

Kristine Lund: Professor, Assistant Principal, Director of Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy
Programs

Kristine has continued to be very busy overseeing the MA in Theology: Spiritual Care and
Psychotherapy program and the PhD in Human Relationships program. She is the clinical director
at the Delton Glebe Counselling Centre where she supervises practicum students and professional
therapists. She has published a number of articles and co-ordinated a number of workshops.

Daniel Maoz: Jewish Scholar in Residence, Instructor in Hebrew Texts

Daniel is a member of the steering committee, Abrahamic Faiths Forum, Waterloo Lutheran
Seminary, and the Abrahamic Faith Workshop, Renison University College; co-founder and
organizer of Scriptural Reasoning discussion group and the Christian-Jewish Text Discussion
Group; Vice President of the Canadian Society for Jewish Studies and program co-ordinator,
Canadian Society for Jewish Studies Publications. Daniel has numerous speaking engagements and
publications to his credit, and is co-author of The Christian Bible: Jewish and Christian
Perspectives, which is ready for submission to the publisher. He is also preparing for the
presentation “Animal Talk: How Creation Teaches Humans about the Environment” at an
International Conference on Nature and Environment, Nazareth College, Rochester, NY.

John Milloy: Assistant Professor of Public Ethics, Director of the Centre for Public Ethics at WLS;
Practitioner-in-Residence (Department of Political Science at Laurier)

John continues in his role at the seminary, teaching a course on major issues facing Canada. He
used the class as an opportunity to welcome a nhumber of community leaders to the seminary as
guest speakers. Part of John’s role is to build bridges with Laurier’s Department of Political
Science where he is the practitioner-in-residence. He co-ordinates events sponsored by the
centre, and writes a bi-weekly column on issues related to faith and politics for the news website
National Newswatch. He is also a regular guest on CBC radio and 570 News where he comments
on matters of faith and public ethics, and has contributed a number of op-ed pieces to the
Waterloo Region Record.

Mary Joy Philip: Assistant Professor of Lutheran Global Theology and Mission

In addition to her teaching, advising, and committee responsibilities, Joy attended the Global
Christian Forum as the Lutheran World Federation delegate, in Bogota, Colombia; she was the
plenary speaker for the upstate New York synod assembly of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in
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America, in Rochester, NY; she was speaker at the Toronto West Kairos Workshop, EXPLOITED
PEOPLES: Migrant Workers and Trafficked Humans, held in Etobicoke, Toronto; she spoke on the
topic of Human Beings not for Sale, giving special attention to human trafficking, organized by
Martin Luther Evangelical Church, Toronto. She continues to co-edit Consensus: A Canadian
Journal of Public Theology; and is an ELCIC representative to the Catholic-Lutheran dialogue.

Mona Tokarek LaFosse: Assistant Professor of Christian Scriptures and Sacred Texts

Mona teaches courses in the area of Bible/New Testament. She also advises students, conducts
administrative work, and contributes to community worship. She holds workshops for students on
citation style; helps advise full-time and adjunct faculty on questions of academic integrity; and
organizes presenters for “Toward Right Relations,” a time set aside each week to learn about,
and reflect on, Indigenous teachings, stories and justice issues. Themes included water (2016-17)
and Indigenous art (2017-18). She continues to serve as vice-president of Canadian Society of
Patristic Studies (2014-2018), and is on the advisory board of Studies in Religion, a Canadian
journal. She recently published two essays on age, women and social context in early
Christianity; and she continues to work on her book manuscript, which is a revision of her
doctoral dissertation to be published by McGill-Queen’s University Press. During the adult
education program at St. Mark’s Lutheran Church (Kitchener), she presented a four-part series on
aspects of age and age structure in the New Testament and now.

Gyeong Kim: Assistant Professor, Spiritual Care and Psychotherapy

Gyeong joined the seminary faculty on May 1, 2018. He is preparing courses that he will offer in
the fall and winter terms, and serves as a member on the dissertation committee for doctoral
students. He is also getting involved in the life of Christian leaders in the region. Prior to coming
to WLS, Gyeong taught at Seoul Women’s University for eight years, and at Georgia Christian
University for two years. He has been consistently engaged in providing clinical supervision for
practicum students of counselling and clinicians in the Korean Association of Pastoral Counseling
and at Seoul Women’s University. He has also performed academic research, published articles in
various journals, and recently translated a book, The Eight Concepts of Bowen Theory, into
Korean.
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ARTICLE I

Name and Incorporation

Section 1. The name of the synod functioning under this constitution shall be the Eastern
Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada. For purposes of this constitution and
accompanying administrative bylaws, the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada is hereby
referred to as “this church.”

Section 2. This synod shall be incorporated under the laws of Canada.

Section 3. The seal of the Eastern Synod shall consist of a cross, encircled by the words
“Eastern Synod Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada.” The bishop shall have custody of
the seal.

ARTICLE II

Geographic Boundaries

Section 1. The geographic boundaries of this synod shall be as described in the bylaws of
this church.

ARTICLE III

Confession of Faith

Section 1. This synod confesses the Triune God - Father, Son and Holy Spirit - as the one
true God. It proclaims the Father as Creator and Preserver; His Son, Jesus Christ, as
Redeemer and Lord; and the Holy Spirit as Regenerator and Sanctifier.

Section 2. This synod confesses that the gospel is the revelation of God's saving will and
grace in Jesus Christ, which he imparts through Word and Sacrament. Through these means
of grace the Holy Spirit creates believers and unites them with their Lord and with one
another in the fellowship of the Holy Christian Church.

Section 3. This synod confesses the Scriptures of the Old and New Testament as the inspired
Word of God, through which God still speaks, and as the only source of the church's doctrine
and the authoritative standard for the faith and life of the church.

Section 4. This synod subscribes to the documents of the Book of Concord of 1580 as
witnesses to the way in which the Holy Scriptures have been correctly understood,
explained and confessed for the sake of the gospel, namely:

a. The Apostles’, the Nicene, and the Athanasian Creeds as the chief confessions of
the Christian faith;

b. The unaltered Augsburg Confession as its basic formulation of Christian doctrine;

c. Luther's Small Catechism as a clear summary of Christian doctrine;
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d. The Apology of the Augsburg Confession, Luther's Large Catechism, the Smalcald
Articles with the Treatise, and the Formula of Concord as further witnesses to the
unaltered Augsburg Confession.

ARTICLE IV

Mission

Section 1. The mission of this church, as an expression of the universal Church and as an
instrument of the Holy Spirit, is to share the gospel of Jesus Christ with people in Canada

and around the world through proclamation of the Word and the celebration of the
Sacraments and through service in Christ’s name.

Section 2. As the regional expression of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and in
faithfulness to the Lord of the Church, this synod shall facilitate and advance the mission of
this church within its territory.

Section 3. This synod shall faithfully support the common work of this church and its
international and ecumenical partners.

ARTICLE 'V
Membership

Section 1. The membership of this synod consists of congregations and synodically
recognized ministries that are recognized by this synod in the manner described in the
bylaws of this church. Baptized individuals who are members of a congregation or
synodically recognized ministry shall exercise their privileges and responsibilities through
participation in the congregation or synodically recognized ministry in which they are
members.

Section 2. This synod may revoke its recognition of any congregation or synodically
recognized ministry in the manner described in the bylaws of this church.

ARTICLE VI

Congregations

Section 1. Every congregation which is recognized by this synod shall have constitutional
documents which, in the judgment of this synod council, are in harmony with the
constitution and bylaws of this church and of this synod.

Section 2. Every congregation shall support faithfully with prayer, personal service and
offerings the common work of this church and of this synod.

Section 3. Every congregation of this synod shall choose a delegate or delegates to
represent it at conventions of this synod and at meetings of the area to which the
congregation is assigned in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws of this
synod.
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Section 4. The alignment of congregations in parishes shall be subject to approval of Synod
Council.

Section 5. Congregations shall have the right to petition this synod, according to procedures
set forth in the bylaws.

Section 6. In case of strife and division in a congregation, the congregational council shall
seek the advice of the bishop of this synod.

Section 7. When a pastor resigns, the congregational council shall receive the resignation,
report it to the congregation and notify the bishop of this synod.

Section 8. A congregation desiring to withdraw from this church must comply with the
procedures for withdrawal set out in the bylaws of this church.

Section 9. A congregation which has ceased to exist or whose membership has so
diminished in numbers as to render it impossible or impractical for the congregation to
function according to its constitution and bylaws shall, after consultation with any
remaining members, be deemed by this synod to be defunct. This synod through the synod
council shall appoint trustees, including where feasible former members of the
congregation, who shall take charge and control of the property of said congregation to
hold, manage and convey the same on behalf of this synod.

Section 10. A lay member of any congregation who is under discipline by his/her
congregation may appeal to this synod in the manner described in the bylaws of this synod.

ARTICLE VII

Synodically Recognized Ministries
Section 1. This synod shall maintain a roster of synodically recognized ministries.

Section 2. Synodically recognized ministries may choose a representative to conventions of
this synod in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws.

Section 3. The approval of this church or a convention of this synod or of its council shall be
required for the solicitation of funds from synodically recognized ministries for institutions,
agencies and causes of this church.

Section 4. A lay member of any synodically recognized ministry who is under discipline by
his/her synodically recognized ministry may appeal to this synod in the manner described
in the bylaws of this synod.

ARTICLE VIII

Rostered Ministers - Ordained
Section 1. This synod shall maintain a roster of ordained ministers.

Section 2. The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of ordained ministers
shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.
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Section 3. An ordained minister shall conduct himself/herself in accordance with the
constitution, bylaws and policies of this synod and of this church.

ARTICLE IX

Rostered Ministers - Diaconal
Section 1. This synod shall maintain a roster of diaconal ministers.

Section 2. The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of diaconal ministers
of this church shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.

Section 3. A diaconal minister shall conduct himself/herself in accordance with the
constitution, bylaws and policies of this synod and of this church.

ARTICLE X

Full Communion Provisions

Section 1. Ordered ministers of churches with which this church has a full communion
agreement, who are serving in this church under the provisions of that full communion
agreement, shall have the same rights and privileges as the equivalent order of ministry in
this church.

ARTICLE XI

Areas

Section 1. This synod shall be organized into areas whose number and boundaries shall be
determined by Synod Council.

Section 2. The role of the areas shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod.

ARTICLE XII

Conventions
Section 1. The convention of this synod shall be its highest legislative authority.

Section 2. Conventions of this synod shall be held in accordance with the bylaws and
policies of this synod.

ARTICLE XIII
Synod Council

Section 1. Synod Council is the governing body of this synod and shall carry out all functions
and responsibilities on behalf of this synod in accordance with the constitution, the bylaws
and resolutions of this synod in convention.
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Section 2. Synod Council shall consist of the officers of this synod, and members, all of
whom shall be members in good standing of congregations or synodically recognized
ministries of this synod, elected according to procedures defined in the bylaws of this
synod.

ARTICLE XIV
Officers

Section 1. The officers of this synod shall be a bishop, a vice-chairperson, a secretary and a
treasurer. The bishop shall be on the roster of ordained ministers of this church. At least
two of these officers shall be lay members of a congregation or synodically recognized
ministry of this synod.

Section 2. The duties of the officers shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod.

Section 3. Officers, other than bishop, shall be elected by this synod in convention for a term
of six (6) years, without term limitation, according to procedures established in the bylaws.

Section 4. The bishop shall serve as chairperson.

Section 5. Synod Council may appoint a replacement officer, with the exception of the office
of the bishop, to fill a vacancy between conventions.

Section 6. The recall or dismissal of an officer of this synod shall follow the procedure set
out in the bylaws of this church.

Section 7. Assistants to the officers, if and when such positions are created by this synod in
convention, shall be appointed by the synod council on nomination by the officer
concerned. Such persons may be recalled or dismissed on proper notice by the action of the
synod council. They shall be ineligible for membership on the council.

ARTICLE XV
Office of the Bishop

Section 1. The bishop, as the chief executive officer of this synod, has full authority,
responsibility and accountability to discharge all duties and obligations of that office as
mandated in the constitution, the bylaws and by resolution of Synod Council and
convention.

Section 2. The bishop shall be an ex officio member of all committees of this synod.

Section 3. The authority to elect and call a bishop shall rest with this synod at a regular
convention or a special convention called for this purpose.

Section 4. The bishop shall be elected from the roster of ordained ministers of this church
and its full communion partners.

Section 5. The bishop shall be elected by this synod in convention for a term of six years,
without term limitation, according to the procedures established in the bylaws of this
synod.
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ARTICLE XVI

Committees

Section 1. Synod Council shall have authority to establish such committees deemed
necessary for the mission of this synod.

Section 2. Terms of reference for, and membership on, any committee shall be defined in
the bylaws of this synod or in a policy manual.

ARTICLE XVII

Theological Institution

Section 1. This synod acknowledges its responsibility to maintain a theological seminary
within the guidelines provided by this church, to strengthen this seminary spiritually and
academically, and to provide for its financial support.

Section 2. The Board of Governors of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary, Waterloo, Ontario shall
control and manage the seminary and determine its academic and administrative affairs.

Section 3. Terms of reference for, and membership on, the Board of Governors of Waterloo
Lutheran Seminary shall be defined in the constitution of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary
subject to synod council approval.

ARTICLE XVIII
Bylaws

Section 1. This synod may adopt such bylaws, not in conflict with this constitution, as may
be necessary. Such bylaws may be amended at any convention by a two-thirds vote of the
delegates present and voting. At least one day shall elapse between first presentation and
convention action unless unanimous consent to amend is given.

Section 2. Bylaws relating to convention procedure may be suspended by a two-thirds vote
of the delegates present and voting.

ARTICLE XIX

Amendments

Section 1. The Confession of Faith as stated in Article III shall be that of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada.

Section 2. Amendments to this constitution shall be in writing and may be proposed by:
The National Church Council;
b. The Synod Council;

c. A congregation of the synod, if such proposal was first approved at a duly called
and conducted congregational meeting; or
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d. Ten convention delegates, representing at least four areas.

Section 3. All proposed amendments must be reported to the convention no later than the
first full day of business. The synod council shall make a report and recommendation during
that convention on all proposed amendments. Adoption of an amendment shall require
passage at this and the next regular convention by a two-thirds vote of the delegates
present and voting. Notice of the full text thereof shall be sent to the ordained ministers and
diaconal ministers on the rosters, congregations and synodically recognized ministries of
this synod at least one month prior to the second reading. Further amendment at the
second reading shall require unanimous consent. Such amendments shall be effective upon
ratification by National Church Council.

Adopted: June 2014
Last Amended:
Approved by National Church Council: September 2014
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Partl

Offices
Section 1. The registered head office of this synod shall be located in Kitchener.

Section 2. All executive offices shall be located where designated by synod council.

Part I

Organizational Relationships
Section 1. Congregations

a. This synod shall organize, recognize, receive, release and exclude congregations,
and approve or disapprove of the relocation or the merger of congregations
within its geographical boundaries.

b. Congregations may petition this synod according to the procedures set forth in
these bylaws. (Synod Bylaws Part V, Section 8)

c. During a pastoral vacancy, an interim pastor shall be appointed by the bishop
after consultation with the congregational council.

d. A lay member of a congregation who wishes to appeal discipline imposed by
his/her congregation on that member shall appeal in writing to the bishop within
thirty (30) days after the disciplinary action has been taken. The appellant shall
send copies of the appeal to the pastor and to the secretary of the congregation.
The bishop shall appoint a special committee to investigate the appeal. The
decision of the committee shall be reported to the appellant, the pastor and
secretary of the congregation and to the bishop. The decision of the committee
shall be final.

Section 2. Synodically Recognized Ministries

a. Synodically Recognized Ministries are groups and organizations other than
congregations who promote and implement the mission of this church.

b. This synod may organize, recognize, receive, release and exclude synodically
recognized ministries within its geographical boundaries.

c. A lay member of a synodically recognized ministry who wishes to appeal
discipline imposed by his/her synodically recognized ministry on that member
shall appeal in writing to the bishop within thirty (30) days after the disciplinary
action has been taken. The appellant shall send copies of the appeal to the
synodically recognized ministry. The bishop shall appoint a special committee to
investigate the appeal. The decision of the committee shall be reported to the
appellant, the synodically recognized ministry and to the bishop. The decision of
the committee shall be final.
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Section 3. Areas

a.

Areas are groups of congregations that work together in mission led by an Area
Leadership Team.

Section 4. Area Leadership Teams

a.

The bishop, in consultation with synod council, shall appoint an Area Leadership
Team for each area.

The role of the Area Leadership Team is to:

i. Assist congregations and ministries within the area to plan, promote and
implement the mission of this church;

ii. Maintain contact with the Synod bishop;

iii. Serve as the Bishop’s representative, as requested, at installations, assisting
with the call process, and conducting exit interviews;

iv. Maintain contact with Synod Mission staff;
v. Work with congregational leaders to create mission strategies;

vi. Arrange for continuing education opportunities for rostered and lay leaders
to support and encourage area mission strategies;

vii. Encourage networking and mutual support among rostered and lay leaders;
viii. Provide pastoral support to area rostered leaders as required.

Area Leadership Teams shall report to the bishop annually and at other times as
requested by the bishop.

Area Leadership Team members shall be appointed for three year terms and are
eligible for reappointment. In the event an Area Leadership Team member is
unable or unwilling to serve the full term, the bishop may appoint a replacement
to complete the term.

The appointment of an Area Leadership Team member may be rescinded mid-
term only upon resolution of synod council.

Section 5. Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

a.

This synod shall recognize all organizations recognized by the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada.

Section 6. Theological Institutions

The ownership of the Waterloo Lutheran Seminary shall be vested in this synod.

Synod Council shall appoint members to Waterloo Lutheran Seminary Board of
Governors, Waterloo, Ontario, according to the terms determined by the
seminary.

Section 7. Specialized Ministries

a.

This synod may affiliate with specialized ministries such as campus ministries,
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camps, Lutheran Social Services agencies and health care institutions.

b. On request of an affiliated institution or agency, synod council may call and
install a pastor or chaplain to such affiliated agency or institution.

Part 111

Rostered Ministers - Ordained
(Constitution ARTICLE VIII)

Section 1. Ordination of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place designated
by the bishop.

Section 2. This synod shall have a call process manual approved by synod council. A
congregation wishing to extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call
process manual unless otherwise advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.

Section 3. Each ordained minister, except those who are retired, disabled, on leave from call,
or suspended from pastoral ministry, shall be in possession of a proper call from a
congregation, a synod or this church itself. Such a call may be for an indefinite or a specified
length of time. Before issuing the call, the calling agency shall consult with the bishop of
this synod.

Section 4. A minister shall inform the chair of the congregational council and the bishop
immediately upon receipt of a call to another ministry, and shall inform the calling agency
and the bishop of any decision made within thirty days unless an extension is granted by
mutual consent of all the parties involved. A minister shall terminate an existing call within
two months of accepting another call, unless an extension is granted by mutual consent of
all the parties involved.

Section 5. When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by an ordained minister to a
congregation shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated only for the following
causes:

a. Resignation of the minister;
b. Disqualification of the minister as a result of discipline;
c. Division, dissolution or realignment of the pastoral charge;
d. Incapacity of the minister, either physical or mental;
Continued neglect of ministry by the minister; or
f. Inability to conduct the ministerial office satisfactorily in a congregation in view

of local conditions, without reflection on the moral and spiritual character of the
minister.

Where the conditions set out in Section 5 d, e, f, are alleged:

g. The bishop may appoint an advisory committee of two ordained ministers and
two lay members to investigate. Upon the request of the congregational council,
or on receipt of a petition signed by at least one-third of the voting members of a
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congregation, the bishop shall appoint an advisory committee to investigate.

h. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop may suspend the
minister from ministerial duties pending the outcome of the formal proceedings.

i. The advisory committee shall secure medical testimony to confirm or refute an
allegation of physical or mental disability. If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop
may, on the advice of the committee and with the concurrence of the
congregational council, declare the pastorate vacant. Should the minister be
restored to health, the bishop shall take steps to enable the minister to resume
ministry in the congregation last served or in another ministry.

j.  The advisory committee appointed to investigate an allegation of neglect of
ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being of a congregation shall
provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard. At the conclusion
of the investigation, the bishop shall bring the recommendations of the
committee to the minister and the congregation for consideration and action.
Such counsel shall be offered in Christian love and is not to be regarded as a
disciplinary measure. If the situation cannot be resolved amicably, the minister
may resign, or the congregation may terminate the call by a majority vote at a
properly called congregational meeting.

k. The foregoing procedure shall not be invoked when questions of doctrine or
morality are involved. Such cases shall be treated as disciplinary matters.

Section 6. An ordained minister shall preach the Word, administer the Sacraments, and
conduct public worship in harmony with the faith and practices of the church; shall baptize,
confirm and marry in accordance with the teaching of the church and with the laws of the
province; shall visit the sick and distressed and bury the dead; shall inculcate piety in
individual and family life and provide pastoral leadership to all schools and auxiliary
organizations of the congregation; shall install members of the congregational council and,
with the council, administer discipline; shall seek out and encourage qualified persons to
prepare for the ministry of the Gospel and strive to extend the Kingdom of God in the
community, at home and abroad; and shall encourage the members to be generous in
support of the ministry of the congregation, this synod and this church.

Section 7. A minister shall not preach or perform any ministerial act within the parish of
another minister except at the latter’s request or consent, or visit or perform ministerial
acts in a time of a ministerial vacancy, except by invitation of the interim minister or
congregational council.

Section 8. The minister shall ensure that the congregation keeps accurate records of
membership, baptisms, confirmations, marriages, burials and communicants, and shall
report such statistics annually on the forms prescribed by this church. These records shall
be certified as being correct by the congregational secretary on the same forms. The
congregational records shall remain the property of the congregation.

Section 9. When members move, the minister shall commend them to the ministerial care of
the parish in which their new home is located.
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Section 10. All ordained ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions
of this synod.

Section 11. An ordained minister of a church with which the ELCIC has a full communion
agreement serving in this synod under the provisions of the full communion agreement
shall have the same rights and privileges as an ordained minister of this synod.

PartIV

Rostered Ministers - Diaconal
(Constitution ARTICLE IX)

Section 1. Consecration of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place
designated by the bishop.

Section 2. This synod shall have a call process manual approved by synod council. A
congregation wishing to extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call
process manual unless otherwise advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.

Section 3. Each diaconal minister, except those who are retired, disabled, on leave from call,
or suspended from pastoral ministry, shall be in possession of a proper call from a
congregation, a synod or this church itself. Such a call may be for an indefinite or a specified
length of time. Before issuing the call, the calling agency shall consult with the bishop of this
synod.

Section 4. A diaconal minister under call shall inform the congregational council and the
bishop immediately upon receipt of a call to another ministry, and shall inform the calling
agency and the bishop of any decision made within thirty days unless an extension is
granted by mutual consent of all the parties involved. A diaconal minister shall terminate an
existing call within two months of accepting another call, unless an extension is granted by
mutual consent of all the parties involved.

Section 5. When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by a diaconal minister to a
congregation shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated only for the following
causes:

a. Resignation of the diaconal minister;
b. Disqualification of the diaconal minister as a result of discipline;
c. Division of the pastoral charge;
d. Incapacity of the diaconal minister; either physical or mental;
Continued neglect of ministry by the diaconal minister; or
f. Inability to conduct the ministerial office satisfactorily in a congregation in view

of location conditions, without reflection on the moral and spiritual character of
the minister.

Where the conditions set out in Section 5 d, e, f, are alleged:

g. The bishop may appoint an advisory committee of two rostered ministers and
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two lay members to investigate. Upon the request of the congregational council
or on receipt of a petition signed by at least one-third of the voting members of a
congregation, the bishop shall appoint an advisory committee to investigate.

h. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop may suspend the
minister from ministerial duties pending the outcome of the formal proceedings.

i. The advisory committee shall secure medical testimony to confirm or refute an
allegation of physical or mental disability. If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop
may, on the advice of the committee and with the concurrence of the
congregational council, declare the position vacant. Should the minister be
restored to health, the bishop shall take steps to enable the minister to resume
ministry in the congregation last served or in another ministry.

j.  The advisory committee appointed to investigate an allegation of neglect of
ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being of a congregation shall
provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard. At the conclusion of
the investigation, the bishop shall bring the recommendations of the committee
to the minister and the congregation for consideration and action. Such counsel
shall be offered in Christian love and is not to be regarded as a disciplinary
measure. If the situation cannot be resolved amicably, the diaconal minister may
resign, or the congregation may terminate the call by a majority vote at a
properly called congregational meeting.

k. The foregoing procedure shall not be invoked when questions of doctrine or
morality are involved. Such cases shall be treated as disciplinary matters.

Section 6. All diaconal ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions of
this synod.

PartV

Conventions
(Constitution ARTICLE XII)

Section 1. The regular conventions of this synod shall be held in the year preceding regular
national conventions.

Section 2. The secretary shall publish the time and place of each regular convention at least
three (3) months in advance. The secretary shall make available a bulletin of reports to all
voting members at least thirty (30) days before each regular convention.

Section 3. The voting membership of conventions shall consist of:

a. One lay delegate from each congregation and, from congregations having more
than four hundred (400) baptized members, one lay delegate for each additional
four hundred (400) baptized members. An alternate may act in the stead of a
delegate who is unable to attend provided notice is given to the secretary five (5)
days prior to the commencement of convention;
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b. Rostered ministers serving under call or appointment in this synod;
Lay members serving under appointment in this synod;
d. Lay members of synod council; and
e. Six (6) youth delegates appointed by synod council.
Section 4. One-third of the registered convention delegates shall constitute a quorum.
Section 5. Seat and voice at regular and special conventions shall be granted to:

a. The Bishop of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and such other official
representatives of this church as may be designated by National Church Council;

b. Representatives chosen by synodically recognized ministries of this synod;
c. Official guests, upon invitation of synod council.

Section 6. All arrangements for worship services or public meetings shall be made in
consultation with the bishop.

Section 7. Congregations may petition this synod in convention by submitting the petition in
writing to the secretary of this synod for inclusion in the bulletin of reports. If the petition
is too late for inclusion in the bulletin of reports, the secretary shall deliver the petition to
the Reference and Counsel Committee for presentation to the convention.

Section 8. During the first sitting of each regular convention, the bishop shall announce the
members of the Committee of Reference and Counsel, the Committee on Nominations and
any other committees that Synod Council may deem necessary. Duties of all convention
committees will be described in a convention manual.

Section 9. Special Conventions for specified purposes shall be called by the bishop of this
synod within ninety days of receiving in writing a request for such a convention from:

a. Synod council by at least a two-thirds majority vote; or

b. One-fifth of the congregations of this synod and one-fifth of the rostered
ministers serving under call or appointment.

Section 10. The secretary shall give written notice of a special convention to each
congregation, each rostered minister serving under call or appointment, and to each
synodically recognized ministry, and shall publish the same at least thirty days prior to the
opening date of the special convention.

Section 11. The voting members at a special convention shall consist of:

a. Lay delegates who were seated in the preceding regular convention provided
that they have not been disqualified by termination of membership in the
congregation they represented. Vacancies in the lay delegates shall be filled by
the congregations affected at a regular or specially called congregational
meeting. Vacancies thus filled shall be reported to the secretary of the synod not
less than five days before the special convention;

b. Lay members of the current synod council;
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Rostered ministers serving under call or appointment in this synod at the time of
the special convention; and

Youth delegates who were seated in the preceding regular convention. Vacancies
in youth delegates shall be filled by synod council.

Section 12. Nominations and Elections

a.

The Committee on Nominations shall nominate two persons for each position to
be filled by election except for the officers of the synod. Additional nominations
may be made from the floor for all elections for which the nominations are made
by the Committee on Nominations.

The Committee on Nominations shall provide the following information for each
nominee: address, occupation, area, church/community involvement and vision
for the church.

All elections shall be by ballot. In all elections, except for the officers of synod, a
majority of the votes cast on any ballot shall elect. If an election does not occur on
a first ballot for any position except that of the bishop and vice-chairperson,
voting on the second ballot shall be limited to the two persons per position
receiving the highest number of votes cast on the first ballot. In the case of a tie
vote, the tie being substantiated by recount, another election shall be held with
only the names of the candidates whose votes were equal on the ballot.

The election of bishop and vice-chairperson of this synod shall proceed in this
order without oral nominations. If the first ballot does not result in election, it
shall be considered a nominating ballot.

The nomination of the treasurer and secretary shall be made by synod council
and elected by majority vote.

Balloting for bishop and vice-chairperson shall proceed as follows:

i. On the first ballot for bishop and vice-chairperson, three-fourths of the votes
cast shall elect. Thereafter, only such votes as are cast for persons who have
received votes on the first or nominating ballot shall be valid;

ii. On the second ballot, two-thirds of the votes cast shall elect. If the second
ballot does not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the four persons
receiving the highest number of votes cast;

iii. On the third ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect. If the third ballot
does not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the three persons
receiving the highest number of votes cast;

iv. On the fourth ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect. If the fourth ballot
does not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the two persons
receiving the highest number of votes cast;

v. On the fifth ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect.

The result of each ballot in every election shall be announced in detail to the
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convention.

h. The terms of all elected persons, other than the bishop, shall commence
immediately after synod convention. The term of the bishop shall commence on
the first day of the third month following election.

Section 13. In order to provide representation to national church convention, this synod
shall elect the number of delegates as defined in the Administrative Bylaws of this church.

Section 14. The convention procedures shall be published in a convention manual approved
by synod council.

Part VI

Synod Council
(Constitution ARTICLE XIII)

Section 1. The membership of synod council shall be the officers of the synod together with
twelve (12) additional members consisting of an equal number of rostered ministers
serving under call or appointment and lay persons. These additional persons representing a
variety of separate regions shall be elected by the convention to serve until the next regular
convention. No elected member, other than the officers, shall be eligible to serve more than
three (3) consecutive terms. However, a term of less than 18 months shall not be deemed to
be a term of office for this purpose.

Section 2. Synod council shall:

a. Plan, coordinate, supervise and evaluate the activities of this synod in carrying
out its mission and ministry, including development of appropriate policies for
synod council;

b. Be the directors of the corporation and trustees for this synod;

c. Issue letters of call to rostered ministers who are officers or staff officials of this
synod, or who are called to special service, as required;

d. Determine the time and place for each convention and prepare its proposed
agenda and programs;

Recommend annual budgets to the regular conventions;
Report its actions to the regular conventions;

Set the salaries of the bishop and staff of this synod;

> @ oo

Fill vacancies until the next convention except as otherwise provided;

[—y

Determine the fact of the incapacity of an officer of this synod according to the
procedures in the bylaws of this church; (ELCIC Bylaws Part XI)

j-  Approve candidates for call, ordination and admission to the rosters of ordained
and diaconal ministers;

k. Appoint a committee on nominations;
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. Appoint all committees for which there is no other provision;

m. Carry out duties in good faith with a reasonable degree of diligence, care, and
skill;

n. Expect the same standard of conduct from lay and rostered members;
0. Make and enforce its own policies, including the discipline of its members; and

p. Perform such additional duties as prescribed in the constitution, the bylaws, or
by resolutions of this synod in convention.

Section 3. Synod council shall hold at least two meetings annually.

Section 4. Special meetings of the synod council may be called by the bishop or vice-
chairperson of this synod when circumstances warrant.

Section 5. A majority of the members of synod council shall constitute a quorum.

Section 6. Every member of synod council and officer and their heirs, executors and
administrators and estate and effects, respectively, shall from time to time and at all times
be indemnified and saved harmless out of the funds of this synod and this church from and
against all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever that any such member or officer
sustains or incurs or about any action, suit or proceeding that is brought, commenced or
prosecuted against any of the aforementioned for or in respect of any act, deed, omission,
matter or thing whatsoever made, done or permitted by them in or about the execution of
the duties of their office; and all other costs, charges and expenses that any sustain or incur
in or about or in relation to the elected position to synod council or office of this synod,
except such costs, charges or expenses as are occasioned by their own wilful neglect or
default.

Part VII

Duties of the Synod Officers
Section 1. The bishop of this synod shall:

a. Provide pastoral leadership and counsel to ordained and diaconal ministers,
congregations, synodically recognized ministries and areas of this synod;

b. Ordain approved candidates for ministry, consecrate approved candidates for
diaconal ministry and provide for the installation into office;

Oversee the call process as outlined in the Call Process Manual;
d. Attest to all official documents of this synod as may be required;

e. Appoint the synod archivist/necrologist to maintain historical records on behalf
of this synod;

f. Convene and preside over conventions of this synod and meetings of synod
council;

g. Report to synod council and the synod convention all significant matters
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affecting the mission and ministry of this synod; and

h. Perform other duties as prescribed in the constitutions and bylaws of this church
and this synod, and the synod council governance and policy manuals. (ELCIC
Constitution Article XIII, ELCIC Bylaws Part X, Section 1; Synod Constitution
Article XV)

Section 2. The secretary shall:
a. Oversee all secretarial and record keeping duties on behalf of this synod; and

b. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and
policy manuals.

Section 3. The treasurer shall:

a. Oversee all financial affairs and accounts of this synod, including deeds,
mortgages, contracts, trust funds, investments, etc.;

b. Be bonded under the fidelity coverage provided by this synod; and

c. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and
policy manuals.

Section 4. The vice-chairperson shall:

a. Convene the synod council to provide for the discharge of the bishop’s duties in
the event of the resignation, incapacity or death of the bishop, pending the
election of a new bishop at the next regular or specially called synod convention;
and

b. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and
policy manuals.

Part VIII

Standing Committees
Section 1.

a. Standing committees of this synod will have continued existence, formed to do
their assigned work on an ongoing basis.

b. No person shall be a member of more than one standing committee at the same
time.

c. Standing committees shall be accountable to synod council and shall report to
council through the office of the Bishop.
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Part IX
Theological Institutions
(Constitution ARTICLE XVII)

Section 1. The property of Waterloo Lutheran Seminary, both real and personal, shall be
held by the board of governors in trust for and under the guidance of the Eastern Synod.

Section 2. Financial support for the seminary shall be determined by a process of
consultation between the board of governors and synod council.

Section 3. The board of governors shall make a report to each regular convention of this
synod.

Part X

Financial Matters
Section 1. The fiscal year and the budget year of this synod shall be the calendar year.

Section 2. The annual budget and financial reports of this synod shall reflect the entire
range of its activities. The income listed shall include support from all sources.

Section 3. Each budget shall approve an amount for contingency not to exceed 7% of the
budget.

Section 4. There shall be an operating reserve, determined by the synod council, of no more
than 15% of the following year’s budget.

Section 5. Representatives of synod council shall meet with representatives appointed by
National Church Council to agree upon the synod’s commitment goal for support of the
budget of this church during the next fiscal year. These representatives shall recommend
for approval by Synod Council and National Church Council the amount of support to be
transmitted through this synod to this church.

Section 6. Special appeals to congregations for the raising of funds shall require the consent
of the convention or synod council.

Section 7. The financial accounts of this synod shall be submitted annually for audit to a
professionally designated accountant named by synod council.

Adopted: July 2012
Last Amended: June 2014; June 2016
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